
 

Board of 

Directors 

Meeting 

Agenda 

Date: September 18, 2025 

Time: 6:00 p.m. 

Location: SMUD Headquarters Building, Auditorium 

6201 S Street, Sacramento, California 

Powering forward. Together. 



 1 



 
 

 
 
 

   
 

 
 

 
   

 
   

 
  

    

 
 

  
    

  
   

 
 

   
     

  
 

   
  

  
 

 
  

    
   

  
  

  
 
  

  
 

   
 

AGENDA 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 
SMUD HEADQUARTERS BUILDING 

AUDITORIUM – 6201 S STREET 
SACRAMENTO, CALIFORNIA 

Remote Telephonic Location: 
225 Bennett Ave. 

New York, NY 10040 

September 18, 2025 – 6:00 p.m. 

Virtual Viewing or Attendance: 
Live video streams (view-only) and indexed archives of meetings are available at: 
https://www.smud.org/Corporate/About-us/Company-Information/Board-Meetings/Watch-or-
Listen-online 

Zoom Webinar Link: Join SMUD Board of Directors Meeting Here 
Webinar/Meeting ID: 161 477 4668 
Passcode: 327343 
Phone Dial-in Number: 1-669-254-5252 or 1-833-568-8864 (Toll Free) 

Verbal Public Comment: 
Members of the public may provide verbal public comment by: 
 Completing a sign-up form at the table outside of the meeting room and giving it to 

SMUD Security. 
 Using the “Raise Hand” feature in Zoom (or pressing *9 while dialed into the 

telephone/toll-free number) during the meeting at the time public comment is called. 
Microphones will be enabled for virtual or telephonic attendees when the commenter’s 
name is announced. 

Written Public Comment: 
Members of the public may provide written public comment on a specific agenda item or on 
items not on the agenda (general public comment) by submitting comments via email to 
PublicComment@smud.org or by mailing or bringing physical copies to the meeting.  Email is 
not monitored during the meeting.  Comments will not be read into the record but will be 
provided to the Board and placed into the record of the meeting if received within two hours after 
the meeting ends. 

Call to Order. 
a. Roll Call. 

1. Approval of the Agenda. 

https://www.smud.org/Corporate/About-us/Company-Information/Board-Meetings/Watch-or-Listen-online
https://www.smud.org/Corporate/About-us/Company-Information/Board-Meetings/Watch-or-Listen-online
https://smud.zoomgov.com/j/1614774668?pwd=KeAkVpT62oq3MMfJGakahCheTxvQxW.1
mailto:PublicComment@smud.org


  
 

    
   
     
     

 
 

       
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

    
  

 
    

 
  

   
   

    
 

 
  

    
 

     
  

  
     

 
  

 
   

     
    

  
 

 
 

  
 

   
  

   
      

 
   

 

2. Committee Chair Reports. 

a. Committee Chair report of September 9, 2025, Strategic Development Committee 
b. Committee Chair report of September 9, 2025, Policy Committee 
c. Committee Chair report of September 16, 2025, Finance & Audit Committee 
d. Committee Chair report of September 17, 2025, Energy Resources & Customer 

Services Committee 

Items 5 through 9 were reviewed by the September 16, 2025, Finance and Audit 
Committee. 

Comments from the public are welcome when these agenda items are called. 

Consent Calendar: 

3. Approve Board member compensation for service rendered at the request of the Board 
(pursuant to Resolution No. 25-04-02) for the period of August 16, 2025, through 
September 15, 2025. 

4. Approval of the minutes of the meeting of August 21, 2025. 

5. Approve contract change to Contract No. 4500043215 with Kaiser Permanente 
approving 2026 medical insurance premium rates and extending the contract by one year 
for the period January 1, 2026, through December 31, 2026; 2026 cost estimated at 
$38.4 million. Finance and Audit Committee 9/16.  (Jose Bodipo-Memba) 

6. Approve contract change to Contract No. 4500147540 with UnitedHealthcare Insurance 
Company approving 2026 medical insurance premium rates; 2026 cost estimated at 
$40.6 million. Finance and Audit Committee 9/16.  (Jose Bodipo-Memba) 

7. Authorize the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager to negotiate and execute a 
sole source contract with SAP America, Inc. for enterprise resource planning software 
licenses with a term between October 1, 2025, to December 31, 2030, in a not-to-exceed 
amount of $27 million. Finance and Audit Committee 9/16.  (Suresh Kotha) 

8. Authorize the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager to negotiate and award 
contracts to HDR Engineering, Inc., Bureau Veritas North America, Inc., and 
Energy Project Solutions, LLC (collectively, the Contracts) to provide construction 
management services for a five-year term from October 1, 2025, to September 30, 2030, 
for a total aggregate not-to-exceed amount of $15 million for the Contracts. Finance and 
Audit Committee 9/16. (Lora Anguay) 

* * * * * * 

Discussion Calendar: 

9. Certify the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Oveja Ranch Solar Project
(Project) Final Environmental Impact Report (EIR), including adoption of the 
Findings; adopt the Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program for the Project; 
and approve the Project. Finance and Audit Committee 9/16. (Frankie McDermott) 

Presenter: Emily Bacchini 



 
 

  
 

   
 

   

 
  

 
  

  
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
    

     
  

 

  

   
 

  

  

    
 

 

  

    
 

  

    
  

 

  

  
 

  

  

 
  

 
 

Date Meeting Location Start Time

Public Comment: 

10. Items not on the agenda. 

Board and CEO Reports: 

11. Directors' Reports. 

12. President's Report. 

13. CEO's Report. 
a. Board Video 

Summary of Board Direction 

* * * * * * * 

Board Committee Meetings and Special Meetings of the Board of Directors are held at the 
SMUD Headquarters Building, 6201 S Street, Sacramento 

September 16, 2025 Finance and Audit Committee and Auditorium* 6:00 p.m. 
Special SMUD Board of Directors 
Meeting 

September 17, 2025 Energy Resources & Customer Auditorium 6:00 p.m. 
Services Committee and Special 
SMUD Board of Directors Meeting 

October 7, 2025 Strategic Development Committee Auditorium 6:00 p.m. 
and Special SMUD Board of Directors 
Meeting 

October 8, 2025 Policy Committee and Special SMUD Auditorium 6:00 p.m. 
Board of Directors Meeting 

October 14, 2025 Finance and Audit Committee and Auditorium 6:00 p.m. 
Special SMUD Board of Directors 
Meeting 

October 15, 2025 Energy Resources & Customer Auditorium 6:00 p.m. 
Services Committee and Special 
SMUD Board of Directors Meeting 

* * * * * * * 



 

    
 

     
   

 
 

    
   

 
 

  
   

  
   

 
 

 
   

   
 

Date Location Start Time

Regular Meetings of the Board of Directors are held at the SMUD Headquarters Building, 
6201 S Street, Sacramento 

October 16, 2025 Auditorium* 6:00 p.m. 

*The Auditorium is located in the lobby of the SMUD Headquarters Building, 6201 S Street, Sacramento, California. 

Members of the public shall have up to three (3) minutes to provide public comment on items on the agenda or items 
not on the agenda, but within the jurisdiction of SMUD.  The total time allotted to any individual speaker shall not 
exceed nine (9) minutes. 

Members of the public wishing to inspect public documents related to agenda items may click on the Information 
Packet link for this meeting on the smud.org website or may call 1-916-732-7143 to arrange for inspection of the 
documents at the SMUD Headquarters Building, 6201 S Street, Sacramento, California. 

ADA Accessibility Procedures:  Upon request, SMUD will generally provide appropriate aids and services leading 
to effective communication for qualified persons with disabilities so that they can participate equally in this 
meeting.  If you need a reasonable auxiliary aid or service for effective communication to participate, please email 
Toni.Stelling@smud.org, or contact by phone at 1-916-732-7143, no later than 48 hours before this meeting. 

https://www.smud.org/en/Corporate/About-us/Company-Information/Board-Meetings
mailto:Toni.Stelling@smud.org


 2 



 3 



 

 
 
  

DRAFT 

RESOLUTION NO. _________ 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT: 

That this Board hereby approves Board member compensation for service 

rendered at the request of the Board (pursuant to Resolution No. 25-04-02) for the 

period of August 16, 2025, through September 15, 2025. 



 4 



 
 

 

  

 
 

 
 
   

 
 
  

  

  

 

 

 

 

  

----

DRAFT 

Sacramento, California 

August 21, 2025 

The Board of Directors of the Sacramento Municipal Utility District 

met in regular session simultaneously in the Auditorium of the SMUD 

Headquarters Building at 6201 S Street, Sacramento, and via virtual meeting 

(online) at 5:59 p.m. 

  Roll Call:

   Presiding: President Fishman 

Present: Directors Rose, Bui-Thompson, Herber, Kerth, 
Tamayo, and Sanborn 

Present also were Paul Lau, Chief Executive Officer and General 

Manager; Laura Lewis, Chief Legal & Government Affairs Officer and General 

Counsel and Secretary, other members of SMUD’s executive management; and 

SMUD employees and visitors. 

Director Sanborn shared the 2030 Climate Action Tip. 

President Fishman called for approval of the agenda.  Director 

Herber moved for approval of the agenda, Vice President Tamayo seconded, 

and the agenda was unanimously approved. 

President Fishman announced that a portion of the President’s 

Report would be given now to acknowledge the retirement of two members of the 

Board Office staff, Senior Administrative Assistants Karen Wilfley and Araceli 

Mercado, who had been with the Board Office since 2005 and 2009, respectively. 

Directors Rose, Bui-Thompson, Tamayo, Herber, Kerth, Sanborn 

and President Fishman thanked Ms. Wilfley and Ms. Mercado for their service 

and congratulated them on their retirement. 

President Fishman then called for public comment for items on the 

agenda, but none was forthcoming. 

President Fishman then addressed the Consent Calendar 

consisting of Items 3 through 12.  Director Sanborn moved for approval of the 

Consent Calendar, Vice President Tamayo seconded, and Resolution Nos. 

25-08-01 and 25-08-11 were unanimously approved. 



 

 
 

 
 
 
  

 

 
 

 

 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 
 
  

RESOLUTION NO.  25-08-01 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT: 

That this Board hereby approves Board member compensation for 

service rendered at the request of the Board (pursuant to Resolution No. 

25-04-02) for the period of July 16, 2025, through August 15, 2025. 

Approved: August 21, 2025 

INTRODUCED:  DIRECTOR SANBORN 

SECONDED:  DIRECTOR TAMAYO 

DIRECTOR AYE NO ABSTAIN ABSENT 

FISHMAN X 

ROSE X 

BUI-THOMPSON X 

HERBER X 

KERTH X 

TAMAYO X 

SANBORN X 



 

 
 

 
 
  

 
 

 

 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 
 
  

RESOLUTION NO.  25-08-02 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT: 

This Board accepts the monitoring report for Strategic Direction 

SD-13, Economic Development, substantially in the form set forth in 

Attachment A hereto and made a part hereof. 

Approved: August 21, 2025 

INTRODUCED:  DIRECTOR SANBORN 

SECONDED:  DIRECTOR TAMAYO 

DIRECTOR AYE NO ABSTAIN ABSENT 

FISHMAN X 

ROSE X 

BUI-THOMPSON X 

HERBER X 

KERTH X 

TAMAYO X 

SANBORN X 



  

 

      

    

  
   

     
   

 

 
  

 

 

 
 

 
 

Attachment A 
to Resolution No. 25-08-02 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 

OFFICE MEMORANDUM 

TO: Board of Directors DATE: July 29, 2025 

FROM: Claire Rogers CR 7/29/25 

SUBJECT: Audit Report No. 28007866 
Board Monitoring Report; SD-13: Economic Development 

Internal Audit Services (IAS) received the SD-13 Economic Development 2024 
Annual Board Monitoring Report and performed the following: 

• Selected a sample of statements and assertions in the report for review. 

• Compared sample to the corresponding supporting documentation to 
identify potential discrepancies. 

All items sampled within the SD Report aligns with the supporting documentation 
provided at the time of review. 

CC: 

Paul Lau 



         

    
  

  
 

 

    
 

       
 

          
     

   
 

 
        

   
      

  
         

  
        
          

  
 

   
 

         
 

            
          

        
       

     
         

      
      

        
            
         
       

         
       

        
      

      
     

      
 

       
       

 

       
  

  

  

  

       

 

Board Monitoring Report 2024 
Strategic Direction 
SD-13, Economic Development 

1. Purpose & Background 

Strategic Direction 13 (SD-13) Economic Development states that: 

Promoting the economic vitality of our region and the growth of our customer base is a key 
value of SMUD. Therefore, SMUD shall exercise strategic leadership and actively 
participate in regional economic development. 

Specifically: 
a) SMUD shall promote innovation while maintaining rate-affordability and balancing the 

other strategic directions. 
b) SMUD shall align its economic development activities with regional economic 

development initiatives. 
c) SMUD shall assist in retaining, recruiting and growing commercial and industrial rate-

paying customers. 
d) SMUD shall offer economic development rates and program incentives. 
e) SMUD shall offer a contracting program for certified small businesses who are rate-

paying customers. 

2. Executive summary 

SMUD is compliant with SD-13, Economic Development. 

SMUD continues to be a nationally recognized leader for our longstanding commitment to 
the economic health of the greater Sacramento region. In 2024, we built on successes, 
worked to accelerate growth and support the health and vitality of the local economy, 
including businesses (which account for over 50% of SMUD’s revenue), the 
entrepreneurship ecosystem, and regional economic development leadership, collaboration, 
and advocacy. Through SMUD investment, Community Impact Plan (CIP) resources, in-kind 
support and subject matter expertise, we worked to enhance the opportunities and access to 
these resources while mitigating and addressing challenges in the path to regional success 
and economic prosperity for all. We expanded and deepened our partnership base to further 
raise awareness and adoption of the 2030 Zero Carbon Plan for all SMUD’s service area. 
We collaborated through key partnerships in support of our shared vision of economic 
recovery, greater collective impact and advancement of an inclusive and equitable 
economy. Additionally, we aligned our economic development efforts with SMUD’s vision to 
be a trusted and impactful partner in achieving an inclusive, zero carbon economy. We 
reinforced key partnerships using CIP funding to continue Business District Electrification 
opportunities to under-resourced business communities. We leveraged our relationships to 
accelerate innovation, ensure energy affordability and reliability, protect the environment, 
eliminate greenhouse gas emissions, catalyze economic and workforce development, 
promote environmental justice, and enhance community vitality for all. 

Our strategy to enhance the economic vitality of the Sacramento region is comprehensive. 
Key tactics to engage, inform and support the regional business community include: 

• Advancing SMUD’s 2030 Zero Carbon Goal in inclusive, regional economic 
development efforts 

GM 25-106 Board Monitoring Report – SD-13, Economic Development Page 1 of 15 



         

        
   

        
     

  

        

         
     

      
      

      

        

         
      

    

         
   

        
 

 
       

        
       

    
     

          
       

 
     

        
        

      
        

 
     

        
       

       
          

       
       

 
       

          
         

 
      
        

           
     

       
 

 

        

 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 

      

  

 

• Leveraging Community Impact Plan funding to establish key business partnerships in 
mostly under-resourced business corridors 

• Broadening support of the region’s innovation ecosystem, including through the 
Sacramento Economic Growth Alliance (SEGA) and the California Energy, Power, and 
Innovation Collaborative (CalEPIC) 

• Providing a spectrum of business development resources for entrepreneurs 

• Strategically collaborating to draw down and allocate funding that uplifts communities, 
encourages regional investment, and creates living wage jobs 

• Enhancing accessibility to the Supplier Education and Economic Development (SEED) 
contracting program for local small businesses 

• Providing energy efficiency programs and electrification incentives and rebates 

• Expanding local agency and nonprofit partnerships to support community development 

• Deploying significant resources to support a Diversity, Equity, Inclusion and 
Accessibility and Sustainable Communities plan that can be replicated and measured 
for effectiveness and impact 

• Ensuring our commercial and industrial service connection costs are in line with other 
West Coast electric utilities 

• Providing subject matter expertise and facilitating (power supply) for the developer 
community projects 

SMUD works with over 50 local economic development organizations to enhance regional 
economic vitality. Our leadership roles in the Greater Sacramento Economic Council (GSEC), 
Valley Vision, Sacramento Metro Chamber, Urban Land Institute, Downtown Sacramento 
Partnership, Sacramento Black Chamber, Sacramento Hispanic Chamber, Sacramento Asian 
Pacific Chamber, Business Environmental Resource Center (BERC), Sacramento Public 
Agency Consortium (SacPAC) and many others, help to ensure that our activities support the 
region’s efforts to attract, retain and expand companies in our service territory. 

Through outreach and education, SMUD’s Economic Development & Partnerships team 
teaches local small businesses how to contract with SMUD through the Supplier Education and 
Economic Development (SEED) program. SEED offers incentives to local small businesses that 
participate in SMUD's competitive bid process, and helps prime contractors find local 
subcontractors, giving them a competitive edge when developing bids or proposals. 

In 2024, the Economic Development and Partnerships team collaborated with Supply Chain 
Services and external partners, coordinating or participating in 299 outreach events. This 
included facilitating 22 "How to Do Business with SMUD" educational workshops and 
introducing two new workshops: Proposal Writing 101 and a collaborative small business 
certification and SEED enrollment workshop with the Department of General Services. These 
additions resulted in nine additional proposal writing workshops and two collaborative 
workshops with the CA Department of General Services. 

Additionally, SMUD awarded 30.1% of its contracts to SEED-certified small businesses, 
surpassing the Board-established goal of 20%. SEED program participation grew by 164 new 
SEED vendors, with 142 SEED contracts awarded in 2024, totaling more than $200 million. 

Business attraction was a key economic development focus in 2024. We participated in 28 
business attraction, retention and expansion projects within our service territory. SMUD directly 
supported the attraction/expansion of 11 companies and the creation of an estimated 775 local 
jobs in multiple sectors including corporate headquarters, advanced manufacturing, clean-
technology, agriculture, and Artificial Intelligence (AI). 

GM 25-106 Board Monitoring Report – SD-13, Economic Development Page 2 of 15 



         

        
    

 
           

    
 

         
       

         
         

       
 

       
           

        
         

         
       
     

        
      

         
       

      
 

          
        

         
         

     
 

         
  

 
      

 
               

          
          

          
      

  
 

          
       

      
       

          
         

       

   
 

      

 

         

        
 

 
 

      

        

   

 

3. Information about our 2024 efforts to achieve the specific elements outlined in SD-13 
is provided in the following section. 

a) SMUD shall promote innovation while maintaining rate affordability and balancing 
the other strategic directions. 

SMUD is an active supporter of the entrepreneurship ecosystem, where startup businesses 
and innovative new technologies are vital to creating an inclusive, zero-carbon economy. 
SMUD collaborates with local non-profit organizations that offer training, “maker spaces”, 
networking and mentorship to startups at no cost. We connect our internal expertise with 
partner organizations that support education and awareness 

The California Mobility Center began a strategic rebrand of its organization, now known as 
CalEPIC. SMUD has been a partner with CalEPIC since its inception, and it has 
experienced significant changes in its management and staff since 2023. The new CEO, 
hired in November 2023, shifted the organizational strategy towards workforce development 
training, local and regional community organization collaboration, federal and City 
government grants, and partnered with private-sector energy and transportation companies 
to accelerate commercialization of zero-carbon technology. The organization’s activities are 
now geared towards maintaining and strengthening existing relationships in the local and 
regional workforce development community. It has established new partnerships with more 
than a dozen partners by leveraging SMUD’s existing relationships in the region to 
collaborate on workforce development training and job placements. Additional information 
on CalEPIC can be found in Appendix A. 

SMUD continues to effectively balance our goal of fostering innovation with our commitment 
to keeping rates low. SMUD’s average rates will remain competitive even after the adopted 
rate increases for 2024. In 2024, SMUD’s average rate was 52.2% below PG&E, which 
includes their 6 rate changes in January, March, April, July, September, and October. 
SMUD’s competitiveness rate is provided in detailed summary in Appendix A. 

b) SMUD shall align its economic development activities with regional economic 
development initiatives. 

SMUD played a leadership role in regional economic development initiatives in 2024. 

Grant Funding: In 2024, SMUD won, or brought under contract, a total of $102.6 million in 
grant awards for projects totaling $265.25 million and an average grant match of 61%. 
Additionally, SMUD wrote 32 letters of support for regional organizations and businesses for 
a total of $169 million in potential awards. SMUD also contributed 19 Letters of 
Commitment, contributing approximately $193 million in financial support to non-SMUD 
projects. 

California Jobs First: SMUD played a key role in Sacramento’s regional implementation of 
the California Jobs First program. Branded locally as “We Prosper Together” and 
administered through Valley Vision, the inclusive economic development initiative’s goal is 
to uplift communities, encourage investment in the region and create living-wage jobs. 
Valley Vison released the Request for Proposal (RFP) for Catalyst Pre-Development funding 
in late 2024, and SMUD’s Skilled Trades Workforce Pipeline Project was one of 11 projects 
selected to receive $508,978. SMUD continued to hold a seat on the Leadership Council 

overseeing the initiative’s implementation. 

GM 25-106 Board Monitoring Report – SD-13, Economic Development Page 3 of 15 



         

         
        

       
        

          
        

         
    

 
         
         

          
       
         
     

            
 

           
          

         
     

   
 

      
        

         
 

 
        

       
         

             
        

 
    

         
         

       
     

       
           
   

 
      
       

     
        

          
        

 
            

  
 

         

   

   

   

    

    

         

     
       

 

Cap-to-Cap: SMUD sent a 14-member delegation to the Sacramento Metro Chamber’s 52nd 

Annual Cap-to-Cap program in Washington D.C. to advocate issues of regional significance 
to SMUD and our community partners and to further cultivate relationships with influential 
elected, business and non-profit leaders from the six-county Sacramento region. SMUD 
subject matter experts reviewed and contributed content to issue papers related to future 
mobility, air quality, wildfire and forest management, CalEPIC, and workforce development. 
Also, SMUD staff served in a leadership capacity as a member of the Steering Committee 
and incoming chair for the overall program. 

Property and Business Improvement District (PBID) Outreach: In 2024, SMUD 
increased engagement with businesses within 15 PBID districts by 58%, participating in 81 
outreach events, compared to 52 in 2023. In collaboration with SMUD’s formal PBID 
partners, EDP conducted 19 of its 24 targeted business walks within these districts, 
promoting Business District Electrification (BDE), sharing SEED and 2030 Zero Carbon Plan 
information in English and other translated languages. EDP’s outreach within these districts 
resulted in the successful approval of 48 BDE projects and 90 BDE measures. 

Internal and External Study Missions: As a member of the steering committees for both 
the Metro Chamber Study Mission to St. Louis, Missouri, and the Sacramento Asian Pacific 
Chamber of Commerce Internal Study Mission, SMUD helped set the agenda and drive the 
dialogue with community leaders around key business issues promoting awareness of 
SMUD’s 2030 Zero Carbon Plan. 

Sustainable Business Certifications: SMUD’s partnership with the County of Sacramento 
Business Environmental Resource Center (BERC) resulted in the successful certification of 
96 businesses in SMUD service area, of which 54 businesses (56%) were in underserved 
neighborhoods. 

Small and Mid-size Business (SMB) Support: SMUD’s SMB team of Strategic Account 
Advisors continued to assist our customers by directing them to appropriate SMUD 
programs and services and educating them on SMUD’s 2030 Zero Carbon Plan to ensure 
no business or community is left behind. For more details on the efforts of the SMUD Small 
& Mid-size Business Team of Strategic Account Advisors, please see Appendix B. 

Greater Sacramento Economic Council (GSEC): SMUD’s partnership with GSEC is 
critical to the community as it contributes to regional prosperity by growing the economic 
base. In addition to Paul Lau’s participation on the GSEC Board, SMUD’s commercial 
development staff regularly respond to Request for Information (RFI) proposals from the 
organization and economic development staff participate in GSEC’s Economic Development 
Directors’ Task Force. SMUD has played an increasingly important role in business 
attraction, retention, expansion and in helping brand the region as an attractive place to do 
business. 

Sustainable Communities Program: SMUD continues targeting inclusive economic 
development, community/environmental health, and neighborhood engagement activities in 
under-resourced communities through its Sustainable Communities program, promoting 
regional workforce and equitable community development. SMUD has invested $36.7 million 
in this effort since 2018, leveraging partnerships to increase impact in these areas of need. 
Additional information regarding Sustainable Communities can be found in Appendix B. 

c) SMUD shall assist in retaining, recruiting and growing commercial and industrial 
rate-paying customers. 

GM 25-106 Board Monitoring Report – SD-13, Economic Development Page 4 of 15 



         

             
       

  
       

       
   

       
    

 
        

 
          
           

       
  

         
  

 
      

        
        

          
          

       
         

   
 

     
 
    
        
    
    

 
      

        
          

     
 

           
 

       
        

           
     

        
         

     
 

            
   

     

       

    

 
 
 
 

      

     

     

 

Business Attraction: SMUD provided support with the attraction of 11 new companies that 
will create 755 jobs in SMUD’s service territory. 

Commercial Development: SMUD actively engaged in 141 commercial, industrial, mixed-
use and residential projects throughout our service territory. The team partners with 
community organizations and municipalities to create economic opportunities and growth. 
Detailed information about SMUD’s role in business attraction and commercial development 
is provided in Appendix C. 

d) SMUD shall offer economic development rates and program incentives. 

In 2024, SMUD offered an Economic Development Rate (EDR) to incentivize the attraction, 
retention, and expansion of businesses within our service territory. A description of the 
current EDR can be found in Appendix D. 

e) SMUD shall offer a contracting program for certified small businesses who are 
rate-paying customers. 

SMUD’s SEED program provided incentives to DGS-certified small businesses within its 
service area to participate in competitive bid processes. As a result of focused outreach, 
engagement and leveraging of business partnerships, the SEED-qualified vendor base grew 
by over 24%, with registered SEED vendors representing 48% of all DGS-certified small 
businesses in the Sacramento region by the end of 2024. The program also assisted prime 
contractors in finding local subcontractors to enhance their bids or proposals. This work 
resulted in 1,791 SEED lists provided to contractors in specific categories, representing a 
358% increase from the previous year. 

Economic Development and Partnerships increased engagement by 25% through 

• Hosting 38 informational workshops 
• Coordinating SMUD outreach through 9 orientations or panel discussions 
• Coordinating participation in 299 outreach events 
• Completing 24 business walks 

These efforts expanded SMUD’s reach by 13% from the previous year, reaching 
approximately 31,959 individuals. In 2024, SMUD exceeded its annual goal to award 20% of 
all contracts to certified small businesses and awarded 30.1% of contracts to SEED-
qualified vendors, totaling more than $200 million. 

For more details on our 2024 SEED program efforts and achievements, see Appendix E. 

4. Challenges: California’s business climate, cost of doing business, decarbonization goals 
and regulatory standards present challenges to development. Permitting costs and delays 
pose barriers to market leading companies to relocate from other states. SMUD continues to 
work with regional and state partners, such as GSEC, The Governor’s office of Business 
and Economic Development (GO-Biz) and the California Association of Local Economic 
Development (CALED), to address the state and local regulatory challenges that limit our 
ability to attract or develop new businesses. 

5. Recommendation: It is recommended that the Board accept the Monitoring Report for 
SD-13, Economic Development. 

GM 25-106 Board Monitoring Report – SD-13, Economic Development Page 5 of 15 



         

  
 

            
  

 
           

         
       

      
      
         

          
     

 
          

       
     

       
        

           
  

 
   

     
       

       
        

         
       

        
         
        
     

 
         

        
    

         
            

   
 

         
       

          
        

         
          

          
         

     
 

        

   

  

        

 

APPENDIX A 

SMUD shall promote innovation while maintaining rate affordability and balancing the other 
strategic directions. 

SMUD’s approach to innovation includes investments in regional startup business accelerators, 
incubators, curriculum delivery, and mentorship, supporting business development and 
entrepreneurship focusing on an inclusive economy. Benefits to the community include job 
creation, increased revenue, innovation, community involvement, and greater economic 
opportunity. SMUD’s investment, subject matter expertise, and business community 
collaboration supported the work of these innovation and entrepreneurship partners, drawing 
6,398 attendees through 215 events, serving 611 startups, fostering 160 mentor matches. and 
supporting 11 partnerships, which are highlighted below: 

CleanStart Inc. works to build and support the clean technology ecosystem in the Sacramento 
region by supporting early-stage companies through education, access to capital, and 
connections to the networks they need to make their innovations commercially 
successful. CleanStart coached 66 companies in 82 sessions to develop their ideas and 
prepare them to pitch to investors and granting agencies for funding. CleanStart held the third 
cohort of its CEO Crash Course where graduates went on to secure more than $300,000 in 
funding and prizes. 

Hacker Lab EDU provides multifaceted entrepreneurship support, serving as Sacramento’s 
inclusive makerspace, coworking hub, and workforce development incubator. MADE Studio 
serves as a dynamic studio-style makerspace offering 40+ hands-on monthly classes, serving 
over 1,100 creatives and entrepreneurs with training in digital fabrication, design, 
manufacturing, and multimedia. MAKER EDU Pathways is a workforce development program 
providing an 8-week hands-on technical and career training experience to 20 system-impacted 
and low-income youth, helping them build lifelong creative and technical skills. MAKEHERS, a 
women-led small business incubator, directly supported 30 women through an intensive training 
cohort providing mentorship, access to space, and tools helping women turn creative skills into 
thriving businesses. Hacker Lab supports over 375 small businesses directly through space, 
training, events, and promotional support. 

InnoGrove continued to offer networking and educational workshops focused on startup and 
small business development, hosting 8 events reaching approximately 145 attendees, including 
Women-in-Tech Workshops, Innogrove Startup Resource Directory, Startup Founder 
Workshops, and by hosting practice sessions for the Pitch Elk Grove Competition (Round of 
16). A longer-term role for InnoGrove is to support startup businesses as they develop their 
products. 

StartupSac fueled Sacramento’s innovation economy in 2024 by educating, empowering, and 
connecting entrepreneurs through impactful programs and events. StartupSac hosted 30+ 
events, engaging more than 1,500 participants. These included three cohorts each of the 
Founder Mastermind and Warm-Up Pitch programs, supporting 45 founders across 42 startups 
with mentorship, peer learning, and investor pitch refinement. StartupSac also co-hosted two 
Startup Challenge weekends with over 150 participants, organized 12 Startup Happy Hours 
attended by 367 people, and produced 26 podcast episodes spotlighting regional innovators. 
Additionally, Capital Region Small Business Week Resource Expo connected 250+ attendees 
with 30 entrepreneurial support organizations. 

GM 25-106 Board Monitoring Report – SD-13, Economic Development Page 6 of 15 



         

       
          

   
 

         
       

          
 

       
      

        
         

         
         

         
            

         
       

         
    

 
         

           
            

          
       

         
             

    
 

         
        

        
       

           
         

     
    

 
        

      
           

             
          

 
        

             
 

         
      

          
       
      

 

 

Startup Folsom was added as a partnership in 2024, holding 36 events serving 523 
attendees. The events included AI Meetups, Pitch Coaching sessions and workshops, and 
networking events for entrepreneurs. 

Momentum ASCEND Accelerator had 16 participants who met multiple times focused on 
cleantech and sustainability with a bent towards public or grant funding traction. SMUD 
presented on our 2030 Zero Carbon Clean Energy Plan and traction pilots with local startups. 

The Growth Factory is a nonprofit entrepreneurial development organization with an 
accompanying venture fund dedicated to fostering innovation, accelerating high-growth startups, 
and strengthening regional talent pipelines. Growth Factory directly supported 60+ startups and 
small businesses and 85 students through intensive cohort-based programs focused on founder 
development and business growth. In addition, Growth Factory produced the 3rd Annual Venture 
Summit & Startup Showcase GFX2024 sponsored by SMUD. The event attracted 1,500+ 
attendees and included sector-based innovation tours, panels, and startup pitches. SMUD was 
the featured sponsor of the Transportation & Climate track. The Summit hosted 40+ regional 
startups pitches, 102 companies showcased in the Expo Hall which included a Transportation & 
Climate neighborhood sponsored by SMUD and “The Backyard Awards” party celebrated 
regional innovators with the early-stage startup awarded to OnSight Technologies of Folsom 
presented by SMUD Director Rose. 

Carlsen Center for Innovation & Entrepreneurship at CSU Sacramento hosted the Startup 
Challenge and Global Entrepreneurship Week (GEW). At the two Startup Challenges, over 90 
participants were supported in growing their ventures (33 final pitches, $1 million in funding 
generated post sessions). GEW 2024 featured 20 discussions/panels, pitch events, and a 
speed mentoring event, with approximately 600 attendees, reaching an additional 150 
attendees through LinkedIn live. During the Sacramento Entrepreneurial State of the Union, 
SMUD Board President Rosanna Herber was featured and moderated a panel on the future of 
CleanTech/ZEV in the Greater Sacramento region. 

As a member of the Sacramento Entrepreneurial Growth Alliance (SEGA), SMUD meets 
quarterly to discuss areas to collaborate and grow entrepreneurship in the region. The NorCal 
Entrepreneur Hub, an online tool/platform connecting entrepreneurs to organizations, resources, 
and events, now highlights over 433 users, 325 organizations, and 488 resources. The Inclusive 
Innovation Hub, as part of the California Office of the Small Business Advocate, led by SEGA 
and partnering programs, were able to support over 280 businesses, raised $32.2 million in 
equity financing, $1.15 million in non-dilutive capital raise, and activated $115,000 in equity 
investment through NorCal AngelCon. 

FourthWave, an accelerator for women-led technology ventures, partnered with the Carlsen 
Center for Innovation & Entrepreneurship to support 12 startups and 17 founders in 2024, 
meeting 17 times, and hosted a Funder and Founder panel, and an Investor Salon involving 
over 25 mentors and coaches. To date, FourthWave alumni have collectively raised over $100 
million in funding and created more than 200 jobs, driving innovation and economic growth. 

Sacramento Entrepreneurship Academy (SEA) had 11 entrepreneurs in five cohorts, meeting 
15 times, and met with mentors over the course of 11 weeks to support their startups. 

CalEPIC developed new organizational policies and procedures required under the grant 
agreements, while it continued to refine its workforce development and training delivery models. 
They successfully met all grant reporting deadlines in 2024 with an emphasis on optimizing the 
recruiting and training strategies under the Federal and City grants. Strong partnerships were 
continued with community-based organizations serving underrepresented communities. These 

GM 25-106 Board Monitoring Report – SD-13, Economic Development Page 7 of 15 



         

         
         

        
        

        
          

         
        

            
        
     

         
    

 
          

      
 

 
 
 

        
          

          
           
         

 
  

 
        

  
 

       
      

         
         

  
 

     

       

       

         

 

Difference 
Below PG&E* Below PG&E* 

2024 2024 2024 2023 

Residential 
E-1 TOD $0.4269 $0.1898 -55.5% -53.0% 

Low Income CARE*** EAPR & EAPRMED** $0.2702 $0.1328 -50.9% -48.6% 
All Residential $0.3610 $0.1800 -50.1% -46.8% 

Small Commercial 
<= 20 kW 8-1 GFN, CITS-0 $0.4262 $0.1833 -57.0% -52.2% 

21 - 299 kW 8-6 CITS-1 $0.4227 $0.1698 -59.8% -55.0% 

Medium Commercial 
300 - 499 kW 8-10 CITS-2, CITP-2 $0.3822 $0.1594 -58.3% -55.7% 
500 - 999 kW 8-19 CITS-3, CITP-3, CITT-3 $0.3286 $0.1493 -54.6% -51 .9% 

Lar e Commercial => 1 MW 8-20 CITS-4, CITP-4, CITT-4 $0.2351 $0.1330 -43.4% -47.8% 

Lighting 
TC-1 TS $0.4224 $0.1445 -65.8% -61 .5% 
various SLS,NLGT $0.4635 $0.1573 -66.1% -67.6% 

A riculture AG ASN/D,AON/D $0.3803 $0.1591 -58.2% -53.9% 
S stem Avera e $0.3493 $0.1670 -52.2% -50.1% 

Notes: 
* Projected 2024 average prices for SMUD with the rate increases effective 1-1-24 and 5-1-24. PG&E average prices in 2024 reflect rates effective 10-1-
24, per Advice Letter 7382-E. The rate difference in year 2023 reflects PG&E average rates as of9-1-23, per Advice Letter 7009-E dated 8-25-23, and 
SMUD rates effective 1-1-23. 

•• CARE vs EAPR includes EAPR & EAPRMED customers . 
... There is no indication from PG&E that their CARE rates include customers who have a medical allowance only. 

partners include, but are not limited to, Women's Empowerment, Saint John’s, Greater 
Sacramento Urban League, Asian Resources Incorporated, CA Asian Chamber of Commerce, 
La Familia, and Community Resource Project. Partnerships with other leading organizations for 
trainings were also strengthened by including ChargerHelp!, Rivian, Center for Manufacturing a 
Green Economy (nonprofit arm of the United Auto Workers), partnership with the California 
Masonic Foundation and the Sacramento City Unified School District in workforce development 
programs. For the 2024 calendar year, CalEPIC trained approximately 355 people. The 
organization is currently working on two grants (one state and one federal) for a battery pilot line 
for manufacturing and testing and a National Science Foundation grant for accelerating the 
development of electrochemical technologies to help utilities, and other partners, adopt new 
technology for grid resilience and reliability in partnership with UC Berkeley, Lawrence Berkeley 
National Lab, New Energy Nexus, Battery Innovation Center, UC Davis, Sacramento State 
University, and Southern California Edison, among others. 

Commitment to Low Rates: SMUD continues to maintain rates that are below PG&E’s, both at 
a system level and by rate class. 

Figure 1: Provides a detailed picture of the difference between SMUD’s and PG&E’s projected 
average rates by class in 2024 as well as the difference between rates in 2023. The competitive 
rate by class varies for the different customer classes and is at least 43.4% below comparable 
PG&E class average rates. Since the creation of the annual rate monitoring report in 2007, 
SMUD has consistently maintained rates that were more than 18% below PG&E. 

APPENDIX B 

SMUD shall align its economic development activities with regional economic 
development initiatives. 

Leadership Roles: Throughout 2024, SMUD staff held visible leadership roles in regional 
economic development initiatives and organizations, helping ensure regional stakeholders are 
working in concert on business development, attraction, retention and expansion efforts and that 
our efforts are aligned with regional priorities. SMUD’s leadership roles in regional economic 
development organizations included: 

GM 25-106 Board Monitoring Report – SD-13, Economic Development Page 8 of 15 



         

      

        

    

    

      

     

          

      

        

       

    

    

     

       

       

      

        

      

   

     

        

      

    

      

       

     

      

       

        

        

      

      

     

      

      

    

      

    

   
 

         
       

         
       

    
 

       
            

        
         

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

• California Jobs First / We Prosper Together 

• 50 Corridor Transportation Management Authority, Board of Directors 

• Business Environmental Resource Center, Advisory Committee 

• CAAPS, Board of Directors 

• Capitol Area Development Authority, Board of Directors 

• Cap-to-Cap, Steering Committee Member 

• California Foundation on Environment and the Economy, Board of Directors 

• Cal EPIC, Board of Directors 

• Carmichael Chamber of Commerce, Board of Directors 

• Citrus Heights Chamber of Commerce, Board of Directors 

• Cleaner Air Partnership, Executive Committee 

• Downtown Sacramento Partnership, Board of Directors 

• El Dorado Chamber of Commerce 

• Florin Square Community Development Corporation, Board of Directors 

• Folsom Tourism and Economic Development Corporation, Board of Directors 

• Greater Sacramento Economic Council, Board of Directors 

• Greater Sacramento Urban League, Board of Directors 

• Internal Study Mission, Steering Committee 

• Metro EDGE, Leadership Council 

• Midtown Business Association, Board of Directors 

• North Sacramento Chamber of Commerce, Board of Directors 

• Northern California World Trade Center, Board of Directors 

• Power Inn Alliance, Board of Directors 

• R Street Sacramento Partnership, Board of Directors 

• Rancho Cordova Chamber of Commerce, Board of Directors 

• River District (Sacramento), Board of Directors 

• Roseville Chamber of Commerce, Board of Directors 

• Sacramento Asian Pacific Chamber of Commerce, Board of Directors 

• Capital Black Chamber of Commerce, Board of Directors 

• Sacramento Employment and Training Agency, Board of Directors 

• Sacramento Hispanic Chamber of Commerce, Board of Directors 

• Sacramento Metro Chamber of Commerce, Executive Committee 

• Sacramento Metro Chamber Foundation, Board of Directors 

• Sacramento Metro Chamber Study Mission, Steering Committee 

• Sacramento Transportation Management Authority, Board of Directors 

• Sacramento Works, Board of Directors 

• Stockton Blvd. Partnership, Board of Directors 

• Urban Land Institute, Executive Committee 

• Valley Vision, Executive Committee 

Grant Funding: SMUD aligned its grant funding activities with regional economic development 
activities by pursuing awards to fund planned work, research and development initiatives, and 
potential new business partnerships. This funding will directly help SMUD keep its rates low 
while also moving crucial projects forward with potential to economically benefit both SMUD and 
the larger region. 

• Grants awarded in 2024: California Energy Resilience and Reliability Infrastructure 
(CERRI) Grant: $25.5 million awards funded by the Federal Department of Energy and 
administered via the State California Energy Commission. The CERRI grant will pay for 
192 and 148 network transformers and protectors as well as 350,000-400,000 circuit feet 

GM 25-106 Board Monitoring Report – SD-13, Economic Development Page 9 of 15 



          

          
     

      
       

       

           
         

         
     

     

          
          

 
    

        
          
        

        
     

           
          

        
   

      
      

       
  

          
     

     
 

         
         

        
          

        
        

      
        
          

        
     

 
      
       

     
       

       
          

    
 

   
       

 

 
         

 

 

 
 

 

 

        

    
       

 

of underground cable. All work will be executed between 2026-2030 and supports 
economic development with reliable energy at reasonable rates. 

• Reliable, Equitable, and Accessible Charging for Multi-Family Housing-(REACH 
2.0): $2.2 million award funded by the California Energy Commission to install over 400 
charging handles at multifamily housing throughout SMUD territory 2025-2028. 

• Extreme Heat & Community Resilience Grant: $750,000 award funded by the Office 
of Planning & Research out of the California State Governor’s Office. Project is in 
partnership with the Sacramento City Unified School District to plan, design, and 
engineer a micro-grid resilience center installing solar and batteries at Hiram Johnson 
High School. To be executed in 2025-2026. 

• ESS Tech Inc.- Direct Award: $10 million Award given by the California Energy 
Commission to develop the non-lithium-ion battery bank at the Hedge Training Facility. 

Into contract in 2024: 

• Connected Clean Power City (CCPC): $50 million award via the Federal Department 
of Energy. Integration of Distributed Intelligence (DI) at the Grid Edge, an enhanced 
Distributed Energy Resource Management System (DERMS), and an advanced Outage 
Management System (OMS) to maintain and improve grid resiliency. Installation of 
200,000 residential meters. Expended through 2028. 

• Fast and Available Charging for All Californians (FAST) Grant: $5 million award by 
the California Energy Commission to fund 15 DC “fast chargers” at SFO, Amtrak and 
Sacramento State to support ride share drivers and nearby disadvantaged communities. 
Executed through 2027. 

• Reliable, Equitable, and Accessible Charging for Multi-Family Housing (REACH 
1.0): $5.3 million award by the California Energy Commission to fund over 200 EV 
charging handles in disadvantaged community multifamily housing locations. Executed 
through 2027. 

• Pole Clearing Area Fire Hardening Grant: $5 million Award by the Federal Emergency 
Management Agency (FEMA) to replace outdated electrical components in select 
SMUD-owned transmission locations. Executed through 2025. 

Regional Workforce Development Strategic Plan Update: In 2024, SMUD continued working 
through the Regional Workforce Development Strategic Plan, training 4,478 people to position 
them for clean energy and other economic opportunities and facilitating the employment of 825 
members of our community. This regional strategy has worked to galvanize and prepare the 
region with an inclusive, diverse, skilled, and empowered future workforce. Through the 
Regional Workforce Development Strategic Plan initiatives, SMUD supported 49 community 
partners to rapidly deploy workforce development and training throughout the Sacramento 
Region, with a high emphasis on bringing opportunities to under-resourced communities. By 
fostering a responsive career ecosystem, SMUD continued to close economic equity gaps, build 
the requisite workforce to meet SMUD’s regional zero carbon goals, and attract new business 
investments to the region by supporting a skilled and work-ready workforce. 

Energy Career Pathways: SMUD’s 2024 Energy Career Pathways recruited and trained 
individuals from SMUD’s Sustainable Communities target neighborhoods in solar, battery, EV, 
and electrification technologies. Our 2024 training partners, Grid Alternatives, Northern 
California Construction and Training Inc., and Cosumnes River College, supported graduates 
with employment services, such as connecting with employers, resume help, and career 
coaching. Our efforts closed the year with 177 individuals graduating and 64 being placed in 
relatively high-paying jobs and career paths. 

Sustainable Communities Program: SMUD’s Sustainable Communities promotes 
environmental equity and economic vitality, focusing on historically under-resourced 

GM 25-106 Board Monitoring Report – SD-13, Economic Development Page 10 of 15 



          

        
    

       
            
    

        
        

       
      

      
  

   

     
   

    
  

     
 

     
  

    
     

   
    

  
   

      
     

 
          

   
     

       
         

      
         

             
        
          
         
       

      
          

         
          

      
  

 
        

         
       

        
         

   

    

 

   

       

 

neighborhoods. Through partnerships with private industry, government agencies, and local 
community-based organizations, we invest in initiatives that ensure equitable access to clean 
energy, STEM education, regional workforce development, and inclusive economic 
opportunities. As part of our 2030 Zero Carbon Plan, we are committed to partnering with all 
communities, especially those lacking access to essential resources, such as affordable 
housing, livable wages, education, and a healthy environment. We work with community 
organizations and small businesses to address disparities, foster inclusion, and support long-
term economic development opportunities. By collaborating with policymakers, transit providers, 
technology companies, and healthcare organizations, we aim to enhance workforce training, 
clean energy, and economic development in under-resourced communities. 

SMUD’s Sustainable Communities Priority Map: 
Answering the call for an equitable clean energy 
transition, SMUD revised its Sustainable Communities 
Resource Priorities Map in 2024 to include the 
California Climate Investments Priority Populations 4.0 
and Mapping Inequality: Redlining in New Deal 
America. The Sustainable Communities Resource 
Priorities Map helps inform resource allocation, reduce 
growing economic disparity in Sacramento County and 
ensures the benefits of SMUD’s 2030 Zero Carbon 
Plan are equitably shared among all communities. 
SMUD and its partners will better understand where 
clean energy infrastructure, customer programs, 
facility improvements, economic development 
investment and workforce development opportunities 
need to occur to achieve our decarbonization goals in 
an equitable manner. 

Shine Program: Now in its eighth year, the Shine program invests in community nonprofit 
partners that deliver inclusive and equitable projects through collaborations and partnerships 
supporting historically under-resourced communities. In 2024, 98 organizations submitted 
applications with compelling and competitive projects, requesting more than $4.4 million in 
funding. These projects aim to increase access to zero carbon workforce development training 
and placement, promote inclusive economic development, enhance clean energy and STEM 
education, implement energy efficiency projects, and advance environmental justice and equity. 
For the 2024 – 2025 cohort, Shine will fund 22 projects totaling over $530,000. The diverse 
portfolio of partners will support under-resourced and under-represented communities by 
developing the next generation of the zero-carbon workforce through skills training and work 
placement. Additionally, the Shine program will aim to increase clean energy and STEM 
education, update energy-efficient equipment, and improve natural habitats through 
environmental justice and equity projects. We will support inclusive economic development with 
a project from 80 Watt PBID, where we will identify three businesses to provide clean energy 
upgrades. We will increase access to zero carbon workforce skills programs for 240 under-
represented and under-resourced community members in the region. Also, we will increase our 
clean energy, STEM education and careers, and environmental justice activities to over 4,050 
under-represented youth. 

2024 Small and Mid-size Business (SMB) Support: In 2024, SMUD’s Small and Mid-size 
Business (SMB) team of Strategic Account Advisors (SAAs) made significant strides in 
engaging local businesses. To meet customers “where they are”, the team collectively attended 
almost 200 community events. These included community gatherings, chambers of commerce 
meetings, and PBID-hosted events. The SAAs served as trusted advisors, providing education 

GM 25-106 Board Monitoring Report – SD-13, Economic Development Page 11 of 15 



          

        
       

     
  

         
        

       
      

     
         

       
  

  
       

        
      

            
      

          
         

      
           

          
          
        

        
      

     
 

  

 
           

 

 

             
       

       
         

     
         

    
  

         
            
         
        

  
       

  
         

  
          

     

         

       
       

  
  
  

  

  

  

 

on SMUD’s programs, services, rates, and long-term vision while also offering technical 
assistance on topics such as infrastructure capacity, solar and storage, EVSE installation, and 
the benefits of electrification. 

Finally, to bring SMUD’s Community Impact Plan (CIP) funding to underserved business 
members of the Stockton Boulevard Partnership, The Tower District, Rancho Cordova Chamber 
of Commerce, and the Citrus Heights Chamber of Commerce, SAAs presented and shared 
electrification information with hundreds of business owners and community members at several 
business walks, community workshops, and onsite meetings. The work resulted in 80 CIP-
funded business-electrification projects. The success of our 2024 outreach will continue in 2025 
as we partner with five more community organizations to bring electrification to their member 
businesses. 

Electrification and Energy Efficiency: Our Custom Retrofit, Complete Energy Solutions 
(CES), and Integrated Design Solutions (IDS) programs were well-positioned to lead 
electrification and energy efficiency projects for commercial customers in 2024. Commercial 
customers continued to take advantage of technical support along with a comprehensive list of 
incentive opportunities available through the commercial programs suite of offerings catered by 
business type. Additionally, SMB customers utilized the ease of the CES program, implementing 
turnkey solutions for them to complete energy projects. Many commercial customers were able 
to participate in both energy efficiency and Go Electric measures where they received incentives 
for multiple measures and saved money while reducing their carbon footprint. In 2024 we were 
able to increase the number of projects that took on multiple measures, and there was a 700% 
increase in projects that took on electrification as a measure as a direct result of equitable 
commercial heat pump incentives. Commercial program managers contributed and participated 
in quarterly Business Go Electric campaigns and community engagement events. Overall, the 
commercial programs completed 13 CIP projects with a combined total of 258 commercial 
projects completed in 2024. 

APPENDIX C 

SMUD shall assist in retaining, recruiting and growing commercial and industrial rate-

paying customers. 

One of the more significant barriers to customer growth in 2024 was persisting supply chain 
issues. Global supply chain delays continued to impact SMUD’s ability to purchase equipment, 
including some types of transformers, resulting in longer lead times. SMUD’s Commercial 
Development team dedicated significant time and resources to managing a transformer 
issuance policy to ensure customers were electrically ready to receive their equipment. This 
impacted our work significantly on residential housing and commercial development projects 
throughout the service territory. 

Projects announced in 2024 included 11 companies and the creation/retention of 775 new jobs: 
• AMD – a semiconductor company located a branch in Folsom with (120 jobs). 
• Arcadian – Technology company located a branch in Sacramento (5 jobs.) 
• Bekonix – the startup technology company opened its headquarters in Folsom (14 

jobs). 
• Bequall – specializing in ADUs and services located its headquarters in Sacramento 

County (6 jobs). 
• California Safe Soil – renewable products within food and agriculture located its 

headquarters in Sacramento (50 jobs). 
• NZT – opened its headquarters focusing on clean technology (20 jobs). 

GM 25-106 Board Monitoring Report – SD-13, Economic Development Page 12 of 15 



          

       
       

        
  

          
  

           
  

      
  

  
          

      
         

         
  

      
     

        
          
       

  
  

 
       

 
        

            
         

 
      

          
             

          
       

         
 

 
  

 
 

            
             

          
              

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

              

 

- Industry Job Full Service 
Size Term Discount Requir-ements Requireme~ Requirement -

T w o o ptio n s for c u s t o m e r s t o c hoose : 

Standard EDR 
Opt A: 6% f o r year s 1-5, d eclining 

1 % p e r y ear for y ear s 6 -10 

300kW+ 
10 

N o limita tions 
No minimum 

No Opt B : 4 .5% f or 1 O year s 
y ear s requirement 

Rate for Disadvantaged Communities 
O p t A : 8% f o r y ears 1 -5, d e clining 1 .5% 

p e r y ear f o r years 6 -10 

Opt B: 6% f o r 1 O y ear s 

• Onsight Technologies – established new headquarters as they pioneer hardware-
based AI and robotic with clean technology (60 jobs). 

• Rhombus Systems – moved their headquarters to Sacramento specializing in 
technology (300 jobs). 

• Samsung – opened a R&D branch in Folsom where they produce semiconductor (50 
jobs). 

• Sparkz – selected Sacramento to open a manufacturing site producing clean technology 
(141 jobs). 

• Tiami – a headquarters technology company opened headquarters in Elk Grove (9 
jobs). 

Commercial Development: In 2024, our Commercial Development team actively engaged with 
approximately 143 commercial, mixed-use, and residential project developers throughout our 
service area. Highlights for the year include: 

• Outreach to builders and developers on 2030 Clean Energy Vision program 
opportunities 

• High-profile and critical projects include transitional and low-income projects, and 
transformational and major developments projects across our service territory 

• Commercial development received a significant increase in prospective large load 
requests, predominantly from data centers due to artificial intelligence (AI), as it requires 
significant power delivered from large data centers. 

APPENDIX D 

SMUD shall offer economic development rates and program incentives. 

SMUD offers economic incentives to help attract new businesses and expand existing ones to 
grow the regional economy. Incentives range from helping design new construction to offering 
energy-efficient upgrades for equipment to proposing our Economic Development Rate (EDR). 

Economic Development Rate: Customers that exceed 299kW for three consecutive months 
may qualify for the EDR. This rate has multiple options for our customers, including a front-
loaded rate to help reduce initial operating costs, or a fixed discount over the ten-year period. 
Customers located in a disadvantaged community have the same options, but with a larger 
discount. Additionally, the Greater Sacramento Economic Council verifies the economic impact 
of the project. This ensures the customer is aware of other economic development programs 
and incentives. 

Economic Development Rate: 

Program Incentives: SMUD offered electrification and energy efficiency incentives to help meet 
the financial responsibility goals and sustainability needs of all our commercial customers. 
Commercial incentives and technical support help customers implement new energy-saving 
equipment and make electrification modifications to their buildings as part of SMUD’s goal to 

GM 25-106 Board Monitoring Report – SD-13, Economic Development Page 13 of 15 



          

             
            

             
              

             
                

  
 

        
                

            
              

   

 

       

      

      

      

      

 
             

 

           
             

            
           
       

 

             
           

                
              

 

           
             

              
           

           
           

            
          
              

      
 

             
             

               
             

 

 

 

       

         

 

achieve 100% net-zero-carbon by 2030. Incentives offered include, but are not limited, to heat 
pump space heating and cooling, domestic hot water, kitchen electrification, and vehicle 
electrification. Overall, we provided incentives for improvements to 258 commercial projects for a 
combined total program energy savings of 21.8 GWh and over 1,895 all-electric equivalent homes 
of building electrification. SMUD contributed $5.37 million dollars to commercial customers in 2024 
to influence our commercial community to partner with us in our carbon reducing efforts. 

APPENDIX E 

SMUD shall offer a contracting program for certified small businesses who are rate-
paying customers. In 2024, we exceeded our SEED Program goal of awarding at least 20% of all 
contracts to certified small businesses. Specifically, we awarded 30.1% through 142 SEED 
contracts totaling approximately $204 million to local small businesses within SMUD service area. 

Award Type 

2024 

Total Award $ Award Count Program % 

SEED Prime $142,942,523.15 66 46% 

SEED Sub-Contractors $61,190,540.86 75 53% 

Sheltered Market $260,000 1 1% 

Grand Total $204,888,362.29 142 100% 

The SEED team focused its efforts on the following key outreach initiatives: 

• Business Walks: Economic Development and Partnerships conducted 24 business walks 
throughout the region with an emphasis on high priority areas identified on the Sustainable 
Communities Priorities Map. These business walks helped SMUD build trust through repeated 
customer outreach to more than 1,500 businesses, identifying language barriers, promoting 
Business District Electrification and increasing SEED participation. 

• Expanded Education & Certification Support: EDP launched Proposal Writing 101 and a 
collaborative SEED enrollment workshop with the Department of General Services (DGS). 
Proposal Writing 101 builds on the "How to Do Business with SMUD" workshop, while the DGS 
workshop helps businesses obtain certification to qualify for and enroll in the SEED program. 

• Business Advisory Committee (BAC) & Economic Development Summit: EDP continued 
to lead the Business Advisory Council (BAC), hosting four quarterly meetings that connected 
business organization leaders with each other and with information on the SEED program, the 
2030 Zero Carbon Plan, best practices, sponsored events, incentives, and commercial 
contracting opportunities. In 2024, approximately 55 SMUD contracts were awarded to 
members and affiliates of BAC members organization, representing an estimated $181,107,287 
in awarded contracts (including SEED and non-SEED recipients). To further support regional 
business development, EDP facilitated its inaugural Economic Development Summit, featuring 
partners who are key business leaders and offering insights into the region’s economic health 
and strengthening collaboration among key stakeholders. 

• “Meet the Buyers” Conference: Economic Development & Partnership’s 13th Annual Meet the 
Buyers Conference returned in a hybrid format, attracting 309 attendees total (241 in-person 
and 68 online attendees). The event featured a greeting by Board President Herber, two panel 
discussions and an Expo of SMUD procurement and external business partner exhibitors. The 

GM 25-106 Board Monitoring Report – SD-13, Economic Development Page 14 of 15 



          

               
        

 

           
             

            
     

 

             
              

            
                

   
 

             
          

            
             
       

 

         
         

        
           

         

      
    

  
 

 
 

 

           
             

     
        

        

 

 

       

 

 
    

  
 

 

 
          

        

 

event was well-reviewed by attendees and resulted in 5 new SEED vendors registered and a 
13% average increase in SMUD solicitation views. 

• SEED Marketing & Language Accessibility: Economic Development & Partnerships added 
Tagalog to the growing list of SEED material languages translations to enhance accessibility 
and engagement, including translating SEED and Meet the Buyers materials and expanding 
outreach to a broader audience. 

• Sheltered Market Initiatives: The SEED team continually explores innovative ways to foster 
small business participation in solicitations and worked closely with Supply Chain to identify a 
sheltered market contracting opportunity in professional services. The contracts are specific only 
to verified SEED vendors and resulted in 13 suppliers being awarded a total of $3,198,000 in 
potential awards. 

• SEED Priorities Map & Data-Driven Outreach: To support SMUD’s commitment to an 
equitable clean energy transition, Economic Development & Partnerships integrated SEED 
awards and enrollment data into the Sustainable Communities Resource Priorities Map. This 
addition helps SMUD identify enrollment and contract award trends by ward, enabling targeted 
outreach in areas with lower SEED participation. 

• SEED Quarterly Newsletter: Economic Development & Partnerships relaunched the SEED 
newsletter in an updated format for SMUD employees to access through SharePoint. Content 
included SEED supplier success stories, recent contract awards, volunteer opportunities for 
SEED Ambassadors to promote the program at SMUD-sponsored event, and SEED program 
successes including winning the Department of General Services State Agency Recognition 

Award for Reciprocity Partner of the Year. The EDP team also led an internal “Think 
SEED First” campaign, which included the creation of the “Find a SEED Vendor” 
intranet link, in-person canvassing across multiple business units, communication in 
SEED Ambassador presentations and newsletters, and the incorporation of live 
testimonials from 3 community partners to highlight the positive impact of buying from 
SEED vendors during the 2024 Learn@SMUD presentation. 

• Reciprocity Partner of the Year Award: The SEED program again was recognized by the 
California Department of General Services as the “Reciprocity Partner of the Year” at their 
State Agency Recognition Awards (SARA) as a successful contracting incentive program that 
uses DGS’s certification designation for SEED vendors. This is the third time the SEED 
program has received the award in 5 years since its inception. 

GM 25-106 Board Monitoring Report – SD-13, Economic Development Page 15 of 15 



 

 
 

 
 

 
 
  

 
 

 

 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 
 
  

RESOLUTION NO.  25-08-03 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT: 

This Board accepts the monitoring report for Strategic Direction 

SD-14, System Enhancement, substantially in the form set forth in 

Attachment B hereto and made a part hereof. 

Approved: August 21, 2025 

INTRODUCED:  DIRECTOR SANBORN 

SECONDED:  DIRECTOR TAMAYO 

DIRECTOR AYE NO ABSTAIN ABSENT 

FISHMAN X 

ROSE X 

BUI-THOMPSON X 

HERBER X 

KERTH X 

TAMAYO X 

SANBORN X 



  

 

     

    

  
  

      
   

 

 
  

 

 

 
 

 
 

Attachment B 
to Resolution No. 25-08-03 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 

OFFICE MEMORANDUM 

TO: Board of Directors DATE: July 29, 2025 

FROM: Claire Rogers CR 7/29/25 

SUBJECT: Audit Report No. 28007867 
Board Monitoring Report; SD-14: System Enhancement 

Internal Audit Services (IAS) received the SD-14 System Enhancement 2024 
Annual Board Monitoring Report and performed the following: 

• Selected a sample of statements and assertions in the report for review. 

• Compared sample to the corresponding supporting documentation to 
identify potential discrepancies. 

All items sampled within the SD Report aligns with the supporting documentation 
provided at the time of review. 

CC: 

Paul Lau 



          

  

 

 

 
 

  
 

  
 

   

 
  

  

 

      

   

 
     

    

      

 
           

    

            

  

       

 
             

    

  

  

              

   

 
      

          

   

   

     

 

 

Board Monitoring Report 2024 
Strategic Direction 
SD-14, System Enhancement 

1. Background 

Strategic Direction 14, the System Enhancement Board policy states that: 

As a community-owned utility, SMUD recognizes that the relocation or underground 

placement of primary voltage power lines may be desirable to local jurisdictions to 

improve aesthetics, economic vitality, safety and disabled access. Therefore, it is a key 

value of SMUD to make selected distribution system enhancements, such as permanent 

relocation or underground placement of primary power lines below 69 kV. 

a) SMUD will, at its expense and where technically feasible, permanently relocate or 

underground existing overhead distribution facilities provided the governing body of 

the city or county in which the electric facilities are and will be located has: 

i) Identified, after consultation with SMUD, a specific system enhancement project; 

ii) Determined the project is in the public interest; 

iii) Ensured all existing overhead communication facilities related to the project will 

also be permanently relocated or placed underground; 

iv) Obtained and provided SMUD with all easements necessary for the project. 

b) After achievement of core financial targets, SMUD will annually commit up to one-half 

of one percent of its annual gross electric sales revenue to system enhancements. 

The proposed projects will be subject to SMUD’s annual budget approval process, 

and uncommitted funds from any given year will not be carried over to future years. 

Funding will be assigned to projects brought forward by local cities or counties based 

on applying the following criteria (not in order of preference): 

i) Project scale and/or cost when measured against available SMUD resources. 

ii) Requesting entity has developed full scope, obtained all necessary easements, 

and development plan for customer service conversion from overhead to 

underground, as required. 

iii) Extent to which the costs are borne by others. 

GM 25-107 Board Monitoring Report – SD-14, System Enhancement Page 1 of 4 



          

  

 

 

   

 

  

    

 

 

    

 
   

  

   

  

   

    

    

 
  

 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
   

  
 

 

  
 

 
 

  
   

 
 

 

 

 
  
  

   
  

 
 

 

  

 
  

   
  

 
 

 
       

  

    

 

 

 

2. Executive summary 

The policy states that SMUD “will annually commit up to one-half of one percent of its 

annual gross electric sales revenue to system enhancements.” For 2024, this 

threshold was approximately $8.91 million. 

SMUD is in compliance with SD-14, System Enhancement. 

The planning and execution of SD-14 projects is typically a multi-year process that 

starts with a preliminary work scope that is used to determine a ballpark cost estimate, 

to the finalization of the work scope that includes a detailed design and detailed cost 

estimate. After necessary permits and easements are obtained, the project is released 

for execution/construction. Table 1 below shows the committed projects and their 

design and construction schedules. The budget for these four multi-year projects were 

included in the approved operational plans and budgets. 

Table 1: Committed Projects in Progress 

Local 
Jurisdiction 

Project Title 
Total Cost 
Estimate 

2024 
Project 
Budget 

2024 
Project 
Spend 

Project 
Status 

Sacramento 
County 

Greenback Lane Road 
Improvements 

(0.8 miles) 
$1,000K $0K(a) $10K 

Design in 2025; 
Construction in 

2026 

City of Citrus 
Heights 

Auburn Blvd. 
Rusch Park to I-80 

(0.75 miles) 
$2,900K $2,808K(a) $129K 

Under 
Construction 

2025 

City of Elk 
Grove 

Elk Grove Blvd. 
Waterman to School St. 

(0.5 miles) 
$1,500K $1,194K(a) $1.2K 

Design in 2025; 
Construction in 

2026 

City of 
Sacramento 

Arden Way 
Hesket Way to Morse 

Ave. 
(0.5 miles) 

$750K $0K(b) $0K 
Design in 2025; 
Construction in 

2027 

(a) The original schedule called for the project construction to start in 2022 but the 

local agency deferred construction to later years. 

(b) New project approved in August 2024 for the City of Sacramento. 

GM 25-107 Board Monitoring Report – SD-14, System Enhancement Page 2 of 4 



          

  

 

 

   

 
   

     
 

 
   

 

 
 

 

 

 
  

 
 

 
  

   

 
 

  
 

  
   

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

  

 
 

  
  

 
  

 
 

 
 

  
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

  
 

  

 
 

  
 

  
  

 
    

 
  

 
 

    
 

  

 
 

 

3. Additional supporting information 

Since the adoption of the SD-14 policy, eleven projects have been funded through 
the policy for a total of $12.06 million. Table 2 below lists the projects completed by 
year. 

Table 2: Completed Projects Since Policy Adoption 

Local 
Jurisdiction 

Project Description 
SMUD 

Construction 
Completion 

SMUD 
Project Cost 

Sacramento 
County 

Fair Oaks Blvd Landis to Angelina 
(0.3 miles) 

2021 $0.25 M 

Sacramento 
County 

Hazel Avenue Phase 3 Sunset to 
Madison 

(0.7 miles) 
2021 $1.22 M 

City of Sacramento 
Sutter Village 
(~200 feet) 

2019 $0.12 M 

City of Sacramento 
Ice Blocks Project 

R Street b/w 16th & 18th Streets 
(1,000 ft.) 

2017 $0.47 M 

Sacramento 
County 

Hazel Avenue Phase 2 
b/w Curragh Downs & Sunset Ave. 

(1 mile) 
2017 $2.3 M 

Sacramento 
County 

Fair Oaks Blvd. 
b/w Landis Ave. & Engle Rd. 

(0.5 miles) 
2016 $1.2 M 

City of Sacramento 
16th and O Streets 

(1,000 ft.) 
2013 $0.3 M 

Citrus Heights 
Auburn Blvd. 

b/w Sylvan Corners & Rusch Park 
(1 mile) 

2013 $2.6 M 

Sacramento 
County 

North Highlands Town Ctr. 
at Watt Ave. & Freedom Park Dr. 

(0.5 mile) 
2012 $1.1 M 

City of Sacramento 
7th St. b/w North B & Richards Blvd. 

(1,500 ft.) 
2012 $1.3 M 

City of Sacramento 
Richards Blvd. 

b/w North 5th & North 7th Streets 
(1,000 ft.) 

2012 $1.2 M 

GM 25-107 Board Monitoring Report – SD-14, System Enhancement Page 3 of 4 



          

  

 

 

  

 
 

 

 
  

 
    

 

 

   
 

 

 

4. Challenges 

There were no challenges encountered with the implementation of the Board policy in 
2024. 

5. Recommendation 

It is recommended that the Board accept the 2024 Monitoring Report for SD-14, System 

Enhancement. 

6. Appendices 

N/A 

GM 25-107 Board Monitoring Report – SD-14, System Enhancement Page 4 of 4 



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO.  25-08-04 

WHEREAS, SMUD currently uses and relies upon Digital Fault 

Recorders (DFRs) manufactured by AMETEK Power Instruments (Ametek) to 

detect and monitor data related to our Bulk Electric System required to maintain 

consistency and interoperability; and 

WHEREAS, each DFR manufacturer uses proprietary software and 

interfaces, making integration across platforms challenging; and 

WHEREAS, Ametek’s DFR solution allows SMUD to maintain, 

compile, share, and access records in a standardized way that ensures 

continuity, North American Electric Reliability Corporation (NERC) 

compliance, and efficient systems analysis while eliminating risks associated with 

software incompatibility and data fragmentation; and 

WHEREAS, transitioning to a different DFR manufacturer would 

require SMUD to replace all existing DFRs installed across the grid with another 

manufacturer’s DFR resulting in significant cost and disruption; and 

WHEREAS, executing a contract with Ametek allows SMUD to 

secure favorable pricing and align with existing system architecture to support 

SMUD’s substation and generation projects from 2025 through 2030; and 

WHEREAS, it would not be productive or in the best interest of 

SMUD to advertise for competitive bids for the products and services referred to 

above because they can only be obtained from Ametek; NOW, THEREFORE, 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT: 

Section 1. That the Chief Executive Officer and General 

Manager, or his designee, is authorized on behalf of SMUD to negotiate and 

execute a sole source contract with AMETEK Power Instruments to 

manufacture and provide SMUD with Digital Fault Recorders on an as-needed 

basis for the five-year period from September 1, 2025, to September 1, 2030, in 

an amount not to exceed $3,000,000. 

Section 2. The Chief Executive Officer and General Manager, or 

his designee, is authorized to make future changes to the terms and conditions of 



 

 
 

 

 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 
 
  

the contract that, in his prudent judgment: (a) further the primary purpose of the 

contract; (b) are intended to provide a net benefit to SMUD; and (c) do not 

exceed the authorized contract amount and applicable contingencies. 

Approved: August 21, 2025 

INTRODUCED:  DIRECTOR SANBORN 

SECONDED:  DIRECTOR TAMAYO 

DIRECTOR AYE NO ABSTAIN ABSENT 

FISHMAN X 

ROSE X 

BUI-THOMPSON X 

HERBER X 

KERTH X 

TAMAYO X 

SANBORN X 



 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO.  25-08-05 

WHEREAS, on April 9, 2025, SMUD issued Request for Proposal 

No. Doc5112258551 (RFP) to solicit qualified contractors to provide Urban Civil 

Annual Construction Services for a five-year period; and 

WHEREAS, 10 proposals submitted in response to the RFP were 

evaluated; NOW, THEREFORE, 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT: 

Section 1. As a result of such examination, Lund Construction 

Co., Navajo Pipelines, Inc., Arrow Construction, Syblon Reid Construction, 

Inc., and Teichert Energy & Utilities Group Inc. dba Teichert Utilities are 

hereby determined and declared to the highest evaluated responsive proposers 

to provide urban civil annual construction services. 

Section 2. The Chief Executive Officer and General Manager, or 

his designee, is authorized, on behalf of SMUD, to negotiate and award contracts 

to the highest evaluated responsive proposers, Lund Construction Co., Navajo 

Pipelines, Inc., Arrow Construction, Syblon Reid Construction, Inc., and 

Teichert Energy & Utilities Group Inc. dba Teichert Utilities (collectively, the 

Contracts), to provide urban civil annual construction services for a five-year 

term from September 1, 2025, to September 1, 2030, for a total aggregate not-to-

exceed amount of $100,000,000 for the Contracts. 

Section 3. The Chief Executive Officer and General Manager, or 

his designee, is authorized to make future changes to the terms and conditions of 

the Contracts that, in his prudent judgment: (a) further the primary purpose of 



 

 
 

 

 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 
 
  

the Contracts; (b) is intended to provide a net benefit to SMUD; and (c) does not 

exceed the authorized contract amount and applicable contingencies. 

Approved: August 21, 2025 

INTRODUCED:  DIRECTOR SANBORN 

SECONDED:  DIRECTOR TAMAYO 

DIRECTOR AYE NO ABSTAIN ABSENT 

FISHMAN X 

ROSE X 

BUI-THOMPSON X 

HERBER X 

KERTH X 

TAMAYO X 

SANBORN X 



 

 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

RESOLUTION NO.  25-08-06 

WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 23-08-06, adopted on August 17, 

2023, this Board authorized the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager to 

negotiate and execute all agreements necessary to facilitate SMUD’s 

participation in the California Independent System Operator Corporation 

(CAISO) Extended Day-Ahead Market (EDAM); and 

WHEREAS, SMUD is currently scheduled to enter the EDAM in 

October 2027, which will extend participation in the day-ahead market to other 

Western Energy Imbalance Market (EIM) entities beyond CAISO and thus add 

opportunities for SMUD to sell excess or buy additional supply at optimal rates; 

and 

WHEREAS, participation in the EDAM will improve market 

efficiency by integrating renewable resources using day-ahead unit commitment 

and scheduling across a larger area resulting in better financial outcomes for 

SMUD; and 

WHEREAS, an upgrade to SMUD’s Generation Supply 

Management System (GSMS) is required to support SMUD’s entrance into 

EDAM; and 

WHEREAS, Power Costs, Inc. (PCI) is the manufacturer of the 

proprietary GSMS and is the sole provider of maintenance and support as there 

are no resellers; and 

WHEREAS, staff has negotiated a discount of $380,000, and the 

price is considered fair and reasonable; and 

WHEREAS, it would not be productive or in the best interest of 

SMUD to advertise for competitive bids for the products and services referred to 

above because they can only be obtained from PCI; NOW, THEREFORE, 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT: 

Section 1. That the Chief Executive Officer and General 

Manager, or his designee, is authorized on behalf of SMUD to negotiate and 

execute a sole source contract with Power Costs, Inc. for professional services 



 

 

 
 

 

 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 
  

and software maintenance in support of SMUD’s Generation Supply 

Management System for a five-year term starting approximately August 25, 

2025, in an amount not to exceed $10,700,000. 

Section 2. Maintenance fees for future years will be approved by 

this Board with approval of the annual budget. 

Section 3. The Chief Executive Officer and General Manager, or 

his designee, is authorized to make future changes to the terms and conditions of 

the contract that, in his prudent judgment: (a) further the primary purpose of the 

contract; (b) are intended to provide a net benefit to SMUD; and (c) do not 

exceed the authorized contract amount and applicable contingencies. 

Approved: August 21, 2025 

INTRODUCED:  DIRECTOR SANBORN 

SECONDED:  DIRECTOR TAMAYO 

DIRECTOR AYE NO ABSTAIN ABSENT 

FISHMAN X 

ROSE X 

BUI-THOMPSON X 

HERBER X 

KERTH X 

TAMAYO X 

SANBORN X 



 

 
 

 
 
  

 

 
 

 

 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 
  

RESOLUTION NO.  25-08-07 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT: 

This Board accepts the monitoring report for Strategic Direction 

SD-5, Customer Relations, substantially in the form set forth in Attachment C 

hereto and made a part hereof. 

Approved: August 21, 2025 

INTRODUCED:  DIRECTOR SANBORN 

SECONDED:  DIRECTOR TAMAYO 

DIRECTOR AYE NO ABSTAIN ABSENT 

FISHMAN X 

ROSE X 

BUI-THOMPSON X 

HERBER X 

KERTH X 

TAMAYO X 

SANBORN X 



  

 

      

    

  
  

      
    

 

 

 
  

 

 

 
 

 
 

Attachment C 
to Resolution No. 25-08-07 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 

OFFICE MEMORANDUM 

TO: Board of Directors DATE: August 6, 2025 

FROM: Claire Rogers CR 8/6/25 

SUBJECT: Audit Report No. 28007868 
Board Monitoring Report; SD-5: Customer Relations 

Internal Audit Services (IAS) received the SD-5 Customer Relations 2024 Annual 
Board Monitoring Report and performed the following: 

• Selected a sample of statements and assertions in the report for review. 

• Compared sample to the corresponding supporting documentation to 
identify potential discrepancies. 

All items sampled within the SD Report aligns with the supporting documentation 
provided at the time of review. 

CC: 

Paul Lau 



          
 

  
  

 
 
 

   
  

     
  

   
  

    
   

  
   

    
  

   
  

      
  

    
   

 

    
  

  

    
  

  
   

  
 

     
     
  
   

  
   

   
  

 
      

 

   

   

   

sMUD~ Board Monitoring Report 2024 
SD-5 Customer Relations 

1) Background 

Strategic Direction 5 Customer Relations states that: 

Maintaining a high level of customer relations is a core value of SMUD. Additionally, the 
Board sets a customer satisfaction target of 95 percent with no individual component 
measured falling below 85 percent. In addition, the Board establishes an overall customer 
experience “value for what you pay” target of 70 percent by the end of 2025 and 80 
percent by the end of 2030, with neither the average commercial customer score falling 
below 69 percent nor the average residential customer score falling below 65 percent in 
any year. 

As part of this policy: 

a. SMUD customers shall be treated in a respectful, dignified and civil manner. 

b. SMUD shall communicate a procedure for customers who believe they have not 
received fair treatment from SMUD to be heard. 

2) Executive summary 

To ensure customers are receiving the highest quality of service, SMUD measures the 
satisfaction of key interactions with SMUD: Outages, Tree Trimming, Bill Inquiries, New 
Connections, IVR Payments, and IVR Payment Arrangements. 

In addition, we measure Value for What You Pay as value drives customer loyalty. Value 
is defined as the trade-off between the perceived benefits a customer gets to the cost they 
have to pay for the benefits. Knowing what customers value allows SMUD to tailor 
services, products, and offerings to sustain customer relationships as the utility market 
evolves. SMUD is measuring customer perceived value because SMUD believes it is an 
effective early indicator of customer loyalty. When customers have options to choose 
alternatives, whether alternatives in energy, energy advisement, and other related 
services, we want our customers to continue choosing SMUD. 

High satisfaction in these key interactions below and a high Value for What You Pay score 
support SMUD’s purpose and vision to act in the best interests of our customers and 
community. 

a) SMUD is in compliance with SD-5. 

GM 25-112 Board Monitoring Report – SD 5 Page 1 of 3 



          
 

  
       

 

     
   

 
 

  
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

     

      

       

       

 
 

     

       

  
 

     

 
 

     

      

      
 

  
 

    
 

 
  

 
  

  
     

    

        

  
   

    
   

  
  

  

 

 

 

 

  

    

   

• SMUD has exceeded the target of 95% with an overall Customer Satisfaction of 
97%. All six components exceeded the goals. 

• SMUD achieved a 70% overall Value for What You Pay score, with neither 
Residential nor Commercial falling below their prescribed floors. 

Metric 2024 
performance 

2023 
performance 

2022 
performance 

2021 
performance 

2020 
performance 

Customer 
Satisfaction 
Level 

97% 97% 97% 97% 97% 

Tree Trimming 95% 96% 95% 96% 95% 

New Connects 99% 98% 98% 99% 99% 

Bill Inquiries 94% 94% 96% 96% 96% 

Outage 
Communication 

97% 94% 96% 94% 95% 

IVR Payment 97% 97% 98% 98% 97% 

IVR Payment 
Arrangement 

95% 95% 95% 94% 93% 

Value for 
What You 
Pay 

70% 71% 71% 76% 77% 

Commercial 70% 72% 73% 79% 79% 

Residential 69% 70% 70% 73% 75% 

3) Additional supporting information: 

Respectful Customer Treatment: Compliant 
SMUD customers are treated in a respectful, dignified and civil manner. SMUD 
employees are trained to deliver quality customer experience through extensive, multi-
channel employee competency development. 

Respectful Customer Treatment Supporting Information: 

• Instructor Led training –1,153 attendees 
• Real Time Training –308 bulletin items 

• Customer touchpoints and journey assessed and designed – 16 

Hearing Appeal Process: Compliant 
Customers are made aware of SMUD’s Hearing and Appeal process through multiple 
channels. The back page of every paper bill describes the process. In addition, the 
process is described in detail on the SMUD website and is linked from the digital bill in My 
Account. 

GM 25-112 Board Monitoring Report – SD 5 Page 2 of 3 



          
 

  
   

 

      
  

  
    

        
   

   
     

     
    

  
 

 
   
    

    
    

      
   

 
     

 

  
 

     
 

 
    

  
    

 
 

  
 

    
  

 

 

 

 

   

Zero hearings were conducted in 2024, as staff successfully resolved all escalations 
within standard customer communication channels. 

4) Challenges 

There are opportunities and headwinds on the horizon. Core customer needs include 
affordability, safety, health, quality of life and hope/optimism about the future. While we 
continue to see the ongoing impacts of inflation, we understand the direct influence on 
affordability particularly for some customer segments. We continue to enhance how we 
support customers through a range of programs and initiatives, like our Community 
Impact Plan, Meet SMUD events and more. These events provide direct access to our 
assistance programs and a range of resources provided by our knowledgeable staff to 
show that we truly care about our customers, and aim to be a tangible, positive force in 
the region. 

Customer expectations and reliance on technology also continue to increase quickly. 
Artificial intelligence brings both opportunities and challenges as technology is core to 
nearly all customer interactions. We’re investing in technology to continually enhance 
customer experience, whether it be in the contact center or on self-service channels like 
My Account and our website. Our challenge is to enable and leverage this technology in a 
cost-effective manner while also staying authentic with our customers and providing them 
hyper-personalized information and solutions. 

We’re also monitoring the change in federal administration closely for impacts on energy 
policy and areas that may impact our customers as we continue to prioritize providing 
safe, affordable and low-cost energy while bringing customers along in the clean energy 
transition. 

Fulfilling customer needs and expectations will require SMUD to balance priorities, which 
could impact the customer experience. 

5) Recommendation 

It is recommended that the Board accept the Monitoring Report for SD-5 

6) Appendices 

Not applicable. 

GM 25-112 Board Monitoring Report – SD 5 Page 3 of 3 



 

 
 

 
 
  

 
 

 

 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 
  

RESOLUTION NO.  25-08-08 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT: 

This Board accepts the monitoring report for Strategic Direction 

SD-15, Outreach and Communication, substantially in the form set forth in 

Attachment D hereto and made a part hereof. 

Approved: August 21, 2025 

INTRODUCED:  DIRECTOR SANBORN 

SECONDED:  DIRECTOR TAMAYO 

DIRECTOR AYE NO ABSTAIN ABSENT 

FISHMAN X 

ROSE X 

BUI-THOMPSON X 

HERBER X 

KERTH X 

TAMAYO X 

SANBORN X 



  

 

      

    

  
  

    
    

 

 
  

 

 

 
 

 
 

Attachment D 
to Resolution No. 25-08-08 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 

OFFICE MEMORANDUM 

TO: Board of Directors DATE: August 6, 2025 

FROM: Claire Rogers CR 8/6/25 

SUBJECT: Audit Report No. 28007869 
Board Monitoring Report; SD-15: Outreach and Communication 

Internal Audit Services (IAS) received the SD-15 Outreach and Communication 
2024 Annual Board Monitoring Report and performed the following: 

• Selected a sample of statements and assertions in the report for review. 

• Compared sample to the corresponding supporting documentation to 
identify potential discrepancies. 

All items sampled within the SD Report aligns with the supporting documentation 
provided at the time of review. 

CC: 

Paul Lau 



                                  
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

  

 

    
 

      
   

 
  

 
           

       
          

    
        

          
         

    
 

   

       
             

          
       
       

 
         

 
          

          
      

           
         

            
        

 
            

       
       

        
           

            
       
          
            

      

       

    

       

 

 

  
 

   

Board Monitoring Report 2024 
SD-15 Board Strategic Direction on 
Outreach and Communication 

1) Background 

Strategic Direction 15 states: 

Providing broad outreach and communication to SMUD’s customers and the community is a key 
value of SMUD. 

Specifically: 

a. SMUD shall provide its customers the information, education and tools they need to best 
manage their energy use according to their needs. 

b. SMUD will use an integrated and consistent communication strategy that recognizes the 
unique customer segments that SMUD serves. 

c. SMUD’s communication and community outreach activities shall reflect the diversity of 
the communities we serve. SMUD shall use a broad mix of communication channels to 
reach all customer segments. This communication shall be designed to ensure that all 
groups are aware of SMUD’s major decisions and programs. 

2) Executive summary 

Strategic Direction 15 requires SMUD’s communication and community outreach activities to 
reflect the diversity of our customers and the community we serve, using a broad mix of 
communication channels. In accordance, we look at the level of our marketing and outreach 
activities by communication channel, as well as the customer awareness of various programs 
and services by ethnicity. 

SMUD is in compliance with SD-15 Outreach and Communication. 

A storm in early February 2024 brought eight hours of 65+ mile per hour tropical storm force 
winds, causing extensive outages throughout our service territory. We responded quickly with 
timely messages in multiple communication channels, providing regular updates and tips 
through smud.org, social media and local media outlets. We encouraged customers to report 
and check outage status on the SMUD mobile app, and we saw a significant increase in 
downloads during this time. Enhancements to our storm response following the January 2023 
storms resulted in accurate restoration times and an enhanced customer experience. 

In late spring, we launched the next phase of our Clean PowerCity® campaign – Clean Power 
Promise. This multi-language and multi-channel campaign highlighted our commitment to 
deliver clean energy while maintaining low rates and world-class reliability. Reinforcing SMUD’s 
key commitments to customers was a central message as we headed into the 2024 election 
cycle. The campaign encouraged customers to join the charge with 99 tips to save energy and 
reduce their carbon footprint. The campaign ran in new channels, specifically retail outlets 
including Amazon Fresh and Whole Foods. After our summer Time-of-Day (TOD) reminder 
campaign featuring energy-saving tips, we launched an all-new “low rates” campaign. This 
educated customers about SMUD’s rates, which are on average at least 50% lower than those 

GM 25-113 Board Monitoring Report – SD-15 Outreach and Communication  Page 1 of 8 

https://smud.org


                                  
 

            
  

 
         

        
          

        
      

          
             

         
          

            
    

 
        

        
       

          
          

           
  

 
        

        
       

        
      

 
          
       

         
        

      
 

    
 

 
   

 

  
 

 

 

  

 

  
 

 

  

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

  

  

 
 

       

   
       

  

   

of PG&E, saving our customers about $1.7 billion per year. The campaign ran primarily in digital 
and outdoor channels. 

SMUD could be seen or heard in more than a dozen customer-facing communication channels 
(in addition to at events). We continue to pursue community events and other new opportunities 
to reach customers, recognizing communication channels can be limited in our service territory 
for those that prefer communications in languages other than English. We expanded our in-
language communications and outreach in 2024, with information in up to 23 languages and 
dialects, including Braille. This includes 5 new languages, including Gujarati, Hindi, Iu Mien, 
Punjabi and Telugu to support community events. In the summer of 2024, we took a significant 
step forward in reaching customers in languages other than English with the addition of 
automatic translation on smud.org, our primary customer-facing digital channel. Customers now 
can visit any one of our pages and instantly select their preferred language for instant 
translation into 15 different languages. 

We delivered more than 20 marketing campaigns and participated in 1,792 community events, 
workshops and partnerships. At all community events, we continued to encourage customers to 
“Join the charge," provided information to attendees about why reducing carbon is important 
and promoted dozens of tips so customers could show support for and take actions supporting 
SMUD’s 2030 Zero Carbon Plan. We launched a campaign to engage with those who had 
joined the charge, and shared stories of how they’re taking action on our blog, in emails and 
social media. 

Events and partnerships reflected the diversity of our community, including cultural, ethnic 
and/or special populations. Events and partnerships supported LGBTQ+, low income, military, 
seniors, disabilities, education, environmental, health & safety, STEM, agriculture, all electric, 
electric vehicles, faith, literacy, homeowner associations, young adults (18-30) and youth (0-17). 
See Appendices A and B. 

We also look at trends related to the overall awareness of a cross-section of SMUD’s programs 
and services, segmented by ethnicity. The segments include Asian and Pacific Islander, 
Hispanic, Black and White. The programs measured are Rebates, Energy Assistance Program 
Rate (EAPR), Greenergy, Electric Vehicle (EV) discount rate, SMUD Mobile App, and Gas-to-
Electric Appliance Conversion, added in 2022. See charts in Appendix B. 

Key activities by SD requirement 

SD 
Requirement 

Program/initiative/policy Purpose Outcome 

Education and 
tools to 
manage energy 
use 

In 2024, we expanded upon our 
Clean PowerCity campaigns with 
the Clean Power Promise 
campaign educating customers 
about our efforts to reduce carbon 
while maintaining low rates and 
reliability. It also encouraged 
them to join the charge with 99 
tips to save energy and reduce 
their carbon footprint. In the 
summer, we encouraged 
efficiency with a TOD summer 
rate reminder on billboards and 

To provide 
customers with the 
education and 
tools for managing 
their energy use 
and their bills, 
while also working 
with SMUD to 
reduce carbon. 

Successfully implemented 
campaigns that informed our 
customers of resources and tools 
available to them. Also 
successfully participated in over 
1,700 community events with 
employees volunteering more than 
15,000 hours. Awareness of most 
programs were steady year-over-
year. All the 1,792 events and 
partnerships included at least 
some cultural, ethnic and/or 
special populations, including 

GM 25-113 Board Monitoring Report – SD-15 Outreach and Communication  Page 2 of 8 

https://smud.org


                                  
 

 

 
  

 
 

 
   

  
 

  
  

 

 
  

 
 

 

 
 

 

  
   

  
 

 

 

 
 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

   
 

 
 

 

 
 

  
 

  
 

 
  

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

  

    
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

   

savings tips with a series of 
summer emails. Throughout the 
year, we continued to share 
energy savings tips with 
customers in a wide variety of 
channels, from print and email 
newsletters to social media, 
billboards, digital ads speeches 
and events. 
In all, we implemented more than 
20 campaigns in 2024 promoting 
energy savings, customer 
programs and services, including 
EAPR, MED Rate, SMUD Energy 
Store, Budget Billing and Custom 
Due Date and others. 

LGBTQ+, low income, military, 
seniors, disabilities, education, 
environmental, health & safety and 
STEM, agriculture, all electric, 
Electric Vehicles, faith, homeowner 
associations, young adults (18-30) 
and youth (0-17). 
(Appendices A, B) 

Integrated and 
consistent 
communication 
that recognizes 
unique 
customer 
segments 

Implemented communications, 
including collateral and 
advertisements in 23 languages, 
including 5 new languages. We 
also leveraged 17 communication 
channels to ensure we reach our 
customers in the channel they 
prefer, at the time they need it 
and with information specifically 
targeted to them. We launched 
automatic translation on smud.org 
in 2024, which reaches customers 
in 15 different languages. 
We also participated in over 1,700 
community events including 
Community Resource Expos and 
the new Lobby Days to reach our 
many unique customer segments. 

To have 
consistent, 
integrated 
messages 
available for 
various customer 
segments, 
including those 
based on ethnicity 
and other unique 
audiences along 
with those 
customers who 
may not see our 
messages in 
mainstream 
communication 
channels. 

We had more than 496 million 
ethnic customer impressions. All 
1,792 community events included 
some cultural, ethnic and/or 
special populations.  Special 
populations include arts, LGBTQ, 
low income, military, seniors, 
disabilities, education, 
environmental, health & safety and 
STEM, agriculture, all electric, 
Electric Vehicles, faith, homeowner 
associations, young adults (18-30) 
and youth (0-17). 
(See Appendices) 

Broad mix of In 2024, we used 17 customer- To reach More than 895 million customer 
communication facing communication channels, customers with impressions across multiple 
channels including community outreach 

events and partnerships, digital 
search and display, 6 active 
social media channels, broadcast 
and streaming television and 
radio, billboards, bus signs and 
train wraps, surveys, direct mail, 
email and customer bill. We 
supported 1,792 community 
events. By leveraging customer 
behavior data, machine learning 
and artificial intelligence, along 
with using a broad mix of 
channels, we reached customers 
in the communication channel 
they prefer. (See Appendix B) 

our messages in 
the 
communication 
channels they 
prefer. 

communication channels and 
support of 1,792 community 
outreach events and partnerships 
in 2024 (see Appendices A, B). 
Just measuring TV and radio, the 
average SMUD customer had the 
opportunity to see or hear a SMUD 
commercial 41 times in 2024. 

In 2024 we continued to ramp up 
our presence on Over-The-Top 
(OTT) and Connected TV (CTV) 
streaming television increasing our 
presence to 4 major platforms. 
This enabled more precise 
geographic and other targeting 
than traditional broadcast and 
cable programming. 

GM 25-113 Board Monitoring Report – SD-15 Outreach and Communication  Page 3 of 8 



                                  
 

 

        

 

         

      

 

           
  

  

       

  

   

   

  

 

 

  

     

   

  

  

    

   

    

 

  

   

      

     

    

   

   

   

 
           

      
 

       
        

 

 
       

        

        

        

 

         
         

          

 

   
  

    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

      

        

     

   

□□□□□□ 
□□□□□□ 
□□□□□□ 

3) Additional supporting information for SD-15, Outreach and Communication 

a) SMUD shall provide its customers the information, education, and tools they need 

to best manage their energy use according to their needs. 

In 2024, we developed and implemented more than 20 marketing and communication 
campaigns, including: 

• Battery Storage 

• Budget Billing & Custom Due Date 

• Clean Power Promise 

• Clean Power My Business 

• Community-Owned, Not-For-Profit 

• Complete Energy Solutions 

• Energy Assistance Program Rate 

(EAPR) 

• Economic Development 

• Contact SMUD First (Drive Electric) 

• EnergyHELP 

• Greenergy 

• HomePower 

• Integrated Design Solutions 

• Low rates 

• Medical Equipment Discount (MED) 

Rate 

• Paperless Billing/My Account 

• Powering Futures (Scholarships) 

• Safety (Drive safe, Wildfire, Call 811, 

Work zone alert, Plan before planting) 

• SMUD Energy Store 

• Shade Trees 

• Shine Awards 

• Time-of-Day (Save this summer) 

b) SMUD will use an integrated and consistent communication strategy that 
recognizes the unique customer segments that SMUD serves. 

In 2024, our marketing and communications could be seen and heard in as many as 23 
languages, including Braille, and in 18 customer-facing channels, including: 

TV Digital Radio Print Direct Mail Email 

Community 
Events 

Surveys, focus 
groups 

News Media smud.org Billboards Social Media 

Door-to-door Partnerships Workshops 
Buses & 
Lightrail 

Retail 
Bill package 

inserts 

c) SMUD’s communication and community outreach activities shall reflect the 
diversity of SMUD. SMUD shall use a broad mix of communication channels to 

reach all customer segments. This communication shall be designed to ensure 

that all groups are aware of SMUD’s major decisions and programs. 

With thousands of events and sponsorships, millions of emails and bill inserts, ads on 
tens of thousands of websites and apps and multiple social media channels, and our 
schedule of broadcast and streaming TV, radio and print advertisements, it’s clear that 

GM 25-113 Board Monitoring Report – SD-15 Outreach and Communication  Page 4 of 8 



                                  
 

         
       

        
 

      
          

           
 

 

   

 

   

     

 

  

  

    

    

 

   

    

 

   

  

 

 

 

  
 

        
      

       
         

             
         

         
        
        

 

         
         
       

    
 

         
       

      
          

        
        

           
          

  
 

   
 

          
  

   

   

  

 
 

     

 

   

we used a broad mix of channels to reach all our customers. This includes in-language 
media such as broadcast and streaming TV and radio, print advertising, digital and 
social media and customer collateral in more than 20 languages. 

These tactics delivered 895,551,963 customer impressions in 2024. Of these, 
496,135,788 were ethnic impressions. For TV and radio alone, the average SMUD 
customer had the opportunity to see or hear a SMUD commercial 41 times in 2024. 

Summary by channel: 

• 11,302,265 bill • 509 billboards, • 94,457 websites and 

package inserts transit boards apps 

• 17,810,724 emails • 36 print publications • 21 broadcast, cable 

and streaming TV 
• 6 active social media • 1,338,092 direct mail 

stations 
channels pieces 

• 3 sports 
• 22 radio stations 

partnerships 

4) Challenges 

We’ve seen significant changes in the media landscape in recent years, and we’ve evolved our 
approach to leverage traditional channels, such as broadcast television, to help make sure 
SMUD’s messages are shared with customers when it matters most. During the February 2024 
storm, which saw sustained high wind gusts for more than eight hours, we created a template 
with key stats that we shared with the TV stations at set times, three times a day. This resulted 
in key information, such as the number of customers restored, number of downed trees, poles 
and power lines, and estimated restoration times being communicated to customers in a timely 
and consistent way. This created efficiencies for SMUD and local newsrooms and 
complemented our extensive communications via social media and other channels. 

Not all programs and services are intended for all customers. This is why we use segmentation, 
targeted marketing and digital channels that leverage machine learning and artificial intelligence 
to target our communications and outreach to customers most likely to qualify and benefit from 
a particular program or service. 

We use a broad mix of channels and tactics to ensure SMUD messages reach our diverse 
customers in the communication channels they prefer and when it’s relevant to them. The 
proliferation of new channels and evolution of the media landscape provides challenges and 
opportunities. Customer communication preferences continue to evolve in response to the 
increasingly fragmented market. Advances in Artificial Intelligence (AI) are having a growing 
impact on the communications landscape. AI is helping improve targeting in digital platforms to 
reach the right customers with the right message at the right time. AI is an important tool in our 
marketing and communications toolkit, and an area staff monitors and uses regularly to continue 
to learn and grow. 

5) Recommendation 

It is recommended that the Board accept the Monitoring Report for SD-15 Outreach and 
Communication. 

GM 25-113 Board Monitoring Report – SD-15 Outreach and Communication  Page 5 of 8 



                                  
 

   

  

   

 
            

         
      

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 
  

 

    

    

        

 

 
 

 
 

  
  

 

   

c 

504 

229 

258 

100% 

90% 

80% 

~ 70% 
Ql 
E 60% 
.9 
1/) 
::, 50% 0 

<( 40% 
::R. 0 

30% 

20% 

10% 

0% 

Community events or booths 
(Residential focus) 

Sponsorships, networking events, 
mixers, tradeshows (Business focus) 

Community sponsorships, networking 
events, mixers 

-

l!!!!!:/iii 

2020 2021 2022 

!!!l:;iil 

2023 

220 Workshops, panels, presentations or 
meetings 

Partnerships 

3 3 7 School outreach, education or career fairs 

2024 

- EAPR 

Greenergy 

- EV Discounted Rates 

- - Rebates & Incentives 

--+-SMUD Energy Store 

--+-SMUD Mobile App 

--+-Gas-to-Electric Appliance 
Conversion 

6) Appendices 

APPENDIX A 

Community Outreach and Engagement 

In 2024, we continued to be very active in the community through our support of efforts that 
improve the quality of life in our region. SMUD participated in 1,792 events and partnerships, 
and SMUD employees volunteered 15,412 hours. 

1,792 15,412 
Total events & partnerships Total volunteer hours 

APPENDIX B 
Awareness of Programs by Ethnicity 

All Customers – Overall Awareness Trends 

Notable increases in awareness of gas-to-electric appliance conversion, EV discounted rates 

and mobile app. All other programs were relatively steady year over year. 

GM 25-113 Board Monitoring Report – SD-15 Outreach and Communication  Page 6 of 8 



                                  
 

 

   

          

      

 

 
 

    

         

    

 

 
 

 

 

  

 

 

   

-+-EAPR 
90% 

80% Greenergy 

"' -cii 
E 70% - EV Discounted Rates 
0 
vi 60% ::, 
u ..... ....... Rebates & Incentives 
C 50% 
(1l -----==----·u; 
(1l 40% ---------- -+-SMUD Energy Store u 
::, 
(1l 

30% u 
~ 0 

20% 
- SMUD Mobile App 

10% - Gas-to-Electric Appliance 
Conversion 

0% 
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 

Black – Overall Awareness Trends 

For Black customers, we saw a slight uptick in the awareness of EV discounted rates. There 

was a very slight increase in awareness of EAPR and Greenergy. 

White – Overall Awareness Trends 

Among our White customers, we saw nice lifts in awareness of gas-to-electric conversion and 

the SMUD mobile app. 

GM 25-113 Board Monitoring Report – SD-15 Outreach and Communication  Page 7 of 8 



                                  
 

   

       

    

 

 
 

       

             

    

 

 
 

 

 

 

   

90% 

en 
<ii 80% 
E 
0 
in 

70% 
:::J 
0 60% 
C 
<ll 
0 50% 
·~ 

II!!!;;; 1_ • 
u 

E 
<( 40% 

C 
<ll 30% ·u; 
<( 

"if?. 20% 

10% 

0% 
2020 2021 

-== I 
m· 

I 

~---------"" 
l!!l!!!lliiiiil' 

2022 2023 

~ 

--

2024 

---EAPR 

Greenergy 

--EV Discounted Rates 

Rebates & Incentives 

---SMUD Energy Store 

-+-SMUD Mobile App 

--Gas-to-Electric Appliance 
Conversion 

Hispanic– Overall Awareness Trends 

Among Hispanic customers, in 2024, we saw good increases in awareness of our mobile app, 

with little movement on the others. 

Asian Pacific Islander – Overall Awareness Trends 

For Asian Pacific Islander customers, we saw the most notable increases in awareness of 

rebates & incentives and gas to electric conversion. 

GM 25-113 Board Monitoring Report – SD-15 Outreach and Communication  Page 8 of 8 



RESOLUTION NO. 25-08-09 

WHEREAS, the California Public Employees' Retirement System 

(CalPERS) requires Board approval of the terms by which the Sacramento Municipal 

Utility District (SMUD) recognizes regularly scheduled overtime and payment of shift 

differential so that the amounts SMUD has reported in the past (and going forward) will 

continue to be treated by CalPERS as special compensation, as appropriate; and 

WHEREAS, items of special compensation are added or included to a 

retiree's pension benefit calculations; and 

WHEREAS, SMUD has been reporting regularly scheduled overtime as 

special compensation; and 

WHEREAS, it is anticipated that CalPERS will resolve its concerns with 

SMUD related to these reported items if the procedures that require SMUD's Board to 

approve the terms of the regularly scheduled overtime and shift differential are met; 

NOW, THEREFORE, 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT: 

That this Board approves the side letter agreement between SMUD and 

the Public Safety Officers' Association (PSOA) related to the terms by which SMUD 



recognizes and pays regularly scheduled overtime and shift differential in substantially 

similar form as set forth in Attachment E. 

Dated: August 21, 2025 BY: 

Gregg Fishman 
President of the 
SMUD Board of Directors 

Approved: August 21, 2025 

INTRODUCED: DIRECTOR SANBORN 

SECONDED: DIRECTOR TAMAYO 

DIRECTOR AYE NO ABSTAIN ABSENT 

FISHMAN X 

ROSE X 

BUI-THOMPSON X 

HERBER X 

KERTH X 

TAMAYO X 

SANBORN X 



 
 

8, 2025 
LR 25-16 

Shaun Du Fosee, Labor Consultant for PSOA 
Mastagni Holstedt 
1912 I Street 
Sacramento, CA 95811 

Roy Todd, PSOA 
6100 Folsom Blvd ., Mailstop K111 
Sacramento, CA 95819 

-- ..... .. . - - ... . 
···: -

Subject: Letter Agreement Memorializing Regular Work Hours and Shift Differential Pay 
for PSOA Shift Employees 

The purpose of this letter agreement is to clarify and define current shift schedules and 
memorialize the application of shift differentials for regularly scheduled hours worked by 
Security Operations personnel, in accordance with the current Memorandum of Understanding 
(MOU) which is anticipated to expire on December 31, 2026. 

Effective with the 2023 payroll year beginning December 17, 2022, the Security Operations shift 
differentials are calculated by Workforce Software, SMUD's new timekeeping system on all 
eligible shifts. 

PSOA Shift Schedules 

Article 3.4 states in part: 

1) Day (D) Shift 
Regularly scheduled between the hours of 0700 hours and 1900 hours. 

a. Day Shift TEAM A 0700-1900 Hours, Sun/Monrrue/Alt Wednesdays (see 
example) 

b. Day Shift TEAM B 0700-1900 Hours, Alt Wednesdaysffhurs/Fri/Sat 

Pay Period/ Wk Bi-Weekly Rotation SAT SUN MON TUE WED THU 
Cvcle 

PP-WK 1 Sun-Wed 12D 12D 12D 12D 
PP-WK2 Sun -Tue 12D 12D 12D 

2) Night (N) Shift 
Regularly scheduled between the hours of 1900 hours and 0700 hours. 

a) Night Shift TEAM A 1900-0700 Hours, Sun/Monrrue/Alt Wednesdays 
b) Night Shift TEAM B 1900-0700 Hours, Alt Wednesdaysffhurs/Fri/Sat (see 

example) 

FRI 

Attachment E 
to Resolution No. 25-08-09 



Pay Period/ Wk Bi-Weekly Rotation SAT SUN MON TUE WED THU FRI 
Cvcle 

PP-WK 1 Sat, Thu - Fri 12N 12N 12N 
PP-WK2 Sat, Wed - Fri 12N 12N 12N 12N 

Shift Differential Wage Premiums 

In accordance with Article 6, employees who work the night shift (regardless of shift 
assignment) shall receive a shift differential wage premium equal to 8% of their base hourly rate 
of pay. 

Example-
• Employee Base Hourly Rate of Pay - $53. 79 
• Employee Shift Differential Rate - $53.79 x 8% = $4.30/per hour 
• Total Hourly Pay+ Shift Differential - $53.79 + $4.30= $58.09 

When an employee who is receiving a shift differential wage premium works above 40 hours in 
a workweek, the overtime rate of pay shall also be applied to their shift differential wage 
premium. 

Example-
• Employee Overtime Hourly Rate of Pay- $107.58 
• Employee Shift Differential Rate- $107.58 x 8% = $8.61/per hour 
• Total Hourly Overtime+ Shift Differential Pay= $116.19 

Overtime 
Overtime will be paid in accordance with Article 5 of the applicable MOU. For the purposes of 
reporting compensation to the California Public Employees' Retirement System ("CalPERS"), 
subject to the Public Employees' Retirement Law, enabling regulations, and CalPERS' 
administrative interpretations, compensation for the alternate schedules will be reported as 
described below. However, no compensation is included for pension purposes unless 
affirmatively permitted by CalPERS and applicable law. 

CalPERS Classic Members: 
Employees' base hourly rate as provided on the publicly available pay schedule will be reported 
for all regularly scheduled hours in the work schedules identified above. An additional .5 premium 
will be reported for all regularly scheduled overtime hours identified above, in accordance with 
CalPERS' regulations concerning reportable overtime. 

CalPERS New Members: 
Employees' base hourly rate as provided on the publicly available pay schedule will be reported 
for all regularly scheduled hours in the work schedules identified above. 
It is understood that this side letter of agreement is of no force and effect whatsoever until the 
SMUD Board of Directors adopts the side letter. 

If the above language reflects your understanding of our agreement, please sign in the space 
provided below. 

'h II DigitallysignedbyMichelle
Mic e e Dungca Dungca 

_______

05/27/2025
D_•1_•=2_ 02_s.o_s.o_s_12:2_9:3_o_-07_'00_' Michelle Dungca Principal Labor Relations Analyst 

S~ /1 Du rf,.4,..M,, Shaun Du Fosee, Labor Consultant for PSOA 

~~ RoyToddPSOAPresident 
SMUD CSC i 6301SSree~. Box 15830 I Sacramento, CA 95852-0830 1.888.742.7683 smud.org 

https://smud.org
https://Rate-$107.58
https://Pay-$107.58


RESOLUTION NO. 25-08-10 

WHEREAS, the California Public Employees' Retirement System 

(Cal PERS) requires Board approval of the terms by which the Sacramento Municipal 

Utility District (SMUD) recognizes regularly scheduled overtime and payment of shift 

differential so that the amounts SMUD has reported in the past (and going forward) will 

continue to be treated by CalPERS as special compensation, as appropriate; and 

WHEREAS, items of special compensation are added or included to a 

retiree's pension benefit calculations; and 

WHEREAS, SMUD has been reporting regularly scheduled overtime as 

special compensation; and 

WHEREAS, it is anticipated that CalPERS will resolve its concerns with 

SMUD related to these reported items if the procedures that require SMUD's Board to 

approve the terms of the regularly scheduled overtime and shift differential are met; 

NOW, THEREFORE, 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT: 

That this Board approves the side letter agreements between SMUD and 

the International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers Local Union 1245 (IBEW) 

related to the terms by which SMUD recognizes and pays regularly scheduled overtime 



and shift differential in substantially similar form as set forth in Attachment F and 

Attachment G. 

Dated: August 21, 2025 BY: 

1-hk 
Gregg Fishman 
President of the 
SMUD Board of Directors 

Approved: August 21, 2025 

INTRODUCED DIRECTOR SANBORN 

SECONDED: DIRECTOR TAMAYO 

DIRECTOR AYE NO ABSTAIN ABSENT 

FISHMAN X 

ROSE X 

BUI-THOMPSON X 

HERBER X 

KERTH X 

TAMAYO X 

SANBORN X 



 

5, 2025 
LR 25-011 

Dylan Gottfried 
Senior Assistant Business Manager 
PO Box 2547 
30 Orange Tree Circle 
Vacaville, CA 95687 

Subject: Letter Agreement Memorializing 12-Hour Rotations for Special 
Shift Employees 

Dear Mr. Gottfried, 

The purpose of this letter agreement is to provide clarification for and define the 
current shift schedules for Special Shift employees in the Distribution System 
Operator (DSO) and Power System Operator (PSO) series, in accordance with 
Article 5, Section 3.C. 

Effective the 2023 Payroll Year beginning December 17, 2022, the DSO and 
PSO shift schedules will be built into Workforce Software, SMUD's new 
timekeeping system, as indicated below. 

DSO Shift Schedules: 

Senior DSO: Bi-weekly rotation including one week of four, 10-hour days and 
one week of four, 12-hour days (see example). 

PayPeriod/Wk Rotation Cycle SAT SUN MON TUE WED THUR FRI 

Bi-Weekly 

PP 1, WK 1 M-TH (10 hr) 10 10 10 10 

PP 1, WK2 M-TH (12 hr) 12 12 12 12 

PP 1, WK 1 T-F (10) 10 10 10 10 

PP 1, WK2 T-F (12) 12 12 12 12 

Lead DSO: Five pay period cycle consisting of two, five-week rotations with a 
relief shift occurring every fifth week. Rotation will consist of one week of three, 
12-hour days, one week of four, 12-hour days, one week of three, 12-hour nights, 
one week of four, 12-hour nights, and one relief week of five, 8-hour days (see 
example). 

Page 1 of3 

SMUD HQ 6201 S Street P.O . Box 15830 Sacramento, CA 95852-0830 1.888.742.7683 smud.org 

Attachment F to Resolution No. 25-08-10 



Pay Period/Wk Rotation Cycle SAT SUN MON TUE WED THUR FRI 

5Week 

PP 1, WK 1 M, T, F (12) DAYS 12 12 12 

PP 1, WK2 Sat, Sun, W, TH (12) DAYS 12 12 12 12 

PP 2, WK 1 M, T, F, (12) NIGHTS 12 12 12 

PP 2, WK2 Sat, Sun, W, TH (12) NIGHTS 12 12 12 12 

PP 3, WK 1 Relief M-F (8) 8 8 8 8 8 

PP 3, WK2 M, T, F, (12) DAYS 12 12 12 

PP4, WK 1 Sat, Sun, W, TH (12) DAYS 12 12 12 12 

PP4, WK2 M, T, F, (12) NIGHTS 12 12 12 

PP 5, WK 1 Sat, Sun, W, TH (12) NIGHTS 12 12 12 12 

PP 5, WK2 Relief M-F (8) 8 8 8 8 8 

D50 1/11: A nine pay-period cycle consisting of two, nine-week rotations with a 
relief shift occurring every ninth week. Rotation will consist of two weeks of three, 
12-hour days, two weeks of four, 12-hour days, two weeks of three 12-hour 
nights, two weeks of four, 12-hour nights, and one relief week of five, 8-hour days 
(see example) . 

Pay Period/Wk Rotation Cycle 

9Week 

SAT SUN MON TUE WED THUR FRI 

PP 1, WK 1 M, T, F, (12) DAYS 12 12 12 

PP 1, WK2 Sat, Sun, W, TH (12) DAYS 12 12 12 12 

PP 2, WK 1 M, T, F, (12) NIGHTS 12 12 12 

PP 2, WK2 Sat, Sun, W, TH (12) NIGHTS 12 12 12 12 

PP 3, WK 1 M, T, F, (12) DAYS 12 12 12 

PP 3, WK2 Sat, Sun, W, TH (12) DAYS 12 12 12 12 

PP4, WK 1 M, T, F, (12) NIGHTS 12 12 12 

PP4, WK2 Sat, Sun, W, TH (12) NIGHTS 12 12 12 12 

PP 5, WK 1 Relief M-F (8) 8 8 8 8 8 

PP 5, WK2 M, T, F (12) DAYS 12 12 12 

PP 6, WK 1 Sat, Sun, W, TH (12) DAYS 12 12 12 12 

PP 6, WK2 M, T, F, (12) NIGHTS 12 12 12 

PP 7, WK 1 Sat, Sun, W , TH (12) NIGHTS 12 12 12 12 

PP 7, WK2 M, T, F, (12) DAYS 12 12 12 

PP 8, WK 1 Sat, Sun, W, TH (12) NIGHTS 12 12 12 12 

PP 8, WK2 M, T, F, (12) DAYS 

12 12 

12 12 

12 12 

12 

PP 9, WK 1 Sat, Sun, W, TH (12) NIGHTS 

PP 9, WK2 Relief M-F (8) 8 8 8 8 8 

Note: DSO I on training schedules will be assigned a 9/80 schedule as defined in 
the MOU. 

Page 2 of3 



PSO Shift Schedule: 

PSO Apprentice, Shift PSO Journey, and Shift PSO Senior (formally PSO 
(E), PSO I, PSO II, and Senior PSO until March 22, 2025): Five pay period 
cycle consisting of two, five-week rotations with a relief shift occurring every fifth 
week. Rotation will consist of one week of three, 12-hour nights and one, 12-hour 
day, one week of 3, 12-hour days, one week of three, 12-hour days, one week of 
four, 12-hour nights, and one relief week of four, 10-hour days (see example). 

Pay Period/Wk Rotation Cycle 

5Week 

SAT SUN MON TUE WED THUR FRI 

PP 1, WK 1 Sat - Mon (12) NIGHTS, Fri DAY (12) 12 12 12 12D 

PP 1, WK 2 Sat - Mon (12) DAYS 12 12 12 

PP 2, WK 1 Tue - Thurs (12) DAYS 12 12 12 

PP2, WK2 Tue - Fri (12) NIGHTS 12 12 12 12 

PP 3, WK 1 Relief M-Thurs (10) 10 10 10 10 

PP 3, WK2 Sat- Mon (12) NIGHTS, Fri DAY 12 12 12 12D 

PP4, WK 1 Sat - Mon (12) DAYS 12 12 12 

PP4, WK2 Tue - Thurs (12) DAYS 12 12 12 

PP 5, WK 1 Tue - Fri (12) NIGHTS 12 12 12 12 

PP 5, WK2 Relief M-Thurs (10) 10 10 10 10 

Note: PSO Apprentices will work a 40-hour training schedule until completion of 
their initial NERC certification. 

Overtime: 

Overtime will be paid in accordance with Article 7 of the applicable MOU. 
Compensation and overtime will be reported in conformance with the Public 
Employees' Retirement Law, enabling regulations, and CalPERS' administrative 
interpretations and guidance. No compensation is included for pension purposes 
unless affirmatively permitted by CalPERS and applicable law. 

It is understood that this side letter of agreement is of no force and effect 
whatsoever until the SMUD Board of Directors adopts the side letter. 

i:~M'-0 ~cwO-NU--tt__ 
Tiffa Navarr~ te 
Manager, Employee Relations Senior Assistant Business Manager 

Page 3 of 3 



 

5, 2025 
LR 25-012 

Dylan Gottfried 
Senior Assistant Business Manager 
PO Box 2547 
30 Orange Tree Circle 
Vacaville, CA 95687 

Po ,~., _,_f; 11 r i·:o •·, ·-1 •ai 1'r c--rc,'· ·r·',. r ") - L \• ~ C ... • l ·~...; C. L ..i. C .. 

Subject: Letter Agreement Memorializing 12-Hour Rotations for Special 
Shift Employees 

Dear Mr. Gottfried, 

The purpose of this letter agreement is to memorialize how shift differential is 
paid on regularly scheduled hours for Special Shift employees in the Distribution 
System Operator (DSO) and Power System Operator (PSO) series, in 
accordance with Article 4, Section 2 of the current MOU anticipated to expire 
December 31, 2025. This letter is declarative of SMUD's long standing practice 
for paying shift differentials. 

Effective the 2023 Payroll Year beginning December 17, 2022, the DSO and 
PSO shift differentials will be calculated by Workforce Software, SMUD's new 
timekeeping system on all eligible shifts. 

Per Article 4.2.A, 12-Hour-Shift employees who are scheduled the 12-hour 
rotating night shift are paid a premium at the third shift rate which is 8% of the 
Journey Electrician wage provided on the publicly available pay schedule. 

12-Hour Shift Employees will receive the following night shift premium amounts: 

• In 2023, the shift differential premium is $4.88 on hours up to 40. Shift 
differential is $9.76 on hours regularly scheduled above 40 in a workweek. 

• In 2024, the shift differential premium is $5.02 on hours up to 40. Shift 
differential is $10.04 on hours regularly scheduled above 40 in a 
workweek. 

• In 2025, the shift differential premium is $5.19 on hours up to 40. Shift 
differential is $10.38 on hours regularly scheduled above 40 in a 
workweek. 

SMUD HQ 6201 S Street P.O. Box 15830 Sacramento , CA 95852-0830 1.888.742 .7683 smud.org 

Attachment G to Resolution No. 25-08-10 



It is understood that this side letter of agreement is of no force and effect 
whatsoever until the SMUD Board of Directors adopts the side letter. 



RESOLUTION NO. 25-08-11 

WHEREAS, the California Public Employees' Retirement System 

(CalPERS) requires written Board approval during an open meeting of the terms 

whereby the Sacramento Municipal Utility District (SMUD) reports the regularly 

scheduled overtime of both Energy Trading Schedulers ("Schedulers") and Energy 

Traders working the Realtime Trading Desk ("Realtime Traders") who are CalPERS 

Classic Members (generally those hired prior to 2013) as special compensation so that 

the amounts SMUD has reported in the past (and going forward) will continue to be 

treated by CalPERS as special compensation; and 

WHEREAS, CalPERS requires written Board approval during an open 

meeting of the terms whereby SMUD reports the shift differential pay for both Energy 

Schedulers and Realtime Traders as special compensation so that the amounts SMUD 

has reported in the past (and going forward) will continue to be treated by CalPERS as 

special compensation; and 

WHEREAS, items of special compensation that qualify under applicable 

regulations and statutes are added to or included in a retiree's pension benefit 

calculations; and 

WHEREAS, it is anticipated that CalPERS will resolve its concerns with 

SMUD related to these reported items of special compensation if SMUD's Board 

approves both (1) the regularly-scheduled and reoccurring shifts of Schedulers and 

Realtime Traders, and (2) the terms by which shift-differential is paid; NOW, 

THEREFORE, 



BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT: 

That this Board approves the following terms of payment related to the 

payment of overtime for Schedulers and Real Time Desk, effective beginning December 

17, 2022. The Schedulers and Realtime Traders work shifts that are scheduled 24 

hours per day and 7 days per week. In some weeks they are scheduled to work 48 

hours. The normal required duties are achieved by working regular reoccurring 

schedules as follows: 

Realtime Traders. Every five (5) workweeks, Realtime Traders work the 

same number of hours in a regular reoccurring pattern of workweeks. They work two 

workweeks totaling 48 hours each, two workweeks totaling 36 hours each, and one 

workweek totaling 40 hours. Here is an example: 

PayPe riod/Wk Rotation Cycle SU N MON TUE WED THU FRI SAT 
5Week 

PP 1, WK 1 Sat - Mon NIGHTS, Fri DAY (12) 12 12 12D 12 
PP 1, WK2 Sat - Mon (12) DAYS 12 12 12 
PP 2, WK 1 Tue - Thurs (12) DAYS 12 12 12 
PP 2, WK2 Tue - Fri (12) NIGHTS 12 12 12 12 
PP 3, WK 1 Relief M-Th (10) 10 10 10 10 
PP 3, WK2 Sat- Mon NIGHTS, F DAY (12) 12 12 12D 12 
PP4, WK 1 Sat- Mon (12) DAYS 12 12 12 
PP4, WK2 
PP 5, WK 1 

Tue - Thurs (12) DAYS 
Tue - Fri (12) NIGHTS 

12 12 12 
12 12 12 12 

PP 5, WK2 Relief M-Th ( 10) 10 10 10 10 

Schedulers: Every twenty-five (25) workweeks, Schedulers work the same 

number of hours in a regular reoccurring pattern of scheduled workweeks. They work 

nine weeks totaling 48 hours each, nine weeks totaling 36 hours each, and five weeks 

totaling 40 hours per week. Here is an example (weeks in bold are showing where the 

schedule is repeating) : 



Rotation Cycle - 25 Weeks Sat Sun Mon Tue Wed Thur Fri 
pp 1 Wk1 T, W, TH, F -12 hours/day 12 12 12 12 
pp 1 Wk2 M, T, W, TH - 10 hours/day 10 10 10 10 

PP2 Wk1 Sat, Sun, M, F - 12 hours/day 12 12 12 12 

PP2 Wk2 Sat, Sun, M, - 12 hours/day 12 12 12 

PP3 Wk1 T, W, TH -12 hours/day 12 12 12 

PP3 Wk2 Sat, Sun, M, F - 12 hours/day 12 12 12 12 

PP4 Wk1 Sat, Sun, M, - 12 hours/day 12 12 12 

PP4 Wk2 T, W, TH -12 hours/day 12 12 12 

PPS Wk1 T, W, TH, F -12 hours/day 12 12 12 12 

PPS Wk2 M, T, W, TH - 10 hours/day 10 10 10 10 
pp 6 Wk1 Sat, Sun, M, - 12 hours/day 12 12 12 

PP6 Wk2 T, W, TH -12 hours/day 12 12 12 

PP7 Wk1 T, W, TH, F -12 hours/day 12 12 12 12 

PP7 Wk2 M, T, W, TH - 10 hours/day 10 10 10 10 

PPS Wk1 Sat, Sun, M, F - 12 hours/day 12 12 12 12 

PPS Wk2 T, W, TH -12 hours/day 12 12 12 
ppg Wk1 T, W, TH, F -12 hours/day 12 12 12 12 
ppg Wk2 M, T, W, TH - 10 hours/day 10 10 10 10 

pp 10 Wk1 Sat, Sun, M, F - 12 hours/day 12 12 12 12 

PP10 Wk2 Sat, Sun, M, - 12 hours/day 12 12 12 

pp 11 Wk1 M, T, W, TH - 10 hours/day 10 10 10 10 
pp 11 Wk2 Sat, Sun, M, F - 12 hours/day 12 12 12 12 

PP12 Wk1 Sat, Sun, M, - 12 hours/day 12 12 12 

PP12 Wk2 T, W, TH -12 hours/day 12 12 12 

PP13 Wk1 T, W, TH, F -12 hours/day 12 12 12 12 

pp 13 Wk2 T, W, TH, F -12 hours/day 12 12 12 12 

PP14 Wk1 M, T, W, TH -10 hours/day 10 10 10 10 

PP14 Wk2 Sat, Sun, M, F -12 hours/day 12 12 12 12 

pp 15 Wk1 Sat, Sun, M, - 12 hours/day 12 12 12 

PP15 Wk2 T, W, TH -12 hours/day 12 12 12 
pp 

16 Wk1 Sat, Sun, M, F -12 hours/day 12 12 12 12 

PP16 Wk2 Sat, Sun, M, - 12 hours/day 12 12 12 

PP17 Wk1 T, W, TH -12 hours/day 12 12 12 

PP17 Wk2 T, W, TH, F -12 hours/day 12 12 12 12 

PP18 Wk1 M, T, W, TH -10 hours/day 10 10 10 10 

pp 18 Wk2 Sat, Sun, M, -12 hours/day 12 12 12 

PP19 Wk1 T, W, TH -12 hours/day 12 12 12 

pp 19 Wk2 T, W, TH, F -12 hours/day 12 12 12 12 

PP20 Wk1 M, T, W, TH - 10 hours/day 10 10 10 10 

PP20 Wk2 Sat, Sun, M, F -12 hours/day 12 12 12 12 

PP21 Wk1 T, W, TH -12 hours/day 12 12 12 



PP21 
pp 

22 

PP22 

PP23 

PP23 

PP24 

PP24 

PP25 

PP25 

Wk2 T, W, TH, F -12 hours/day 12 12 12 12 

Wk1 M, T, W, TH -10 hours/day 10 10 10 10 

Wk2 Sat, Sun, M, F - 12 hours/day 12 12 12 12 

Wk1 Sat, Sun, M, -12 hours/day 12 12 12 

Wk2 M, T, W, TH -10 hours/day 10 10 10 10 

Wk1 Sat, Sun, M, F -12 hours/day 12 12 12 12 

Wk2 Sat, Sun, M, -12 hours/day 12 12 12 

Wk1 T, W, TH -12 hours/day 12 12 12 

Wk2 T, W, TH, F -12 hours/day 12 12 12 12 

Compensation and overtime is and will be reported in conformance with 

the Public Employee's Retirement Law, enabling regulations, and CalPERS' 

administrative interpretations and guidance. No compensation is included for pension 

purposes unless affirmatively permitted by CalPERS and applicable law. 

In addition to receiving overtime for hours above 40 hours per week, 

Schedulers and Realtime Traders are paid shift differential premium as follows: 

• Since December 17, 2022, the shift differential premium has been and 

will continue to be 8% of the Scheduler's or Realtime Trader's hourly 

base pay for work on the night shift for employees routinely and 

consistently assigned to the night shift. 

• Since December 17, 2022, the shift differential premium for night-shift 

work has been and will continue to be 16% of the Scheduler's or 

Realtime Traders hourly base pay on regularly scheduled hours over 



40 in the workweek for employees routinely and consistently assigned 

to the night shift. 

Dated: August 21, 2025 

Approved: August 21, 2025 

INTRODUCED: DIRECTOR SANBORN 

SECONDED: DIRECTOR TAMAYO 

DIRECTOR AYE NO ABSTAIN 

FISHMAN X 

ROSE X 

BUI-THOMPSON X 

HERBER X 

KERTH X 

TAMAYO X 

SANBORN X 

ABSENT 

Gregg ?ishman 
President of the 
SMUD Board of Directors 



 

 President Fishman turned to Discussion Calendar Item 13, to 

nominate a Board Member for Sacramento Local Agency Formation Commission 

(LAFCo) Special District Commissioner and/or Alternate Commissioner seat(s). 

 Laura Lewis, Chief Legal & Government Affairs Officer, gave a 

presentation regarding Discussion Calendar Item 13.  A copy of the slides used 

in her presentation is attached to these minutes. 

 Director Herber nominated Director Rose, and Director Sanborn 

seconded. 

 After some discussion, General Counsel Lewis asked to clarify the 

motion, being to nominate Director Rose to the open Special District 

Commissioner two-year seat and the Alternate Special District Commissioner 

seat, as reflected on the presentation slide as 2) and 3). 

 President Fishman asked Director Herber to confirm that this was 

her motion, and Director Herber said yes.  President Fishman stated that the 

motion, as clarified, was moved by Director Herber, seconded by Director 

Sanborn, and Resolution No. 25-08-12 was unanimously approved. 

  



 

RESOLUTION NO.  25-08-12 
 
 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT: 

 
That this Board hereby nominates Director Brandon D. Rose as 

Special District Commissioner (Regular, Voting, 2-year term) and/or Alternate 

Special District Commissioner to serve on the Sacramento Local Agency 

Formation Commission (LAFCo). 

Approved:  August 21, 2025 
 

INTRODUCED:  DIRECTOR HERBER 

SECONDED:  DIRECTOR SANBORN 

DIRECTOR AYE NO ABSTAIN ABSENT 

FISHMAN X    

ROSE X    

BUI-THOMPSON X    

HERBER X    

KERTH X    

TAMAYO X    

SANBORN X    

 
  



 

President Fishman then called for public comment for items not on 

the agenda, but none was forthcoming. 

Ms. Lewis also clarified that there had been no public comment for 

Discussion Calendar Item 13. 

President Fishman then turned to Directors’ Reports. 

Director Rose thanked the Board for the LAFCo nomination.  He 

then reported on his attendance at SMUD Giving Fridays at the California State 

Fair, his meeting, along with Mr. Lau and Chief Operating Officer Frankie 

McDermott, with the Folsom City Manager, and his attendance at the Fair Oaks 

Rotary Club meeting. 

Director Bui-Thompson reported on her participation at the Rancho 

Cordova Chamber of Commerce Luncheon where she had the pleasure of 

presenting Soil Born Farms with an award as well as her participation in the 

Sierra Donor Lunch & Learn event for SMUD staff where she spoke on the 

importance of talking to family and friends about final wishes pertaining to organ 

donation.  She concluded by thanking Chief Zero Carbon Officer Lora Anguay for 

being the Executive Sponsor for the annual SMUD Cares charity campaign and 

reported on her participation in the SMUD Cares golf tournament. 

Director Herber reported on her speaking engagements with the 

Galt Chamber of Commerce and at the Music in the Park event in Curtis Park.  

She then reported on her attendance, along with Vice President Tamayo, at the 

El Dorado County Mixer on the River.  She concluded by reporting on her 

participation in a panel hosted by Assemblymember Stephanie Nguyen 

pertaining to community service and being an elected official. 

Director Kerth noted that he was on the Bond Oversight Committee 

for the Twin Rivers School District, which had passed two bonds recently, and 

stated they were in the midst of active projects at every single school in their 

district.  He stated that SMUD had been a great partner in assisting with 

electrification of appliances, and he noted they were currently working on a solar 

project at Grant High School.  He then reported on his tour of the SHAWOOD 

Home Development as well as his attendance at a rooftop heat pump 



 

demonstration where the facility used both a low frequency drive and full heat 

pump.  He concluded by reporting on his attendance at the retirement celebration 

for Harry Block, a long time leader of the Del Paso Heights Community. 

Vice President Tamayo reported on his various meetings with 

agencies and representatives within his ward, including Southgate Recreation 

and Park District Board member Rosario Rosas, Mangan Park Neighborhood 

Association President Jennifer Holden, Mercy Housing California Regional 

Director of Real Estate Development Richard Ciraulo, Educational Results 

Partnership President Alex Barrios, NextGen Empower U Program Director 

Jim Tabuchi, and David DeLuz of the California Department of Transportation 

(CalTrans).  He reported on his attendance at the Solar Car Races sponsored by 

Breakthrough, his speaking engagement at the Fifth Annual Small Business 

Success Summit at Florin Square, his participation as moderator for at panel in 

Rancho Cordova called Gear Up: Workforce Solutions for the Manufacturing 

Sector, and his recordation of a congratulatory video to the Little Saigon 

community for the 15th Year Celebration of Little Saigon. 

Director Sanborn reported on her attendance at the Sacramento 

Asian Pacific Chamber of Commerce Sip ‘N Socialize event, the Elk Grove 

Chamber of Commerce State of the County address with Supervisor Hume, and 

SMUD Giving Fridays at the California State Fair.  She then reported on her 

attendance, along with President Fishman and Vice President Tamayo, at the 

North State Building Industry Association Chairman’s Circle Lunch, her 2x2 

meeting, along with Director Kerth, with the Sacramento Tree Foundation, and 

her meeting with a customer who had developed an emergency network contact 

solution for when cell towers are down.  She concluded by reporting on her 

participation in the Power InnSights tour at the Waste Management facility where 

SMUD has helped electrify equipment that uses artificial intelligence to sort 

recyclables to a much higher degree. 

Vice President Tamayo stated that although he was not able to stay 

for the full Waste Management tour, he was able to speak briefly and, during that 

time, noted how cleanliness of the facility.  He also stated he had been at the El 



 

Dorado County Mixer on the River and wanted to highlight that whitewater rafting 

on the South Fork of the American River is a very big economic driver.  He stated 

that during SMUD’s relicensing effort, care had been taken with respect to flows 

for not only the fish that live in the river but for the economic activity and more 

than 100,000 people who annual visit to recreate on the river. 

President Fishman reported on his participation at SMUD Giving 

Fridays at the California State Fair as well as on a panel for the Sacramento 

Response Readiness Summit.  He then thanked Scott Barker, Manager of Asset 

Operations for Power Generation, for accompanying him on a tour of the Lake 

Fordyce Dam Project.  He reported on his speaking engagement at the Human 

Bulb Eco Tech Innovators Workshop and concluded by reporting on his 

attendance at the Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI) Summer Seminar 

that focused on artificial intelligence. 

Paul Lau, Chief Executive Officer and General Manager, reported 

on the following items: 

1) SMUD Giving Fridays.  I would like to start my report by 

sharing some great news about SMUD Giving Fridays at the 

California State Fair.  As always, we were out there connecting 

with our customers and community, educating fairgoers about 

our 2030 Clean Energy Vision.  We collected more than 35,000 

pounds of food for the Sacramento Food Bank and Family 

Services at our Giving Friday events!  These donations will 

provide almost 30,000 meals for families facing food insecurity 

in our community.  We also educated fairgoers on the benefits 

of induction cooking at many induction cooking demonstrations.  

Thanks to all who came out to support SMUD at the fair, and 

thanks to all the volunteers, including President Fishman, 

Directors Rose and Sanborn and many executives, for giving 

your time to connect with our community.  Great job to the team 

for putting on such a successful presence. 



 

2) SMUD Cares Golf Tournament.  I want to give a big shout out 

to the 244 golfers who made this year’s SMUD Cares Golf 

tournament such a success!  These employees raised $8,000, 

which will be donated directly to the two winning teams’ local 

nonprofit charities of choice: Chicks in Crisis and The 

Firefighters Burn Institute.  Thank you to everyone who worked 

on this event!  A special thanks goes to this year’s Golf 

Tournament Chair, Dejona Lopez, and her Co-Chair Eric Hebert 

who will chair the 2026 tournament.  Thank you to our SMUD 

Cares Executive sponsor Chief Zero Carbon Officer Lora 

Anguay, the event sponsors and all of the SMUD Cares 

Volunteers who made the day possible! 

3) Gridscope Pilot Project.  This summer, we rolled out a three-

year pilot project to install about 500 “Gridscope” devices on our 

transmission and distribution poles in the Upper American River 

Project (UARP) and in our service area.  The purpose of these 

solar-powered monitoring devices is to detect early signs of 

potential hazards like vibrations from car-pole incidents, bird 

strikes, fallen tree limbs, wind damage and downed wires.  As 

part of the pilot, devices were installed on poles that have 

historically demonstrated a high number of unknown outages.  

Previously, when we had a fault, we would go out to investigate, 

and it was not always obvious what caused the fault.  Now, with 

this data, we can try to identify the cause and mitigate those in 

the future.  Over the course of the next few years, we will gather 

the data provided from these sensors to see if there are any 

changes we can make to improve the reliability of the grid.  I am 

looking forward to seeing the potential of these devices to help 

us reshape the way that we operate our lines, how to protect our 

lines, and to incorporate into our fire protection activities.  

Congratulations to Chief Operating Officer Frankie McDermott 



 

and Chief Zero Carbon Officer Lora Anguay and their teams for 

running this pilot. 

4) Lineworker Scholarship Program.  Last year’s Lineworker 

Scholarship program, done in partnership with the International 

Brotherhood of Electrical Workers Local Union 1245 (IBEW 

1245), was such a success, we have begun recruitment for the 

next one.  Last year, we recruited and gave scholarships to a lot 

of individuals coming from disadvantaged communities, but also 

all across SMUD territory, and we had nine that received the 

scholarship and 24 that graduated and were able to become a 

SMUD lineworker.  It is a four-year process/apprenticeship 

program.  We are looking to have nearly 600 people come out 

for a half-day training session to learn about the profession and 

get real world practice.  Our line team will be evaluating 

participants and will invite the top 30 people to participate in a 

four-weekend long paid lineworker scholarship training, 

beginning in November.  These type of programs can cost 

anywhere between $4,000 and $15,000, but SMUD is providing 

it at no cost, in order to create more opportunity in our region 

and strengthen our workforce pipeline. 

5) Awards.  Now, I would like to share SMUD’s latest awards.  In 

August, our Solano Phase 4 Wind Energy Project was 

recognized by the Engineering News Record for the Regional 

Best Project in the Energy/Industrial category.  Also, our 

community sponsorships and Shine program were awarded the 

Community Championship award by the Iranian American 

Cultural and Educational Center.  Congrats to all! 

6) Board Video.  Tonight’s video was created to teach elementary 

school children about solar energy and how SMUD is using 

solar power to reach our zero carbon goals.  It is a great 



 

overview of how solar works and our Rancho Seco solar array, 

in particular. 

President Fishman requested the Summary of Board Direction, but 

there were no items. 

President Fishman then announced that the Board would 

adjourning the meeting in memory of SMUD Senior Graphic Artist Mee Vue, who 

had passed away on July 19, 2025.  He stated that Mee had worked at SMUD for 

32 years and was known for her selflessness and passion for diversity, equity, 

inclusion, and belonging. 

No further business appearing, President Fishman adjourned the 

meeting in memory of Mee Vue at 7:12 p.m. 

Approved: 

 _________________________ _____________________________ 
        President    Secretary 



Exhibit to Agenda Item #13
Nominate a Board Member for the Sacramento Local Agency Formation 
Commission (LAFCo) Special District Commissioner and/or Alternate 
Commissioner seat(s).

Board of Directors Meeting
Thursday, August 21, 2025, scheduled to begin at 6:00 p.m.
Auditorium, SMUD Headquarters Building



LAFCo Election Nomination Ballot
 Due to the size of the Special District Selection Committee, LAFCo has determined 

to conduct the Committee’s business in writing pursuant to
Gov. Code § 56332(f).

 All nominations are due in writing on or before 5:00 p.m. on August 31, 2025.

 Nomination Ballot:
1) Special District Commissioner (Regular, voting) – 4-year term

 January 1, 2026 – December 31, 2029

2) Special District Commissioner (Regular, voting) – 2-year term (finish out term)
 Remainder of term through December 31, 2027

3) Special District Commissioner (Alternate, non-voting) – 4-year term
 January 1, 2026 – December 31, 2029
 Alternate can vote whenever one of the Regular members is absent

August 21, 2025 Board of Directors Meeting2



5



    
 

SSS No. PSS 25-007 BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
STAFFING SUMMARY SHEET 

Committee Meeting & Date 

  
  
  

Finance & Audit – 09/16/25 
Board Meeting Date 
September 18, 2025 
 

 
 

TO 
  

TO 
 

1. Matthew Powell 6. Lora Anguay 
2. Laurie Rodriguez 7.  
3. Casey Fallon 8.  
4. Jose Bodipo-Memba 9. Legal 
5. Scott Martin 10. CEO & General Manager 

Consent Calendar X Yes  No If no, schedule a dry run presentation. Budgeted X Yes  No (If no, explain in Cost/Budgeted   
       section.) 

FROM (IPR) DEPARTMENT MAIL STOP EXT. DATE SENT 

Matthew Powell People Services & Strategies B251 5371 08/22/25 
NARRATIVE: 
Requested Action: Approve contract change to Contract No. 4500043215 with Kaiser Permanente approving 2026 medical 

insurance premium rates and extending the contract by one year for the period January 1, 2026, through 
December 31, 2026; 2026cost estimated at $38.4 million. 

Summary: Kaiser Permanente presented SMUD with a renewal increase for the 2026 plan year of 10.2% for active 
employees, pre-65 retirees and Medicare Advantage medical plans. The percentage increase is determined 
by a 12-month utilization period where there were significant increases in utilization due to an increase in 
serious illnesses and associated pharmaceutical costs. The 10.2% increase is based on the difference in the 
aggregated total cost of premiums for active employees and retirees (and dependents) enrolled in the Kaiser 
Permanente plans from 2024 to 2025. Also included in the increase is the Senate Bill 729 (SB729) mandate, 
which is the coverage for the diagnosis and treatment of infertility and fertility services. Based on these rates 
and current enrollment, the total cost for 2026 medical benefit plans is projected at $38.4 million. 

These actions will allow SMUD to provide medical benefit plans for the year 2026 to employees, retirees, 
and eligible dependents enrolled in SMUD’s medical Kaiser plans in the most cost-effective manner. Kaiser 
remains the lower cost of the two medical insurance plans offered to employees. 

Note: The estimated costs above will vary based on 2026 employee/retiree Open Enrollment selections and 
SMUD population. 

Board Policy: 
(Number & Title) 

Strategic Direction SD-3, Access to Credit Markets.  SMUD staff negotiated best price and terms with 
medical providers in consideration of the long-term revenue requirements, debt, and financial risk to 
SMUD. 
 
Strategic Direction SD-8, Employee Relations.  Providing medical benefits to employees supports SMUD’s 
goal of an inclusive workplace that engages and inspires employees to commit to SMUD’s purpose, vision, 
and values. 

Benefits: Provide quality medical benefits to eligible SMUD employees, retirees, and eligible dependents. 

Cost/Budgeted: Assuming current enrollment, SMUD’s share of cost is projected at $38.4 million (after employee/retiree 
contributions). 

Alternatives: Not accepting the proposed rate increases would jeopardize SMUD’s ability to provide the required 
employee health benefits and impact employees’ access to health care and out of compliance with current 
labor Memoranda of Understanding (MOUs). 

Affected Parties: All eligible SMUD employees, retirees and eligible dependents participating in SMUD’s Kaiser medical 
benefit plans. 

Coordination: People Services & Strategies, Procurement and Aon Benefit Consultant Firm 

Presenter: Matthew Powell, Interim Director, People Services & Strategies 
Laurie Rodriguez, Advisor, People Services & Strategies 

I I I I I I I 
I I I 



Additional Links: 

SUBJECT 
2026 Kaiser Permanente Contract Change 

ITEM NO. (FOR LEGAL USE ONLY) 

ITEMS SUBMITTED AFTER DEADLINE WILL BE POSTPONED UNTIL NEXT MEETING. 
SMUD-1516 10/15 Forms Management Page 1

5



2026 Kaiser Permanente 
Active Employee & Retiree Monthly Medical Premium Rates 

Active Basic 

Carrier Employee 
Only/Retiree Only 

Employee + 
1/Retiree + 1 

Employee + Family/Retiree 
+ Family

Kaiser HMO – High Plan $986.07 $1,972.14 $2,958.21 

Kaiser HMO – Low Plan $934.89 $1,869.78 $2,804.67 

Retiree Kaiser HMO Plan $986.07 $1,972.14 $2,958.21 

DRAFT



DRAFT 
RESOLUTION NO.  ____________ 

 
  WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 11-09-03, adopted September 1, 2011, this 

Board authorized a contract with Kaiser Permanente (Kaiser) to provide medical 

benefits for the year 2012 to SMUD employees, retirees and eligible dependents; and 

  WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 12-09-03, adopted September 6, 2012, this 

Board authorized an extension of the Kaiser contract to provide medical benefits for the 

year 2013 to SMUD employees, retirees and eligible dependents; and 

  WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 13-09-04, adopted September 5, 2013, this 

Board authorized an extension of the Kaiser contract to provide medical benefits for the 

year 2014 to SMUD employees, retirees and eligible dependents; and 

  WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 14-08-09, adopted August 21, 2014, this 

Board authorized an extension of the Kaiser contract to provide medical benefits for the 

year 2015 to SMUD employees, retirees and eligible dependents; and 

  WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 15-09-04, adopted September 3, 2015, this 

Board authorized an extension of the Kaiser contract to provide medical benefits for the 

year 2016 to SMUD employees, retirees and eligible dependents; and 

  WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 16-10-03, adopted October 6, 2016, this 

Board authorized an extension of the Kaiser contract to provide medical benefits for the 

year 2017 to SMUD employees, retirees and eligible dependents; and 

 WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 17-09-04, adopted September 21, 2017, 

this Board authorized an extension of the Kaiser contract to provide medical benefits for 

the year 2018 to SMUD employees, retirees and eligible dependents; and 



 WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 18-07-04, adopted July 19, 2018, this 

Board authorized an extension of the Kaiser contract to provide medical benefits for the 

year 2019 to SMUD employees, retirees and eligible dependents; and 

 WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 19-10-07, adopted October 17, 2019, this 

Board authorized an extension of the Kaiser contract to provide medical benefits for the 

year 2020 to SMUD employees, retirees and eligible dependents; and 

 WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 20-09-06, adopted September 17, 2020, 

this Board authorized an extension of the Kaiser contract to provide medical benefits for 

the year 2021 to SMUD employees, retirees and eligible dependents; and 

 WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 21-10-07, adopted October 21, 2021, this 

Board authorized an extension of the Kaiser contract to provide medical benefits for the 

year 2022 to SMUD employees, retirees and eligible dependents; and 

 WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 22-10-14, adopted October 20, 2022, this 

Board authorized an extension of the Kaiser contract to provide medical benefits for the 

year 2023 to SMUD employees, retirees and eligible dependents; and 

 WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 23-09-08, adopted September 21, 2023, 

this Board authorized an extension of the Kaiser contract to provide medical benefits for 

the year 2024 to SMUD employees, retirees and eligible dependents; and 

 WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 24-09-07, adopted September 19, 2024, 

this Board authorized an extension of the Kaiser contract to provide medical benefits for 

the year 2025 to SMUD employees, retirees and eligible dependents; and 

  WHEREAS, it would be in SMUD’s best interest to extend the medical 

benefit contract with Kaiser and approve the 2026 premiums through December 31, 



2026, because of their distinctive services and relatively lower cost compared to other 

health plans; NOW, THEREFORE, 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT: 

  Section 1. The Chief Executive Officer and General Manager, or his 

designee, is authorized, on behalf of the SMUD, to approve 2026 medical insurance 

rates and extend Contract No. 4500043215 with Kaiser Permanente by one year, for 

the period January 1, 2026, through December 31, 2026, with the 2026 cost estimated 

at $38.4 million pursuant to the premiums set forth in Attachment ___ hereto and made 

a part hereof. 

 Section 2.  The Chief Executive Officer and General Manager, or his 

designee, is authorized to make future changes to the terms and conditions of the 

contract that, in his prudent judgment: (a) further the primary purpose of the contract; 

(b) are intended to provide a net benefit to SMUD; and (c) do not exceed the authorized 

contract amounts and applicable contingencies. 



6



    
 

SSS No. PSS 25-008 BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
STAFFING SUMMARY SHEET 

Committee Meeting & Date 

  
  
  

Finance & Audit – 09/16/25 
Board Meeting Date 
September 18, 2025 
 

 
 

TO 
  

TO 
 

1. Matthew Powell 6. Lora Anguay 
2. Laurie Rodriguez 7.  
3. Casey Fallon 8.  
4. Jose Bodipo-Memba 9. Legal 
5. Scott Martin 10. CEO & General Manager 

Consent Calendar X Yes  No If no, schedule a dry run presentation. Budgeted X Yes  No (If no, explain in Cost/Budgeted   
       section.) 

FROM (IPR) DEPARTMENT MAIL STOP EXT. DATE SENT 

Matthew Powell People Services & Strategies B251 5371 08/22/25 
NARRATIVE: 
Requested Action: Approve contract change to Contract No. 4500147540 with UnitedHealthcare Insurance Company 

(“UnitedHealthcare”) approving 2026 medical insurance premium rates; 2026 cost estimated at 
$40.6 million. 

Summary: UnitedHealthcare presented SMUD with a renewal increase for the 2026 plan year of 9.7% for our active 
employee, pre-65 retiree and Medicare Advantage medical plans. The percentage increase is determined by 
a 12-month utilization period where there were significant increases in utilization due to an increase in 
serious illnesses and associated pharmaceutical costs. The 9.7% increase is based on the difference in the 
aggregated total cost of premiums for active employees and retirees (and dependents) enrolled in the United 
Healthcare plans from 2024 to 2025. Also included in the increase is the Senate Bill 729 (SB729) mandate, 
which is the coverage for the diagnosis and treatment of infertility and fertility services. SMUD has a rate 
guarantee with United Healthcare that has also assisted in managing annual increases. Based on these rates 
and current enrollment, the total cost for 2026 medical benefit plans is projected at $40.6 million. 

These actions will allow SMUD to provide medical benefit plans for the year 2026 to employees, retirees, 
and eligible dependents enrolled in United HealthCare medical plans in the most cost-effective manner. 

Note: The estimated costs above will vary based on 2026 employee/retiree Open Enrollment selections and 
SMUD population. 

Board Policy: 
(Number & Title) 

Strategic Direction SD-3, Access to Credit Markets.  SMUD staff negotiated best price and terms with 
medical providers in consideration of the long-term revenue requirements, debt, and financial risk to 
SMUD. 
 
Strategic Direction SD-8, Employee Relations.  Providing medical benefits to employees supports SMUD’s 
goal of an inclusive workplace that engages and inspires employees to commit to SMUD’s purpose, vision, 
and values. 

Benefits: Provide quality medical benefits to eligible SMUD employees, retirees, and eligible dependents. 

Cost/Budgeted: Assuming current enrollment, SMUD’s share of cost is projected at $40.6 million (after employee/retiree 
contributions). 

Alternatives: Not award, which would jeopardize SMUD’s ability to provide the required employee health benefits and 
impact employee’s access to health care and impact employees’ access to health care and out of compliance 
with current labor Memoranda of Understanding (MOUs). 

Affected Parties: All eligible SMUD employees, retirees and eligible dependents participating in SMUD’s medical benefit 
plans. 

Coordination: People Services & Strategies, Procurement and Aon Benefit Consulting Firm 

Presenter: Matthew Powell, Interim Director, People Services & Strategies 
Laurie Rodriguez, Advisor, People Services & Strategies 

I I I I I I I 
I I I 



Additional Links: 

SUBJECT 
2026 UnitedHealthcare Contract Change 

ITEM NO. (FOR LEGAL USE ONLY) 

6 
ITEMS SUBMITTED AFTER DEADLINE WILL BE POSTPONED UNTIL NEXT MEETING. 

SMUD-1516 10/15 Forms Management Page 1



2026 UnitedHealthcare  
Active Employee Monthly Medical Premium Rates 

Active Employees Basic 
Carrier Employee Only Employee + 1 Employee + Family 
UnitedHealthcare Signature Value HMO – High Plan $1,382.13 $2,916.28 $4,174.01 
UnitedHealthcare Signature Value HMO – Low Plan $1,242.43 $2,621.49 $3,752.16 
UnitedHealthcare Signature Alliance HMO – High Plan $1,161.78 $2,451.36 $3,508.58 
UnitedHealthcare Signature Alliance HMO – Low Plan $1,044.36 $2,203.57 $3,153.99 
UnitedHealthcare High Deductible Health Plan $1,046.00 $2,207.07 $3,158.93 
UnitedHealthcare PPO Plan (plan closed to new 
participants based on high cost) $2,022.16 $4,226.76 $6,106.91 

2026 UnitedHealthcare  
Retiree Monthly Medical Premium Rates 

Retiree Basic 
Carrier Retiree Only Retiree + 1 Retiree + Family 
UnitedHealthcare Signature Value HMO $1,382.13 $2,916.28 $4,174.01 
UnitedHealthcare Signature Alliance $1,161.78 $2,451.36 $3,508.58 
UnitedHealthcare PPO – in CA $2,022.16 $4,266.76 $6,206.91 
UnitedHealthcare PPO – out of CA $2,022.16 $4,266.76 $6,106.91 

DRAFT



DRAFT 
RESOLUTION NO.  __________ 

 
 

WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 24-09-06, adopted on September 19, 

2024, this Board awarded Contract No. 4500147540 to UnitedHealthcare Insurance 

Company (UHC) to provide administration of SMUD’s medical benefits plan for an initial 

three-year period from January 1, 2025, to December 31, 2027, with two optional one-

year extensions, for a contract total not-to-exceed amount of $275 million; and 

WHEREAS, UHC presented SMUD with a renewal increase for the 2026 

plan year of 9.7% for active employee, pre-65 retiree and Medicare Advantage medical 

plans; and 

WHEREAS, the percentage increase is determined by a 12-month 

utilization period where there were significant increases in utilization due to an increase 

in serious illnesses and associated pharmaceutical costs; and 

WHEREAS, the 9.7% increase is based on the difference in the 

aggregated total cost of premiums for active employees and retirees (and dependents) 

enrolled in UHC plans from 2024 to 2025; and 

WHEREAS, it would be in SMUD’s best interest to approve the 2026 

premiums through December 31, 2026, because of their distinctive services and 

relatively lower cost compared to other health plans; NOW, THEREFORE, 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT: 

 
Section 1. The Chief Executive Officer and General Manager, or his 

designee, is authorized, on behalf of SMUD, to approve 2026 medical insurance rates 



DRAFT 
with the 2026 cost estimated at $40.6 million pursuant to premiums set forth in 

Attachment ___ hereto and made a part hereof. 

Section 2. The Chief Executive Officer and General Manager, or his 

designee, is authorized to make future changes to the terms and conditions of the 

contract that, in his prudent judgment: (a) further the primary purpose of the contract; 

(b) are intended to provide a net benefit to SMUD; and (c) do not exceed the authorized 

contract amounts and applicable contingencies. 



7



    
 

SSS No. SCS 25-233 
BOARD AGENDA ITEM 

STAFFING SUMMARY SHEET 

Committee Meeting & Date 

  
  
  

Finance & Audit – 09/16/25 
Board Meeting Date 
September 18, 2025 
 

 
 

TO 
  

TO 
 

1. Yuvaraju Palaniappan 6. Scott Martin 

2. Casey Fallon 7.  

3. Suresh Kotha 8.  

4. Jose Bodipo-Memba 9. Legal 

5. Lora Anguay 10. CEO & General Manager 

Consent Calendar X Yes  No If no, schedule a dry run presentation. Budgeted X Yes  No (If no, explain in Cost/Budgeted   
       section.) 

FROM (IPR) DEPARTMENT MAIL STOP EXT. DATE SENT 

Austin Svien Procurement EA404 5159 08/21/25 
NARRATIVE: 
Requested Action: Authorize the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager to negotiate and execute a sole source contract 

with SAP America, Inc. (SAP) for enterprise resource planning software licenses with a term between 
October 1, 2025, to December 31, 2030, in a not-to-exceed amount of $27 million. 

Summary: SMUD has utilized an on-premise implementation of SAP’s Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) software 
since 1999 that is nearing end of life. As a result, staff recommends that SMUD upgrade to SAP’s latest 
version of the ERP platform, S/4HANA (“S/4”), in order to maintain support of this critical system. The 
upgraded S/4 version is hosted in the cloud where SAP, rather than SMUD, will now manage infrastructure 
security. S/4 includes many benefits such as real-time analytics, improved user experience, and a future-
proof foundation for scalability driven by advancements in in-memory computing and a simplified data 
model. 

S/4 also includes several different software modules that work together to allow SMUD to continue to 
manage and integrate core business processes, such as finance, industry-specific solutions for utilities, 
extended warehouse management, enterprise asset management, supply chain, and more, into a single, 
unified system. Losing SAP support by not upgrading to S/4 would increase security concerns, compliance 
risks, and cost volatility. SAP’s software is critical to SMUD’s daily operations, and migrating to a different 
ERP system is cost and resource prohibitive. Contracting directly with SAP allows SMUD to maintain a 
direct relationship with the manufacturer that provides certain advantages related to transparency, pricing 
control, and access to the latest licensing models, updates, and source code. 

SAP’s proprietary source code is locked and can only be accessed by SAP, so a solicitation would be an idle 
act. Through negotiations, the SMUD team was able to secure a transformation credit of $2,230,000, a 
$1,200,000 reduction in year-one ramp-up costs, and a significant reduction in upfront licensing costs from 
$7,688,850 to $5,147,684, which will translate to subsequent renewals at a lower cost.  This 33% reduction 
in costs, in addition to the transformation credit and reduction in ramp-up costs, will allow SMUD to realize 
$16,135,830 in savings over the life of the contract, which justifies fair and reasonable pricing. For the 
reasons stated above, it is in SMUD’s best interest to issue a sole source contract to SAP for the purchase of 
S/4. 

Recommendation: Award a sole source contract to SAP America, Inc. 

Board Policy: 
(Number & Title) 

Board-Staff Linkage BL-8, Delegation to the CEO with Respect to Procurement 

Benefits: Ability to upgrade to the latest version of SAP’s ERP system, maintaining SMUD’s ability to receive 
critical support. 

Cost/Budgeted: $27,000,000; Budgeted for 2025-2030 by Information Technology 

Alternatives: Do not upgrade ERP system. This would require SMUD to accept risks associated with using an end-of-life 
system, including no support. 

Affected Parties: Information Technology, Supply Chain Services, and Contractor 

I I I I I I I 
I I I 



Coordination: Information Technology and Supply Chain Services 

Presenter: Yuvaraju Palaniappan, Director, Enterprise Systems, Strategy and Governance 

 
Additional Links:  

 

 
SUBJECT Sole Source Contract with SAP America, Inc. 

(Upgraded Enterprise Planning (ERP) Software) 

ITEM NO. (FOR LEGAL USE ONLY) 

7 
ITEMS SUBMITTED AFTER DEADLINE WILL BE POSTPONED UNTIL NEXT MEETING. 

SMUD-1516 10/15 Forms Management            Page 1 



DRAFT 

RESOLUTION NO.  __________ 
 
 

WHEREAS, since 1999, SMUD has implemented various SAP programs 

comprising many different business applications, including the Enterprise Resource 

Planning (ERP) platform which is nearing end of life; and 

WHEREAS, as a result, staff recommends that SMUD upgrade to SAP’s 

latest version of the ERP platform, S/4HANA (S/4), in order to maintain support of this 

critical system; and 

WHEREAS, S/4 is hosted in the cloud where SAP, rather than SMUD, will 

now manage infrastructure security; and 

WHEREAS, S/4 includes many benefits such as real-time analytics, 

improved user experience, and a future-proof foundation for scalability driven by 

advancements in in-memory computing and a simplified data model; and 

WHEREAS, S/4 includes several different software modules that work 

together to allow SMUD to continue to manage and integrate core business processes 

such as, among others, finance, industry-specific solutions for utilities, extended 

warehouse management, enterprise asset management, and supply chain into a single, 

unified system; and 

WHEREAS, losing SAP support by not upgrading to S/4 would increase 

security concerns, compliance risks, and cost volatility; and 

WHEREAS, due to the criticality of SAP’s software to SMUD’s daily 

operations, migrating to a different ERP system is cost and resource prohibitive; and 

WHEREAS, contracting directly with SAP allows SMUD to maintain a 

direct relationship with the manufacturer that provides certain advantages related to 



DRAFT 

transparency, pricing control, and access to the latest licensing models, updates, and 

source code; and 

WHEREAS, SAP’s proprietary source code is locked and can only be 

accessed by SAP; and 

WHEREAS, it would be an idle act to advertise for competitive bids for the 

products and services referred to above because they can only be obtained from SAP; 

NOW, THEREFORE, 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT: 

 
Section 1. That the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager, or 

his designee, is authorized on behalf of SMUD to negotiate and execute sole source 

contract(s) with SAP America, Inc. for enterprise resource planning software licenses 

with a term between October 1, 2025, to December 31, 2030, in a not-to-exceed 

amount of $27,000,000. 

Section 2. Software maintenance fees for future years will be approved 

by this Board as part of the annual budget. 

Section 3. The Chief Executive Officer and General Manager, or his 

designee, is authorized to make future changes to the terms and conditions of the 

contract that, in his prudent judgment: (a) further the primary purpose of the contract(s); 

(b) are intended to provide a net benefit to SMUD; and (c) do not exceed the authorized 

contract(s) amount and applicable contingencies. 



8



    
 

SSS No. SCS 25-231 BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
STAFFING SUMMARY SHEET 

Committee Meeting & Date 

  
  
  

Finance & Audit – 09/16/25 
Board Meeting Date 
September 18, 2025 
 

 
 

TO 
  

TO 
 

1. Josh Langdon 6.  
2. Casey Fallon 7.  
3. Scott Martin 8.  
4. Lora Anguay 9. Legal 
5. Jose Bodipo-Memba 10. CEO & General Manager 

Consent Calendar X Yes  No If no, schedule a dry run presentation. Budgeted X Yes  No (If no, explain in Cost/Budgeted   
       section.) 

FROM (IPR) DEPARTMENT MAIL STOP EXT. DATE SENT 

Greg Hovious Procurement EA404 4860 08/22/25 
NARRATIVE: 
Requested Action: Authorize the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager to negotiate and award contracts to HDR 

Engineering Inc., Bureau Veritas North America, Inc., and Energy Project Solutions, LLC, (collectively, the 
“Contracts”) to provide Construction Management Services for a five-year term from October 1, 2025, to 
September 30, 2030, for a total aggregate not-to-exceed amount of $15 million for the Contracts. 

Summary: Request for Proposals No. Doc5134153608 (RFP) was issued June 10, 2025, to solicit qualified firms to 
retain outside firms to provide construction management services in support of several power generation 
construction projects to ensure successful, timely, and cost-effective completion of these projects. These 
services are generally defined as utility power generation projects and the majority are renewable power 
technologies (e.g., solar, battery storage, wind project, hydroelectric, hydrogen). The selected contractors 
shall provide Construction Management Services to support SMUD’s Power Generation Project 
Development Group.  A pre-proposal conference was held on June 24, 2025. On July 31, 2025, seven 
proposals were received. An initial evaluation was conducted to assess whether the proposals received, 
including pricing and other factors, were fair and reasonable. After the initial evaluations were concluded, 
SMUD staff negotiated with the top three ranked Proposers to achieve fair and reasonable pricing from the 
three Proposers being recommended for award upon successful negotiations of terms and conditions. 
 

Recommendation: Award to three Highest Evaluated Responsive Proposers:  HDR Engineering Inc., 
Bureau Veritas North America, Inc., and Energy Project Solutions, LLC. 

Proposers Notified by Procurement: 38 

Proposers Downloaded: 32 

Pre-Proposal Conference Attendance: 22 

Proposals Received: 7 

 
Responsive 
Proposals 
Received 

P/F 10 
Points 
SEED 

60 Points 
Technical  

30 
Points 
Pricing  

Total 
Score 

Overall 
Rank 

Proposal 
Amount 

Evaluated 
Proposal 
Amount 

Proposed 
Award 

Amount 

HDR 
Engineering 
Inc  

P 10.00 51.00 22.95 83.95 1 $1,310,675 $1,259,938 NTE $15 
Million, 

Aggregate of 
all Task 

Authorizations 
Bureau Veritas 
North 
America, Inc.  

P 3.62 55.83 22.35 81.80 2 $1,298,727 $1,294,032  

Energy Project 
Solutions, LLC  

P - 58.08 20.02 78.11 3 $1,444,266 $1,444,266 

 
 

I I I I I I 
I I I 

- - - -
- -



Non-Responsive Proposals 
Received 

Proposal Amount 

3D Built $1,222,507 
Coalesce Management 
Consulting, Inc.  

$1,256,085 

GAJ Engineering LLC $1,180,895 
4LEAF INC $1,028,249 

 
Comments: The four non-responsive proposers did not meet the minimum qualifications required in the 

RFP.  

Supplier Diversity Program:  Two of the three recommended proposers have Supplier Education & Economic 
Development (SEED) participation, with the highest ranked proposer achieving the maximum SEED credit. 

Board Policy: 
(Number & Title) 

Board-Staff Linkage BL-8, Delegation to the CEO with Respect to Procurement; Strategic Direction SD-4, 
Reliability; Strategic Direction SD-6, Safety Leadership; Strategic Direction SD-13, Economic 
Development. 

Benefits: Qualified contractors to keep SMUD’s Power Generation projects built as intended. 

Cost/Budgeted: $15 Million; Budgeted for 2025 to 2030 by Project Development and Renewable Generation, Zero Carbon 
Energy Solutions 

Alternatives: Solicit separate construction management services contract for each project.  This alternative would create 
additional resources to source each contract and may delay projects. 

Affected Parties: Project Development and Renewable Generation, Supply Chain Services, and Contractor 

Coordination: Project Development and Renewable Generation, and Supply Chain Services 

Presenter: Amanda Beck, Manager, Project Development and Renewable Generation 

 
Additional Links:  

 
 
 
 

 
SUBJECT 

Contract Award for Construction Management Services 
ITEM NO. (FOR LEGAL USE ONLY) 

8 
ITEMS SUBMITTED AFTER DEADLINE WILL BE POSTPONED UNTIL NEXT MEETING. 

SMUD-1516 10/15 Forms Management            Page 1 



DRAFT 
RESOLUTION NO.  _____________ 

 
 

WHEREAS, on June 10, 2025, SMUD issued Request for Proposals No. 

Doc5134153608 (RFP) to solicit qualified contractors to provide construction 

management services for a five-year period; and 

WHEREAS, seven proposals submitted in response to the RFP were 

evaluated; NOW, THEREFORE, 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT: 

 
Section 1. As a result of such examination, HDR Engineering Inc., 

Bureau Veritas North America, Inc., and Energy Project Solutions, LLC, are hereby 

determined and declared to the highest evaluated responsive proposers to provide 

construction management services. 

Section 2. The Chief Executive Officer and General Manager, or his 

designee, is authorized, on behalf of SMUD, to negotiate and award contracts to the 

highest evaluated responsive proposers, HDR Engineering Inc., Bureau Veritas 

North America, Inc., and Energy Project Solutions, LLC (collectively, the 

Contracts), to provide construction management services for a five-year term from 

October 1, 2025, to September 30, 2030, for a total aggregate not-to-exceed amount of 

$15,000,000 for the Contracts. 

Section 3. The Chief Executive Officer and General Manager, or his 

designee, is authorized to make future changes to the terms and conditions of the 

Contracts that, in his prudent judgment: (a) further the primary purpose of the 



DRAFT 
Contracts; (b) is intended to provide a net benefit to SMUD; and (c) does not exceed 

the authorized contract amount and applicable contingencies. 



9



    
 

SSS No. EM 25-004 BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
STAFFING SUMMARY SHEET 

Committee Meeting & Date 

  
  
  

Finance & Audit – 09/16/25 
Board Meeting Date 
September 18, 2025 
 

 
 

TO 
  

TO 
 

1. Emily Bacchini 6. Scott Martin 
2. Josh Langdon 7.  
3. Frankie McDermott 8.  
4. Lora Anguay 9. Legal 
5. Jose Bodipo-Memba 10. CEO & General Manager 

Consent Calendar  Yes X No If no, schedule a dry run presentation. Budgeted X Yes  No (If no, explain in Cost/Budgeted   
       section.) 

FROM (IPR) DEPARTMENT MAIL STOP EXT. DATE SENT 

Kim Crawford Environmental Services B209 5063 08/22/25 
NARRATIVE: 
Requested Action: Certify the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Oveja Ranch Solar Project (Project) Final 

Environmental Impact Report (FEIR), including adoption of the Findings; adopt the Mitigation Monitoring 
and Reporting Program for the Project; and approve the Project. 

Summary: SMUD is proposing the Oveja Ranch Solar Project (Project), which would include installation, operation, 
and maintenance of a photovoltaic (PV) solar power facility in southeastern Sacramento County. In 
addition, the Project consists of amending Williamson Act contracts to make PV solar development a 
compatible use. SMUD is proposing to construct PV solar panels, a battery energy storage system (BESS), a 
substation, and new and upgraded distribution lines to interconnect the Project to SMUD’s existing 
distribution system. SMUD would lease up to 400 acres of land within the 534-acre Project site for the 
installation of solar panels, the BESS, and associated infrastructure. The Project would deliver up to 75 
megawatts of PV energy generation and support SMUD’s 2030 Zero Carbon Plan. Project construction 
would take approximately 18 to 24 months. During Project operation, the Project site would continue to be 
used for agricultural activities through flood irrigation of the pastures to provide forage for sheep to graze. 
At the end of the Project’s useful life (anticipated to be 34 years and 11 months), the site and all Project 
components (except for the upgraded distribution lines) would be decommissioned. 

Based on the FEIR, the Project could have potentially significant impacts on agriculture and forestry 
resources, air quality, biological resources, cultural resources, geology and soils, greenhouse gas emissions, 
noise, transportation and traffic, and tribal cultural resources. Mitigation Measures will reduce the impacts 
to a less-than-significant level, and no significant and unavoidable impacts would occur. 

Public outreach occurred at two points in the environmental review process, one during the public scoping 
process and one after the Draft EIR was published. The public scoping process began with the issuance of a 
Notice of Preparation (NOP) and informed the public and agencies that an EIR will be prepared for a 
proposed project.  The scoping period lasted 30 days from September 5, 2024, through October 6, 2024.  A 
public scoping meeting was held on September 18, 2024.  The second comment period was for review of the 
Draft EIR and lasted 45 days from March 17, 2025, through May 2, 2025. A public meeting was held on 
April 10, 2025.  For both processes, notices were submitted to the State Clearinghouse, which then 
distributed the information to potential responsible and trustee agencies; posted on SMUD.org; posted with 
the Sacramento County Clerk; and made available at SMUD’s offices. In addition, the notices were 
distributed directly to property owners within 0.5 mile of the solar facility and 500 feet of the 
interconnection lines, interested Native American Tribes, and the Sacramento Metropolitan Air Quality 
Management District (which has requested to be notified of SMUD’s projects). Finally, notices were 
published in the Sacramento Bee. 

Comment letters were received during the NOP period from the following:  East Bay Municipal Utility 
District (EBMUD), California Department of Conservation - Division of Land Resource Protection, 
California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW), Sacramento Metropolitan Air Quality Management 
District (SMAQMD), Sacramento County - Department of Transportation (Sac DOT), Defenders of 
Wildlife, Southgate Recreation & Park District, Central Valley Regional Water Quality Control Board, and 
a resident. Comments raised during the NOP were addressed in the Draft EIR. 

I I I I I I I 
I I I 



Comment letters on the Draft EIR were received from: EBMUD, CDFW, SMAQMD, Sac DOT, Southgate 
Recreation & Park District, Sacramento County Water Agency, Sacramento County Department of 
Community Development, and Defenders of Wildlife.  The comments did not change the conclusions 
presented in the Draft EIR, but some revisions were made in the Final EIR to the air quality, biological 
resources, transportation and recreation chapters in response to the DEIR comment letters. A copy of all 
correspondence and the responses to the comments are included in the Final EIR. 

Board Policy: 
(Number & Title) 

The Project would support the following Board adopted policies: Strategic Direction SD-1A, Purpose 
Statement: provide our customers reliable and affordable electricity, and leading the transition to a clean 
energy future; Strategic Direction SD-7, Environmental Leadership goals relating to reducing adverse 
environmental impacts, proactively engaging its customer-owners and other stakeholders, and local 
environmental benefits through generation and sale of renewable energy; and Strategic Direction SD-9, 
Resource Planning and renewable goals. 

Benefits: The Project would contribute to a diversified energy portfolio that will aid in the continued improvement of 
air quality in the Sacramento Valley Air Basin by decreasing reliance on fossil fuel combustion for the 
generation of electricity. 

Cost/Budgeted: $487,848 was budgeted for environmental and CEQA services and it is on track to be within budget; the 
power purchase cost associated with the construction and operation of the Project will be provided in the 
SSS for that component. 

Alternatives: Certify the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Oveja Ranch Solar Project (Project) 
Environmental Impact Report (EIR), including adoption of the Findings; adopt the Mitigation Monitoring 
and Reporting Program for the Project; and approve the Project.; return to staff for further study; or reject 
the EIR. 

Affected Parties: Power Generation and Environmental Services 

Coordination: Power Generation and Environmental Services 

Presenter: Emily Bacchini, Interim Director, Environmental, Safety & Real Estate Services 

 
Additional Links:  

 
 
 
 

 
SUBJECT 

Oveja Ranch Solar Project (CEQA) 
ITEM NO. (FOR LEGAL USE ONLY) 

9 
ITEMS SUBMITTED AFTER DEADLINE WILL BE POSTPONED UNTIL NEXT MEETING. 

SMUD-1516 10/15 Forms Management            Page 1 



Sacramento Municipal Utility District 
Oveja Ranch Solar Project  

Final Environmental Impact Report • September 2025 

State Clearinghouse #2024090310 

DRAFT



 

 

 
 
 
Sacramento Municipal Utility District 
 
 
Oveja Ranch Solar Project  
 
 
Final Environmental Impact Report 
 
State Clearinghouse #2024090310 
 
September 2025 
 
 
 
Lead Agency: 
Sacramento Municipal Utility District 
6201 S Street, MS B209 
Sacramento, CA 95817 
Attn: Kim Crawford 
(916) 732-5063 kim.crawford@smud.org 
 

Prepared by: 

AECOM 
2020 L Street, Suite 300 
Sacramento, CA 95811 
Contact: Petra Unger 
Petra.Unger@aecom.com 

mailto:kim.crawford@smud.org


 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 3 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Chapter/Section Page 
1.0 INTRODUCTION .................................................................................................. 7 

1.1 Public Review and Response to Comments ......................................................... 7 
1.2 Organization of the Responses to Comments ....................................................... 8 
1.3 Comments that Require Responses...................................................................... 8 
1.4 Project Decision Process ...................................................................................... 9 
1.5 Revisions to the Draft EIR ..................................................................................... 9 

1.5.1 Tribal Consultation ................................................................................... 9 

2.0 COMMENTS AND RESPONSES TO COMMENTS ........................................... 11 
2.1 Letter 1. Sacramento County Department of Transportation, Gary 

Gasperi, March 19, 2025 ..................................................................................... 11 
Letter 1 Response ......................................................................................... 13 

2.2 Letter 2. Southgate Recreation & Park District, Vincent King, April 2, 2025 ....... 15 
Letter 2 Response ......................................................................................... 16 

2.3 Letter 3. Sacramento County Department of Community Development, 
Todd Smith, April 14, 2025 .................................................................................. 17 

Letter 3 Response ......................................................................................... 19 
2.4 Letter 4. East Bay Municipal Utility District, David J. Rehnstrom, April 16, 

2025 .................................................................................................................... 20 
Letter 4 Response ......................................................................................... 24 

2.5 Letter 5. Sacramento County Water Agency – Water Supply Planning, 
Ramon Roybal, April 30, 2025 ............................................................................ 25 

Letter 5 Response ......................................................................................... 26 
2.6 Letter 6. Sacramento Metropolitan Air Quality Management District, 

Roberto Ramirez, April 30, 2025 ......................................................................... 27 
Letter 6 Response ......................................................................................... 28 

2.7 Letter 7. California Department of Fish and Wildlife, Morgan Kilgour, May 
2, 2025 ................................................................................................................ 29 

Letter 7 Response ......................................................................................... 44 
2.8 Letter 8. Defenders of Wildlife, Sophia Markowska, May 2, 2025 ....................... 52 

3.0 CORRECTIONS AND REVISIONS TO THE DRAFT EIR .................................. 64 
3.1 Revisions to Maximum Daily Construction-Related and Operational 

Emissions of Criteria Air Pollutants and Precursors ............................................ 64 
3.2 Revisions to Air Quality Mitigation Measure 3.3-1e ............................................. 65 
3.3 Revisions to Biological Resources Mitigation Measure 3.4-5 .............................. 65 
3.4 Revisions to Biological Resources Mitigation Measure 3.4-8 .............................. 66 
3.5 Revisions to Biological Resources Mitigation Measure 3.4-10 ............................ 67 
3.6 Revisions to Biological Resources Mitigation Measure 3.4-12 ............................ 68 
3.7 Revisions to Biological Resource Mitigation Measure 3.4-14 .............................. 69 
3.8 Revisions to Tribal Cultural Resources Mitigation Measure 3.18-1 ..................... 70 
3.9 Revisions to Description of an LTA ..................................................................... 70 
3.10 Revisions to Description of Coordination with Southgate Recreation & 

Park District ......................................................................................................... 71 



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 4 

4.0 MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM ............................ 72 
4.1 Mitigation Implementation and Monitoring ........................................................... 72 
4.2 Mitigation Enforcement ........................................................................................ 73 
4.3 Reporting ............................................................................................................. 73 
4.4 Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program Table ........................................... 73 

5.0 REFERENCES ................................................................................................... 91 

6.0 FINAL EIR AUTHORS/PREPARERS ................................................................ 93 
6.1 Sacramento Municipal Utility District (Lead Agency) ........................................... 93 
6.2 AECOM (FEIR Preparation) ................................................................................ 93 

 

TABLES 
Table 3.3-7. Summary of Maximum Unmitigated Daily and Annual Construction-Related 

Emissions of Criteria Air Pollutants and Precursors ............................................ 64 
Table 3.3-8. Summary of Unmitigated Maximum Daily and Annual Operational Emissions of 

Criteria Air Pollutants and Precursors ................................................................. 64 
Table 4-1. Summary of Impacts and Mitigation Measures .......................................................... 74 
 

FIGURE 
Proposed Access Haul Routes ................................................................................................... 14 
 
 
 



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 5 

ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS 
AB Assembly Bill  
BESS battery energy storage system  
CalEEMod California Emissions Estimator Model 
CCR California Code of Regulations 
CEQA California Environmental Quality Act  
CESA California Endangered Species Act 
CFR Code of Federal Regulations 
CNDDB California Natural Diversity Database 
CWA Clean Water Act 
dB decibel(s) 
Draft EIR draft environmental impact report 
EIR environmental impact report 
EPA U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
ESA Endangered Species Act 
Farmland Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or Farmland of Statewide Importance  
Final EIR final environmental impact report 
FMMP Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program 
ft feet 
GGS giant garter snake 
ITP incidental take permit 
LTA Local Transportation Analysis  
MMRP mitigation monitoring and reporting program 
mph miles per hour 
NAHC Native American Heritage Commission 
NOX oxides of nitrogen 
O&M operations and maintenance 
PM particulate matter 
PM10 particulate matter with aerodynamic diameter less than 10 microns 
PM2.5 particulate matter with aerodynamic diameter less than 2.5 microns 
PRC Public Resources Code  
project Oveja Ranch Solar Project  
PV photovoltaic 
RWQCB Regional Water Quality Control Board 
SacDOT Sacramento County Department of Transportation  
SCWA Sacramento County Water Agency  
SHTAC  Swainson’s Hawk Technical Advisory Committee 
SMAQMD Sacramento Metropolitan Air Quality Management District 
SMUD Sacramento Municipal Utility District 



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 6 

SOC Statement of Overriding Considerations 
SSHCP South Sacramento Habitat Conservation Plan 
TCR tribal cultural resource  
the Board SMUD Board of Directors 
UAIC United Auburn Indian Community of the Auburn Rancheria 
WEAP worker environmental awareness program  
WOS Waters of the State 
WUS Waters of the United States 
 



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

   Page 7 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
On March 17, 2025, the Sacramento Municipal Utility District (SMUD) released for public review 
the draft environmental impact report (Draft EIR) for the proposed Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
(project). SMUD proposes to: 

• Contribute to a diversified energy portfolio that will aid in the continued improvement of air 
quality in the Sacramento Valley Air Basin by decreasing reliance on fossil fuel combustion 
for the generation of electricity. 

• Reduce SMUD’s exposure to price volatility associated with electricity and natural gas.  

• Provide a renewable power resource to support the SMUD Board of Directors’ 2030 Zero 
Carbon Plan, approved in 2021, which establishes a flexible pathway for SMUD to eliminate 
carbon emissions from its power supply by 2030 by developing and procuring dependable 
renewable resources.  

• Develop a project that will deliver a reliable, long-term supply of up to 75 MW of 
economically feasible solar and battery storage that provides grid resiliency at a point of 
interconnection on the grid managed by SMUD.  

• Develop an agrivoltaics project that integrates agricultural irrigation production including 
sheep grazing. 

• Design a flexible photovoltaic (PV) solar energy and battery storage facility that is capable of 
utilizing the best available, efficient, cost-effective, and proven PV solar and storage 
technology. 

• Construct the facility in a location that has ready access to existing electrical infrastructure 
with available capacity and roads. 

Up to 400 acres of land would be leased by SMUD for the project. The project includes 
constructing PV solar panels, a battery energy storage system (BESS), a substation, and new 
and upgraded distribution lines to interconnect the project to SMUD’s existing distribution 
system. Project construction would take approximately 18 to 24 months and is proposed to 
begin as early as the third quarter of 2026 and conclude in 2028. At the end of the project’s 
useful life (anticipated to be 30 to 35 years), the site and all project components (except for the 
upgraded distribution lines) would be decommissioned.  

1.1 Public Review and Response to Comments 

In accordance with Sections 15087 and 15105 of the State California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA) Guidelines, the Draft EIR was circulated for public review and comment to lead and 
responsible agencies, as well as members of the public, for 45 days (March 17, 2025, to May 2, 
2025). SMUD also held a public meeting on April 10, 2025, to receive comments on the Draft 
EIR. Written comment letters and oral comments received on the Draft EIR are provided in their 
entirety in Chapter 2, “Comments and Responses to Comments.”  

Responses to each of the comments received are provided in this document as part of the final 
environmental impact report (Final EIR). Although some of the comments have resulted in minor 
changes to the text of the Draft EIR (see Chapter 3, “Corrections and Revisions to the Draft 



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

   Page 8 

EIR”), none of the changes constitute “significant new information,” which would require 
recirculation of the Draft EIR. Significant new information is defined in Section 15088.5(a) of the 
State CEQA Guidelines as follows: 

1. A new significant environmental impact would result from the project or from a new 
mitigation measure proposed to be implemented. 

2. A substantial increase in the severity of an environmental impact would result unless 
mitigation measures are adopted that reduce the impact to a level of insignificance. 

3. A feasible project alternative or mitigation measure considerably different from others 
previously analyzed would clearly lessen the environmental impacts of the project, but the 
project’s proponents decline to adopt it. 

4. The Draft EIR was so fundamentally and basically inadequate and conclusory in nature that 
meaningful public review and comment were precluded. 

None of these circumstances have arisen from comments on the Draft EIR; therefore, 
recirculation is not required. 

The Draft EIR, Final EIR, and associated appendices are available for review online at: 
http://smud.org/OvejaRanch. As required by State CEQA Guidelines Section 15088(b), SMUD 
has provided an electronic copy (through SMUD’s website; see prior discussion) to each public 
agency, organization, and individual that submitted written comments on the Draft EIR with 
written responses to those comments at least 10 days prior to certifying the Final EIR.  

1.2 Organization of the Responses to Comments 

Chapter 2 of the Final EIR consists of the written comments received on the Draft EIR and 
presents responses to environmental issues raised in the comments (as required by State 
CEQA Guidelines Section 15132). The focus of the responses to comments is on the disposition 
of significant environmental issues that are raised in the comments, as required by Section 
15088(c) of the State CEQA Guidelines. 

Each comment letter has been reproduced with individual comments bracketed and numbered. 
Responses to the comments follow each letter. For example, the response to the second 
comment of the first letter would be indicated as Response to Comment 1-2. In some instances, 
clarifications of the text of the Draft EIR may be required. In those cases, the text of the Draft 
EIR is revised and the changes compiled in Chapter 3, “Corrections and Revisions to the Draft 
EIR.” The text deletions are shown in strikeout (strikeout) and additions are shown in underline 
(underline). 

1.3 Comments that Require Responses 

Section 15088(c) of the State CEQA Guidelines specifies that the focus of the responses to 
comments shall be on the disposition of significant environmental issues. Responses are not 
required on comments regarding the merits of the project or on issues not related to the 
project’s environmental impacts. Comments on the merits of the proposed project or other 
comments that do not raise environmental issues will be reviewed by SMUD’s Board of 
Directors (the Board) before an action is taken on the project. The responses address 

http://smud.org/OvejaRanch


 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

   Page 9 

environmental issues and indicate where issues raised are not environmental or address the 
merits of the project. In the latter instance, no further response is provided. 

1.4 Project Decision Process 

This document and the Draft EIR together constitute the Final EIR, which will be considered by 
the Board before a decision on whether to approve the project. If the Board decides to approve 
the project, it must first certify that the Final EIR was completed in compliance with CEQA’s 
requirements, was reviewed and considered by the Board, and reflects the Board’s independent 
judgment and analysis, as required by State CEQA Guidelines Section 15090. The Board then 
would be required to adopt findings of fact on the disposition of each significant environmental 
impact, as required by State CEQA Guidelines Section 15091. If significant and unavoidable 
impacts (those that cannot be mitigated to a less-than-significant level) would result from the 
project and the Board chooses to approve the project, the Board would need to adopt a 
statement of overriding considerations, pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines Section 15093, 
explaining the overriding factors that the Board deems important to allow the project to move 
forward.  

The following are important considerations in the Board approval process. A Statement of 
Overriding Considerations (SOC) is not required. The Notice of Determination (California Code 
of Regulations 15093 (b)) will be filed with the State Clearinghouse if the project receives 
approval by the Board. A Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program, which is required by 
CEQA Guidelines Section 15091(d), has been prepared and is included in Chapter 4 of this 
Final EIR.  

1.5 Revisions to the Draft EIR 

As discussed in Section 1.1, “Public Review and Response to Comments,” above, CEQA 
requires recirculation of an EIR when the lead agency adds “significant new information” to an 
EIR, regarding changes to the project description or the environmental setting, after public 
notice is given of the availability of a draft EIR for public review under State CEQA Guidelines, 
California Code of Regulations (CCR) Section 15087, but before EIR certification (State CEQA 
Guidelines CCR Section 15088.5[a]). Recirculation is not required unless the EIR is changed in 
a way that would deprive the public of the opportunity to comment on significant new 
information, including a new significant impact in which no feasible mitigation is available to fully 
mitigate the impact (thus resulting in a significant and unavoidable impact), a substantial 
increase in the severity of a disclosed environmental impact, or development of a new feasible 
alternative or mitigation measures that would clearly lessen environmental impacts but that the 
project proponent declines to adopt (State CEQA Guidelines CCR Section 15088.5[a]). 
Recirculation is not required when the new information added to the EIR merely clarifies or 
amplifies or makes insignificant modifications in an adequate EIR (State CEQA Guidelines CCR 
Section 15088.5[b]). 

All revisions to the Draft EIR were minor and would not change any of the impact conclusion 
presented in the Draft EIR. Therefore, recirculation of the EIR would not be required. 

1.5.1 Tribal Consultation 

Assembly Bill (AB) 52 requires that lead agencies undertaking CEQA consult with California 
Native American Tribes upon the tribes’ written request and evaluate in the EIR the potential for 



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

   Page 10 

projects to affect tribal cultural resources. Section 3.18, “Tribal Cultural Resources,” of the Draft 
EIR describes the consultation that has occurred between the tribes and SMUD pursuant to AB 
52. Specific language requested by the tribes was incorporated in the Draft EIR prior to 
circulation, and consultation has been completed. 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 11 

2.0 COMMENTS AND RESPONSES TO COMMENTS 

2.1 Letter 1. Sacramento County Department of Transportation, Gary 
Gasperi, March 19, 2025 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 12 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 13 

1-1 Please see the anticipated haul routes vehicles will take during construction in the figure 
on the following page. No revisions to the EIR are necessary.  

1-2 As requested by the Sacramento County Department of Transportation (SacDOT), the 
following paragraph on page 3.17-7 of the Draft EIR has been edited: 

 Up to 64 daily construction-related truck trips for delivery of materials and hauling would 
be spread over an eight-hour workday during the peak period of construction in terms of 
trip generation, which is during the site preparation phase. In addition, a maximum of 
263 worker trips would occur during the a.m. and p.m. hours before and after each 
workday during the peak construction phase, resulting in a total of up to 654 daily vehicle 
and truck trips added each day to local roadways during the peak trip-generating phase 
of construction. If the equipment and material delivery and haul trips are spread evenly 
across an eight-hour workday, and the worker commute trips occur during the first and 
last hour of the eight-hour workday, the peak hourly trip generation would be 
approximately 483. It is assumed that the worker trips will be distributed along area 
roadways. A more detailed, focused Local Transportation Analysis (LTA) is required only 
when a project’s final use is expected to generate greater than 1000 daily trips or 100 
peak hour trips. However, an LTA is not required for project-related construction traffic. 
Therefore, because the number of daily and peak trips is below the threshold, an LTA is 
not required for this project. and the volume on any single roadway segment will fall 
below 100 peak hour vehicle trip-ends, thereby avoiding the need for a more detailed, 
focused Local Transportation Analysis (LTA) based on this threshold beyond what is 
provided in this analysis. Furthermore, work hours during the construction season would 
likely be longer than 8 hours to make maximum use of each workday, thus worker arrival 
and departure would likely typically occur before and after main commuter hours 

1-3 Comment noted. SMUD will coordinate with SacDOT regarding entering into a pavement 
repair contract. 

1-4 Comment noted. SMUD will coordinate with SacDOT regarding entering into a pavement 
repair contract. 

1-5 Comment noted. SMUD will coordinate with SacDOT regarding an initial evaluation of 
the structural integrity of the pavement on the haul routes.  

  

Letter 
1 

Response 
  Gary Gasperi, Sacramento County Department of Transportation 

March 19, 2025 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 14 

 
Proposed Access Haul Routes 
  



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 15 

2.2 Letter 2. Southgate Recreation & Park District, Vincent King, 
April 2, 2025 

 
 
  



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 16 

2-1 SMUD appreciates the opportunity to work with the District and will continue to do so as 
the project moves into the permitting phase. 

2-2 As requested by the District, the following paragraph on page 3.16-3 has been edited: 

 During scoping, the Southgate Recreation and Park District provided a comment letter 
that indicated their long-term plans to construct bicycle and pedestrian trails along the 
Laguna Creek corridor. Additional details about this project were not available online, 
and SMUD attempted to reach out to the Southgate Recreation and Park District for 
more information. In late January 2025, SMUD and the Southgate Recreation and Park 
District staff met and exchanged information about existing easements east of Excelsior 
Road and along the Gerber Road right-of-way. The Southgate Recreation and Park 
District expressed a desire for a future trail alignment northeast of Excelsior Road and 
possibly aligning with the Gerber Road right-of-way. The precise alignment for the trail is 
not yet determined and will be driven by the Southgate Recreation and Park District with 
consideration of physical, environmental, and other constraints and the involvement of 
the community and property owners. SMUD will take any information obtained in 
coordination with the District into account when designing the powerline crossings of 
Laguna Creek to ensure the plans for bicycle and pedestrian trails in the Laguna Creek 
corridor are not adversely affected by the project. Therefore, no impact would occur. 

 

  

Letter 
2 

Response 

  
Vincent King, Southgate Recreation & Park District 
April 2, 2025 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 17 

2.3 Letter 3. Sacramento County Department of Community 
Development, Todd Smith, April 14, 2025 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 18 

 
  



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 19 

3-1 Comment noted. No further response is necessary.    

3-2 Comment noted. SMUD appreciates the opportunity to work with the Department of 
Community Development in support of this project and will continue to do so as it relates 
to amending the Williamson Act contracts and the Conveyance of Development Rights 
to the County on two of the three project parcels.  

  

Letter 
3 

Response 

  Todd Smith, Sacramento County Department of Community 
Development 
April 14, 2025 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 20 

2.4 Letter 4. East Bay Municipal Utility District, David J. Rehnstrom, 
April 16, 2025 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 21 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 22 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 23 

 
 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 24 

4-1 Comment noted. No further response is necessary.    

  

Letter 
4 

Response 

  
David J. Rehnstrom, East Bay Municipal Utility District 
April 16, 2025 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 25 

2.5 Letter 5. Sacramento County Water Agency – Water Supply 
Planning, Ramon Roybal, April 30, 2025 

 
  



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 26 

5-1 Comment noted. No further response is necessary.  

5-2 Comment noted. SMUD will coordinate with the Sacramento County Water Agency 
(SCWA) regarding the Surface Water Component Fee.   

5-3 Comment noted. Improvement plans are not being prepared for the project. SMUD will 
coordinate with the Sacramento County Water Agency (SCWA) regarding the project’s 
water supply planning.  

 

   

Letter 
5 

Response 

  Ramon Roybal, Sacramento County Water Agency – Water 
Supply Planning 
April 30, 2025 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 27 

2.6 Letter 6. Sacramento Metropolitan Air Quality Management 
District, Roberto Ramirez, April 30, 2025 

 

  



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 28 

Letter 
6 

Response 

  Roberto Ramirez, Sacramento Metropolitan Air Quality 
Management District 
April 30, 2025 

6-1 Comment noted. No further response is necessary. 

6-2 For unmitigated construction emissions, Appendix AQ-1 has been updated to show 
emissions for all criteria air pollutants for the Construction Equipment and Vehicles out to 
one decimal place, which shows that the totals indicated in the Unmitigated Construction 
Table (Table 3.3-7) are correct and do not need to be revised. No edits to the DEIR are 
required. 

6-3 Unmitigated daily PM10 emissions have been updated to reflect the worst-case scenario 
(Daily, Winter (Max)) for total PM10 as shown in the CalEEMod outputs (64.4 pounds per 
day for Construction Equipment and Vehicles). Table 3.3-7 has been updated to reflect 
the total unmitigated daily PM10 emissions of 77.0 pounds per day.  

6-4 For mitigated construction emissions, Appendix AQ-1 has been updated to show 
emissions for all criteria air pollutants for the Construction Equipment and Vehicles out to 
one decimal place, which shows that the totals indicated in the Mitigated Construction 
Table (Table 3.3-9) are correct and do not need to be revised. No edits to the DEIR are 
required. 

6-5 Unmitigated annual operational emissions of PM2.5 and PM10 shown in Table 3.3-8 have 
been updated to 0.01 tons per year and 0.02 tons per year, respectively, to match the 
CalEEMod outputs.  

6-6 Comment noted. Applicable revisions have been made to the DEIR. No further response 
is necessary.  

  



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 29 

2.7 Letter 7. California Department of Fish and Wildlife, Morgan 
Kilgour, May 2, 2025 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 30 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 31 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 32 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 33 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 34 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 35 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 36 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 37 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 38 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 39 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 40 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 41 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 42 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 43 

 
  



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 44 

7-1 No response is necessary. 

7-2 Please see response to comments 7-3 through 7-11 for species specific discussions and 
revisions to mitigation measures, if applicable. 

7-3 Western spadefoot. SMUD agrees to revise Mitigation Measure 3.4-5 for Western 
spadefoot per the suggested edits provided by CDFW. The measure now reads as 
follows (additions are noted in underline while deletions are noted in strikeout). 

Mitigation Measure 3.4-5. 

• Prior to any ground disturbance activity (e.g., grading, disking, road construction, or 
similar activities that could entomb or excavate spadefoot in grassland habitat near 
vernal pools) in the overhead collector line and distribution line corridors, a qualified 
biologist shall survey the project footprint prior to the onset of work for Western 
spadefoot. The qualified biologist shall identify burrows potentially suitable for 
Western spadefoot and mark a 50-foot non-disturbance buffer around any burrows 
mapped. Ground disturbance in these buffer areas shall be avoided, if feasible. If 
ground disturbance would be required within the 50-foot buffer, activities shall be 
limited to the minimum footprint necessary and shall be monitored by an onsite 
qualified biologist, who would be either on-call or onsite, as appropriate to guide 
activities within the buffer to reduce impacts. Ground disturbing activities within 
suitable Western spadefoot breeding habitat will be limited during their active period 
(typically between October and May) to the extent possible.  

The qualified biologist shall inform construction personnel to stop construction activities if 
a Western spadefoot is observed or if, in the biologist’s opinion, maintenance activities 
threaten to cause adverse effects to Western spadefoot. If it is determined that Western 
spadefoot would be potentially harmed by construction, a qualified biologist with the 
appropriate handling permits may relocate animals to suitable habitats outside the 
project footprint. A relocation report will be submitted to SMUD within 48 hours after the 
species has been relocated. 

7-4 Giant garter snake. SMUD agrees to revise Mitigation Measure 3.4-8 for giant garter 
snakes per the suggested edits provided by CDFW. The measure now reads as follows 
(additions noted in underline while deletions are noted in strikeout). 

Mitigation Measure 3.4-8 

• Project ground-disturbing activities in aquatic habitat and adjacent upland habitat 
within 200 feet of suitable aquatic habitat (perennial drainages and agricultural 
ditches carrying year-round water) shall be conducted during the giant garter snake’s 
active season (i.e., after May 1 and before October 1), to the extent feasible. During 
this period, the potential for direct mortality is reduced, because snakes are expected 
to mainly occupy aquatic habitat and to actively move and avoid danger. If project 
activities in upland habitat occur within 200 feet of suitable aquatic habitat must be 

Letter 
7 

Response 

  
Morgan Kilgour, California Department of Fish and Wildlife 
May 2, 2025 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 45 

started outside of the snake’s active season (May 1 to October 1), the following 
mitigation measures must be implemented: 

Within 24-hours prior to commencement of construction activities within 200 feet 
of potential giant garter snake habitat (perennial streams and agricultural 
ditches that carry year-round water), the site shall be inspected by a qualified 
biologist who is approved by SMUD. the CDFW and USFWS. Results of this 
clearance survey shall be reported in memo shared with SMUD and 
construction should only commence after a negative inspection report. If 
construction activities are delayed or stop for a period of two weeks or more, 
another pre-construction clearance survey shall be conducted within 24 hours 
before resuming construction activity. If snakes, or evidence of snakes, are 
encountered during pre-construction surveys, a biological monitor shall be 
present during the commencement of construction activities in upland habitat 
within 200 feet of suitable aquatic habitat during all ground disturbing activities. 
the non-active season. If any snakes are observed in uplands near drainages 
during the active season, project activity shall be halted and the snakes shall be 
allowed to leave the area on their own. 

• If take of GGS individuals cannot be avoided during the active or dormant seasons, 
an Incidental Take Permit (ITP) shall be obtained from CDFW for construction and 
O&M activities. 

7-5 Burrowing owl. Thank you for the suggested revisions. Since publication of the Draft 
EIR, SMUD has implemented protocol level burrowing owl surveys. To date, only 
wintering burrowing owls have been observed on the project site. However, SMUD has 
determined it to be prudent to obtain an Incidental Take Permit (ITP) for burrowing owl 
ahead of project construction to avoid potential delays once construction is underway. 
The ITP application would obtain all necessary detail regarding burrowing owl 
management on the site, thus the additional detail provided by CDFW in the proposed 
mitigation measure is not necessary at this time. Mitigation Measure 3.4-10 has been 
revised to as follows (additions are noted in underline while deletions are noted in 
strikeout): 

Mitigation Measure 3.4-10 

• If a burrowing owl or evidence of presence at or near a burrow entrance is found to 
occur within 500 feet of the project site, the following measures shall be 
implemented:  

o If burrowing owls are found during the breeding season (approximately February 
1 to August 31), the project applicant shall:  

 Avoid all nest sites that could be disturbed by project construction during 
the remainder of the breeding season or while the nest is occupied by 
adults or young (occupation includes individuals or family groups foraging 
on or near the site following fledging). 

 Establish a minimum 500-foot, up to 1650-foot non-disturbance buffer 
zone around nests, consistent with CDFW’s 2012 Staff Report guidelines. 
The buffer zone shall be flagged or otherwise clearly marked. Should 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 46 

construction activities cause the nesting bird to vocalize, make defensive 
flights at intruders, or otherwise display agitated behavior, then the 
exclusionary buffer shall be increased such that activities are far enough 
from the nest so that the bird(s) no longer display this agitated behavior. 
The exclusionary buffer shall remain in place until the chicks have fledged 
or as otherwise determined by a qualified biologist. 

 Construction may occur only outside of the 500-foot buffer zone during 
the breeding season and only if a qualified biologist monitors the nest and 
determines that the activities will not disturb nesting behavior, or the birds 
have not begun egg-laying and incubation, or that the juveniles from the 
occupied burrows have fledged and moved off site. Measures such as 
visual screens may be used to further reduce the buffer with CDFW 
approval and provided a biological monitor confirms that such measures 
do not agitate the owls.  

o If burrowing owls are found during the non-breeding season (approximately 
September 1 to January 31), the project applicant shall establish a minimum of 
165-foot 160-foot, up to 1650-foot no-disturbance buffer zone around active 
burrows consistent with CDFW’s 2012 Staff Report guidelines. The buffer zone 
shall be flagged or otherwise clearly marked. Measures such as visual screens 
may be used to further reduce the buffer with CDFW approval and provided a 
biological monitor confirms that such measures do not agitate the owls.  

o During the non-breeding season only, if a project cannot avoid occupied burrows 
after all alternative avoidance and minimization measures are exhausted, as 
confirmed by CDFW, project applicant shall obtain an Incidental Take Permit 
(ITP) for the project. A burrowing owl exclusion plan must be developed by a 
qualified biologist consistent with the most recent guidelines from CDFW (e.g., 
California Department of Fish and Game 2012) and submitted to and approved 
by CDFW along with the ITP application. Burrow exclusion may not be conducted 
for burrows located in the project footprint and within a 160-foot buffer zone until 
the ITP is obtained. All ITP conditions must be followed when excluding owls. 

o If take of burrowing owl individuals cannot be avoided during the breeding or 
non-breeding season, an Incidental Take Permit (ITP) shall be obtained from 
CDFW for construction and O&M activities. 

7-6 Swainson’s hawk. A portion of Mitigation Measure 3.4-14 was revised was revised to 
address the commenter’s concern regarding the permanent loss of Swainson’s hawk 
foraging habitat resulting from construction of the BESS, substation and roads. This 
change minimizes the nexus between the distance of an active Swainson’s hawk nest 
tree and the mitigation ratio, thus increasing the total foraging habitat acreage to be 
mitigated.  

No revisions were made regarding the alleged impact to Swainson’s hawk foraging 
habitat under the solar panels. Based on the assessment of impacts provided in the EIR 
which included consultation with an expert on the subject and review of relevant 
literature published on the topic of use of solar fields by raptors including Swainson’s 
hawk, SMUD as lead agency determined that Mitigation Measure 3.4-14, as presented 
in the Draft EIR, is adequate to offset the loss of foraging habitat under the solar panels 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 47 

because Swainson’s hawks foraging habitat will continue to be available in the solar 
fields. Under that measure, foraging habitat will be maintained under the solar panels 
with pollinator-friendly vegetation that would support Swainson’s hawk prey such as 
insects and small mammals.  

The measure now reads as follows (additions are noted in underline while deletions are 
noted in strikeout). 

o Foraging habitat permanently lost within 5 miles of an active Swainson’s 
hawk nest tree but more than one mile from the nest tree shall be replaced 
with 1.0 acre 0.75 acre of mitigation land for each acre of foraging habitat 
permanently lost because of project construction (1:1 ratio). (0.75:1 ratio). 
Permanent loss resulting from the project includes the approximately 4.1 acre 
footprint of the BESS, substation, and roads. The nearest location relative to 
this area shall be confirmed prior to initiation of consultation during 
preconstruction surveys as called for in Mitigation Measure 3.4-13.  

o Foraging habitat permanently lost for nests that are within one mile of the 
project site be mitigated at a 1:1 ratio. Permanent loss resulting from the 
project includes the approximately 4.1-acre footprint of the BESS, substation, 
and roads. The nearest location relative to this area shall be confirmed prior 
to initiation of consultation during preconstruction surveys as called for in 
Mitigation Measures 3.4-13. . 

7-7 Tricolored blackbird. SMUD agrees to revise Mitigation Measure 3.4-12 for tricolored 
blackbird per the suggested edits provided by CDFW with the exception of obtaining 
CDFW approval for modifying suitable avoidance buffers from active nests; buffers shall 
be based on the biologist defined appropriate buffer distance and shall be maintained 
until the chicks have fledged and the nests are no longer active, as determined by the 
qualified biologist. The measure now reads as follows (additions noted in underline while 
deletions are noted in strikeout). 

Mitigation Measure 3.4-12 

• Pre-construction Tricolored Blackbird Surveys. Before any ground disturbing 
activities or vegetation clearing that may result in effects on potential habitat for 
tricolored blackbird, a qualified biologist shall conduct a pre-construction survey in 
potentially suitable nesting habitat (i.e., blackberry thickets and cattail marsh) for this 
species in the project footprint and a 1300-foot 500-foot buffer to the project footprint. 
The biologist shall conduct three separate surveys, one each in mid-April, mid-May, 
and mid-June, based on survey methods identified in the Results of the 2017 
Tricolored Blackbird Statewide Survey, Appendix 1. If breeding colonies are found, 
the foraging behavior of the colony shall also be documented. use methods 
consistent with survey protocol used by surveyors for the Western Riverside County 
MSHCP 2018 
https://www.wrcrca.org/species/survey_protocols/2018_Tricolored_Blackbird_ Surve 
y_Protocol.pdf). If an active nesting colony is detected during the surveys CDFW 
shall be consulted to provide any guidance on appropriate avoidance and 
minimization measures in addition to those described below. 

https://www.wrcrca.org/species/survey_protocols/2018_Tricolored_Blackbird_


Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 48 

• Avoidance and Minimization. If any active nests are observed during surveys, a 
qualified biologist shall establish a suitable avoidance (i.e., non-disturbance) buffer 
from the active nest. The buffer distance for tricolored blackbird shall generally be 
1300 feet 500 feet and shall be determined based on factors such as topographic 
features, intensity and extent of the disturbance, timing relative to the nesting cycle, 
and anticipated ground disturbance schedule. Limits of construction shall be 
established in the field with flagging, fencing, or other appropriate barriers to avoid 
active nests. This buffer may be modified in consultation with the qualified biologist. 
The consultation must be documented in writing and include the revised buffer 
distance, along with the rationale and justification for why the reduction is 
appropriate. Appropriate rationale for reducing a buffer may include the presence of 
dense vegetation, Construction limits shall be based on the biologist defined 
appropriate buffer distance and shall be maintained until the chicks have fledged and 
the nests are no longer active, as determined by the qualified biologist. Project 
activities shall avoid occupied Tricolored Blackbird nesting habitat. If tricolored 
blackbird colonies are identified during the breeding season, an approximate buffer 
of up to 500 feet shall be established around the colony, depending on site-specific 
conditions and at the discretion of a qualified biologist in consultation with CDFW. 
Any construction-related activities shall be excluded from the buffer until the end of 
the breeding season. 

• If an active nest is identified within 1,300 feet of the Project area after construction 
has begun, a 1,300-foot no-disturbance buffer will be established, unless 
construction activities are already occurring within that distance. If an active nest is 
established within 1,300 feet while construction activities are ongoing, it is assumed 
the birds have acclimated to the existing disturbance. In such cases, the buffer will 
be reduced to the greater of: (1) the actual distance between the active nest and the 
nearest construction activity, or (2) 500 feet. 

• Once the reduced buffer is established—and prior to any increase in the intensity or 
type of disturbance—a qualified biologist will conduct a minimum of two consecutive 
days of baseline monitoring to document nesting behavior under current conditions. 
If, during baseline monitoring, project activities cause birds to display agitated or 
stress-related behaviors, all work within the buffer will cease, and the buffer distance 
will be reassessed based on what was observed. 

• Based on baseline observations, the qualified biologist will prepare a written 
memorandum summarizing the monitoring results and recommending avoidance and 
minimization measures tailored to varying levels of anticipated construction activity. 
The first day of any increased construction activity within the buffer will be monitored 
by a qualified biologist to verify that the buffer distance and implemented measures 
are effective in avoiding take.  

• Appropriate measures may include an increased no-disturbance buffer with specific 
levels of disturbance, limitations on construction activities that generate substantial 
vibration and/or noise, and/or full-time monitoring by a qualified biologist during 
construction activities conducted near the nest, This buffer may be modified in 
consultation with the qualified biologist with additional written measures such as the 
installation of visual shielding or sound curtains. 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 49 

7-8 Crotch’s bumble bee. Thank you for the recommended mitigation measure. SMUD 
acknowledges the proposed CESA listing for Crotch’s bumble bee (Bombus crotchii) and 
considered this species during the biological resources assessment conducted for the 
EIR (AECOM 2024a). The assessment concluded that the areas proposed for 
construction lack suitable habitat. 

The assessment concluded that the lack of suitable habitat is attributable to long-term 
agricultural use, routine irrigation, and repeated soil disturbance, as well as dense non-
native vegetation in areas designated for solar panel installation and road shoulders 
characterized by altered soils, drainage features, wetlands, and other frequently 
disturbed habitats where the 69 kV lines are proposed. Additionally, further limiting 
suitability for subterranean nesting, the soils report from the Aquatic Resource 
Delineation Report (AECOM 2024b), identified heavy claypan and duripan layers that 
occur across much of the site containing irrigated pasture, cropland, and valley 
grassland with wetland and vernal pools interspersions. 

The segment of the proposed 69 kV alignment along Gerber Road consists of a compact 
dirt road and valley grassland cover at the road shoulders and beyond with portions of 
Frye Creek passing through at two points. Similar to the surrounding area, the valley 
grassland in east of Gerber Road has wetland and vernal pools interspersions scattered 
throughout upland grass habitat. This area was, however, found to lack suitable habitat 
due to the presence of wet,  poorly drained soils.  

In response to this comment provided by CDFW, further assessment of the data 
presented in the Aquatic Resource Delineation and Biological Resource Report was 
conducted. The findings of this assessment determined that, although the segment of 
the proposed 69 kV alignment along Gerber Road consists of grasslands that lack 
ground squirrels, trees, or shrubs and contain numerous wet habitats, the soils in this 
area differ from those in the solar panel installation footprint. Unlike the solar panel 
areas, these soils do not contain the extensive claypan and duripan layers that restrict 
burrow excavation. As a result, the upland portions of this alignment may provide 
comparatively more suitable conditions for burrowing animals and ground nesting 
bumble bees. 

SMUD has determined that minimization measures to the segment of the proposed 69 
kV alignment along Gerber Road are warranted but maintains that the remainder of the 
Project does not contain suitable habitat for B. crotchii. Additionally, the absence of 
mature trees or shrubs in the segment of the proposed 69 kV alignment along Gerber 
Road, still excludes this area’s microhabitat suitability and soil stability found to be 
associated with overwintering queens. 

SMUD will implement avoidance and minimization measures, including preconstruction 
surveys during the colony flight period and/or monitoring if construction begins between 
the queen emergence and colony flight periods, lighting minimization, and consideration 
of coverage under an Incidental Take Permit (ITP) in accordance with CDFW guidance. 

Avoidance and Minimization Measures for Crotch’s Bumble Bee (Bombus crotchii) 

Preconstruction Survey During Colony Flight Period for Crotch’s Bumble Bee 
(Bombus crotchii) 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 50 

To the extent feasible, work will occur between (April 1- September 1).  Preconstruction 
surveys will be conducted to detect the presence of Crotch’s bumble bee and/or active 
nests within a 100-foot buffer around suitable habitat. A minimum of two surveys will be 
conducted, no more than 14 days prior to the start of any ground-disturbing activities or 
vegetation removal in suitable habitat. Annual surveys will be conducted prior to project 
activities involving initial ground disturbance and/or vegetation removal. 

Surveys will be conducted more than two hours after sunrise and at two hours before 
sunset when temperatures are greater than 60°F and less than 90°F, no precipitation, 
and sustained wind speeds are less than 10 mph. 

Survey methods will include floral resource checks, nesting habitat checks, and 
behavioral observations, following CDFW’s Surveys Considerations for CESA Candidate 
Bumble Bees. The survey duration will be scaled to the size of the work area, using the 
metric of approximately one person-hour of searching per three acres of suitable habitat. 
Surveys will consist of visual encounters only, with species identification aided by 
photographs. Surveyors will not capture or handle bumble bees unless authorized by 
CDFW through a Memorandum of Understanding in accordance with Fish and Game 
Code Section 2081(a). 

All Crotch’s bumble bee detections, including nests, will be mapped, photographed, and 
reported to CDFW within 24 hours of confirmation. Surveyors will submit the location of 
the nest, nest substrate, slope, aspect, and distance to nearest foraging habitat, number 
observed; and species or type vegetation visited by the bumble bee. Photographs 
should include the thorax and abdomen, including the last abdominal segment to aid 
identification. 

Biological Monitoring for Work Occurring Prior to the Colony Flight Period 

If construction or ground-disturbing activities are scheduled to occur prior to the colony 
flight period (February 1 to March 31), in addition to the preconstruction surveys, a 
qualified biologist will be present to monitor the initial ground disturbance for bumble 
bees.   

The biological monitor will visually inspect the work area and immediately adjacent 
habitat prior to and during the initial disturbance. If a bumble bee or suspected B. crotchii 
queen is observed, or if a potential nest site is encountered, work will be halted until 
CDFW can be consulted to determine appropriate protective measures. All observations 
will be documented, including photographs and GPS coordinates, and CDFW will be 
notified within 24 hours if B. crotchii is detected. The monitor will provide on-site 
guidance to the construction crew regarding any required avoidance or minimization 
measures before work resumes. 

Lighting Minimization. If feasible, construction or ground-disturbing activities will be 
restricted to daytime hours. If nighttime construction is necessary within 500 feet of B. 
crotchii habitat, nighttime construction-related lighting shall have significant illumination 
pass beyond the construction site, so all nighttime artificial lighting from Covered 
Activities must be limited to the work area and must be directed downward and, to the 
extent feasible, use the fewest safe, yellow, or orange lights of all intensities. 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 51 

If impacts on B. crotchii cannot be avoided during construction activities, an Incidental 
Take Permit (ITP) from CDFW will be required to address potential take during 
construction and O&M activities. 

7-9 Pollinators. The project has been designed to avoid sensitive habitat such as the vernal 
pool grassland at the north end of the southern area. The Project also has further been 
designed to preserve the agricultural use of the site in areas currently under agricultural 
production and the existing Williamson Act contracts for the site will be amended to add 
solar as an allowable use. Specifically, the area under the solar panels will be used for 
grazing during the lifespan of the Project and will be seeded with forage plants. While 
insects are expected to use the areas under the solar panels, attracting native bumble 
bees to the site it not the prime purpose of the plantings. Thus, incorporation of a 
mitigation measure to specifically plant deep rooted native flowers and grasses as 
suggested in the comment is not appropriate. 

7-10 No response is necessary. 

7-11 No response is necessary. 

7-12 No response is necessary. 

  



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 52 

2.8 Letter 8. Defenders of Wildlife, Sophia Markowska, May 2, 2025 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 53 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 54 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 55 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 56 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 57 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 58 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 59 

 
  



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 60 

8-1 No response is necessary. 

8-2 Describing the Project as a permanent conversion of habitat is not accurate. The Oveja 
Ranch Solar Project is being proposed under a fixed-term lease agreement between 
SMUD and the landowner. This lease is for 34 years and 11 months, after which 
SMUD’s rights to the land will terminate. The lease includes an additional 12-month 
period specifically for decommissioning and site restoration. Importantly, there are no 
provisions within the lease for an extension, and the project has been engineered, 
permitted, and economically modeled based on this limited lifespan. 

 There is no intention or plan to repower the project at the end of its useful life (34 years 
and 11 months). The project's financial modeling includes funding for decommissioning, 
and the future project owner/operator (i.e., the Power Purchase Agreement developer) 
will be required to establish financial security for decommissioning activities. This 
financial assurance is intended to ensure that the necessary funds are available to 
remove the project infrastructure and restore the land once the project ends. 

 As such, the DEIR analyzes the project based on this defined life cycle and restoration 
plan, and the project is not considered permanent. While it is acknowledged that 
California’s demand for renewable energy will likely continue to increase, and energy 
projects are often repowered, this specific project has no current planning, permitting, or 
contractual basis for such a scenario. Any decision to repower the facility in the future 
would require a new agreement with the landowners, and the current landowners have 
consistently maintained that they will continue to use the land for agriculture after the 
end of the lease term. 

 Moreover, even in the unlikely event the project were to be repowered, in addition to 
negotiating and executing a new lease, SMUD would need to conduct a new 
environmental review under CEQA and potentially obtain new land use entitlements and 
permits. There is currently no plan or indication that SMUD or any other developer would 
pursue such an option, or that the landowner would support continued solar 
development on the site. Such, speculative future actions, such as repowering, are not 
considered “reasonably foreseeable” under CEQA and therefore are not included in the 
scope of analysis in this DEIR. This approach is consistent with CEQA Guidelines, which 
direct lead agencies to evaluate a project based on its proposed and defined activities, 
not on hypothetical future scenarios. 

 The decommissioning and site restoration process itself will be addressed in a separate, 
project-specific decommissioning plan closer to the end of the project’s operational term. 
However, the land lease includes provisions for documenting existing baseline 
conditions, including vegetation, soil health, and other resources, to guide future 
restoration efforts. This ensures that when the project is decommissioned, the site can 
be restored as closely as feasible to its pre-project condition. 

 Regarding your concern about the impacts being permanent: even though the project is 
not classified as permanent, the mitigation measures in the DEIR already conservatively 

Letter 
8 

Response 

  
Sophia Markowska, Defenders of Wildlife 
May 2, 2025 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 61 

assume long-term or permanent impacts for the purposes of resource protection and 
compliance. For example, impacts to agricultural resources, biological resources, and 
visual resources are analyzed as if the solar facility will be present for the full lease term 
and potentially beyond. Thus, the level of impact assessment and mitigation provided in 
the DEIR remains appropriate and protective, even under the assumption of a longer-
term presence. 

 In conclusion, the DEIR correctly characterizes the project as a fixed-term solar facility 
with a defined decommissioning and restoration plan, and any future land use changes 
or redevelopment proposals—including repowering—would be subject to separate 
CEQA review and new agreements with the landowner. No revisions are necessary. 

8-3 The studies requested by the commenter have been provided by SMUD.  

8-4 The Draft EIR and supporting biological resources report provide all documentation 
necessary to support the analysis. Where potential habitat for special-status species is 
present, and the habitat may be impacted by project development, the Draft EIR 
acknowledges and quantifies these potential impacts and provides appropriate steps 
such as surveys, refinement of impacts, avoidance and minimization, and mitigation, as 
appropriate. Some special-status species surveys have been conducted since 
publication of the Draft EIR or are currently underway. CDFW participated in the scoping 
process and also provided comments on the Draft EIR. Please refer to letter 7 regarding 
the species CDFW commented on, and the responses provided by SMUD, including 
minor revisions to specific avoidance and minimization measures, as recommended by 
CDFW. No further revisions are necessary.  

8-5 As described in the Draft EIR and shown in the maps contained in the biological 
resources section, the project has been designed to avoid vernal pools and the 
surrounding grasslands and the Draft EIR includes further measures to protect vernal 
pools species from indirect impacts. Thus, no vernal pool impacts will occur and no 
compensatory measures or mitigation ratios are necessary. 

8-6 CDFW commented on proposed mitigation measures for Swainson’s hawk (see 
comment 7-6), but did not request revisions to the survey methodology stated in the 
Draft EIR. Therefore, no revisions are necessary. 

8-7 CDFW did not comment on proposed mitigation ratios for Sanford’s arrowhead. The 
documented population of Sanford’s arrowhead will not be impacted by the project. 
Focused surveys for Sanford’s arrowhead will be conducted where Project development 
may affect suitable habitat and these areas are extremely limited. No impacts to 
Sanford’s arrowhead are anticipated. No revisions are necessary. 

8-8 CDFW commented on the proposed mitigation measures for Western spadefoot, and 
Mitigation Measure 3.4-5 has been revised to include suggested edits from CDFW. 
Please see response to comment 7-3. 

8-9 CDFW commented on the proposed mitigation measures for giant garter snake, and 
Mitigation Measure 3.4-8 has been revised to include suggested edits from CDFW. 
Please see response to comment 7-4. 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 62 

8-10 CDFW commented on the proposed mitigation measures for tricolored blackbird, and 
Mitigation Measure 3.4-12 has been revised to include suggested edits from CDFW. 
Please see response to comment 7-7. 

8-11 CDFW commented on the proposed mitigation measures for burrowing owl, and 
Mitigation Measure 3.4-10 has been revised to include some of the edits suggested by 
CDFW. SMUD will obtain an ITP for the Project for burrowing owl. Please see response 
to comment 7-5. We respectfully disagree that solar fields are a permanent conversion 
of foraging habitat for burrowing owl and CDFW does not take that position either. 

8-12 Please see response to comment 7-5. 

8-13 Please see response to comment 7-6. No revisions are necessary. The Draft EIR does 
not state that the project will “adhere” to the SSHCP. The Draft EIR considers the goals 
of the SSHCP, and the Project aims to ensure avoidance of adverse effects that would 
keep the participating entities from achieving the SSHCP conservation goals. The 
project is not a covered activity and not subject to the SSHCP measures. 

8-14 The comment states the birds may be attracted to reflected polarized light from the 
Project solar panels as part of a hypothesis known as the “lake effect” and wants 
additional information how birds will not mistake the solar panels for water despite the 
Project’s proximity to the creek and connecting watershed and how the remaining 
wetlands and pond would alleviate any “lake effect” or collision concerns. 

 As discussed in the impact discussion for Impact 3.4-10 in the Draft EIR, studies have 
shown that some solar facilities may attract birds, which can result in birds flying into 
solar panels, resulting in injury or mortality. Kagen et al. (2014) hypothesized that water-
dependent species (loons, grebes, rails, coots, shorebirds, waterbirds, and waterfowl) 
may be vulnerable to collisions at PV facilities because of the potential for them to 
confuse solar arrays for bodies of water (the lake effect hypothesis). However, due to the 
limited and inconsistent dataset (i.e., six studies of incidental and systematic 
observations), Walston et al (2015) concluded that it was too speculative to make any 
conclusions about the influence of lake effect fatality on water-dependent birds. 

 Based on the studies conducted on this topic and the fact that the wetlands and pond 
would not be modified within the project footprint and immediately adjacent to the 
project, it is considered unlikely that the project would result in substantial fatalities of 
waterfowl or other water dependent birds due to collisions with solar panels. Nor would 
the presence of solar panels interfere substantially with the movement of waterfowl and 
other migratory birds. Therefore, this impact is less than significant. 

 Also as discussed in the Draft EIR there is only limited and inconclusive evidence that 
birds consistently confuse solar panels with lakes. The “lake effect” has been observed 
particularly in desert regions where natural water sources are scarce. The proposed 
project is not located in a desert region and natural water sources (wetlands and pond) 
will remain within the project footprint and immediately adjacent to the project.  

 A 2021 study of five solar facilities in the Southwest compared bird use and bird fatalities 
to adjacent reference sites without solar panels (Rapp 2021). The study observed higher 
bird diversity at a real lake than at the solar or reference sites, but no clear differences 
between the solar and non-solar reference sites. One of the solar facilities and its 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 63 

reference site were located near agricultural land and the study found an increased 
presence of aquatic birds in the agricultural area due to various aquatic features like 
canals for them to use in these areas. In the solar facility near agricultural land, they 
found five dead birds and six dead birds at the agricultural land reference site. The study 
concluded there was limited evidence of attraction of aquatic habitat birds to the solar 
facility sites. This study suggests that real water sources may reduce, not enhance, the 
likelihood of birds mistaking panels for water and implies that providing alternative, 
natural water features near solar farms could potentially redirect birds away from panels, 
though more targeted research is needed to confirm this effect (Rapp 2021). 

 The California Energy Commission’s 2024 report ‘Investigating the “lake effect” Influence 
of Avian Behavior from California’s Utility-Scale Photovoltaic Solar Facilities’ found the 
evidence is inconclusive whether birds change flight direction toward solar facilities, 
made no direct observations of any bird deaths caused by a solar facility, and that 
evidence was not sufficient to confirm or reject the hypothesis (California Energy 
Commission 2024). The study suggested that the hypothesis may be more appliable in 
desert landscapes without nearby waterbodies. In addition, it noted that solar sites don’t 
substitute for real lakes, natural and artificial water bodies had 25-800 times greater bird 
diversity and abundance than solar facilities and only solar facilities in desert and 
grassland had bird fatalities reinforcing that solar sites are not equivalent attractors to 
real lakes. The study found that in agricultural settings with irrigation create background 
conditions that attract water-associated birds regardless of solar facilities. As result, 
solar attraction signals are less distinct, and mortality rates inside and outside solar sites 
can be similar, reducing the clarity of the lake effect mechanism. Therefore, the study 
could not conclusively attribute bird mortality patterns to solar panel attraction rather 
than to the regional presence of birds (California Energy Commission 2024). This 
nuance underscores the importance of context - location, irrigation, habitat type - when 
assessing the lake effect hypothesis. 

 Overall, the level of impact to avian species from construction and operation of the 
proposed project, with implementation of Mitigation Measures 3.4-1, 3.4-10, 3.4-11, 3.4-
12, 3.4-13. 3.4-14, 3.4-16 would be considered less than significant, as described in the 
Draft EIR. Mitigation Measure 3.4-11 includes a provision that dead or wounded special-
status birds found from any cause of fatality or injury during project operation are 
reported to CDFW.  

 The analysis of potential lake effects in the Draft EIR is adequate. Based on the 
description above, revisions to the EIR are not necessary to clarify the conclusions.  

8-15 The cumulative impacts analysis presented in the Draft EIR is adequate, and the 
requested analysis is beyond what is required by CEQA. No revisions are necessary. 

8-16 No revisions are necessary. Defenders will be notified of the availability of the Final EIR, 
along with all other comments. 

 
 



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

   Page 64 

3.0 CORRECTIONS AND REVISIONS TO THE DRAFT EIR 
This chapter contains changes to the text of the Draft EIR in response to certain comments. 
These changes are generally referenced in the responses to comments in Chapter 2, or are 
provided to be consistent with changes referenced in Chapter 2. The changes are presented in 
the order in which they appear in the Draft EIR and are identified by Draft EIR page number. 
Text deletions are shown in strikeout (strikeout) and additions are shown in underline 
(underline). The changes identified below do not alter the conclusions of the EIR with respect to 
any of the significant impacts of the project and do not necessitate recirculation of the Draft EIR. 

3.1 Revisions to Maximum Daily Construction-Related and 
Operational Emissions of Criteria Air Pollutants and Precursors 

The following table on page 3.3-29 was edited as follows:  

Table 3.3-7. Summary of Maximum Unmitigated Daily and Annual Construction-Related 
Emissions of Criteria Air Pollutants and Precursors 

Description 
ROG 

(lbs/day) 
NOX 

(lbs/day) 
PM10 a 

(lbs/day) 
PM2.5

 a 

(lbs/day) 
PM10 a 

(tons/year) 
PM2.5 a 

(tons/year) 
Construction Emissions  85.4 320.3 62.6 77.0 20.9 7.8 1.7 

SMAQMD Threshold of 
Significance 

N/A 85 80 82 14.6 15 

Threshold Exceeded? N/A Yes No No No No 
Notes: NOX = oxides of nitrogen; PM10 = respirable particulate matter; PM2.5 = fine particulate matter; lbs = pounds; 
ROG = reactive organic gases; SMAQMD = Sacramento Metropolitan Air Quality Management District. 
a Fugitive dust emissions include implementation of fugitive dust BMPs consistent with SMAQMD Rule 403 

requirements (watering 2x daily and limiting vehicle speeds on unpaved roads to 15 miles per hour). 

The following table on page 3.3-30 was edited as follows:  

Table 3.3-8. Summary of Unmitigated Maximum Daily and Annual Operational Emissions 
of Criteria Air Pollutants and Precursors 

Emissions Source 
ROG 

(lbs/day) 
NOX 

(lbs/day) 
PM10 a 

(lbs/day) 
PM2.5

 a 

(lbs/day) 
PM10 a 

(tons/year) 
PM2.5 a 

(tons/year) 
Emissionsb 2.3 10.5 0.6 0.5 0.01 

0.02 
0.005 
0.01 

SMAQMD Threshold of 
Significance 

65 65 80 82 14.6 15 

Threshold Exceeded? No No No No No No 
Notes: lbs = pounds; NOX = oxides of nitrogen; PM10 = respirable particulate matter; PM2.5 = fine particulate matter; 
ROG = reactive organic gases; SMAQMD = Sacramento Metropolitan Air Quality Management District. 
a Fugitive dust emissions include implementation of fugitive dust BMPs consistent with SMAQMD Rule 403 

requirements (watering 2x daily and limiting vehicle speeds on unpaved roads to 15 miles per hour). 
b Maximum daily emissions conservatively assume operation of two emergency generators for 24 hours per day, 

which would be anticipated to occur infrequently. Actual anticipated operation of the emergency generators would 
be limited to a few hours intermittently throughout the year for testing and maintenance activities or in the event of 
power outages. 



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

   Page 65 

In addition, as shown in the tables below, Appendix AQ-1 was updated to present unmitigated 
and mitigated construction equipment and vehicle emissions to additional decimal places. 

 

3.2 Revisions to Air Quality Mitigation Measure 3.3-1e  

The following revision has been made to Mitigation Measure 3.3-1e. Implement Best 
Management Practices for Reducing Operational PM Emissions on page 3.3-24 as follows:  

• As part of the PV facility operations and maintenance contract bid package, SMUD shall 
include the following best management practice requirements for fugitive dust control 
during operational and maintenance activities associated with the project:   

• Limit vehicle speeds on unpaved roads to 15 mph.  

• Minimize idling time either by shutting equipment off when not in use or reducing the 
time of idling to 5 minutes [California Code of Regulations, Title 13, sections 2449(d)(3) 
and 2485]. Provide clear signage that posts this requirement for workers at the 
entrances to the site. Limit vehicle speeds on unpaved roads to 15 mph.  

• Minimize idling time either by shutting equipment off when not in use or reducing the 
time of idling to 5 minutes [California Code of Regulations, Title 13, sections 2449(d)(3) 
and 2485]. Provide clear signage that posts this requirement for workers at the 
entrances to the site 

3.3 Revisions to Biological Resources Mitigation Measure 3.4-5  

The following revision has been made to Mitigation Measure 3.4-5. Avoid impacts to Western 
Spadefoot during Construction on page 3.4-47 as follows:  

Prior to any ground disturbance activity (e.g., grading, disking, road construction, or 
similar activities that could entomb or excavate spadefoot in grassland habitat near 
vernal pools) in the overhead collector line and distribution line corridors, a qualified 
biologist shall survey the project footprint prior to the onset of work for Western 
spadefoot. The qualified biologist shall identify burrows potentially suitable for Western 
spadefoot and mark a 50-foot non-disturbance buffer around any burrows mapped. 
Ground disturbance in these buffer areas shall be avoided, if feasible. If ground 
disturbance would be required within the 50-foot buffer, activities shall be limited to the 
minimum footprint necessary and shall be monitored by an onsite qualified biologist, who 
would be either on-call or onsite, as appropriate to guide activities within the buffer to 
reduce impacts. Ground disturbing activities within suitable Western spadefoot breeding 



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

   Page 66 

habitat will be limited during their active period (typically between October and May) to 
the extent possible.  

The qualified biologist shall inform construction personnel to stop construction activities if 
a Western spadefoot is observed or if, in the biologist’s opinion, maintenance activities 
threaten to cause adverse effects to Western spadefoot. If it is determined that Western 
spadefoot would be potentially harmed by construction, a qualified biologist with the 
appropriate handling permits may relocate animals to suitable habitats outside the 
project footprint. A relocation report will be submitted to SMUD within 48 hours after the 
species has been relocated. 

3.4  Revisions to Biological Resources Mitigation Measure 3.4-8 

The following revision has been made to Mitigation Measure 3.4-8 Conduct Pre-construction 
Surveys for Giant Garter Snake and Implement Avoidance and Minimization Measures on 
pages 3.4-51 and 3.4-52 as follows:  

Project ground-disturbing activities in aquatic habitat and adjacent upland habitat within 
200 feet of suitable aquatic habitat (perennial drainages and agricultural ditches 
carrying year-round water) shall be conducted during the giant garter snake’s active 
season (i.e., after May 1 and before October 1), to the extent feasible. During this 
period, the potential for direct mortality is reduced, because snakes are expected to 
mainly occupy aquatic habitat and to actively move and avoid danger. If project 
activities in upland habitat occur within 200 feet of suitable aquatic habitat must be 
started outside of the snake’s active season (May 1 to October 1), the following 
mitigation measures must be implemented: 

• Within 24-hours prior to commencement of construction activities within 200 feet of 
potential giant garter snake habitat (perennial streams and agricultural ditches that 
carry year-round water), the site shall be inspected by a qualified biologist who is 
approved by SMUD. the CDFW and USFWS. Results of this clearance survey shall 
be reported in memo shared with SMUD and construction should only commence 
after a negative inspection report. If construction activities are delayed or stop for a 
period of two weeks or more, another pre-construction clearance survey shall be 
conducted within 24 hours before resuming construction activity. If snakes, or 
evidence of snakes, are encountered during pre-construction surveys, a biological 
monitor shall be present during the commencement of construction activities in 
upland habitat within 200 feet of suitable aquatic habitat during all ground disturbing 
activities. the non-active season. If any snakes are observed in uplands near 
drainages during the active season, project activity shall be halted and the snakes 
shall be allowed to leave the area on their own. 

If take of GGS individuals cannot be avoided during the active or dormant seasons, an 
Incidental Take Permit (ITP) shall be obtained from CDFW for construction and O&M 
activities. 



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

   Page 67 

3.5 Revisions to Biological Resources Mitigation Measure 3.4-10 

The following revision has been made to Mitigation Measure 3.4-10 Conduct Pre-construction 
Surveys for Western Burrowing Owl and Implement Avoidance and Minimization Measures on 
pages 3.4-54 through 3.4-56 as follows:  

If a burrowing owl or evidence of presence at or near a burrow entrance is found to 
occur within 500 feet of the project site, the following measures shall be implemented:  

o If burrowing owls are found during the breeding season (approximately February 
1 to August 31), the project applicant shall:  

 Avoid all nest sites that could be disturbed by project construction during 
the remainder of the breeding season or while the nest is occupied by 
adults or young (occupation includes individuals or family groups foraging 
on or near the site following fledging). 

 Establish a minimum 500-foot, up to 1,650-foot non-disturbance buffer 
zone around nests, consistent with CDFW’s 2012 Staff Report guidelines. 
The buffer zone shall be flagged or otherwise clearly marked. Should 
construction activities cause the nesting bird to vocalize, make defensive 
flights at intruders, or otherwise display agitated behavior, then the 
exclusionary buffer shall be increased such that activities are far enough 
from the nest so that the bird(s) no longer display this agitated behavior. 
The exclusionary buffer shall remain in place until the chicks have fledged 
or as otherwise determined by a qualified biologist. 

 Construction may occur only outside of the 500-foot buffer zone during 
the breeding season and only if a qualified biologist monitors the nest and 
determines that the activities will not disturb nesting behavior, or the birds 
have not begun egg-laying and incubation, or that the juveniles from the 
occupied burrows have fledged and moved off site. Measures such as 
visual screens may be used to further reduce the buffer with CDFW 
approval and provided a biological monitor confirms that such measures 
do not agitate the owls. o  

o If burrowing owls are found during the non-breeding season (approximately 
September 1 to January 31), the project applicant shall establish a minimum of 
165-foot 160-foot, up to 1,650-foot no-disturbance buffer zone around active 
burrows consistent with CDFW’s 2012 Staff Report guidelines. The buffer zone 
shall be flagged or otherwise clearly marked. Measures such as visual screens 
may be used to further reduce the buffer with CDFW approval and provided a 
biological monitor confirms that such measures do not agitate the owls.  

o During the non-breeding season only, if a project cannot avoid occupied burrows 
after all alternative avoidance and minimization measures are exhausted, as 
confirmed by CDFW, project applicant shall obtain an Incidental Take Permit 
(ITP) for the project. A burrowing owl exclusion plan must be developed by a 
qualified biologist consistent with the most recent guidelines from CDFW (e.g., 
California Department of Fish and Game 2012) and submitted to and approved 



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

   Page 68 

by CDFW along with the ITP application. Burrow exclusion may not be conducted 
for burrows located in the project footprint and within a 160-foot buffer zone until 
the ITP is obtained. All ITP conditions must be followed when excluding owls. 

o If take of burrowing owl individuals cannot be avoided during the breeding or 
non-breeding season, an Incidental Take Permit (ITP) shall be obtained from 
CDFW for construction and O&M activities. 

3.6 Revisions to Biological Resources Mitigation Measure 3.4-12 

The following revision has been made to Mitigation Measure 3.4-12 Conduct Focused Pre-
Construction Surveys for Nesting Tricolored Blackbird and Avoid Impacts During Construction 
on pages 3.4-59 to 3.4-60 as follows:  

• Pre-construction Tricolored Blackbird Surveys. Before any ground disturbing 
activities or vegetation clearing that may result in effects on potential habitat for 
tricolored bBlackbird, a qualified biologist shall conduct a pre-construction survey in 
potentially suitable nesting habitat (i.e., blackberry thickets and cattail marsh) for this 
species in the project footprint and a 1,300-foot 500-foot buffer to the project footprint. 
The biologist shall conduct three separate surveys, one each in mid-April, mid-May, and 
mid-June, based on survey methods identified in the Results of the 2017 Tricolored 
Blackbird Statewide Survey, Appendix 1. If breeding colonies are found, the foraging 
behavior of the colony shall also be documented. use methods consistent with survey 
protocol used by surveyors for the Western Riverside County MSHCP 2018 
https://www.wrcrca.org/species/survey_ 
protocols/2018_Tricolored_Blackbird_Survey_Protocol.pdf). If an active nesting colony is 
detected during the surveys CDFW shall be consulted to provide any guidance on 
appropriate avoidance and minimization measures in addition to those described below. 

• Avoidance and Minimization. If any active nests are observed during surveys, a 
qualified biologist shall establish a suitable avoidance (i.e., non-disturbance) buffer from 
the active nest. The buffer distance for tricolored blackbird shall generally be 1300 feet 
500 feet and shall be determined based on factors such as topographic features, 
intensity and extent of the disturbance, timing relative to the nesting cycle, and 
anticipated ground disturbance schedule. Limits of construction shall be established in 
the field with flagging, fencing, or other appropriate barriers to avoid active nests. This 
buffer may be modified in consultation with the qualified biologist. The consultation must 
be documented in writing and include the revised buffer distance, along with the 
rationale and justification for why the reduction is appropriate. Appropriate rationale for 
reducing a buffer may include the presence of dense vegetation, Construction limits shall 
be based on the biologist defined appropriate buffer distance and shall be maintained 
until the chicks have fledged and the nests are no longer active, as determined by the 
qualified biologist. Project activities shall avoid occupied Tricolored Blackbird nesting 
habitat. If tricolored blackbird colonies are identified during the breeding season, an 
approximate buffer of up to 500 feet shall be established around the colony, depending 
on site-specific conditions and at the discretion of a qualified biologist in consultation 
with CDFW. Any construction-related activities shall be excluded from the buffer until the 
end of the breeding season. 

https://www.wrcrca.org/species/survey_


 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

   Page 69 

• If an active nest is identified within 1,300 feet of the Project area after construction has 
begun, a 1,300-foot no-disturbance buffer will be established, unless construction 
activities are already occurring within that distance. If an active nest is established within 
1,300 feet while construction activities are ongoing, it is assumed the birds have 
acclimated to the existing disturbance. In such cases, the buffer will be reduced to the 
greater of: (1) the actual distance between the active nest and the nearest construction 
activity, or (2) 500 feet. 

• Once the reduced buffer is established—and prior to any increase in the intensity or type 
of disturbance—a qualified biologist will conduct a minimum of two consecutive days of 
baseline monitoring to document nesting behavior under current conditions. If, during 
baseline monitoring, project activities cause birds to display agitated or stress-related 
behaviors, all work within the buffer will cease, and the buffer distance will be 
reassessed based on what was observed. 

• Based on baseline observations, the qualified biologist will prepare a written 
memorandum summarizing the monitoring results and recommending avoidance and 
minimization measures tailored to varying levels of anticipated construction activity. The 
first day of any increased construction activity within the buffer will be monitored by a 
qualified biologist to verify that the buffer distance and implemented measures are 
effective in avoiding take.  

• Appropriate measures may include an increased no-disturbance buffer with specific 
levels of disturbance, limitations on construction activities that generate substantial 
vibration and/or noise, and/or full-time monitoring by a qualified biologist during 
construction activities conducted near the nest, This buffer may be modified in 
consultation with the qualified biologist with additional written measures such as the 
installation of visual shielding or sound curtains. 

3.7 Revisions to Biological Resource Mitigation Measure 3.4-14 

The following revision has been made to Mitigation Measure 3.4-14 Compensate for the Loss of 
Swainson’s Hawk Foraging Habitat on pages 3.4-63 through 3.4-64 as follows:  

o Foraging habitat permanently lost within 5 miles of an active Swainson’s 
hawk nest tree but more than one mile from the nest tree shall be replaced 
with 1.0 acre 0.75 acre of mitigation land for each acre of foraging habitat 
permanetly lost because of project construction (1:1 ratio). (0.75:1 ratio). 
Permanent loss resulting from the project includes the approximately 4.1 acre 
footprint of the BESS, substation, and roads. The nearest location relative to 
this area shall be confirmed prior to initiation of consultation during 
precontruction surveys as called for in Mitigaiton Measure 3.4-13.  

o Foraging habitat permanently lost for nests that are within one mile of the 
project site be mitigated at a 1:1 ratio. Permanent loss resulting from the 
project includes the approximatley 4.1-acre footprint of the BESS, substation, 
and roads. The nearest location relative to this area shall be confirmed prior 
to initiation of consultation during preconstruction surveys as called for in 
Mitigation Measures 3.4-13.  



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

   Page 70 

3.8 Revisions to Tribal Cultural Resources Mitigation Measure 3.18-1 

The following revision has been made to Mitigation Measure 3.18-1 Inadvertent/Unanticipated 
TCR Discoveries on pages 3.18-10 and 3.18-11 as follows:  

Worker Environmental Awareness Program (WEAP): 

SMUD shall prepare a Worker Environmental Awareness Program (WEAP) that shall 
educate staff regarding archaeological sensitivity and the potential presence of tribal 
cultural resources. This WEAP shall include tribal cultural resources avoidance and 
minimization measures/mitigation measures from the project’s CEQA Mitigation 
Monitoring and Reporting Program (MMRP). The WEAP shall provide specific details 
on the kinds of Tribal cultural resources that may be identified during construction of the 
project and explain the protocol for treatment in the event of an unanticipated discovery, 
including the legal implications of violating applicable laws and regulations. The WEAP 
can be provided in the form of a handout and/or video presentation. All staff working 
onsite shall attend the WEAP training prior to commencing onsite work. Staff that attend 
the training shall fill out a sign-in sheet indicating that they completed the training.  

Discovery Procedure: 

If any suspected TCRs or resources of cultural significance to UAIC, including but not 
limited to features, anthropogenic/cultural soils, cultural belongings or objects (artifacts), 
shell, bone, shaped stones or bone, or ash/charcoal deposits are discovered by any 
person during construction activities including ground disturbing activities, all work shall 
pause immediately within 100 feet of the find, or an agreed upon distance based on the 
project area and nature of the find. Work shall cease in and within the immediate vicinity 
of the find regardless of whether the construction is being actively monitored by a Tribal 
Monitor, cultural resources specialist, or professional archaeologist. A Tribal 
Representative and SMUD shall be immediately notified, and the Tribal Representative 
in coordination with the SMUD shall determine if the find is a TCR (PRC Section 21074) 
and the Tribal Representative shall make recommendations for further evaluation and 
treatment as necessary. 

3.9 Revisions to Description of an LTA 

The following paragraph on page 3.17-7 was edited as follows: 

Up to 64 daily construction-related truck trips for delivery of materials and 
hauling would be spread over an eight-hour workday during the peak period of 
construction in terms of trip generation, which is during the site preparation 
phase. In addition, a maximum of 263 worker trips would occur during the a.m. 
and p.m. hours before and after each workday during the peak construction 
phase, resulting in a total of up to 654 daily vehicle and truck trips added each 
day to local roadways during the peak trip-generating phase of construction. If 
the equipment and material delivery and haul trips are spread evenly across an 
eight-hour workday, and the worker commute trips occur during the first and last 
hour of the eight-hour workday, the peak hourly trip generation would be 
approximately 483. It is assumed that the worker trips will be distributed along 



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

   Page 71 

area roadways. A more detailed, focused Local Transportation Analysis (LTA) is 
required only when a project’s final use is expected to generate greater than 
1,000 daily trips or 100 peak hour trips. However, an LTA is not required for 
project-related construction traffic. Therefore, because the number of daily and 
peak trips is below the threshold, an LTA is not required for this project. and the 
volume on any single roadway segment will fall below 100 peak hour vehicle 
trip-ends, thereby avoiding the need for a more detailed, focused Local 
Transportation Analysis (LTA) based on this threshold beyond what is provided 
in this analysis. Furthermore, work hours during the construction season would 
likely be longer than 8 hours to make maximum use of each workday, thus 
worker arrival and departure would likely typically occur before and after main 
commuter hours 

3.10 Revisions to Description of Coordination with Southgate 
Recreation & Park District 

The following paragraph on page 3.16-3 was edited as follows: 

During scoping, the Southgate Recreation and Park District provided a comment 
letter that indicated their long-term plans to construct bicycle and pedestrian 
trails along the Laguna Creek corridor. Additional details about this project were 
not available online, and SMUD attempted to reach out to the Southgate 
Recreation and Park District for more information. In late January 2025, SMUD 
and the Southgate Recreation and Park District staff met and exchanged 
information about existing easements east of Excelsior Road and along the 
Gerber Road right-of-way. The Southgate Recreation and Park District 
expressed a desire for a future trail alignment northeast of Excelsior Road and 
possibly aligning with the Gerber Road right-of-way. The precise alignment for 
the trail is not yet determined and will be driven by the Southgate Recreation 
and Park District with consideration of physical, environmental, and other 
constraints and the involvement of the community and property owners. SMUD 
will take any information obtained in coordination with the District into account 
when designing the powerline crossings of Laguna Creek to ensure the plans for 
bicycle and pedestrian trails in the Laguna Creek corridor are not adversely 
affected by the project. Therefore, no impact would occur. 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

  Page 72 

4.0 MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM 
This mitigation monitoring and reporting program (MMRP) summarizes the mitigation measures, 
implementation schedule, and responsible parties for monitoring the mitigation measures 
required of the proposed Oveja Ranch Solar Project, as set forth in the EIR prepared for the 
project.  

Section 21081.6 of the California Public Resources Code and Section 15091(d) and Section 
15097 of the State CEQA Guidelines require public agencies “to adopt a reporting or monitoring 
program for changes to the project which it has adopted or made conditions of project approval 
to mitigate or avoid significant effects on the environment.” A MMRP is required for the project 
because the EIR for the project identified potentially significant adverse impacts related to 
construction and operation of the project, and mitigation measures have been identified to 
reduce most of those impacts to a less-than-significant-level. 

This MMRP will be adopted by SMUD if it approves the project and will be kept on file at 
SMUD’s Headquarters Building at 6201 S Street, Sacramento, CA 95817. SMUD will use this 
MMRP to ensure that identified mitigation measures, adopted as a condition of project approval, 
are implemented appropriately. 

4.1 Mitigation Implementation and Monitoring 

SMUD shall be responsible for monitoring the implementation of mitigation measures designed 
to minimize impacts associated with the project. Allthough SMUD shall have ultimate 
responsibility for ensuring implementation, others may be assigned the responsibility of actually 
implementing the mitigation. SMUD shall retain the primary responsibility for ensuring that the 
project meets the requirements of this MMRP and other permit conditions imposed by 
participating regulatory agencies. 

SMUD shall designate specific personnel who will be responsible for monitoring implementation 
of the mitigation that will occur during project construction. The designated personnel will be 
responsible for submitting documentation and reports to SMUD on a schedule consistent with 
the mitigation measure and in a manner necessary for demonstrating compliance with mitigation 
requirements. SMUD shall ensure that the designated personnel have authority to require 
implementation of mitigation requirements and shall be capable of terminating project 
construction activities found to be inconsistent with mitigation objectives or project approval 
conditions. 

SMUD and its appointed contractor also shall be responsible for ensuring that its construction 
personnel understand their responsibilities for adhering to the performance requirements of the 
mitigation plan and other contractual requirements related to the implementation of mitigation as 
part of project construction. In addition to the prescribed mitigation measures, Table 4-1 lists 
each identified environmental resource being affected (in the same order and using the same 
numbering system as in the EIR), the associated CEQA checklist question (used as the 
thresholds of significance in the EIR), the corresponding monitoring and reporting requirement, 
the party responsible for ensuring implementation of the mitigation measure and monitoring 
effort, and the project component to which the mitigation measure applies. 

If an issue addressed in the EIR does not result in mitigation, it is not included in the table. 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

  Page 73 

4.2 Mitigation Enforcement 

SMUD shall be responsible for enforcing mitigation measures. If alternative measures are 
identified that would be equally effective in mitigating the identified impacts, implementation of 
these alternative measures will not occur until agreed on by SMUD. 

4.3 Reporting 

SMUD shall, or may require the developer to, prepare a monitoring report on completion of the 
project describing the compliance of the activity with the required mitigation measures. 
Information regarding inspections and other requirements will be compiled and explained in the 
report. The report will be designed to simply and clearly identify whether mitigation measures 
have been adequately implemented. At a minimum, each report will identify the mitigation 
measures or conditions to be monitored for implementation, whether compliance with the 
mitigation measures or conditions has occurred, the procedures used to assess compliance, 
and whether further action is required. The report will be presented to SMUD’s Board of 
Directors. 

4.4 Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program Table 

The categories identified in Table 4-1 are described below. 

CEQA Issue Area – This column identifies which CEQA issue area the mitigation measure is 
attributed to in the EIR. 

Impacts – This column provides the potential impacts summary.  

Mitigation Measures – This column provides the verbatim text of the adopted mitigation 
measure. 

Implementation Duration – This column identifies when the mitigation measure will be 
implemented (e.g., before construction, during construction, during operations-maintenance, 
during decommissioning). 

Monitoring Duration – This column identifies the period within which monitoring will be 
conducted.  

Responsibility – This column identifies the party(ies) responsible for implementation and/or 
enforcing compliance with the requirements of the mitigation measure. 

Applicable Project Component – This column identifies with what component or under what 
conditions the mitigation measure will be implemented (e.g., all project components, project 
components during construction, project components during operations and maintenance, 
construction near sensitive habitat, decommissioning). 

 



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 74 

Table 4-1. Summary of Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

CEQA  
Issue Area Impacts Mitigation Measures 

Implementation 
Duration 

Monitoring 
Duration Implementation Monitoring 

Applicable 
Project 

Component 
Agriculture and 
Forestry 
Resources 

Impact 3.2-1. Convert 
Prime Farmland, Unique 
Farmland, or Farmland of 
Statewide Importance 
(Farmland), as shown on 
the maps prepared pursuant 
to the FMMP of the 
California Resources 
Agency, to non-agricultural 
use   

Mitigation Measure 3.2-1. Preserve Farmland of Statewide Importance   
 SMUD shall compensate for the loss of 3.8 acres of Farmland of Statewide Importance by preserving 

land of the same designation at a 1:1 ratio (i.e., 1 acre on which easements are acquired to 1 acre of 
Farmland of Statewide Importance removed from agricultural use). SMUD shall acquire agricultural 
conservation easement(s) that provide in-kind resource value protection in the region, with a strong 
preference for locating the agricultural conservation easement(s) in Sacramento County. This can be 
achieved by the acquisition of conservation easement(s), farmland deed restriction, or other 
appropriate farmland conservation mechanism to ensure the preservation of the land in perpetuity.  

 The impact acreage requiring offset shall be based on the most current FMMP at the time of Sacramento 
County’s approval of the Williamson Act contract amendment.   

If Farmland of 
Statewide Importance 
is impacted as 
described in the MM, 
appropriate farmland 
conservation shall be 
provided.  

Before construction SMUD SMUD Construction 
activities that 
result in Farmland 
of Statewide 
Importance 
conversion 

Air Quality Impact 3.3-1. Conflicts with 
the applicable air quality 
plan.  

Mitigation Measure 3.3-1a. Implement Basic Construction Emission Control Practices (Best 
Management Practices) and Enhanced Fugitive PM Dust Control Practices during Construction   
 SMUD shall include as a condition of the construction bidding, incorporation of dust control measures that 

shall include, at a minimum, the requirements of SMAQMD Rule 403. All fugitive dust control measures 
shall be shown on grading, improvement, and demolition plans, to be initiated at the start and maintained 
throughout the duration of the construction activities.  
o Water all exposed active work areas two times daily, or with adequate frequency for continued moist soil. 

Exposed surfaces include, but are not limited to soil piles, graded areas, unpaved parking areas, staging 
areas, and access roads. However, do not overwater to the extent that sediment flows off the site.  

o Cover or maintain at least two feet of free board space on haul trucks transporting soil, sand, or other 
loose material on the site. Any haul trucks that would be traveling along freeways or major roadways 
should be covered.   

o Use wet power vacuum street sweepers to remove any visible trackout mud or dirt onto adjacent public 
roads at least once a day. Use of dry power sweeping is prohibited.  

o Limit vehicle speeds on unpaved roads to 15 miles per hour (mph).  
o Suspend excavation, grading, and/or demolition activity when average wind speeds exceed 20 mph.  
o All roadways, driveways, sidewalks, parking lots to be paved should be completed as soon as possible. 

In addition, building pads should be laid as soon as possible after grading unless seeding or soil binders 
are used.  

o Install wheel washers, rattle plates and/or rock aprons for all exiting trucks or equipment leaving the site.  
o Treat site accesses from the paved road with a 6 to 12- inch layer of gravel to reduce generation of road 

dust and road dust carryout onto public roads.  
o Post a publicly visible sign with the telephone number and person to contact at the County of 

Sacramento regarding dust complaints. This person shall respond and take corrective action within 48 
hours. The phone number of the SMAQMD shall also be visible to ensure compliance.  

 Minimize idling time either by shutting equipment off when not in use or reducing the time of idling to 5 
minutes [California Code of Regulations, Title 13, sections 2449(d)(3) and 2485]. Provide clear signage 
that posts this requirement for workers at the entrances to the site.  Provide current certificate(s) of 
compliance for CARB’s In-Use Off-Road Diesel-Fueled Fleets Regulation [California Code of Regulations, 
Title 13, sections 2449 and 2449.1]. For more information contact CARB at 877-593-6677, 
doors@arb.ca.gov, or www.arb.ca.gov/doors/compliance_cert1.html.  

Maintain all construction equipment in proper working condition according to manufacturer’s specifications. 
The equipment must be checked by a certified mechanic and determine to be running in proper condition 
before it is operated.  

Basic construction 
emission control 
practices (best 
management 
practices) and 
enhanced fugitive pm 
dust control practices 
shall be implemented 
during construction. 

During construction Contractor SMUD Construction of 
the PV solar 
panels, BESS and 
substation 

 

http://www.arb.ca.gov/doors/compliance_cert1.html


 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 75 

Table 4-1. Summary of Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

CEQA  
Issue Area Impacts Mitigation Measures 

Implementation 
Duration 

Monitoring 
Duration Implementation Monitoring 

Applicable 
Project 

Component 
Air Quality Impact 3.3-1. Conflicts with 

the applicable air quality 
plan.  

Mitigation Measure 3.3-1b. Reduce Off-Road Equipment Exhaust-Related Emissions During 
Construction   
 SMUD shall require off-road diesel-fueled equipment with engines larger than 50 horsepower to meet or 

exceed EPA/CARB Tier 4 Final emissions standards. An exemption from these requirements may be 
granted if SMUD documents that equipment with the required tier is not reasonably available and 
corresponding reductions in criteria air pollutant emissions are achieved from other construction equipment 
(see completion of the Construction Emissions Control Plan in Mitigation Measure 3.3-3c below). Before 
an exemption may be considered by SMUD, the applicant shall be required to demonstrate that two 
construction fleet owners/operators in Sacramento County were contacted and that those 
owners/operators confirmed Tier 4 equipment could not be located within Sacramento County. 

Implement during 
construction 

During construction Contractor and 
SMUD 

SMUD All project 
components 
during 
construction 

Air Quality Impact 3.3-1. Conflicts with 
the applicable air quality 
plan.  

Mitigation Measure 3.3-1c. Submit Construction Emissions Control Plans   
 Prior to SMUD’s approval of contractor grading plans, the construction contractor shall submit a 

Construction Emissions Control Plan to the SMAQMD and provide written evidence to SMUD that the plan 
has been submitted to and approved by SMAQMD. The construction contractor shall not initiate any on-
site or off-site construction activity until SMAQMD has approved the Construction Emissions Control Plan 
and proof of approval has been submitted to SMUD by the contractor.  

The Construction Emissions Control Plan shall cover all construction activities and include the following:   
 A comprehensive equipment inventory (e.g., make, model, year, emission (tier) rating, projected hours of 

use, and CARB equipment identification number) of all the heavy-duty off-road equipment (50 horsepower 
or greater) that will be used throughout the construction duration. If any new equipment is added after 
submission of the inventory, the contractor shall notify the SMAQMD and SMUD before using the new 
equipment. At least three business days before the use of subject heavy-duty off-road equipment, the 
project representative shall provide the SMAQMD and SMUD with the anticipated construction timeline 
including start date, name, and phone number of the property owner, project manager, and on-site 
foreman.  

 An anticipated off-site heavy-duty truck trip activity schedule (duration of truck trip activity, anticipated 
origin/destination of truck trips, and estimated total and daily truck trips per day) and anticipated truck fleet 
inventory (e.g., make, model, engine year) throughout the construction duration.   

 With submittal of the equipment inventory and anticipated on-road heavy-duty truck trip activity, the 
contractor shall provide a written calculation of the project’s total and daily construction emissions to the 
SMAQMD for approval. If any new equipment or haul truck activity is added after the submission and 
approval of the inventory, the construction contractor shall update the inventory and construction 
emissions calculations and provide to the SMAQMD and SMUD prior to the use of such equipment and 
trucks. The emissions calculations shall be calculated using SMAQMD’s Construction Mitigation 
Calculator; this tool is currently available on the SMAQMD’s website at the following link: 
http://www.airquality.org/businesses/ceqa-land-use-planning/mitigation.  

Submit Construction 
Emissions Control 
Plans to SMAQMD 
prior to approval of 
contractor grading 
plan. 

Before and during 
construction 

Contractor SMUD Construction of 
the PV solar 
panels, BESS and 
substation 

 
 

http://www.airquality.org/businesses/ceqa-land-use-planning/mitigation


 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 76 

Table 4-1. Summary of Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

CEQA  
Issue Area Impacts Mitigation Measures 

Implementation 
Duration 

Monitoring 
Duration Implementation Monitoring 

Applicable 
Project 

Component 
Air Quality Impact 3.3-1. Conflicts with 

the applicable air quality 
plan.  

Mitigation Measure 3.3-1d. Off-Site Construction Mitigation   
If, based upon the incorporation of all measures described above in Mitigation Measures 3.3-1a through 3.3-
1c, NOX emissions still exceed the daily SMAQMD threshold for NOX, the project shall participate in the 
SMAQMD’s Off-site Mitigation Program by paying to SMAQMD a mitigation fee for construction activities, to 
be determined at the time of construction based on the submitted equipment inventories and heavy-duty truck 
activity and emissions calculations for NOX emissions, such that emissions are reduced to less-than-
significant. The fee calculation to mitigate daily emissions shall be based on the most recent SMAQMD 
mitigation fee rate at the time of calculation, which is reviewed and adjusted annually. The current mitigation 
fee rate is $30,000 per ton of emissions with a 5 percent administrative fee in addition to the mitigation fee. 
The total fee shall be determined based on the total emissions reductions of NOX needed to reduce emissions 
to be less than the SMAQMD thresholds of 85 pounds per day for NOX. The fee shall be submitted for 
approval by SMAQMD as the total required to achieve emissions reductions that would reduce total emissions 
to less-than-significant after all other mitigation measures are implemented. The fee shall be calculated, 
approved by SMAQMD, and paid by SMUD prior to SMUD’s approval of grading or improvement plans to the 
construction contractor.  

Prior to Grading or 
Improvement Plan 
approval. 

Before and during 
construction 

Contractor SMUD Construction of 
the PV solar 
panels, BESS and 
substation 

Air Quality Impact 3.3-1. Conflicts with 
the applicable air quality 
plan.  

Mitigation Measure 3.3-1e. Implement Best Management Practices for Reducing Operational PM 
Emissions   
 As part of the PV facility operations and maintenance contract , SMUD shall include the following best 

management practice requirements for fugitive dust control during operational and maintenance activities 
associated with the project:   

 Limit vehicle speeds on unpaved roads to 15 mph.  
 Minimize idling time either by shutting equipment off when not in use or reducing the time of idling to 5 

minutes [California Code of Regulations, Title 13, sections 2449(d)(3) and 2485]. Provide clear signage 
that posts this requirement for workers at the entrances to the site.  

Compliance with anti-idling regulations for diesel powered commercial motor vehicles (greater than 10,000 
gross vehicular weight rating). The current requirements include limiting idling time to 5 minutes and installing 
technologies on the vehicles that support anti-idling. Information can be found on the California Air Resources 
Board’s website: https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/ourwork/programs/idle-reduction-technologies/idle-reduction-
technologies. 

Implement Best 
Management Practices 
during operational and 
maintenance activities 

During operational 
and maintenance 
activities 

Contractor SMUD PV solar, BESS 
and substation 
during operations 
and maintenance 

Air Quality Impact 3.3-2. Cumulatively 
considerable net increase of 
any criteria pollutant for 
which the project region is 
non-attainment.  

Mitigation Measure 3.3-2. Implement Mitigation Measures 3.3-1a (Implement Basic Construction Emission 
Control Practices [Best Management Practices] and Enhanced Fugitive PM Dust Control Practices during 
Construction), 3.3-1b (Reduce Off-Road Equipment Exhaust-Related Emissions During Construction), 3.3-1c 
(Submit Construction Emissions Control Plans), 3.3-1d (Off-Site Construction Mitigation), and 3.3-1e 
(Implement Best Management Practices for Reducing Operational PM Emissions).   

See MM 3.3-1a – 3.3-
1e 

See MM 3.3-1a – 
3.3-1e 

See MM 3.3-1a – 
3.3-1e 

See MM 3.3-1a – 
3.3-1e 

During 
construction, 
operations, and 
maintenance 

 

https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/ourwork/programs/idle-reduction-technologies/idle-reduction-technologies
https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/ourwork/programs/idle-reduction-technologies/idle-reduction-technologies


 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 77 

Table 4-1. Summary of Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

CEQA  
Issue Area Impacts Mitigation Measures 

Implementation 
Duration 

Monitoring 
Duration Implementation Monitoring 

Applicable 
Project 

Component 
Biological 
Resources 

Impact 3.4-1. Impacts on 
special-status plant 
species.   

Mitigation Measure 3.4-1. Worker Environmental Awareness Program (WEAP) and Biological Monitor 
Inspection   
SMUD shall prepare a Worker Environmental Awareness Program (WEAP) that shall educate staff regarding 
the presence or potential presence of all special-status species, sensitive natural communities, and protected 
wetlands and other waters that are known to occur, within the project site. The program shall describe species 
and sensitive community identification, special-status species habitat requirements, and penalties for special-
status species impacts, as well as immediate steps to take should special-status species be observed by staff 
onsite. 
This WEAP shall include biological resource avoidance and minimization measures/mitigation measures from 
the project’s CEQA Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program (MMRP), and any resource permits, as 
applicable. The WEAP shall educate workers regarding sensitive species and their habitats, the need to avoid 
impacts, state and federal protection status, and the legal implications of violating environmental laws and 
regulations. The WEAP can be provided in the form of a handout and/or video presentation. All staff working 
onsite shall attend the WEAP training prior to commencing onsite work. Staff that attend the training shall fill 
out a sign-in sheet indicating that they completed the training.  
Prior to construction, a qualified biologist shall inspect all areas within the project site with the potential to 
support sensitive biological resources to ensure the proper implementation of all avoidance and minimization 
and mitigation measures, agency permit requirements, and environmentally sensitive area exclusion flagging 
and/or fencing have been properly implemented, and to deliver WEAP training, as needed.  
The biologist shall remain available on an on-call basis for the duration of project construction to conduct 
inspections and follow up surveys, as needed or required by permit conditions, and to ensure compliance with 
permit conditions. The biologist shall have the experience, education and training necessary to conduct 
special-status species surveys and monitoring as described in the mitigation measures below.  

Prior to commencing 
construction activities 
onsite. Prior to 
construction, qualified 
biological monitors 
shall ensure 
environmentally 
sensitive areas are 
properly flagged 
and/or fenced.  
Ongoing biological 
monitoring inspections. 

Before and during 
construction 

Contractor’s and 
SMUD’s qualified 
biologists 

SMUD All project 
components  

Biological 
Resources 

Impact 3.4-1. Impacts on 
special-status plant 
species.   

Mitigation 3.4-2. Conduct Pre-construction Surveys for Sanford’s Arrowhead and Avoid Impacts to 
Known Occurrences   
Prior to culvert improvements or other project work that may affect the agricultural drainage in the southern 
area that provides suitable habitat for Sanford’s arrowhead, and within the blooming period for Sanford’s 
arrowhead (May 1 through October 1), a qualified botanist shall conduct a focused survey for the species 
within suitable habitat in this area. The botanist shall map all observations of this species and establish a no-
disturbance buffer around these plants. Before construction commences, Sanford’s arrowhead occurrences 
shall be marked with pin flags in the field, and all construction personnel shall be instructed as to the location 
and extent of the special-status plants or populations and the importance of avoiding impacts to the species 
and its habitat.  
If construction must occur within the no-disturbance buffer, and Sanford’s arrowhead cannot be avoided, 
SMUD shall develop a mitigation plan for Sanford’s arrowhead in coordination with CDFW. The plan shall 
include measures to minimize impacts and to offset any loss of Sanford’s arrowhead on a 1:1 basis through 
protection, replanting, or purchase of credits. The plan shall be in place prior to construction activities in these 
areas.  
Information about avoidance and minimization measures for Sanford’s arrowhead shall be included in the 
WEAP described above in Mitigation Measure 3.4-1.  

Pre-construction 
survey and no-
disturbance buffer to 
be installed in 
coordination with 
qualified biologist 
before start of 
construction. 
Buffer to be 
maintained during 
construction. 

Before and during 
construction  

Contractor’s 
qualified biologist 

SMUD All project 
components 
during 
construction that 
require work within 
suitable habitat.  

 



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 78 

Table 4-1. Summary of Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

CEQA  
Issue Area Impacts Mitigation Measures 

Implementation 
Duration 

Monitoring 
Duration Implementation Monitoring 

Applicable 
Project 

Component 
Biological 
Resources 

Impact 3.4-1. Impacts on 
special-status plant 
species.   

Mitigation Measure 3.4-3. Establish Non-Disturbance Buffers around Vernal Pools along the Collection 
and Distribution Lines   
Along the collection line connecting the northern area to the southern area of the project site, and the 
distribution lines along Florin Road, Excelsior Road, Gerber Road, and Eagles Nest Road, SMUD or their 
contracted engineer shall design the placement of new electricity poles and replacement of existing poles to 
avoid the edges of vernal pools by at least 50 feet.  
The perimeter of this 50-foot no-disturbance buffer shall be marked in the field prior to construction through 
flagging of fencing with a wildlife friendly material that allows the movement of wildlife, including western 
spadefoot (and also wide-ranging wildlife, such as coyotes), through the area. The marked buffer shall be 
maintained for the duration of project construction. No construction or ground-disturbing activities shall occur 
within the 50-foot buffer.  
Information about avoidance and minimization measures for vernal pool habitat shall be included in the WEAP 
described above in Mitigation Measure 3.4-1.   

Flagging or fencing to 
be installed in 
coordination with 
qualified biologist 
before start of 
construction.  
Fencing to be 
maintained during 
construction. 

Before and during 
construction  

SMUD SMUD All project 
components along 
the connection line 
and the 
distribution lines 

Biological 
Resources 

Impact 3.4-4. Potential 
impacts on Western 
spadefoot during 
construction 

Mitigation Measure 3.4-5. Avoid impacts to Western Spadefoot during Construction   
Prior to any ground disturbance activity (e.g., grading, disking, road construction, or similar activities that 
could entomb or excavate spadefoot in grassland habitat near vernal pools) in the overhead collector line and 
distribution line corridors, a qualified biologist shall survey the project footprint prior to the onset of work for 
Western spadefoot. The qualified biologist shall identify burrows potentially suitable for Western spadefoot 
and mark a 50-foot non-disturbance buffer around any burrows mapped. Ground disturbance in these buffer 
areas shall be avoided, if feasible. If ground disturbance would be required within the 50-foot buffer, activities 
shall be limited to the minimum footprint necessary and shall be monitored by an onsite qualified biologist, as 
appropriate to guide activities within the buffer to reduce impacts. Ground disturbing activities within suitable 
Western spadefoot breeding habitat will be limited during their active period (typically between October and 
May) to the extent possible.  
The qualified biologist shall inform construction personnel to stop construction activities if a Western 
spadefoot is observed or if, in the biologist’s opinion, maintenance activities threaten to cause adverse effects 
to Western spadefoot. If it is determined that Western spadefoot would be potentially harmed by construction, 
a qualified biologist with the appropriate handling permits may relocate animals to suitable habitats outside 
the project footprint. A relocation report will be submitted to SMUD within 48 hours after the species has been 
relocated. 
Information about avoidance and minimization measures for Western spadefoot shall be included in the 
WEAP described above in Mitigation Measure 3.4-1.   

Identify burrows and 
mark no-disturbance 
buffers in coordination 
with qualified biologist 
before start of 
construction.  
Buffers to be 
maintained during 
construction. 

Before and during 
construction  

SMUD’s qualified 
biologist 

SMUD All project 
components 
during 
construction in the 
overhead collector 
line and 
distribution line 
corridors. 

 Biological 
Resources 

 Impact 3.4-5. Potential 
impacts on Western 
pond turtle during 
construction.   

Mitigation Measure 3.4-6. Conduct Pre-Construction Surveys for Western Pond Turtle   
 A qualified biologist shall conduct a pre-construction survey for Western pond turtle within 48 hours prior to 

the start of construction activities within 300 feet of suitable aquatic habitat (e.g., any adjacent waterway, 
marsh, or emergent wetland).  

 Concurrently with the pre-construction survey, searches for nesting sites in suitable upland habitat shall be 
conducted by a qualified biologist and any active nest sites identified during the survey shall be delineated 
with high-visibility flagging or fencing and avoided during construction activities as described below in 
Mitigation Measure 3.4-7.  

Surveys to be 
conducted and fencing 
to be installed within 
48 hours of start of 
construction within 300 
feet of suitable habitat. 
Flagging/fencing and 
monitoring required for 
nest sites if identified.  

Before construction 
and during 
construction (if 
nests are found). 

Contractor’s and 
SMUD’s qualified 
biologists 

SMUD All project 
components 
during 
construction that 
require work within 
300 feet of 
suitable habitat.  

 



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 79 

Table 4-1. Summary of Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

CEQA  
Issue Area Impacts Mitigation Measures 

Implementation 
Duration 

Monitoring 
Duration Implementation Monitoring 

Applicable 
Project 

Component 
Biological 
Resources 

Impact 3.4-5. Potential 
impacts on Western pond 
turtle during construction.   

Mitigation Measure 3.4-7. Avoid Impacts on Western Pond Turtle during Construction   
Project ground-disturbing activities near suitable breeding habitat shall be conducted outside of Western pond 
turtle’s active breeding and dispersal season (i.e., after May 1 and before September 15), to the extent 
feasible. If project activities must be implemented during the breeding season, they shall not start until 30 
minutes after sunrise and must be completed 30 minutes prior to sunset.  
If a turtle nest is encountered during the pre-construction survey (Mitigation Measure 3.4-6), a 100-foot non-
disturbance buffer shall be maintained during construction and regularly monitored by a qualified biologist. 
Construction may resume in the buffer area after the qualified biologist has determined that the turtle eggs 
have hatched. 
Onsite personnel shall observe a 20-mile-per-hour speed limit at all times. In addition, all BMPs identified in 
the project’s Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan shall be implemented, to avoid adverse effects from water 
quality impacts suck as sedimentation and spills.  
Information about avoidance and minimization measures for Western pond turtles shall be included in the 
WEAP described above in Mitigation Measure 3.4-1. 

Biological monitor shall 
be present during 
ground-disturbing 
activities near suitable 
breeding habitat if 
turtles or nests are 
found during pre-
construction survey. 

During construction Contractor’s and 
SMUD’s qualified 
biologists 

SMUD All project 
components 
during 
construction that 
require work within 
100 feet of 
suitable habitat. 

Biological 
Resources 

Impact 3.4-6. Potential 
impacts on giant garter 
snake during construction 
and impacts to their aquatic 
habitat.   

Mitigation Measure 3.4-8. Conduct Pre-construction Surveys for Giant Garter Snake and Implement 
Avoidance and Minimization Measures   
Project ground-disturbing activities in aquatic habitat and adjacent upland habitat within 200 feet of suitable 
aquatic habitat (perennial drainages and agricultural ditches carrying year-round water) shall be conducted 
during the giant garter snake’s active season (i.e., after May 1 and before October 1), to the extent feasible. 
During this period, the potential for direct mortality is reduced, because snakes are expected to mainly occupy 
aquatic habitat and to actively move and avoid danger. If project activities in upland habitat occur within 200 
feet of suitable aquatic habitat must be started outside of the snake’s active season (May 1 to October 1), the 
following mitigation measures must be implemented: 
 Within 24-hours prior to commencement of construction activities within 200 feet of potential giant garter 

snake habitat (perennial streams and agricultural ditches that carry year-round water), the site shall be 
inspected by a qualified biologist who is approved by SMUD. Results of this clearance survey shall be 
reporting in memo shared with SMUD and construction should only commence after a negative inspection 
report. If construction activities are delayed or stop for a period of two weeks or more, another pre-
construction clearance survey shall be conducted within 24 hours before resuming construction activity. If 
snakes, or evidence of snakes, are encountered during pre-construction surveys, a biological monitor shall 
be present during the commencement of construction activities in upland habitat within 200 feet of suitable 
aquatic habitat during all ground disturbing activities. If any snakes are observed in uplands near 
drainages during the active season, project activity shall be halted and the snakes shall be allowed to 
leave the area on their own. 

If take of GGS individuals cannot be avoided during the active or dormant seasons, an Incidental Take Permit 
(ITP) shall be obtained from CDFW for construction and O&M activities. 

If construction is 
proposed between 
October 1 and May 1, 
a pre-construction 
survey within 24 hours 
before construction 
within aquatic and 
adjacent upland 
habitat within 200 feet 
of aquatic habitat shall 
be conducted. 
If construction 
activities stop for 2 
weeks or more, 
another 
preconstruction 
clearance survey will 
be required. 

Before and during 
construction 
Species 
observations to be 
reported to CDFW 
and USFWS within 
24 hours of 
detection 

Contractor’s and 
SMUD’s qualified 
biologists  

SMUD, CDFW, 
and USFWS 

All project 
components 
during 
construction 
occurring within 
200 feet of 
suitable aquatic 
habitat. 

Biological 
Resources 

Impact 3.4-7. Potential 
impacts on burrowing owl 
during construction and 
operation.   

Mitigation Measure 3.4.9 Compensate for permanent loss of Western Burrowing Owl Habitat.  
 SMUD shall mitigate for the permanent loss of 4.1 acres of burrowing owl foraging habitat at a 1:1 basis. 

This may be achieved through purchasing credits at an approved bank, dedicating credits at SMUD’s own 
conservation bank, or by placing a permanent easement on 4.1 acres of suitable foraging habitat in the 
vicinity of the project site.   

Purchase credits to 
mitigate for permanent 
loss of burrowing owl 
foraging habitat. 

Before 
construction  

SMUD SMUD and 
CDFW 

All project 
components that 
would result in 
permanent 
impacts to 
burrowing owl 
foraging habitat  



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 80 

Table 4-1. Summary of Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

CEQA  
Issue Area Impacts Mitigation Measures 

Implementation 
Duration 

Monitoring 
Duration Implementation Monitoring 

Applicable 
Project 

Component 
Biological 
Resources 

 Mitigation Measure 3.4-10. Conduct Pre-construction Surveys for Western Burrowing Owl and 
Implement Avoidance and Minimization Measures   
 SMUD shall conduct pre-construction burrowing owl surveys in all areas that may provide suitable nesting 

habitat according to CDFW (CDFG 2012) guidelines and based on protocol level surveys conducted in 
support of this project (AECOM 2025). A qualified wildlife biologist shall conduct the surveys, including 
documentation of burrows and burrowing owls, in all suitable burrowing owl habitat within 500 feet of 
proposed construction.    

 Two surveys shall be conducted within 15 days prior to ground disturbance to establish the presence or 
absence of burrowing owls. The surveys shall be conducted at least 7 days apart (if burrowing owls are 
detected on the first survey, a second survey is not needed) for both breeding and non-breeding season 
surveys. All burrowing owls observed shall be counted and mapped.  

 During the breeding season (February 1 to August 31), surveys shall document whether burrowing owls 
are nesting in or within 500 feet of project construction activities.  

 During the non-breeding season (September 1 to January 31), surveys shall document whether burrowing 
owls are using habitat in or directly adjacent (within 500 feet) to any area to be disturbed. Survey results 
would be valid only for the season (breeding or non-breeding) during which the survey was conducted.  

 The qualified biologist shall survey the proposed footprint of disturbance and a 500-foot buffer from the 
perimeter of the proposed footprint to determine the presence or absence of burrowing owls. The site shall 
be surveyed by walking line transects, spaced 20 to 60 feet apart, adjusting for vegetation height and 
density. At the start of each transect and, at least, every 300 feet, the surveyor, with use of binoculars, 
shall scan the entire visible project site for burrowing owls. During walking surveys, the surveyor shall 
record all potential burrows used by burrowing owls, as determined by the presence of one or more 
burrowing owls, pellets, prey remains, whitewash, or decoration. Some burrowing owls may be detected by 
their calls; therefore, observers shall also listen for burrowing owls while conducting the survey.  

 The presence of burrowing owl or their sign anywhere on the site or within the 500-foot accessible buffer 
around the site shall be recorded and mapped. Surveys shall map all burrows and occurrence of sign of 
burrowing owl on the project site. Surveys must begin 1 hour before sunrise and continue until 2 hours 
after sunrise (3 hours total) or begin 2 hours before sunset and continue until 1 hour after sunset. 
Additional time may be required for large project sites  
If a burrowing owl or evidence of presence at or near a burrow entrance is found to occur within 500 feet 
of the project site, the following measures shall be implemented:   

 If burrowing owls are found during the breeding season (approximately February 1 to August 31), the 
project applicant shall:   
o Avoid all nest sites that could be disturbed by project construction during the remainder of the breeding 

season or while the nest is occupied by adults or young (occupation includes individuals or family groups 
foraging on or near the site following fledging).  

o Establish a minimum 500-foot, up to 1650-foot non-disturbance buffer zone around nests, consistent with 
CDFW’s 2012 Staff Report guidelines. The buffer zone shall be flagged or otherwise clearly marked. 
Should construction activities cause the nesting bird to vocalize, make defensive flights at intruders, or 
otherwise display agitated behavior, then the exclusionary buffer shall be increased such that activities 
are far enough from the nest so that the bird(s) no longer display this agitated behavior. The 
exclusionary buffer shall remain in place until the chicks have fledged or as otherwise determined by a 
qualified biologist.  

Two (2) 
preconstruction 
surveys within 15 days 
prior to ground 
disturbance conducted 
7 days apart.  
If burrowing owl or 
evidence of presence 
is found, implement 
additional measures 
as described in MM. 

Before and during 
construction 

SMUD to obtain 
permit, if required 
Contractor to 
implement permit  

SMUD and 
CDFW 

All project 
components 
during 
construction 
involving work 
within 500 feet of 
suitable nesting 
habitat.  

 



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 81 

Table 4-1. Summary of Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

CEQA  
Issue Area Impacts Mitigation Measures 

Implementation 
Duration 

Monitoring 
Duration Implementation Monitoring 

Applicable 
Project 

Component 
  o Construction may occur only outside of the 500-foot buffer zone during the breeding season and only if a 

qualified biologist monitors the nest and determines that the activities will not disturb nesting behavior, or 
the birds have not begun egg-laying and incubation, or that the juveniles from the occupied burrows 
have fledged and moved off site. Measures such as visual screens may be used to further reduce the 
buffer with CDFW approval and provided a biological monitor confirms that such measures do not agitate 
the owls. 

 If burrowing owls are found during the non-breeding season (approximately September 1 to January 31), 
the project applicant shall establish a minimum of 165-foot, up to 1650-foot no-disturbance buffer zone 
around active burrows consistent with CDFW’s 2012 Staff Report guidelines. The buffer zone shall be 
flagged or otherwise clearly marked. Measures such as visual screens may be used to further reduce the 
buffer with CDFW approval and provided a biological monitor confirms that such measures do not agitate 
the owls. 

 During the non-breeding season only, if a project cannot avoid occupied burrows after all alternative 
avoidance and minimization measures are exhausted, as confirmed by CDFW, project applicant shall 
obtain an Incidental Take Permit (ITP) for the project. A burrowing owl exclusion plan must be developed 
by a qualified biologist consistent with the most recent guidelines from CDFW (e.g., California Department 
of Fish and Game 2012) and submitted to and approved by CDFW along with the ITP application. Burrow 
exclusion may not be conducted for burrows located in the project footprint and within a 160-foot buffer 
zone until the ITP is obtained. All ITP conditions must be followed when excluding owls.  

 If take of burrowing owl individuals cannot be avoided during the breeding or non-breeding season, an 
Incidental Take Permit (ITP) shall be obtained from CDFW for construction and O&M activities. 

 Information about the status of and avoidance and minimization measures for western burrowing owl shall 
be included in the WEAP described above in Mitigation Measure 3.4-1. 

     

Biological 
Resources 

 Mitigation Measure 3.4-11. WEAP Training for Operations and Maintenance Personnel   
Following project construction, WEAP Training pertaining to the operation and maintenance phase of the 
project shall be provided each year to onsite personnel. The purpose of the training shall be to raise 
awareness of the potential use of the site by wintering and breeding burrowing owls and to avoid and 
minimize potential take of owls during project operation. The training shall describe the identification and 
natural history of burrowing owls and shall cover the avoidance and minimization measures described 
below. New onsite personnel shall be provided the training before they begin work at the site.  

 Speed Limit. All project traffic must observe a 20-mph speed limit.  
 Pets. No pets are allowed on the project site.  
 Equipment and Material Inspection. All construction pipe, culverts, or similar structures greater than 3 

inches in diameter shall be inspected before being moved, buried or capped.  
 Firearms. No firearms are permitted on the project site.  
 Survey before Ground Disturbing Activities. If maintenance or repair activities require ground disturbing 

activities in areas potentially used by western burrowing owl (grazing land under solar panels, berms along 
roads, areas containing ground squirrel holes), a pre-construction survey for western burrowing owl shall 
be conducted by a qualified biologist in the disturbance area. Surveys shall be conducted using the same 
steps described in Mitigation Measure 3.4-9 (Pre-construction Western Burrowing Owl Measures) of the 
project MMRP. If burrowing owls are detected during the surveys non-disturbance buffers shall be 
established as described in the MMRP and a Region 2 CDFW representative) shall be contacted to 
discuss whether additional avoidance and minimization measures are warranted.  

 Reporting of Bird Mortality. If operations and maintenance staff detect a bird carcass on the project site 
that may be a burrowing owl, Swainson’s hawk, tricolored blackbird or other special status species, they 
shall notify SMUD who shall arrange to identify the bird. If the bird is a special-status species, SMUD shall 
notify a Region 2 CDFW representative immediately, record the date and the location of the carcass, 
collect the carcass and store it in a freezer. CDFW shall provide guidance on the disposition of the 
carcass.  

Annual WEAP training 
to be provided to all 
operations and 
maintenance and prior 
to maintenance or 
repair activities, 
qualified biological 
monitors shall ensure 
environmentally 
sensitive areas are 
properly flagged 
and/or fenced.   

Following project 
construction, before 
operations and 
maintenance.  

Contractor’s 
qualified biologist   

SMUD All project 
components 
Operations and 
maintenance of 
PV solar, BESS 
and substation 



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 82 

Table 4-1. Summary of Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

CEQA  
Issue Area Impacts Mitigation Measures 

Implementation 
Duration 

Monitoring 
Duration Implementation Monitoring 

Applicable 
Project 

Component 
   Injured bird. If an injured bird is detected by the operation and maintenance staff the site operator, they 

shall notify SMUD who shall arrange to identify the bird and advise on how to proceed. If the injured bird is 
a special status bird, SMUD shall contact a Region 2 CDFW representative. 

 With concurrence of CDFW, and if the bird is sufficiently immobile that it can be safely and readily 
retrieved, the bird shall be captured by a qualified biologist experienced with handling raptors and placed 
into an animal crate/box and stored in a cool location while being transported. The biologist shall transport 
the injured bird to the appropriate wildlife care facility such as the U.C. Davis California Raptor Center, 
1340 Equine Lane, Davis: (530) 752-6091 California Raptor Center / School of Veterinary Medicine - 
Found a Sick or Injured Raptor?. 

     

Biological 
Resources 

Impact 3.4-8. Potential 
impacts on tricolored 
blackbirds during 
construction and permanent 
conversion of foraging 
habitat.   

Mitigation Measure 3.4-12. Conduct Focused Pre-Construction Surveys for Nesting Tricolored 
Blackbird and Avoid Impacts During Construction   
Construction shall occur outside of the breeding period for tricolored blackbirds (March 15 to August 1). If 
construction must occur within the breeding period, the following measures shall be implemented to avoid 
impacts to tricolored blackbirds:   
 Pre-construction Tricolored Blackbird Surveys. Before any ground disturbing activities or vegetation 

clearing that may result in effects on potential habitat for tricolored blackbird, a qualified biologist shall 
conduct a pre-construction survey in potentially suitable nesting habitat (i.e., blackberry thickets and cattail 
marsh) for this species in the project footprint and a 1,300-foot buffer to the project footprint. The biologist 
shall conduct three separate surveys, one each in mid-April, mid-May, and mid-June, based on survey 
methods identified in the Results of the 2017 Tricolored Blackbird Statewide Survey, Appendix 1. If 
breeding colonies are found, the foraging behavior of the colony shall also be documented. If an active 
nesting colony is detected during the surveys CDFW shall be consulted to provide any guidance on 
appropriate avoidance and minimization measures in addition to those described below. 

 Avoidance and Minimization. If any active nests are observed during surveys, a qualified biologist shall 
establish a suitable avoidance (i.e., non-disturbance) buffer from the active nest. The buffer distance for 
tricolored blackbird shall generally be 1300 feet 500 feet and shall be determined based on factors such as 
topographic features, intensity and extent of the disturbance, timing relative to the nesting cycle, and 
anticipated ground disturbance schedule. Limits of construction shall be established in the field with 
flagging, fencing, or other appropriate barriers to avoid active nests. This buffer may be modified in 
consultation with the qualified biologist. The consultation must be documented in writing and include the 
revised buffer distance, along with the rationale and justification for why the reduction is appropriate. 
Appropriate rationale for reducing a buffer may include the presence of dense vegetation, Construction 
limits shall be based on the biologist defined appropriate buffer distance and shall be maintained until the 
chicks have fledged and the nests are no longer active, as determined by the qualified biologist. Project 
activities shall avoid occupied Tricolored Blackbird nesting habitat. If tricolored blackbird colonies are 
identified during the breeding season, an approximate buffer of up to 500 feet shall be established around 
the colony, depending on site-specific conditions and at the discretion of a qualified biologist in 
consultation with CDFW. Any construction-related activities shall be excluded from the buffer until the end 
of the breeding season. 

 If an active nest is identified within 1,300 feet of the Project area after construction has begun, a 1,300-foot 
no-disturbance buffer will be established, unless construction activities are already occurring within that 
distance. If an active nest is established within 1,300 feet while construction activities are ongoing, it is 
assumed the birds have acclimated to the existing disturbance. In such cases, the buffer will be reduced to 
the greater of: (1) the actual distance between the active nest and the nearest construction activity, or (2) 
500 feet. 

Prior to ground-
disturbing activities or 
vegetation clearing 
during the breeding 
period that may result 
in effects on potential 
habitat for tricolored 
Blackbirds, one survey 
in mid-April, one in 
mid-May, and one in 
mid-June shall be 
conducted.  
If tricolored blackbird 
nests are found, a 
1,300-foot no-
disturbance zone 
created prior to 
construction.  
Biological monitoring 
required if an active 
colony is present 
within 1,300 feet of 
construction activities.  

Before and during 
construction  

SMUD’s and 
contractor’s 
qualified biologist  

SMUD All project 
components 
during 
construction that 
could result in 
impacts to 
tricolored 
blackbird habitat.  

 



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 83 

Table 4-1. Summary of Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

CEQA  
Issue Area Impacts Mitigation Measures 

Implementation 
Duration 

Monitoring 
Duration Implementation Monitoring 

Applicable 
Project 

Component 
   Once the reduced buffer is established—and prior to any increase in the intensity or type of disturbance—a 

qualified biologist will conduct a minimum of two consecutive days of baseline monitoring to document 
nesting behavior under current conditions. If, during baseline monitoring, project activities cause birds to 
display agitated or stress-related behaviors, all work within the buffer will cease, and the buffer distance 
will be reassessed based on what was observed. 

 Based on baseline observations, the qualified biologist will prepare a written memorandum summarizing 
the monitoring results and recommending avoidance and minimization measures tailored to varying levels 
of anticipated construction activity. The first day of any increased construction activity within the buffer will 
be monitored by a qualified biologist to verify that the buffer distance and implemented measures are 
effective in avoiding take. 

 Appropriate measures may include an increased no-disturbance buffer with specific levels of disturbance, 
limitations on construction activities that generate substantial vibration and/or noise, and/or full-time 
monitoring by a qualified biologist during construction activities conducted near the nest, This buffer may 
be modified in consultation with the qualified biologist with additional written measures such as the 
installation of visual shielding or sound curtains. 

 Construction Monitoring. If construction takes place during the breeding season when an active colony 
is present within 500 feet of construction activities, a qualified biologist shall regularly monitor construction 
to ensure that the buffer zone is enforced and to verify that construction is not disrupting the colony. The 
intensity and frequency of the monitoring shall be established in consultation with CDFW. If monitoring 
indicates that construction outside of the buffer is affecting a breeding colony, the buffer shall be 
increased, as needed, in consultation with CDFW.  

Information about avoidance and minimization measures for tricolored blackbird shall be included in the 
WEAP described above in Mitigation Measure 3.4-1.    

     

Biological 
Resources 

Impact 3.4-9. Potential 
impact of Swainson’s hawk 
during construction and 
permanent conversion of 
foraging habitat.   

Mitigation Measure 3.4-13. Conduct Focused Pre-construction Surveys for Nesting Swainson’s hawks 
and Implement Protective Buffers   
 Pre-construction Surveys. A qualified biologist shall conduct pre-construction surveys for 

Swainson’s hawks during the nesting season (March 1 through August 21) within the project footprint 
and of all suitable nesting habitat within line of sight of construction activities within a 0.25-mile radius 
of the project footprint. The surveys shall be conducted no more than 15 days prior to ground 
disturbance and shall be conducted using methods consistent with guidelines provided in 
Recommended Timing and Methodology for Swainson’s Hawk Nesting Surveys in the Central Valley 
(SHTAC 2000) with the following exceptions:   
o Surveys shall be required within a 0.25-mile (1,320-foot) radius around the project site. In instances 

where an adjacent parcel is not accessible to survey because the qualified biologist was not granted 
permission to enter, the qualified biologist shall scan all potential nest tree(s) from the adjacent 
property, road sides, or other safe, publicly accessible viewpoints, without trespassing, using 
binoculars and/or a spotting scope to look for Swainson’s hawk nesting activity;   

o Surveys shall be required from February 1 to September 15 (or sooner if it is found that birds are 
nesting earlier in the year); and   

o If a Swainson’s hawk nest is located and presence confirmed, only one follow-up visit is required (to 
avoid disturbance of the nest due to repeated visits).   

o Nest Buffers. If active Swainson’s hawk nests are found, appropriate buffers shall be established 
around active nest sites, in coordination with CDFW, to provide adequate protection for nesting 
raptors and their young. No project activity shall commence during the nesting season within the 
buffer areas until the qualified biologist has determined that the young have fledged, the nest is no 
longer active, or if reducing the buffer would not result in nest abandonment.  

Preconstruction 
surveys no more than 
15 days prior to 
ground disturbing 
activities within the 
nesting season (March 
1 to August 21). 
If nests are found, 
implement appropriate 
no-disturbance nest 
buffers and monitoring 
during construction if 
construction could 
adversely affect any 
observed nests. 

Before and during 
construction  

Contractor’s 
Qualified 
Biologist  

SMUD All project 
components 
during 
construction with 
potential to disturb 
Swainson’s hawk 
nests. 

 



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 84 

Table 4-1. Summary of Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

CEQA  
Issue Area Impacts Mitigation Measures 

Implementation 
Duration 

Monitoring 
Duration Implementation Monitoring 

Applicable 
Project 

Component 
   Nest Monitoring. Monitoring of the nest by a qualified biologist during construction activities may be 

required if the qualified biologist determines that the activity has potential to adversely affect the nest. If 
construction activities cause the nesting bird to vocalize, make defensive flights at intruders, get up from a 
brooding position, or fly off the nest, then the no-disturbance buffer shall be increased until the agitated 
behavior ceases. The exclusionary buffer shall remain in place until the qualified biologist has confirmed 
that the chicks have fledged.  

Information about avoidance and minimization measures for Swainson’s hawk shall be included in the WEAP 
described above in Mitigation Measure 3.4-1.  

     

Biological 
Resources 

Impact 3.4-9. Potential 
impact of Swainson’s hawk 
during construction and 
permanent conversion of 
foraging habitat.   

Mitigation Measure 3.4-14. Compensate for the Loss of Swainson’s Hawk Foraging Habitat   
To offset net impacts on foraging habitat for breeding Swainson’s hawks SMUD shall mitigate the loss of 
Swainson’s hawk foraging habitat in accordance with CDFW recommendations (CDFG 1994) but adjusted to 
local conditions and based on recent studies by providing mitigation lands or securing Swainson’s hawk 
mitigation bank credits as follows: 
 Foraging habitat permanently lost within 5 miles of an active Swainson’s hawk nest tree shall be replaced 

with 1.0 acre of mitigation land for each acre of foraging habitat permanently lost because of project 
construction (1:1 ratio). Permanent loss resulting from the project includes the approximately 4.1-acre 
footprint of the BESS, substation, and roads. The nearest location relative to this area shall be confirmed 
prior to initiation of construction during preconstruction surveys as called for in Mitigation Measure 3.4.13. 

 For foraging habitat under solar panel these mitigation ratios shall be reduced to 0.25:1 for foraging habitat 
for active nests within 5 miles of the project and 0.5:1 for active nests within 1 mile of the project site. 
These reduced ratios are appropriate because Swainson’s hawks foraging habitat will continue to be 
available in the solar fields. Foraging habitat will be maintained under the solar panels with pollinator-
friendly vegetation that would support Swainson’s hawk prey such as insects and small mammals. Ample 
foraging habitat will also remain in adjacent agricultural lands and open space preserves that are 
permanently protected.  

All mitigation lands protected under this mitigation measure shall be protected in a form acceptable to CDFW 
(e.g., through fee title acquisition or conservation easement) on agricultural lands or other suitable habitats 
that provide foraging habitat for Swainson’s hawk.   

If Swainson’s hawk 
foraging habitat is 
impacted as described 
in the MM, mitigated 
land or bank credits 
shall be provided.  

Before and during 
construction  

SMUD SMUD All components 
that result in loss 
of Swainson’s 
hawk foraging 
habitat or nesting 
habitat  

Biological 
Resources 

Impact 3.4-11. Disturbance 
of nesting white-tailed kite, 
northern harrier, Cooper’s 
hawk, loggerhead shrike, 
song sparrow “Modesto” 
population, and other 
protected birds.   

Mitigation Measure 3.4-15. Conduct Pre-Construction Surveys for Nesting Birds and Raptors   
Tree trimming (if required) or vegetation removal shall be conducted outside of the nesting season (i.e., the 
nesting season is defined as February 1 through August 31) to the greatest extent feasible.  
If construction activities begin during the nesting season, a qualified biologist shall conduct a survey for 
nesting birds no more than 3 days prior to vegetation removal or ground-disturbing activities during the 
nesting season within suitable habitat (i.e., February 1 through August 31). The survey shall cover the limits of 
construction and accessible suitable nesting habitat within 500 feet. If any active nests are observed during 
surveys, a qualified biologist should establish a suitable avoidance buffer from the active nest. The buffer 
distance shall typically range from 50 feet (for nesting passerines) to 500 feet (for nesting raptors) and shall 
be determined based on factors such as the species of bird, topographic features, intensity and extent of the 
disturbance, timing relative to the nesting cycle, and anticipated ground disturbance schedule.  
If vegetation removal activities are delayed, additional nest surveys shall be conducted such that no more 
than 7 days are allowed to pass between the survey and vegetation removal activities.   

If construction occurs 
within nesting season 
(February 1 to August 
31), conduct 
preconstruction 
nesting survey no 
more than 3 days prior 
to vegetation removal 
or ground-disturbing 
activities.  
 

Before and during 
construction  

SMUD’s and 
contractor’s 
qualified biologist  

SMUD  All project 
components 
during 
construction that 
involve tree or 
vegetation 
removal or 
ground-disturbing 
activities.  

 
 



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 85 

Table 4-1. Summary of Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

CEQA  
Issue Area Impacts Mitigation Measures 

Implementation 
Duration 

Monitoring 
Duration Implementation Monitoring 

Applicable 
Project 

Component 
   If vegetation removal 

activities are delayed, 
additional nest surveys 
should be conducted 
so that no more than 7 
days pass between 
survey and vegetation 
removal.  
If any active nests are 
observed, establish 
suitable avoidance 
buffer.  
If required, biological 
monitor shall be 
present on-site to 
monitor construction 
activities near nest. 

    

Biological 
Resources 

Impact 3.4-11. Disturbance 
of nesting white-tailed kite, 
northern harrier, Cooper’s 
hawk, loggerhead shrike, 
song sparrow “Modesto” 
population, and other 
protected birds.   

Mitigation Measure 3.4-16. Avoid Impacts on Nesting Birds and Raptors during Construction   
Limits of construction to avoid active nests shall be established in the field with flagging, fencing, or other 
appropriate barriers and shall be maintained until the chicks have fledged and the nests are no longer active, 
as determined by the qualified biologist.  
If an active nest is identified in or adjacent to the construction zone after construction has started, work in the 
vicinity of the nest shall be halted until the qualified biologist can provide appropriate avoidance and 
minimization measures to ensure that the nest is not disturbed by construction. Appropriate measures may 
include a no-disturbance buffer until the nest has fledged and/or full-time monitoring by a qualified biologist 
during construction activities conducted near the nest.  
Information about avoidance measures to protect nesting birds and raptors shall be included in the WEAP 
described above in Mitigation Measure 3.4-1. 

Limits of construction 
shall be established to 
avoid active nests.  
Active nests to be 
monitored during 
construction.  

Before and during 
construction  

SMUD’s and 
contractor’s 
qualified biologist  

SMUD  All project 
components 
during 
construction 
occurring near 
active nests. 

Biological 
Resources 

Impact 3.4-13. Have a 
substantial adverse effect 
on any riparian habitat or 
other sensitive natural 
community identified in local 
or regional plans, policies, 
regulations or by the 
California Department of 
Fish and Wildlife or U.S. 
Fish and Wildlife Service. 

Mitigation Measure 3.4-17. Avoid, Minimize and Compensate for Impacts on state and federally 
protected wetlands and other waters.  
Prior to project implementation, SMUD shall confirm project related potential impacts on state and federally 
protected wetlands based on advanced designs and obtain the necessary permits for impacts on any 
wetlands. These may include the following permits:   
 Section 1600 Streambed Alteration Agreement from CDFW (for impact on streams in the project site, 

including horizontal directional drilling, if necessary).  
 CWA Section 404 permit from USACE for impacts to WUS (not expected to be necessary based on 30 

percent design).  
 CWA Section 401 Clean Water Certification from the Regional Water Quality Control Board for impacts to 

WUS (not expected to be necessary based on 30 percent design).  
 Waste Discharge Permit from RWQCB for impacts to WOS (anticipated, based on project impacts to a 

small amount of agricultural ditch qualifying as WOS based on current delineation.  
 

Necessary permits, if 
applicable, shall be 
obtained before project 
implementation.   
Develop a habitat 
mitigation plan to be 
submitted with permit 
applications.  
Compensate for 
impacts to state and 
federally protected 
wetlands as described 
in MM.  

Prior to project 
implementation and 
during 
construction.  

SMUD or 
contractor may 
obtain permits, if 
required.  
Contractor to 
abide by 
conditions set 
forth in permits  
Contractor’s 
Qualified Biologist 
to ensure 
compliance. 

SMUD, Regional 
Water Quality 
Control Board, 
and CDFW  

All project 
components 
during 
construction that 
could impact state 
and federally 
protected 
wetlands. 

 
 
  



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 86 

Table 4-1. Summary of Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

CEQA  
Issue Area Impacts Mitigation Measures 

Implementation 
Duration 

Monitoring 
Duration Implementation Monitoring 

Applicable 
Project 

Component 
   As part of any permit applications, SMUD shall identify a habitat mitigation plan that shall include mitigation 

for impacted wetlands and waters on a no-net-loss basis. The plan may include onsite restoration, if 
feasible, offsite preservation, or purchasing mitigation credits from an agency-approved wetlands 
mitigation bank, paying an agency-approved in-lieu fee, and/or developing conservation lands to 
compensate for permanent loss of resources. Mitigation ratios shall be no less than 1:1 and shall be 
determined during the permitting process based on advanced project design.   

 SMUD shall implement all conditions of the permits, including any performance monitoring, if required, for 
onsite restoration and report on the results of the monitoring to the appropriate agencies at the frequency 
and duration included in the permits.  

Wetlands and other waters protection shall be included in the WEAP described above in Mitigation Measure 
3.4-1. 

     

Cultural 
Resources 

Impact 3.5-1 Cause a 
substantial adverse change 
in the significance of an 
archaeological resource 
pursuant to Section 
15064.5. 

Mitigation Measure 3.5.1: Halt ground-disturbing activity upon discovery of subsurface archaeological 
features.  
In the event that any pre-contact or historic-era subsurface archaeological features or deposits, including 
locally darkened soil (“midden”), that could conceal cultural deposits, are discovered during construction, all 
ground-disturbing activity within 100 feet of the resources shall be halted and a qualified professional 
archaeologist shall be retained to assess the significance of the find. If the find is determined to be significant 
by the qualified archaeologist (i.e., because it is determined to constitute either an historical resource, a 
unique archaeological resource, or a tribal cultural resource), the archaeologist shall develop appropriate 
procedures to protect the integrity of the resource and ensure that no additional resources are affected. 
Procedures could include, but would not be limited to, preservation in place (which shall be the preferred 
manner of mitigating impacts to archaeological sites), archival research, subsurface testing, or contiguous 
block unit excavation and data recovery (when it is the only feasible mitigation, and pursuant to a data 
recovery plan).   

If any pre-contact or 
historic-era subsurface 
archaeological 
features or deposits 
are discovered during 
construction, all 
ground-disturbing 
activity shall cease 
within 100 feet of the 
resource(s) discovered 
until an archaeologist 
can assess the 
significance of the 
find.  

During 
construction  

SMUD, Qualified 
Archaeologist, 
and Contractor  

SMUD All project 
components 
during 
construction  

Cultural 
Resources 

Impact 3.5-2. Disturb any 
human remains, including 
those interred outside of 
dedicated cemeteries. 

Mitigation Measure 3.5-2: Halt ground-disturbing activity upon discovery of human remains.  
If human remains are discovered during any construction activities, potentially damaging ground-disturbing 
activities within 100 feet of the remains shall be halted immediately, and SMUD will notify the Sacramento 
County coroner and the NAHC immediately, according to PRC Section 5097.98 and Section 7050.5 of the 
California Health and Safety Code. If the remains are determined by the NAHC to be Native American, the 
guidelines of the NAHC shall be followed during the treatment and disposition of the remains. SMUD shall 
also retain a professional archaeologist with Native American burial experience to conduct a field investigation 
of the specific site and consult with the Most Likely Descendant, if any, identified by the NAHC. Following the 
coroner’s and NAHC’s findings, the archaeologist and the NAHC-designated Most Likely Descendant shall 
determine the ultimate treatment and disposition of the remains and take appropriate steps to ensure that 
additional human interments are not disturbed. PRC Section 5097.94 identifies the responsibilities for acting 
upon notification of a discovery of Native American human remains.  

If human remains are 
discovered during 
construction, 
potentially damaging 
ground-disturbing 
activities within 100 
feet of the remains will 
be halted 
immediately.  
SMUD will notify 
Sacramento County 
coroner and the NAHC 
immediately.  

During 
construction  

SMUD, Qualified 
Archaeologist, 
and Contractor  

SMUD, 
Sacramento 
County, and 
NAHC  

All project 
components 
during 
construction  

 
 



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 87 

Table 4-1. Summary of Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

CEQA  
Issue Area Impacts Mitigation Measures 

Implementation 
Duration 

Monitoring 
Duration Implementation Monitoring 

Applicable 
Project 

Component 
Cultural 
Resources 

Impact 3.7-5. Directly or 
indirectly destroy a unique 
paleontological resource or 
site. 

Mitigation Measure 3.7-1: Avoid Impacts to Unique Paleontological Resources.  
To minimize the potential for destruction of or damage to previously unknown unique, scientifically important 
paleontological resources during earthmoving activities at the project site, SMUD shall do the following:   
 Prior to the start of earthmoving activities, retain either a qualified archaeologist or paleontologist to 

develop relevant materials related to paleontological resources for inclusion in the project’s Worker 
Environmental Awareness Program (WEAP) program to inform all construction personnel involved with 
earthmoving activities regarding the possibility of encountering fossils, the appearance and types of fossils 
likely to be seen during construction, and proper notification procedures should fossils be encountered.  

 If paleontological resources are discovered during earthmoving activities, the construction crew shall 
immediately cease work in the vicinity of the find and notify SMUD. SMUD shall retain a qualified 
paleontologist to evaluate the resource and prepare a recovery plan. The recovery plan may include, but is 
not limited to, a field survey, construction monitoring, sampling and data recovery procedures, museum 
curation for any specimen recovered, and a report of findings. Recommendations in the recovery plan that 
are determined by SMUD to be necessary and feasible shall be implemented before construction activities 
can resume at the site where the paleontological resource or resources were discovered.   

Before earthmoving 
activities, a qualified 
paleontologist or 
archaeologist will 
inform construction 
personnel on what 
paleontological 
resources are and 
what to do if one is 
found.  
Qualified 
paleontologist to 
evaluate resources if 
found and prepare a 
recovery plan. 

Before and during 
construction 
activities  

SMUD, Qualified 
Paleontologist, 
and Contractor  

SMUD All project 
components 
during 
construction  

Greenhouse 
Gas Emissions 

Impact 3.8-1. Generate 
greenhouse gas emissions, 
either directly or indirectly, 
that may have a significant 
impact on the 
environment?   

Mitigation Measure 3.8-1: Implement Construction GHG Emission Best Management Practices during 
Construction Activities   
Improve fuel efficiency from construction equipment by:  
 Minimizing idling time either by shutting equipment off when not in use or reducing the time of idling to no 

more than 3 minutes (5-minute limit is required by the state airborne toxics control measure [Title 13, 
sections 2449(d)(3) and 2485 of the CCR]). Provide clear signage that posts this requirement for workers 
at the entrances to the site.  

 Maintaining all construction equipment in proper working condition according to manufacturer’s 
specifications. The equipment must be checked by a certified mechanic and determined to be running in 
proper condition before it is operated.  

 Training equipment operators in proper use of equipment.  
 Using the proper size of equipment for the job.  
 Using equipment with new technologies (repowered engines, electric drive trains).  
 Perform on-site material hauling with trucks equipped with on-road engines (if determined to be less 

emissive than the off-road engines).  
 Use alternative fuels for generators at construction sites such as propane or solar or use electrical power.  
 Use CARB-approved low carbon fuel for construction equipment.  
 Encourage and provide carpools, shuttle vans, transit passes and/or secure bicycle parking for 

construction worker commutes.  
 Develop a plan to efficiently use water for adequate dust control.  
 Reduce electricity use in the construction office by using compact fluorescent bulbs or light emitting 

diodes, powering off computers every day, and replacing heating and cooling units with more efficient 
ones.   

 Recycle or salvage non-hazardous construction and demolition debris, when practicable (goal of at least 
75% by weight).  

Best Management 
Practices shall be 
implemented during 
construction. 

During construction SMUD and 
Contractor 

SMUD All project 
components 
during 
construction 

 



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 88 

Table 4-1. Summary of Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

CEQA  
Issue Area Impacts Mitigation Measures 

Implementation 
Duration 

Monitoring 
Duration Implementation Monitoring 

Applicable 
Project 

Component 
Noise Impact 3.13-1. Temporary, 

Short-Term Exposure of 
Sensitive Receptors to 
Construction Noise.   

Mitigation Measure 3.13-1. For Construction Outside of Permitted Construction Hours ((Section 
6.68.090[e] of the County of Sacramento Code)), Implement Noise-Reducing Construction Practices 
and Monitor and Record Construction Noise near Sensitive Receptors.  
The project applicant(s) and their construction contractors shall employ noise-reducing construction practices 
to avoid and minimize construction noise effects on sensitive receptors outside permitted construction hours:   
 Pile driving shall be limited to the hours between 6 a.m. and 8 p.m. Monday through Friday and Sunday, 

and between 7 a.m. and 6 p.m. on Saturdays.  
 Construction equipment and equipment staging areas for equipment that generates noise levels of 70 dB 

or more at 50 feet shall be located as far as possible from nearby noise-sensitive land uses.  
 All construction equipment shall be properly maintained and equipped with noise-reduction intake and 

exhaust mufflers and engine shrouds, in accordance with manufacturers’ recommendations. Equipment 
engine shrouds shall be closed during equipment operation.  

 All motorized construction equipment shall be shut down when not in use to prevent idling.  
 Individual operations and techniques shall be replaced with quieter procedures (e.g., using welding instead 

of riveting, mixing concrete off-site instead of on-site).  
 Noise-reducing enclosures shall be used around stationary noise-generating equipment (e.g., compressors 

and generators).   
 Written notification of construction activities shall be provided to all noise-sensitive receptors located within 

500 feet of the project site. Notification shall include anticipated dates and hours during which construction 
activities are anticipated to occur and contact information, including a daytime telephone number, for the 
project representative to be contacted in the event that noise levels are deemed excessive. 
Recommendations to assist noise-sensitive land uses in reducing interior noise levels (e.g., closing 
windows and doors) shall also be included in the notification.  

 Should nighttime construction (including very early morning) become necessary, the project applicant shall 
conduct a preliminary noise assessment to evaluate the potential for exceedances at the property 
boundaries of the nearest sensitive receptors. This assessment will determine if additional mitigation, such 
as real-time noise monitoring or other measures, is warranted. This ensures compliance with the County 
Noise Ordinance while maintaining flexibility and practicality in project execution.   

Noise-generating 
construction 
operations shall be 
limited to 6 a.m. to 8 
p.m. on weekdays and 
Sunday and 7 a.m. to 
6 p.m. on Saturdays.  
Written notification of 
construction activities 
to sensitive noise 
receptors located 
within 500 feet of 
construction activities 
will be distributed prior 
to construction.  
Preliminary noise 
assessment shall be 
conducted if nighttime 
construction becomes 
necessary. 

During construction SMUD and 
Contractor 

SMUD All project 
components 
during 
construction 

Transportation  Impact 3.17-3: Substantially 
increase hazards due to a 
geometric design feature 
(e.g., sharp curves or 
dangerous intersections) or 
incompatible uses (e.g., 
farm equipment).   

Mitigation Measure 3.17-1. Prepare and Implement a Traffic Control Plan.  
To address potential traffic hazards during construction, prior to the commencement of construction or 
demolition activities, SMUD or its construction contractor shall prepare a traffic control plan for review and 
approval by Sacramento County Department of Transportation. The measures to be included in the traffic 
control plan include signage, traffic cones, and flaggers to help ensure safe and efficient movement of traffic 
through the affected area, with a focus on safety on roadways adjacent to project site and project activities. In 
addition, the traffic control plan would provide for notification of emergency responders regarding the planned 
construction activities.   

Prior to the 
commencement of 
construction or 
demolition activities, 
SMUD or contractor 
will submit Traffic 
Control Plan to 
Sacramento County 
Department of 
Transportation 
Traffic Control Plan 
implemented during 
construction 

Before and during 
construction  

Contractor SMUD and 
Sacramento 
County 
Department of 
Transportation 

PV solar panels, 
BESS and 
substation 
construction  

 
 



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 89 

Table 4-1. Summary of Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

CEQA  
Issue Area Impacts Mitigation Measures 

Implementation 
Duration 

Monitoring 
Duration Implementation Monitoring 

Applicable 
Project 

Component 
Tribal Cultural 
Resources  

Impact 3.18.1. Would the 
project cause a substantial 
adverse change in the 
significance of a tribal 
cultural resource, defined in 
Public Resources Code 
Section 21074 as either a 
site, feature, place, cultural 
landscape that is 
geographically defined in 
terms of the size and scope 
of the landscape, sacred 
place, or object with cultural 
value to a California Native 
American Tribe, and that 
is:   
Listed or eligible for listing in 
the California Register of 
Historical Resources, or in a 
local register of historical 
resources as defined in 
Public Resources Code 
section 5020.1(k), or   
A resource determined by 
the lead agency, in its 
discretion and supported by 
substantial evidence, to be 
significant pursuant to 
criteria set forth in 
subdivision (c) of Public 
Resources Code 
Section 5024.1. In applying 
the criteria set forth in 
subdivision (c) of Public 
Resources Code Section 
5024.1, the lead agency 
shall consider the 
significance of the resource 
to a California Native 
American Tribe?  

Mitigation Measure 3.18-1. Inadvertent/Unanticipated TCR Discoveries.  
Worker Environmental Awareness Program (WEAP): 
SMUD shall prepare a Worker Environmental Awareness Program (WEAP) that shall educate staff regarding 
archaeological sensitivity and the potential presence of tribal cultural resources. This WEAP shall include 
tribal cultural resources avoidance and minimization measures/mitigation measures from the project’s CEQA 
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program (MMRP). The WEAP shall provide specific details on the kinds 
of tribal cultural resources that may be identified during construction of the project and explain the protocol for 
treatment in the event of an unanticipated discovery, including the legal implications of violating applicable 
laws and regulations. The WEAP can be provided in the form of a handout and/or video presentation. All staff 
working onsite shall attend the WEAP training prior to commencing onsite work. Staff that attend the training 
shall fill out a sign-in sheet indicating that they completed the training.  
Discovery Procedure: 
If any suspected TCRs or resources of cultural significance to UAIC, including but not limited to features, 
anthropogenic/cultural soils, cultural belongings or objects (artifacts), shell, bone, shaped stones or bone, or 
ash/charcoal deposits are discovered by any person during construction activities including ground disturbing 
activities, all work shall pause immediately within 100 feet of the find, or an agreed upon distance based on 
the project area and nature of the find. Work shall cease in and within the immediate vicinity of the find 
regardless of whether the construction is being actively monitored by a Tribal Monitor, cultural resources 
specialist, or professional archaeologist.  
A Tribal Representative and SMUD shall be immediately notified, and the Tribal Representative in 
coordination with the SMUD shall determine if the find is a TCR (PRC Section 21074) and the Tribal 
Representative shall make recommendations for further evaluation and treatment as necessary.  
Treatment and Documentation:   
The culturally affiliated Tribe shall consult with SMUD to (1) identify the boundaries of the new TCR and (2) if 
feasible, identify appropriate preservation in place and avoidance measures, including redesign or 
adjustments to the existing construction process, and long-term management, or 3) if avoidance is infeasible, 
a reburial location in proximity of the find where no future disturbance is anticipated. Permanent curation of 
TCRs shall not take place unless approved in writing by the culturally affiliated Tribe.   
The construction contractor(s) shall provide secure, on-site storage for culturally sensitive soils or objects that 
are components of TCRs that are found or recovered during construction. Only Tribal Representatives shall 
have access to the storage. Storage size shall be determined by the nature of the TCR and can range from a 
small lock box to a Conex box (shipping container). A secure (locked), fenced area can also provide adequate 
on-site storage if larger amounts of material must be stored.  
The construction contractor(s) and SMUD shall facilitate the respectful reburial of the culturally sensitive soils 
or objects. This includes providing a reburial location that is consistent with the Tribe’s preferences, 
excavation of the reburial location, and assisting with the reburial, upon request.  
Any discoveries shall be documented on a Department of Parks and Recreation 523 form within 2 weeks of 
the discovery and submitted to the appropriate California Historical Resources Information System 
Information Center in a timely manner.  
Work at the TCR discovery location shall not resume until authorization is granted by SMUD in coordination 
with the culturally affiliated Tribe.  
If articulated or disarticulated human remains, or human remains in any state of decomposition or skeletal 
completeness are discovered during construction activities, the Sacramento County Coroner shall be 
contacted immediately. Upon determination by the Sacramento County Coroner that the find is Native 
American in origin, the NAHC shall assign the Most Likely Descendent who shall work with the project 
proponent to define appropriate treatment and disposition of the burials.   

Before construction 
and in the event of an 
inadvertent/unanticipat
ed TCR discovery 

Before and during 
construction  

Tribal 
Monitor/cultural 
resources 
specialist/ 
professional 
archaeologist, 
Contractor, and 
SMUD  

SMUD and NAHC All project 
components 
during 
construction 

 
  



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

Page 90 

 

This page intentionally left blank



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

   Page 91 

5.0 REFERENCES 
California Energy Commission. 2024. Investigating the “Lake Effect” Influence on Avian 

Behavior from California’s Utility‑Scale Photovoltaic Solar Facilities. Available: 
Investigating the “Lake Effect” Influence on Avian Behavior From California’s Utility-
Scale Photovoltaic Solar Facilities. 

Rapp Learn, J. 2021. TWS2021: Limited evidence birds confuse solar panels with lakes. The 
Wildlife Society. Available: https://wildlife.org/tws2021-limited-evidence-birds-confuse-
solar-panels-with-lakes/. 

  

https://www.energy.ca.gov/sites/default/files/2024-06/CEC-500-2024-055.pdf
https://www.energy.ca.gov/sites/default/files/2024-06/CEC-500-2024-055.pdf
https://wildlife.org/tws2021-limited-evidence-birds-confuse-solar-panels-with-lakes/
https://wildlife.org/tws2021-limited-evidence-birds-confuse-solar-panels-with-lakes/


 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

   Page 92 

 

This page intentionally left blank 

  



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

   Page 93 

6.0 FINAL EIR AUTHORS/PREPARERS 

6.1 Sacramento Municipal Utility District (Lead Agency)  
Kim Crawford ............................................................................................ Project/Task Manager 

Ammon Rice ........................................................................ Environmental Services Supervisor 

Sarah Cheney .................................................................. Senior Project Development Manager 

Amanda Beck ............................................................ Renewable Project Development Manager 

6.2 AECOM (FEIR Preparation) 
Petra Unger ..................................................................................................... Program Manager 

Emily Biro ................................................................................................. Environmental Analyst 

Paola Pena ................................................................................. Air Quality and GHG Specialist 

Debby Jew ............................................................................................... Document Preparation 

  



 Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR 
September 2025 

   Page 94 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 



Page 1  

Oveja Ranch Solar  
Project CEQA Findings 

September 2025 
 
 
 

CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT FINDINGS 
IN CONNECTION WITH 

Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT, OVEJA RANCH SOLAR 
PROJECT 

 

I. Introduction 
 

The Sacramento Municipal Utility District (SMUD) is lead agency under the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) for purposes of the Oveja Ranch Solar Project, 
hereafter the Project. CEQA prohibits an agency from approving or carrying out a project 
for which significant effects have been identified, unless the agency can make one or more 
of a set of three findings set forth in Public Resources Code (PRC) section 21081, 
subdivision (a): 

 
(1) Changes or alterations have been required in, or incorporated into, the project 
which mitigate or avoid the significant effects on the environment. 

 
(2) Those changes or alterations are within the responsibility and jurisdiction of 
another public agency and have been, or can and should be, adopted by that other 
agency. 

 
(3) Specific economic, legal, social, technological, or other considerations, 
including considerations for the provision of employment opportunities for highly 
trained workers, make infeasible the mitigation measures or alternatives identified 
in the environmental impact report. (See also California Code of Regulations [CCR] 
Title 14, section 15091.) 

 
When significant effects are subject to a finding under paragraph (3) of subdivision (a), it 
means that a significant and unavoidable environmental impact would result from project 
implementation. If this occurs, the public agency must find that specific overriding 
economic, legal, social, technological, or other benefits of the project outweigh the 
significant effects on the environment, if the agency approves the project. (PRC section 
21081, subd.(b).) 

 
CEQA requires public agencies to prepare a program for monitoring or reporting on the 
revisions which it requires in the project and the measures it has imposed to mitigate or 
avoid significant environmental effects. (CCR Title 14, section 15097, subd. (a).) 

DRAFT 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 2 

 

 

 
 
 

Under PRC section 21002.1, subdivision (d), when issuing an approval for an aspect of a 
project for which a lead agency has performed CEQA review, a responsible agency 
considers only the aspects of the project that the agency is required by law to carry out 
or approve. SMUD therefore provides the following CEQA findings and mitigation 
monitoring and reporting plan (MMRP) (Attachment 1) that concern potentially significant 
impacts to resources identified by the lead agency as part of the CEQA review and in 
fulfillment of CCR Title 14, section 15097, subd. (a). 

 
II. CEQA Compliance 

 
SMUD, as the lead agency pursuant to CEQA, has prepared a Draft and Final 
Environmental Impact Report (EIR) for the proposed Oveja Ranch Solar Project (Project). 
The SMUD Board of Directors (Board) hereby issues these Findings and concurrently 
certifies the EIR. 

 
The Final EIR has been assigned State Clearinghouse Number 2024090310. The Final 
EIR consists of both the Draft EIR, as amended through the Final EIR, and an MMRP. 
The Final EIR assesses the potential environmental effects of implementation of the 
Project, identifies the means to eliminate or reduce potentially significant adverse 
environmental impacts, and evaluates a reasonable range of alternatives to the Project. 
The Final EIR explains Project updates and includes an MMRP that outlines the 
substance and timing of mitigation measures required for the Project. 

 
Pursuant to PRC section 21081 and CCR Title 14, section 15090, the Board hereby 
certifies that it completed the following activities prior taking action related to 
activities/phases evaluated under the Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR: the Board has 
received the Final EIR; the Board has reviewed and considered the information contained 
in the Final EIR and received through public comments; and the Board has considered all 
additional written and oral statements received prior to or at its public hearing on the Final 
EIR. The Board additionally certifies that the Final EIR was completed in compliance with 
CEQA (PRC section 21000 et seq.), the CEQA Guidelines (CCR Title 14, section 15000 
et seq.), and SMUD’s policies and procedures for the implementation of CEQA and that 
the Final EIR reflects SMUD’s independent judgment and analysis. The conclusions 
presented in these Findings are based on the Final EIR and other evidence in the 
administrative record. 

 
The findings set forth below pertain to the certification of the EIR for the Oveja Ranch 
Solar Project. 

 
Findings 

 
Having received, reviewed, and considered the Final EIR and all other information in the 
administrative record, the Board hereby adopts the following Findings for the Oveja 
Ranch Solar Project EIR in compliance with CEQA, the CEQA Guidelines, and SMUD’s 
procedures for implementing CEQA. The Board adopts these Findings in conjunction 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 3 

 

 

with its approval of the Oveja Ranch Solar Project, as set forth below. 
 

a. Project Description and Background 
 

Project Background 

California’s energy supply and demand is continually evolving as a result of state 
mandates to address climate change and supply a growing population. SMUD has 
designed its resource procurement plans to meet the directive by its Board of Directors 
to use dependable renewable resources to eliminate carbon emissions from its power 
supply by 2030, as described in SMUD’s 2030 Zero Carbon Plan (SMUD 2021). This 
goal is consistent with Senate Bill 350, which was signed into law in 2015. Senate Bill 
100 accelerated the deadline for reaching the 50 percent milestone to 2026, and 60 
percent by 2030. The law also establishes as state policy that renewable energy 
resources and zero-carbon resources are to supply 100 percent of retail sales of 
electricity to California end use customers by 2045. SMUD has the ambitious goal of 
becoming 100 percent carbon free by 2030, ahead of the state target. The proposed 
project is an important element in helping SMUD achieve this goal. 

Project Description 
 

The Oveja Ranch Solar Project includes construction and operation of a PV solar power and 
battery storage facility and interconnection facilities, including a generation substation, and 
interconnection lines, that would provide new power production capacity of up to 75 MW 
delivered at the point of interconnection with the electrical grid managed by SMUD. The 
project components would generally comprise PV solar modules, foundation piles, racking, 
direct current (DC) collection, alternative current (AC) collection, fencing, roads, inverters, 
medium voltage transformers, generation substation equipment, BESS equipment, and 
interconnection lines and poles to the existing SMUD distribution system. During 
construction, a temporary construction trailer/office complex and staging areas would be 
established. During operation, the proposed Project would likely include a small structure or 
storage container that would provide space for an onsite office for the site operator, 
equipment storage, and portable sanitary facilities. 
 
SMUD would lease up to 400 acres of land for the duration of the Project within the 534-acre 
project site. The Project includes constructing PV solar panels, a battery energy storage 
system (BESS), a substation, and new and upgraded distribution lines to interconnect the 
project to SMUD’s existing distribution system.  
 
Project construction would take approximately 18 to 24 months and is proposed to begin as 
early as the third quarter of 2026 and conclude in 2028. At the end of the Project’s useful life 
(anticipated to be 30 to 35 years), the site and all project components (except for the 
upgraded distribution lines) would be decommissioned. 

 
b. Absence of Significant New Information 

 
CEQA Guidelines section 15088.5 requires a lead agency to recirculate an EIR for further 
review and comment when significant new information is added to the EIR after public 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 4 

 

 

notice is given of the availability of the draft EIR but before certification. New information 
includes: (i) changes to the project; (ii) changes in the environmental setting; or (iii) 
additional data or other information. CEQA Guidelines section 15088.5 further provides 
that “[n]ew information added to an EIR is not ‘significant’ unless the EIR is changed in a 
way that deprives the public of a meaningful opportunity to comment upon a substantial 
adverse environmental effect of the project or a feasible way to mitigate or avoid such an 
effect (including a feasible project alternative) that the project’s proponents have declined 
to implement.” 

 
During the public review of the Draft EIR from March 17, 2025 to May 2, 2025, comment 
letters were received on the Draft EIR from the Sacramento Department of Transportation, 
Southgate Recreation and Park District, Sacramento County Department of Community 
Development, East Bay Municipal Utility District, Sacramento County Water Agency – 
Water Supply Planning, Sacramento Metropolitan Air Quality Management District, 
California Department of Fish and Wildlife, and Defenders of Wildlife. 
 
Revisions were made to the Draft EIR at that time to clarify information regarding 
maximum daily construction-related and operational emissions of criteria air pollutants 
and precursors biological mitigation measures, Tribal Cultural Resources mitigation 
measure 3.18-1, revisions to description of a Local Transportation Analysis , and revisions to 
description of coordination with Southgate Recreation & Park District.  
 
Having reviewed the information contained in the Draft and Final EIR, and in the 
administrative record, including all comments received, as well as the requirements under 
CEQA Guidelines section 15088.5, the Board specifically finds that: no new significant 
environmental impact would result from the Project or from the implementation of a 
mitigation measure; no substantial increase in the severity of an environmental impact 
would result, or if such an increase would result, SMUD has adopted mitigation measures 
to reduce the impact to a level of insignificance; SMUD has not declined to adopt any 
feasible Project alternative or mitigation measures that would clearly lessen the 
environmental impacts of the Project; and the Draft EIR is not so fundamentally and 
basically inadequate in nature that it precluded meaningful public review. 

 
Having reviewed the information in the Draft EIR, Final EIR, and administrative record, 
the Board finds that no new significant information was added to the EIR following public 
review, and recirculation of the EIR is therefore unnecessary and not required by CEQA. 

 
c. Environmental Impacts Summary 

 
As required by CEQA and the CEQA Guidelines, the following section summarizes the 
direct, indirect, and cumulative environmental impacts of the Project identified in the Final 
EIR and includes the Board’s Findings regarding those impacts and any mitigation 
measures set forth in the Final EIR, adopted by the Board, and incorporated as 
requirements of the Project. These Findings summarize the determinations of the Final 
EIR with respect to the Project’s impacts before and after mitigation and do not attempt 
to describe the full analysis of each environmental impact considered in the Final EIR. 
Instead, the Findings provide a summary of each impact, describe the applicable 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 5 

 

 

mitigation measures identified in the Final EIR and adopted by the Board, and state the 
Board’s Findings regarding the significance of each impact with the adopted mitigation 
measures. The Final EIR contains a full explanation of each impact, mitigation measure, 
and the analysis that led SMUD to its conclusions on that impact. These Findings hereby 
incorporate by reference the discussion and analysis in the Final EIR, which support the 
Final EIR’s determinations regarding the Project’s environmental impacts and mitigation 
measures. In making these Findings, the Board ratifies, adopts, and incorporates by 
reference the Final EIR’s analysis, determinations, and conclusions relating to 
environmental impacts and mitigation measures. The substantial evidence supporting 
these findings and conclusions is set forth in the Final EIR and the record of proceedings. 

 
The Board hereby adopts, and incorporates as conditions of approval, the mitigation 
measures set forth in the findings below to reduce or avoid the potentially significant 
impacts of the Project. In adopting the mitigation measures described below, the Board 
intends to adopt each of the mitigation measures recommended in the Final EIR. 
Accordingly, in the event that a mitigation measure recommended in the Final EIR has 
been inadvertently omitted from these Findings, that mitigation measure is hereby 
adopted and incorporated by reference in the Findings. Additionally, in the event that the 
description of mitigation measures set forth below fails accurately to capture the 
substance of a given mitigation measure due to a clerical error (as distinct from specific 
and express modification by the Board through these Findings), the language of the 
mitigation measure as set forth in the Final EIR shall govern. 

 
1. Significant and Unavoidable Adverse Impacts and Related Mitigation Measures 

 
Pursuant to PRC section 21081(b) and CEQA Guidelines section 15093, where the lead 
agency identifies significant adverse environmental impacts that cannot feasibly be 
mitigated to a less-than-significant level, the lead agency may nonetheless approve the 
project if it finds that specific economic, legal, social, technological, or other benefits of 
the project outweigh the unavoidable significant environmental impacts. 

 
As detailed in the Draft EIR and Final EIR, there are no significant and unavoidable 
impacts associated with the Project. Therefore, there are no findings required for 
significant and unavoidable impacts. 

 
2. Issues for which the Project would have a Less-than-Significant Impact with 

Project-specific Mitigation Measures Incorporated 
 

Pursuant to PRC section 21081(a)(1) and CEQA Guidelines section 15091(a)(1), the 
following potentially significant impacts identified in the Final EIR will be reduced to less- 
than-significant impacts through the implementation of the mitigation measures hereby 
incorporated into the Project. 

 

 
 
 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 6 

 

 

 
Agriculture and Forestry Resources 

Impact 3.2-1. Convert Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or Farmland of Statewide 
Importance (Farmland), as shown on the maps prepared pursuant to the FMMP of 
the California Resources Agency, to non-agricultural use?  

The project site contains a total of 501 acres of Important Farmland, with 421 acres in the 
southern area and 80 acres in the northern area. Of this, 258.4 acres are designated as 
Farmland of Statewide Importance (205.4 acres in the southern area and 53 acres in the 
northern area) and 242.6 acres are designated as Farmland of Local Importance (215.6 
acres in the southern area and 27 acres in the northern area). The proposed Project 
anticipates long-term impacts to approximately 4.1 acres of Important Farmland (0.3 
acres of Farmland of Local Importance and 3.8 acres of Farmland of Statewide 
Importance), where the substation and BESS would be located. Farmland of Local 
Importance is not classified as Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or Farmland of 
Statewide Importance. As such, any potential conversion of this land would not be 
considered an impact under CEQA. However, per Appendix G of the CEQA Guidelines, 
the conversion of Farmland of Statewide Importance to a non-agricultural use is a 
potentially significant impact under CEQA. This would be a potentially significant impact.  

Mitigation Measure 3.2-1. Preserve Farmland of Statewide Importance  
SMUD shall compensate for the loss of 3.8 acres of Farmland of Statewide Importance 
by preserving land of the same designation at a 1:1 ratio (i.e., 1 acre on which 
easements are acquired to 1 acre of Farmland of Statewide Importance removed from 
agricultural use). SMUD shall acquire agricultural conservation easement(s) that 
provide in-kind resource value protection in the region, with a strong preference for 
locating the agricultural conservation easement(s) in Sacramento County. This can be 
achieved by the acquisition of conservation easement(s), farmland deed restriction, or 
other appropriate farmland conservation mechanism to ensure the preservation of the 
land in perpetuity. 
The impact acreage requiring offset shall be based on the most current FMMP1 at the 
time of Sacramento County’s approval of the Williamson Act contract amendment. 
 

Finding: The Board finds that implementation of the Oveja Ranch Solar Project would 
result in the conversion of Farmland of Statewide Importance to a non-agricultural use 
that would be potentially significant. With implementation of Mitigation Measures 3.2-1, 
potential impacts would be reduced to a less-than-significant level. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1 Acronyms are defined in the EIR. 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 7 

 

 

 
 

Air Quality 
Impact 3.2-1: Conflict with or obstruct implementation of the applicable air quality 
plan? 

 
Project construction and operation would not generate emissions in excess of the 
Sacramento Metropolitan Air Quality Management District (SMAQMD) thresholds of 
significance. However, because the Project would generate particulate matter (PM) 
emissions during construction activities and routine maintenance activities, 
implementation of best management practices would be required in order to use the 
SMAQMD thresholds of significance. Therefore, without implementation of SMAQMD best 
management practices, project emissions have the potential to conflict with or obstruct 
implementation of the applicable air quality plans related to PM. This would be a 
potentially significant impact.  

Mitigation Measure 3.3-1a. Implement Basic Construction Emission Control Practices 
(Best Management Practices) and Enhanced Fugitive PM Dust Control Practices during 
Construction 

• SMUD shall include as a condition of the construction bidding, incorporation of dust 
control measures that shall include, at a minimum, the requirements of SMAQMD 
Rule 403. All fugitive dust control measures shall be shown on grading, 
improvement, and demolition plans, to be initiated at the start and maintained 
throughout the duration of the construction activities. 

o Water all exposed active work areas two times daily, or with adequate frequency 
for continued moist soil. Exposed surfaces include, but are not limited to soil 
piles, graded areas, unpaved parking areas, staging areas, and access roads. 
However, do not overwater to the extent that sediment flows off the site. 

o Cover or maintain at least two feet of free board space on haul trucks 
transporting soil, sand, or other loose material on the site. Any haul trucks that 
would be traveling along freeways or major roadways should be covered. 

o Use wet power vacuum street sweepers to remove any visible trackout mud or 
dirt onto adjacent public roads at least once a day. Use of dry power sweeping 
is prohibited.  

o Limit vehicle speeds on unpaved roads to 15 miles per hour (mph). 

o Suspend excavation, grading, and/or demolition activity when average wind 
speeds exceed 20 mph. 

o All roadways, driveways, sidewalks, parking lots to be paved should be 
completed as soon as possible. In addition, building pads should be laid as soon 
as possible after grading unless seeding or soil binders are used. 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 8 

 

 

o Install wheel washers, rattle plates and/or rock aprons for all exiting trucks or 
equipment leaving the site. 

o Treat site accesses from the paved road with a 6 to 12- inch layer of gravel to 
reduce generation of road dust and road dust carryout onto public roads. 

o Post a publicly visible sign with the telephone number and person to contact at 
the County of Sacramento regarding dust complaints. This person shall respond 
and take corrective action within 48 hours. The phone number of the SMAQMD 
shall also be visible to ensure compliance. 

• Minimize idling time either by shutting equipment off when not in use or reducing 
the time of idling to 5 minutes [California Code of Regulations, Title 13, sections 
2449(d)(3) and 2485]. Provide clear signage that posts this requirement for workers 
at the entrances to the site. 

• Provide current certificate(s) of compliance for CARB’s In-Use Off-Road Diesel-
Fueled Fleets Regulation [California Code of Regulations, Title 13, sections 2449 
and 2449.1]. For more information contact CARB at 877-593-6677, 
doors@arb.ca.gov, or www.arb.ca.gov/doors/compliance_cert1.html. 

• Maintain all construction equipment in proper working condition according to 
manufacturer’s specifications. The equipment must be checked by a certified 
mechanic and determine to be running in proper condition before it is operated. 

Mitigation Measure 3.3-1b. Reduce Off-Road Equipment Exhaust-Related Emissions 
During Construction  

• SMUD shall require off-road diesel-fueled equipment with engines larger than 50 
horsepower to meet or exceed EPA/CARB Tier 4 Final emissions standards. An 
exemption from these requirements may be granted if SMUD documents that 
equipment with the required tier is not reasonably available and corresponding 
reductions in criteria air pollutant emissions are achieved from other construction 
equipment (see completion of the Construction Emissions Control Plan in Mitigation 
Measure 3.3-3c below). Before an exemption may be considered by SMUD, the 
applicant shall be required to demonstrate that two construction fleet 
owners/operators in Sacramento County were contacted and that those 
owners/operators confirmed Tier 4 equipment could not be located within 
Sacramento County. 

Mitigation Measure 3.3-1c. Submit Construction Emissions Control Plans 

• Prior to SMUD’s approval of contractor grading plans, the construction contractor 
shall submit a Construction Emissions Control Plan to the SMAQMD and provide 
written evidence to SMUD that the plan has been submitted to and approved by 
SMAQMD. The construction contractor shall not initiate any on-site or off-site 
construction activity until SMAQMD has approved the Construction Emissions 
Control Plan and proof of approval has been submitted to SMUD by the contractor. 

http://www.arb.ca.gov/doors/compliance_cert1.html


Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 9 

 

 

The Construction Emissions Control Plan shall cover all construction activities and 
include the following: 

• A comprehensive equipment inventory (e.g., make, model, year, emission (tier) 
rating, projected hours of use, and CARB equipment identification number) of all the 
heavy-duty off-road equipment (50 horsepower or greater) that will be used 
throughout the construction duration. If any new equipment is added after 
submission of the inventory, the contractor shall notify the SMAQMD and SMUD 
before using the new equipment. At least three business days before the use of 
subject heavy-duty off-road equipment, the project representative shall provide the 
SMAQMD and SMUD with the anticipated construction timeline including start date, 
name, and phone number of the property owner, project manager, and on-site 
foreman.  

• An anticipated off-site heavy-duty truck trip activity schedule (duration of truck trip 
activity, anticipated origin/destination of truck trips, and estimated total and daily 
truck trips per day) and anticipated truck fleet inventory (e.g., make, model, engine 
year) throughout the construction duration.  

• With submittal of the equipment inventory and anticipated on-road heavy-duty truck 
trip activity, the contractor shall provide a written calculation of the Project’s total 
and daily construction emissions to the SMAQMD for approval. If any new 
equipment or haul truck activity is added after the submission and approval of the 
inventory, the construction contractor shall update the inventory and construction 
emissions calculations and provide to the SMAQMD and SMUD prior to the use of 
such equipment and trucks. The emissions calculations shall be calculated using 
SMAQMD’s Construction Mitigation Calculator; this tool is currently available on the 
SMAQMD’s website at the following link: http://www.airquality.org/businesses/ceqa-
land-use-planning/mitigation. 

Mitigation Measure 3.3-1d. Off-Site Construction Mitigation 

If, based upon the incorporation of all measures described above in Mitigation 
Measures 3.3-1a through 3.3-1c, NOX emissions still exceed the daily SMAQMD 
threshold for NOX, the Project shall participate in the SMAQMD’s Off-site Mitigation 
Program by paying to SMAQMD a mitigation fee for construction activities, to be 
determined at the time of construction based on the submitted equipment 
inventories and heavy-duty truck activity and emissions calculations for NOX 
emissions, such that emissions are reduced to less-than-significant. The fee 
calculation to mitigate daily emissions shall be based on the most recent SMAQMD 
mitigation fee rate at the time of calculation, which is reviewed and adjusted 
annually. The current mitigation fee rate is $30,000 per ton of emissions with a 5 
percent administrative fee in addition to the mitigation fee. The total fee shall be 
determined based on the total emissions reductions of NOX needed to reduce 
emissions to be less than the SMAQMD thresholds of 85 pounds per day for NOX. 
The fee shall be submitted for approval by SMAQMD as the total required to achieve 
emissions reductions that would reduce total emissions to less-than-significant after 

http://www.airquality.org/businesses/ceqa-land-use-planning/mitigation
http://www.airquality.org/businesses/ceqa-land-use-planning/mitigation


Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 10 

 

 

all other mitigation measures are implemented. The fee shall be calculated, 
approved by SMAQMD, and paid by SMUD prior to SMUD’s approval of grading or 
improvement plans to the construction contractor. 

Mitigation Measure 3.3-1e. Implement Best Management Practices for Reducing 
Operational PM Emissions 

• As part of the PV facility operations maintenance contract, SMUD shall include the 
following best management practice requirements for fugitive dust control during 
operational and maintenance activities associated with the project: 

• Limit vehicle speeds on unpaved roads to 15 mph. 

• Minimize idling time either by shutting equipment off when not in use or reducing 
the time of idling to 5 minutes [California Code of Regulations, Title 13, sections 
2449(d)(3) and 2485]. Provide clear signage that posts this requirement for workers 
at the entrances to the site. 

• Compliance with anti-idling regulations for diesel powered commercial motor 
vehicles (greater than 10,000 gross vehicular weight rating). The current 
requirements include limiting idling time to 5 minutes and installing technologies on 
the vehicles that support anti-idling. Information can be found on the California Air 
Resources Board’s website: https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/ourwork/programs/idle-
reduction-technologies/idle-reduction-technologies. 

Finding: The Board finds that implementation of the Oveja Ranch Solar Project would 
result in the generation of air pollutant emissions during construction and operation that 
would be potentially significant without implementation of applicable SMAQMD best 
management practices. Adoption and incorporation of Mitigation Measures 3.3-1a 
through 3.3-1e into the Project will reduce the impact to a less-than-significant level. 
Therefore, the Project with mitigation will not cause significant cumulative air quality 
impacts during construction and operation activities. 

 
Impact 3.2-2. Result in a cumulatively considerable net increase of any criteria 
pollutant for which the project region is non-attainment under an applicable federal 
or state ambient air quality standard? 

 
Project construction would exceed SMAQMD’s recommended threshold for NOX, an 
ozone precursor. Since the Project would generate PM emissions during operation, 
implementation of BMPs would be required in order to use the SMAQMD non-zero 
thresholds of significance. This would be a potentially significant impact.  

 
Mitigation Measure 3.3-2. Implement Mitigation Measures 3.3-1a (Implement Basic 
Construction Emission Control Practices [Best Management Practices] and Enhanced 
Fugitive PM Dust Control Practices during Construction), 3.3-1b (Reduce Off-Road 
Equipment Exhaust-Related Emissions During Construction), 3.3-1c (Submit 
Construction Emissions Control Plans), 3.3-1d (Off-Site Construction Mitigation), and 

https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/ourwork/programs/idle-reduction-technologies/idle-reduction-technologies
https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/ourwork/programs/idle-reduction-technologies/idle-reduction-technologies


Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 11 

 

 

3.3-1e (Implement Best Management Practices for Reducing Operational PM 
Emissions) (described above) 

 
Finding: The Board finds that implementation of the Oveja Ranch Solar Project would 
result in the generation of air pollutant emissions during construction and operation that 
would be potentially significant without implementation of applicable SMAQMD Basic 
Construction Emission Control Practices and Best Management Practices. Adoption and 
incorporation of Mitigation Measures 3.3-1a through 3.3-1e into the Project will reduce 
the impact to a less-than-significant level. Therefore, the Project with mitigation will not 
cause significant cumulative air quality impacts during construction and operation 
activities. 

 
Biological Resources 

 
Impact 3.4-1. Impacts on special-status plant species.  

 
Sanford’s arrowhead could occur within agricultural ditches within the southern area. 
Limited Project impacts may occur in an agricultural ditch in the southwestern corner of 
the southern area, where culvert improvements are likely. Seven additional special-status 
plant species were also identified to have a moderate to high potential to occur within the 
vernal pool habitat within the project site, including Dwarf Downingia, Boggs Lake hedge-
hyssop, Ahart’s dwarf rush, legenere, pincushion navarretia, Slender Orcutt grass, and 
Sacramento Orcutt grass. Construction could result in indirect impacts to these species, 
through the alteration of hydrology or from construction runoff. Changing the hydrology or 
introducing hazardous materials runoff could result in mortality (take) of these species.  
This would be a potentially significant impact.  

 
Mitigation Measure 3.4-1. Worker Environmental Awareness Program (WEAP) and 
Biological Monitor Inspection 

SMUD shall prepare a Worker Environmental Awareness Program (WEAP) that shall 
educate staff regarding the presence or potential presence of all special-status species, 
sensitive natural communities, and protected wetlands and other waters that are known 
to occur, within the project site. The program shall describe species and sensitive 
community identification, special-status species habitat requirements, and penalties for 
special-status species impacts, as well as immediate steps to take should special-
status species be observed by staff onsite.  

This WEAP shall include biological resource avoidance and minimization 
measures/mitigation measures from the Project’s CEQA Mitigation Monitoring and 
Reporting Program (MMRP), and any resource permits, as applicable. The WEAP shall 
educate workers regarding sensitive species and their habitats, the need to avoid 
impacts, state and federal protection status, and the legal implications of violating 
environmental laws and regulations. The WEAP can be provided in the form of a 
handout and/or video presentation. All staff working onsite shall attend the WEAP 
training prior to commencing onsite work. Staff that attend the training shall fill out a 
sign-in sheet indicating that they completed the training.  



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 12 

 

 

Prior to construction, a qualified biologist shall inspect all areas within the project site 
with the potential to support sensitive biological resources to ensure the proper 
implementation of all avoidance and minimization and mitigation measures, agency 
permit requirements, and environmentally sensitive area exclusion flagging and/or 
fencing have been properly implemented, and to deliver WEAP training, as needed.  

The biologist shall remain available on an on-call basis for the duration of Project 
construction to conduct inspections and follow up surveys, as needed or required by 
permit conditions, and to ensure compliance with permit conditions. The biologist shall 
have the experience, education and training necessary to conduct special-status 
species surveys and monitoring as described in the mitigation measures below.  

Mitigation Measure 3.4-2. Conduct Pre-construction Surveys for Sanford’s Arrowhead 
and Avoid Impacts to Known Occurrences 

Prior to culvert improvements or other project work that may affect the agricultural 
drainage in the southern area that provides suitable habitat for Sanford’s arrowhead, 
and within the blooming period for Sanford’s arrowhead (May 1 through October 1), a 
qualified botanist shall conduct a focused survey for the species within suitable habitat 
in this area. The botanist shall map all observations of this species and establish a no-
disturbance buffer around these plants. Before construction commences, Sanford’s 
arrowhead occurrences shall be marked with pin flags in the field, and all construction 
personnel shall be instructed as to the location and extent of the special-status plants or 
populations and the importance of avoiding impacts to the species and its habitat. 

If construction must occur within the no-disturbance buffer, and Sanford’s arrowhead 
cannot be avoided, SMUD shall develop a mitigation plan for Sanford’s arrowhead in 
coordination with CDFW. The plan shall include measures to minimize impacts and to 
offset any loss of Sanford’s arrowhead on a 1:1 basis through protection, replanting, or 
purchase of credits. The plan shall be in place prior to construction activities in these 
areas. 

Information about avoidance and minimization measures for Sanford’s arrowhead shall 
be included in the WEAP described above in Mitigation Measure 3.4-1. 

Mitigation Measure 3.4-3. Establish Non-Disturbance Buffers around Vernal Pools 
along the Collection and Distribution Lines  

Along the collection line connecting the northern area to the southern area of the 
project site, and the distribution lines along Florin Road, Excelsior Road, Gerber Road, 
and Eagles Nest Road, SMUD or its contracted engineer shall design the placement of 
new electricity poles and replacement of existing poles to avoid the edges of vernal 
pools by at least 50 feet.  

The perimeter of this 50-foot no-disturbance buffer shall be marked in the field prior to 
construction through flagging of fencing with a wildlife friendly material that allows the 
movement of wildlife, including Western spadefoot (and also wide-ranging wildlife, such 
as coyotes), through the area. The marked buffer shall be maintained for the duration of 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 13 

 

 

Project construction. No construction or ground-disturbing activities shall occur within 
the 50-foot buffer.  

Information about avoidance and minimization measures for vernal pool habitat shall be 
included in the WEAP described above in Mitigation Measure 3.4-1. 

Finding: The Board finds that implementation of the Oveja Ranch Solar Project could 
potentially impact special-status plant species, including Sanford’s arrowhead. With 
implementation of Mitigation Measures 3.4-1 through 3.4-3, potential impacts would be 
reduced to a less-than-significant level. 

 
Impact 3.4-2. Potential impacts on vernal pool fairy shrimp, Midvalley fairy shrimp, 
vernal pool tadpole shrimp, and Ridsecker’s water scavenger beetle and impacts to 
their habitat during construction. 

 
Project construction could result in indirect impacts to special-status invertebrates, 
through the alteration of hydrology or from construction runoff. Changing the hydrology or 
introducing toxins could result in mortality (take) of these species, and could displace 
Ridsecker’s water scavenger beetle. This would potentially result in indirect impacts to 
habitat for these species. This would be a potentially significant impact.  
 

Implement Mitigation Measure 3.4-3. Establish Non-Disturbance Buffers around Vernal 
Pools along the Collection and Distribution Lines (discussed above) 

 
Finding: The Board finds that implementation of the Oveja Ranch Solar Project could 
potentially impact vernal pool fairy shrimp, Midvalley fairy shrimp, vernal pool tadpole 
shrimp, and Ridsecker’s water scavenger beetle. With implementation of Mitigation 
Measure 3.4-3, potential impacts would be reduced to a less-than-significant level. 
 
Impact 3.4-4. Potential impacts on Western spadefoot during construction.  
 
Project construction could indirectly impact Western spadefoot eggs, tadpoles, and 
breeding habitat from alteration of the hydrology of these features or from construction and 
operation runoff, resulting in degradation or loss of suitable habitat. Changing the hydrology 
or introducing hazardous materials runoff from construction could result in mortality (i.e., 
take) of this species. This would potentially result in indirect impacts to up to 0.75 acres of 
aquatic habitat for this species. This would be a potentially significant impact.  



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 14 

 

 

Implement Mitigation Measure 3.4-1. Worker Environmental Awareness Program 
(WEAP) and Biological Monitor Inspection (discussed above) 

Implement Mitigation Measure 3.4-3. Establish Non-Disturbance Buffers around Vernal 
Pools along the Collection and Distribution Lines (discussed above) 

Mitigation Measure 3.4-5. Avoid impacts to Western Spadefoot during Construction 

Prior to any ground disturbance activity (e.g., grading, disking, road construction, or 
similar activities that could entomb or excavate spadefoot in grassland habitat near 
vernal pools) in the overhead collector line and distribution line corridors, a qualified 
biologist shall survey the project footprint prior to the onset of work for Western 
spadefoot. The qualified biologist shall identify burrows potentially suitable for Western 
spadefoot and mark a 50-foot non-disturbance buffer around any burrows mapped. 
Ground disturbance in these buffer areas shall be avoided, if feasible. If ground 
disturbance would be required within the 50-foot buffer, activities shall be limited to the 
minimum footprint necessary and shall be monitored by an onsite qualified biologist, as 
appropriate to guide activities within the buffer to reduce impacts. Ground disturbing 
activities within suitable Western spadefoot breeding habitat will be limited during their 
active period (typically between October and May) to the extent possible. 

The qualified biologist shall inform construction personnel to stop construction activities 
if a Western spadefoot is observed or if, in the biologist’s opinion, maintenance 
activities threaten to cause adverse effects to Western spadefoot. If it is determined that 
Western spadefoot would be potentially harmed by construction, a qualified biologist 
with the appropriate handling permits may relocate animals to suitable habitats outside 
the project footprint. A relocation report will be submitted to SMUD within 48 hours after 
the species has been relocated. 
 
Information about avoidance and minimization measures for Western spadefoot shall 
be included in the WEAP described above in Mitigation Measure 3.4-1. 

Finding: The Board finds that implementation of the Oveja Ranch Solar Project could 
potentially impact Western spadefood. With implementation of Mitigation Measures 3.4-1, 
3.4-3, and 3.4-5, potential impacts would be reduced to a less-than-significant level. 

 
Impact 3.4-5. Potential impacts on Western pond turtle during construction.  

Construction activities associated with the proposed collection line that runs between the 
northern and southern areas of the project site could result in direct impacts to Western pond 
turtle. Western pond turtles could be crushed and killed during construction activities within 
suitable upland habitat (annual grassland), typically within 1,500 feet of aquatic habitat. 
Additionally, hatchlings or eggs in pond turtle nests could be crushed and killed during the 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 15 

 

 

movement of construction equipment in these habitat areas during the Western pond turtle 
nesting season (generally, March to November). This would be a potentially significant impact.  

Implement Mitigation Measure 3.4-1. Worker Environmental Awareness Program 
(WEAP) and Biological Monitor Inspection (discussed above) 

Mitigation Measure 3.4-6. Conduct Pre-Construction Surveys for Western Pond Turtle  

A qualified biologist shall conduct a pre-construction survey for Western pond turtle 
within 48 hours prior to the start of construction activities within 300 feet of suitable 
aquatic habitat (e.g., any adjacent waterway, marsh, or emergent wetland).  

Concurrently with the pre-construction survey, searches for nesting sites in suitable 
upland habitat shall be conducted by a qualified biologist and any active nest sites 
identified during the survey shall be delineated with high-visibility flagging or fencing 
and avoided during construction activities as described below in Mitigation Measure 
3.4-7.  

Mitigation Measure 3.4-7. Avoid Impacts on Western Pond Turtle during Construction 

Project ground-disturbing activities near suitable breeding habitat shall be conducted 
outside of Western pond turtle’s active breeding and dispersal season (i.e., after May 1 
and before September 15), to the extent feasible. If project activities must be 
implemented during the breeding season, they shall not start until 30 minutes after 
sunrise and must be completed 30 minutes prior to sunset. 

If a turtle nest is encountered during the pre-construction survey (Mitigation Measure 
3.4-6), a 100-foot non-disturbance buffer shall be maintained during construction and 
regularly monitored by a qualified biologist. Construction may resume in the buffer area 
after the qualified biologist has determined that the turtle eggs have hatched. 

Onsite personnel shall observe a 20-mile-per-hour speed limit at all times. In addition, 
all BMPs identified in the Project’s Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan shall be 
implemented, to avoid adverse effects from water quality impacts suck as 
sedimentation and spills. 

Information about avoidance and minimization measures for Western pond turtles shall 
be included in the WEAP described above in Mitigation Measure 3.4-1. 

Finding: The Board finds that implementation of the Oveja Ranch Solar Project could 
potentially impact Western pond turtles. With implementation of Mitigation Measures 3.4-1, 
3.4-6, and 3.4-7, potential impacts would be reduced to a less-than-significant level. 

 
Impact 3.4-6. Potential impacts on giant garter snake during construction and 
impacts to their aquatic habitat.  

Temporary construction activities within the 200 feet upland buffer along agricultural ditches 
on the Project site and near Laguna Creek and other perennial drainages in the Project area 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 16 

 

 

could present a risk of mortality (e.g., construction vehicles crushing giant garter snakes 
basking on roads, direct impacts) for giant garter snakes. This risk would be reduced if 
construction within this upland buffer occurred during the active season (May 1 to October 1) 
when giant garter snakes can move away from and avoid impacts from construction activities. 
This would be a potentially significant impact.  

Implement Mitigation Measure 3.4-1. Worker Environmental Awareness Program 
(WEAP) and Biological Monitor Inspection (discussed above) 

Mitigation Measure 3.4-8. Conduct Pre-construction Surveys for Giant Garter Snake and 
Implement Avoidance and Minimization Measures 

Project ground-disturbing activities in aquatic habitat and adjacent upland habitat within 
200 feet of suitable aquatic habitat (perennial drainages and agricultural ditches carrying 
year-round water) shall be conducted during the giant garter snake’s active season (i.e., 
after May 1 and before October 1), to the extent feasible. During this period, the potential 
for direct mortality is reduced, because snakes are expected to mainly occupy aquatic 
habitat and to actively move and avoid danger. If project activities in upland habitat occur 
within 200 feet of suitable aquatic habitat must be started outside of the snake’s active 
season (May 1 to October 1), the following mitigation measures must be implemented: 

• Within 24 hours prior to commencement of construction activities within 200 feet of 
potential giant garter snake habitat (perennial streams and agricultural ditches that 
carry year-round water), the site shall be inspected by a qualified biologist who is 
approved by SMUD. Results of this clearance survey shall be reported in memo 
shared with SMUD and construction should only commence after a negative 
inspection report. If construction activities are delayed or stop for a period of two 
weeks or more, another pre-construction clearance survey shall be conducted within 
24 hours before resuming construction activity. If snakes, or evidence of snakes, are 
encountered during pre-construction surveys, a biological monitor shall be present 
during the commencement of construction activities in upland habitat within 200 feet 
of suitable aquatic habitat during all ground disturbing activities. If any snakes are 
observed in uplands near drainages during the active season, project activity shall be 
halted and the snakes shall be allowed to leave the area on their own. 

• If take of GGS individuals cannot be avoided during the active or dormant seasons, 
an Incidental Take Permit (ITP) shall be obtained from CDFW for construction and 
O&M activities. 

Finding: The Board finds that implementation of the Oveja Ranch Solar Project could 
potentially impact giant garter snake. With implementation of Mitigation Measures 3.4-1 
and 3.4-8, potential impacts would be reduced to a less-than-significant level.  

 
Impact 3.4-7. Potential impacts on burrowing owl during construction and 
operation. 

Project construction activities, such as grading access roads, during the breeding season 
(generally February 1-August 31) for burrowing owls could result in the excavation or 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 17 

 

 

collapse of occupied burrows containing adults, nestlings, or eggs, if present. Additionally, 
construction-generated noise and increased human presence have the potential to disturb 
burrowing owls nesting near construction activities. Construction-related disturbance 
resulting in the loss of reproductive success of an active burrowing owl pair for one year 
could have a significant impact on the local population. This would be a potentially significant 
impact.  

Implement Mitigation Measure 3.4-1. Worker Environmental Awareness Program 
(WEAP) and Biological Monitor Inspection (discussed above) 

Mitigation Measure 3.4.9 Compensate for permanent loss of Western Burrowing Owl 
Habitat. 

• SMUD shall mitigate for the permanent loss of 4.1 acres of burrowing owl foraging 
habitat at a 1:1 basis. This may be achieved through purchasing credits at an 
approved bank, dedicating credits at SMUD’s own conservation bank, or by 
placing a permanent easement on 4.1 acres of suitable foraging habitat in the 
vicinity of the project site. 

Mitigation Measure 3.4-10. Conduct Pre-construction Surveys for Western Burrowing 
Owl and Implement Avoidance and Minimization Measures 

• SMUD shall conduct pre-construction burrowing owl surveys in all areas that may 
provide suitable nesting habitat according to CDFW (CDFG 2012) guidelines and 
based on protocol level surveys conducted in support of this Project. (Appendix 
BR-3). A qualified wildlife biologist shall conduct the surveys, including 
documentation of burrows and burrowing owls, in all suitable burrowing owl habitat 
within 500 feet of proposed construction.  

• Two surveys shall be conducted within 15 days prior to ground disturbance to 
establish the presence or absence of burrowing owls. The surveys shall be 
conducted at least 7 days apart (if burrowing owls are detected on the first survey, 
a second survey is not needed) for both breeding and non-breeding season 
surveys. All burrowing owls observed shall be counted and mapped.  

• During the breeding season (February 1 to August 31), surveys shall document 
whether burrowing owls are nesting in or within 500 feet of project construction 
activities. 

• During the non-breeding season (September 1 to January 31), surveys shall 
document whether burrowing owls are using habitat in or directly adjacent (within 
500 feet) to any area to be disturbed. Survey results would be valid only for the 
season (breeding or non-breeding) during which the survey was conducted.  

• The qualified biologist shall survey the proposed footprint of disturbance and a 
500-foot buffer from the perimeter of the proposed footprint to determine the 
presence or absence of burrowing owls. The site shall be surveyed by walking line 
transects, spaced 20 to 60 feet apart, adjusting for vegetation height and density. 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 18 

 

 

At the start of each transect and, at least, every 300 feet, the surveyor, with use 
of binoculars, shall scan the entire visible project site for burrowing owls. During 
walking surveys, the surveyor shall record all potential burrows used by burrowing 
owls, as determined by the presence of one or more burrowing owls, pellets, prey 
remains, whitewash, or decoration. Some burrowing owls may be detected by their 
calls; therefore, observers shall also listen for burrowing owls while conducting the 
survey.  

• The presence of burrowing owl or their sign anywhere on the site or within the 
500-foot accessible buffer around the site shall be recorded and mapped. Surveys 
shall map all burrows and occurrence of sign of burrowing owl on the project site. 
Surveys must begin 1 hour before sunrise and continue until 2 hours after sunrise 
(3 hours total) or begin 2 hours before sunset and continue until 1 hour after 
sunset. Additional time may be required for large project sites. 

If a burrowing owl or evidence of presence at or near a burrow entrance is found to 
occur within 500 feet of the project site, the following measures shall be implemented: 

• If burrowing owls are found during the breeding season (approximately February 
1 to August 31), the project applicant shall: 

o Avoid all nest sites that could be disturbed by project construction during the 
remainder of the breeding season or while the nest is occupied by adults or 
young (occupation includes individuals or family groups foraging on or near the 
site following fledging). 

o Establish a minimum 500-foot, up to 1650-foot non-disturbance buffer zone 
around nests, consistent with CDFW’s 2012 Staff Report guidelines. The buffer 
zone shall be flagged or otherwise clearly marked. Should construction 
activities cause the nesting bird to vocalize, make defensive flights at intruders, 
or otherwise display agitated behavior, then the exclusionary buffer shall be 
increased such that activities are far enough from the nest so that the bird(s) 
no longer display this agitated behavior. The exclusionary buffer shall remain 
in place until the chicks have fledged or as otherwise determined by a qualified 
biologist. 

o Construction may occur only outside of the 500-foot buffer zone during the 
breeding season and only if a qualified biologist monitors the nest and 
determines that the activities will not disturb nesting behavior, or the birds have 
not begun egg-laying and incubation, or that the juveniles from the occupied 
burrows have fledged and moved off site. Measures such as visual screens 
may be used to further reduce the buffer with CDFW approval and provided a 
biological monitor confirms that such measures do not agitate the owls. 

• If burrowing owls are found during the non-breeding season (approximately 
September 1 to January 31), the project applicant shall establish a minimum of 
165-foot, up to 1650-foot no-disturbance buffer zone around active burrows 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 19 

 

 

consistent with CDFW’s 2012 Staff Report guidelines. The buffer zone shall be 
flagged or otherwise clearly marked. Measures such as visual screens may be 
used to further reduce the buffer with CDFW approval and provided a biological 
monitor confirms that such measures do not agitate the owls.  

• During the non-breeding season only, if a project cannot avoid occupied burrows 
after all alternative avoidance and minimization measures are exhausted, as 
confirmed by CDFW, project applicant shall obtain an Incidental Take Permit (ITP) 
for the project. A burrowing owl exclusion plan must be developed by a qualified 
biologist consistent with the most recent guidelines from CDFW (e.g., California 
Department of Fish and Game 2012) and submitted to and approved by CDFW 
along with the ITP application. Burrow exclusion may not be conducted for burrows 
located in the project footprint and within a 160-foot buffer zone until the ITP is 
obtained. All ITP conditions must be followed when excluding owls. 

• If take of burrowing owl individuals cannot be avoided during the breeding or 
non-breeding season, an Incidental Take Permit (ITP) shall be obtained from 
CDFW for construction and O&M activities. 

Mitigation Measure 3.4-11. WEAP Training for Operations and Maintenance Personnel 

Following project construction, WEAP Training pertaining to the operation and 
maintenance phase of the Project shall be provided each year to onsite personnel. The 
purpose of the training shall be to raise awareness of the potential use of the site by 
wintering and breeding burrowing owls and to avoid and minimize potential take of owls 
during project operation. The training shall describe the identification and natural history 
of burrowing owls and shall cover the avoidance and minimization measures described 
below. New onsite personnel shall be provided the training before they begin work at 
the site.  

• Speed Limit. All project traffic must observe a 20-mph speed limit.  

• Pets. No pets are allowed on the project site.  

• Equipment and Material Inspection. All construction pipe, culverts, or similar 
structures greater than 3 inches in diameter shall be inspected before being 
moved, buried or capped. 

• Firearms. No firearms are permitted on the project site.  

• Survey before Ground Disturbing Activities. If maintenance or repair activities 
require ground disturbing activities in areas potentially used by western burrowing 
owl (grazing land under solar panels, berms along roads, areas containing ground 
squirrel holes), a pre-construction survey for western burrowing owl shall be 
conducted by a qualified biologist in the disturbance area. Surveys shall be 
conducted using the same steps described in Mitigation Measure 3.4-9 (Pre-
construction Western Burrowing Owl Measures) of the Project MMRP. If burrowing 
owls are detected during the surveys non-disturbance buffers shall be established 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 20 

 

 

as described in the MMRP and a Region 2 CDFW representative) shall be 
contacted to discuss whether additional avoidance and minimization measures 
are warranted.  

• Reporting of Bird Mortality. If operations and maintenance staff detect a bird 
carcass on the project site that may be a burrowing owl, Swainson’s hawk, 
tricolored blackbird or other special status species, they shall notify SMUD who 
shall arrange to identify the bird. If the bird is a special-status species, SMUD shall 
notify a Region 2 CDFW representative immediately, record the date and the 
location of the carcass, collect the carcass and store it in a freezer. CDFW shall 
provide guidance on the disposition of the carcass.  

• Injured bird. If an injured bird is detected by the operation and maintenance staff 
the site operator, they shall notify SMUD who shall arrange to identify the bird and 
advise on how to proceed. If the injured bird is a special status bird, SMUD shall 
contact a Region 2 CDFW representative.  

With concurrence of CDFW, and if the bird is sufficiently immobile that it can be 
safely and readily retrieved, the bird shall be captured by a qualified biologist 
experienced with handling raptors and placed into an animal crate/box and stored 
in a cool location while being transported. The biologist shall transport the injured 
bird to the appropriate wildlife care facility such as the U.C. Davis California Raptor 
Center, 1340 Equine Lane, Davis: (530) 752-6091 California Raptor Center / 
School of Veterinary Medicine - Found a Sick or Injured Raptor?. 

Finding: The Board finds that implementation of the Oveja Ranch Solar Project could 
potentially impact burrowing owls. With implementation of Mitigation Measures 3.4-1, 3.4-
9, 3.4-10, and 3.4-11, potential impacts would be reduced to a less-than-significant level.  
 
Impact 3.4-8. Potential impacts on tricolored blackbirds during construction and 
permanent conversion of foraging habitat. 
 
Project construction could impact vegetation types such as Himalayan blackberry, 
cattails, and bulrushes, which provide nesting habitat for tricolored blackbirds. 
Construction activities within 500 feet of active nests could disturb breeding colonies, 
leading to nest abandonment or loss of eggs and nestlings. Abandonment of an active 
tricolored blackbird colony and loss of numerous nests containing eggs or young could 
result in a substantial decline in the local nesting population of tricolored blackbirds and 
contribute to the statewide decline of this species. This would be a potentially significant 
impact.  



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 21 

 

 

Implement Mitigation Measure 3.4-1. Worker Environmental Awareness Program 
(WEAP) and Biological Monitor Inspection (discussed above) 

Mitigation Measure 3.4-12. Conduct Focused Pre-Construction Surveys for Nesting 
Tricolored Blackbird and Avoid Impacts During Construction  

Construction shall occur outside of the breeding period for tricolored blackbirds (March 
15 to August 1). If construction must occur within the breeding period, the following 
measures shall be implemented to avoid impacts to tricolored blackbirds: 

• Pre-construction Tricolored Blackbird Surveys. Before any ground disturbing 
activities or vegetation clearing that may result in effects on potential habitat for 
tricolored blackbird, a qualified biologist shall conduct a pre-construction survey in 
potentially suitable nesting habitat (i.e., blackberry thickets and cattail marsh) for this 
species in the project footprint and a 1,300-foot buffer to the project footprint. The 
biologist shall conduct three separate surveys, one each in mid-April, mid-May, and 
mid-June, based on survey methods identified in the Results of the 2017 Tricolored 
Blackbird Statewide Survey, Appendix 1. If breeding colonies are found, the foraging 
behavior of the colony shall also be documented. If an active nesting colony is 
detected during the surveys CDFW shall be consulted to provide any guidance on 
appropriate avoidance and minimization measures in addition to those described 
below. 

• Avoidance and Minimization. If any active nests are observed during surveys, a 
qualified biologist shall establish a suitable avoidance (i.e., non-disturbance) buffer 
from the active nest. The buffer distance for tricolored blackbird shall generally be 
1300 feet 500 feet and shall be determined based on factors such as topographic 
features, intensity and extent of the disturbance, timing relative to the nesting cycle, 
and anticipated ground disturbance schedule. Limits of construction shall be 
established in the field with flagging, fencing, or other appropriate barriers to avoid 
active nests. This buffer may be modified in consultation with the qualified biologist. 
The consultation must be documented in writing and include the revised buffer 
distance, along with the rationale and justification for why the reduction is 
appropriate. Appropriate rationale for reducing a buffer may include the presence of 
dense vegetation, Construction limits shall be based on the biologist defined 
appropriate buffer distance and shall be maintained until the chicks have fledged 
and the nests are no longer active, as determined by the qualified biologist. Project 
activities shall avoid occupied Tricolored Blackbird nesting habitat. If tricolored 
blackbird colonies are identified during the breeding season, an approximate buffer 
of up to 500 feet shall be established around the colony, depending on site-specific 
conditions and at the discretion of a qualified biologist in consultation with CDFW. 
Any construction-related activities shall be excluded from the buffer until the end of 
the breeding season. 

• If an active nest is identified within 1,300 feet of the Project area after construction 
has begun, a 1,300-foot no-disturbance buffer will be established, unless 
construction activities are already occurring within that distance. If an active nest is 
established within 1,300 feet while construction activities are ongoing, it is assumed 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 22 

 

 

the birds have acclimated to the existing disturbance. In such cases, the buffer will 
be reduced to the greater of: (1) the actual distance between the active nest and the 
nearest construction activity, or (2) 500 feet. 

• Once the reduced buffer is established—and prior to any increase in the intensity or 
type of disturbance—a qualified biologist will conduct a minimum of two consecutive 
days of baseline monitoring to document nesting behavior under current conditions. 
If, during baseline monitoring, project activities cause birds to display agitated or 
stress-related behaviors, all work within the buffer will cease, and the buffer distance 
will be reassessed based on what was observed. 

• Based on baseline observations, the qualified biologist will prepare a written 
memorandum summarizing the monitoring results and recommending avoidance 
and minimization measures tailored to varying levels of anticipated construction 
activity. The first day of any increased construction activity within the buffer will be 
monitored by a qualified biologist to verify that the buffer distance and implemented 
measures are effective in avoiding take.  

• Appropriate measures may include an increased no-disturbance buffer with specific 
levels of disturbance, limitations on construction activities that generate substantial 
vibration and/or noise, and/or full-time monitoring by a qualified biologist during 
construction activities conducted near the nest, This buffer may be modified in 
consultation with the qualified biologist with additional written measures such as the 
installation of visual shielding or sound curtains. 

• Construction Monitoring. If construction takes place during the breeding season 
when an active colony is present within 500 feet of construction activities, a qualified 
biologist shall regularly monitor construction to ensure that the buffer zone is 
enforced and to verify that construction is not disrupting the colony. The intensity 
and frequency of the monitoring shall be established in consultation with CDFW. If 
monitoring indicates that construction outside of the buffer is affecting a breeding 
colony, the buffer shall be increased, as needed, in consultation with CDFW.  

• Information about avoidance and minimization measures for tricolored blackbird 
shall be included in the WEAP described above in Mitigation Measure 3.4-1.    

Finding: The Board finds that implementation of the Oveja Ranch Solar Project could 
potentially impact tricolored blackbird. With implementation of Mitigation Measures 3.4-1 and 
3.4-12, potential impacts would be reduced to a less-than-significant level. 

Impact 3.4-9. Potential impact on Swainson’s hawk during construction and permanent 
conversion of foraging habitat. 
 
Project construction activities, including grading and grubbing near, suitable nesting habitat 
(individual trees or riparian woodland habitats) within the project site or within 0.5 miles of the 
project site could disturb an active Swainson’s hawk nest. Construction-generated 
disturbances also have the potential to indirectly affect Swainson’s hawks if the species is 
nesting near project activities. Increased levels of noise and human activity in the vicinity of an 
active nest could result in nest abandonment or forced fledging and subsequent loss of fertile 
eggs, nestlings, or juveniles. This would be a potentially significant impact.  



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 23 

 

 

Implement Mitigation Measure 3.4-1. Worker Environmental Awareness Program 
(WEAP) and Biological Monitor Inspection (discussed above) 

Mitigation Measure 3.4-13. Conduct Focused Pre-construction Surveys for Nesting 
Swainson’s hawks and Implement Protective Buffers 

• Pre-construction Surveys. A qualified biologist shall conduct pre-construction 
surveys for Swainson’s hawks during the nesting season (March 1 through August 
21) within the project footprint and of all suitable nesting habitat within line of sight 
of construction activities within a 0.25-mile radius of the project footprint. The 
surveys shall be conducted no more than 15 days prior to ground disturbance and 
shall be conducted using methods consistent with guidelines provided in 
Recommended Timing and Methodology for Swainson’s Hawk Nesting Surveys in 
the Central Valley (SHTAC 2000) with the following exceptions:  

o Surveys shall be required within a 0.25-mile (1,320-foot) radius around the 
project site. In instances where an adjacent parcel is not accessible to survey 
because the qualified biologist was not granted permission to enter, the 
qualified biologist shall scan all potential nest tree(s) from the adjacent 
property, roadsides, or other safe, publicly accessible viewpoints, without 
trespassing, using binoculars and/or a spotting scope to look for Swainson’s 
hawk nesting activity; 

o Surveys shall be required from February 1 to September 15 (or sooner if it is 
found that birds are nesting earlier in the year); and  

o If a Swainson’s hawk nest is located and presence confirmed, only one follow-
up visit is required (to avoid disturbance of the nest due to repeated visits). 

• Nest Buffers. If active Swainson’s hawk nests are found, appropriate buffers shall 
be established around active nest sites, in coordination with CDFW, to provide 
adequate protection for nesting raptors and their young. No project activity shall 
commence during the nesting season within the buffer areas until the qualified 
biologist has determined that the young have fledged, the nest is no longer active, 
or if reducing the buffer would not result in nest abandonment.  

• Nest Monitoring. Monitoring of the nest by a qualified biologist during 
construction activities may be required if the qualified biologist determines that the 
activity has potential to adversely affect the nest. If construction activities cause 
the nesting bird to vocalize, make defensive flights at intruders, get up from a 
brooding position, or fly off the nest, then the no-disturbance buffer shall be 
increased until the agitated behavior ceases. The exclusionary buffer shall remain 
in place until the qualified biologist has confirmed that the chicks have fledged. 

Information about avoidance and minimization measures for Swainson’s hawk shall 
be included in the WEAP described above in Mitigation Measure 3.4-1. 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 24 

 

 

Mitigation Measure 3.4-14. Compensate for the Loss of Swainson’s Hawk Foraging 
Habitat 

To offset net impacts on foraging habitat for breeding Swainson’s hawks SMUD shall 
mitigate the loss of Swainson’s hawk foraging habitat in accordance with CDFW 
recommendations (CDFG 1994) but adjusted to local conditions and based on recent 
studies by providing mitigation lands or securing Swainson’s hawk mitigation bank 
credits as follows:  

• Foraging habitat permanently lost within 5 miles of an active Swainson’s hawk 
nest tree shall be replaced with 1.0 acre of mitigation land for each acre of foraging 
habitat permanently lost because of project construction (1:1 ratio). Permanent 
loss resulting from the Project includes the approximately 4.1-acre footprint of the 
BESS, substation, and roads. The nearest location relative to this area shall be 
confirmed prior to initiation of construction during preconstruction surveys as 
called for in Mitigation Measure 3.4.13 

• For foraging habitat under solar panel these mitigation ratios shall be reduced to 
0.25:1 for foraging habitat for active nests within 5 miles of the Project and 0.5:1 
for active nests within 1 mile of the project site. These reduced ratios are 
appropriate because Swainson’s hawks foraging habitat will continue to be 
available in the solar fields. Foraging habitat will be maintained under the solar 
panels with pollinator-friendly vegetation that would support Swainson’s hawk prey 
such as insects and small mammals. Ample foraging habitat will also remain in 
adjacent agricultural lands and open space preserves that are permanently 
protected. 

All mitigation lands protected under this mitigation measure shall be protected in a form 
acceptable to CDFW (e.g., through fee title acquisition or conservation easement) on 
agricultural lands or other suitable habitats that provide foraging habitat for Swainson’s 
hawk. 

Finding: The Board finds that implementation of the Oveja Ranch Solar Project could 
potentially impact Swainson’s hawks. With implementation of Mitigation Measures 3.4-1, 
3.4-13, and 3.4-14, potential impacts would be reduced to a less-than-significant level. 

 
Impact 3.4-11. Disturbance of nesting white-tailed kite, northern harrier, Cooper’s hawk, 
loggerhead shrike, song sparrow “Modesto” population, and other protected birds. 
 
Project construction activities during the bird and raptor breeding season (generally February 
1 through August 31) could disturb or remove occupied nests of special-status and non-
special-status birds and raptors. Removal of suitable nesting habitat associated with 
vegetation removal, including mowing, could result in the incidental loss of fertile eggs or 
nestlings, or lead to nest abandonment. Increased levels of noise and human activity in the 
vicinity of an active nest could result in nest abandonment or forced fledging and subsequent 
loss of fertile eggs, nestlings, or juveniles. This would be a potentially significant impact.  



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 25 

 

 

Implement Mitigation Measure 3.4-1. Worker Environmental Awareness Program 
(WEAP) and Biological Monitor Inspection (discussed above) 

Mitigation Measure 3.4-15. Conduct Pre-Construction Surveys for Nesting Birds and 
Raptors 

Tree trimming (if required) or vegetation removal shall be conducted outside of the 
nesting season (i.e., the nesting season is defined as February 1 through August 31) to 
the greatest extent feasible.  

If construction activities begin during the nesting season, a qualified biologist shall 
conduct a survey for nesting birds no more than 3 days prior to vegetation removal or 
ground-disturbing activities during the nesting season within suitable habitat (i.e., 
February 1 through August 31). The survey shall cover the limits of construction and 
accessible suitable nesting habitat within 500 feet. If any active nests are observed 
during surveys, a qualified biologist should establish a suitable avoidance buffer from 
the active nest. The buffer distance shall typically range from 50 feet (for nesting 
passerines) to 500 feet (for nesting raptors) and shall be determined based on factors 
such as the species of bird, topographic features, intensity and extent of the 
disturbance, timing relative to the nesting cycle, and anticipated ground disturbance 
schedule.  

If vegetation removal activities are delayed, additional nest surveys shall be conducted 
such that no more than 7 days are allowed to pass between the survey and vegetation 
removal activities. 

Mitigation Measure 3.4-16. Avoid Impacts on Nesting Birds and Raptors during 
Construction  

Limits of construction to avoid active nests shall be established in the field with flagging, 
fencing, or other appropriate barriers and shall be maintained until the chicks have 
fledged and the nests are no longer active, as determined by the qualified biologist. 

If an active nest is identified in or adjacent to the construction zone after construction 
has started, work in the vicinity of the nest shall be halted until the qualified biologist 
can provide appropriate avoidance and minimization measures to ensure that the nest 
is not disturbed by construction. Appropriate measures may include a no-disturbance 
buffer until the nest has fledged and/or full-time monitoring by a qualified biologist 
during construction activities conducted near the nest. 

Information about avoidance measures to protect nesting birds and raptors shall be 
included in the WEAP described above in Mitigation Measure 3.4-1. 

Finding: The Board finds that implementation of the Oveja Ranch Solar Project could 
potentially impact special-status and other nesting birds. With implementation of 
Mitigation Measures 3.4-1, 3.4-15, and 3.4-16, potential impacts would be reduced to a 
less-than-significant level. 

 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 26 

 

 

Impact 3.4-13. Have a substantial adverse effect on any riparian habitat or other 
sensitive natural community identified in local or regional plans, policies, regulations or 
by the California Department of Fish and Wildlife or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service? 
 
Construction could result in indirect impacts to vernal pools, through the alteration of hydrology 
or from construction runoff. This would be a potentially significant impact.  
 

Implement Mitigation Measure 3.4-3. Establish Non-Disturbance Buffers around Vernal 
Pools along the Collection and Distribution Lines (discussed above) 

 
Finding: The Board finds that implementation of the Oveja Ranch Solar Project could 
potentially impact vernal pools. With implementation of Mitigation Measure 3.4-3, potential 
impacts would be reduced to a less-than-significant level. 

 
Impact 3.4-14. Have a substantial adverse effect on state or federally protected 
wetlands (including, but not limited to, marsh, vernal pool, coastal, etc.) through direct 
removal, filling, hydrological interruption, or other means? 
 
Project activities would result in minor impacts to 0.03 acres of an agricultural ditch in the 
southwest corner of the southern area of the project site, where road improvements are 
anticipated. This ditch qualifies as a potential Waters of the United States. This would be a 
potentially significant impact.  
 

Implement Mitigation Measure 3.4-1. Worker Environmental Awareness Program 
(WEAP) and Biological Monitor Inspection (discussed above) 
 
Implement Mitigation Measure 3.4-3. Establish Non-Disturbance Buffers around Vernal 
Pools along the Collection and Distribution Lines (discussed above) 
 
Mitigation Measure 3.4-17. Avoid, Minimize and Compensate for Impacts on state and 
federally protected wetlands and other waters. 
 
Prior to project implementation, SMUD shall confirm Project related potential impacts 
on state and federally protected wetlands based on advanced designs and obtain the 
necessary permits for impacts on any wetlands. These may include the following 
permits: 

• Section 1600 Streambed Alteration Agreement from CDFW (for impact on streams 
in the project site, including horizontal directional drilling, if necessary). 

• CWA Section 404 permit from USACE for impacts to WUS (not expected to be 
necessary based on 30 percent design). 

• CWA Section 401 Clean Water Certification from the Regional Water Quality 
Control Board for impacts to WUS (not expected to be necessary based on 30 
percent design). 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 27 

 

 

• Waste Discharge Permit from RWQCB for impacts to WOS (anticipated, based on 
project impacts to a small amount of agricultural ditch qualifying as WOS based 
on current delineation. 

• As part of any permit applications, SMUD shall identify a habitat mitigation plan 
that shall include mitigation for impacted wetlands and waters on a no-net-loss 
basis. The plan may include onsite restoration, if feasible, offsite preservation, or 
purchasing mitigation credits from an agency-approved wetlands mitigation bank, 
paying an agency-approved in-lieu fee, and/or developing conservation lands to 
compensate for permanent loss of resources. Mitigation ratios shall be no less 
than 1:1 and shall be determined during the permitting process based on 
advanced project design.  

• SMUD shall implement all conditions of the permits, including any performance 
monitoring, if required, for onsite restoration and report on the results of the 
monitoring to the appropriate agencies at the frequency and duration included in 
the permits. 

Wetlands and other waters protection shall be included in the WEAP described above 
in Mitigation Measure 3.4-1. 

Finding: The Board finds that implementation of the Oveja Ranch Solar Project could 
potentially impact state and federally protected wetlands and other waters. With 
implementation of Mitigation Measures 3.4-1, 3.4-3, and 3.4-17, potential impacts would be 
reduced to a less-than-significant level. 

Cultural Resources 
 
Impact 3.5-1 Cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of an 
archaeological resource pursuant to Section 15064.5? 
 
Project-related ground-disturbing activities could result in discovery or damage of yet 
undiscovered archaeological resources as defined in State CEQA Guidelines Section 
15064.5. These activities could damage or destroy previously undiscovered archaeological 
resources. This would be a potentially significant impact. 

 
Mitigation Measure 3.5.1: Halt ground-disturbing activity upon discovery of subsurface 
archaeological features.  

In the event that any pre-contact or historic-era subsurface archaeological features 
or deposits, including locally darkened soil (“midden”), that could conceal cultural 
deposits, are discovered during construction, all ground-disturbing activity within 100 
feet of the resources shall be halted and a qualified professional archaeologist shall 
be retained to assess the significance of the find. If the find is determined to be 
significant by the qualified archaeologist (i.e., because it is determined to constitute 
either an historical resource, a unique archaeological resource, or a tribal cultural 
resource), the archaeologist shall develop appropriate procedures to protect the 
integrity of the resource and ensure that no additional resources are affected. 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 28 

 

 

Procedures could include, but would not be limited to, preservation in place (which 
shall be the preferred manner of mitigating impacts to archaeological sites), archival 
research, subsurface testing, or contiguous block unit excavation and data recovery 
(when it is the only feasible mitigation, and pursuant to a data recovery plan).  

 
Finding: The Board finds that implementation of the Oveja Ranch Solar Project could 
potentially impact previously undocumented significant archaeological resources. With 
implementation of Mitigation Measure 3.5-1 potential impacts would be reduced to a less-
than-significant level. 
 
Impact 3.5-2 Disturb any human remains, including those interred outside of dedicated 
cemeteries? 
 
Project construction could inadvertently damage human remains discovered during subsurface 
activities. This would be a potentially significant impact. 
 

Mitigation Measure 3.5-2: Halt ground-disturbing activity upon discovery of human 
remains.  

If human remains are discovered during any construction activities, potentially damaging 
ground-disturbing activities within 100 feet of the remains shall be halted immediately, 
and SMUD will notify the Sacramento County coroner and the NAHC immediately, 
according to PRC Section 5097.98 and Section 7050.5 of the California Health and 
Safety Code. If the remains are determined by the NAHC to be Native American, the 
guidelines of the NAHC shall be followed during the treatment and disposition of the 
remains. SMUD shall also retain a professional archaeologist with Native American burial 
experience to conduct a field investigation of the specific site and consult with the Most 
Likely Descendant, if any, identified by the NAHC. Following the coroner’s and NAHC’s 
findings, the archaeologist and the NAHC-designated Most Likely Descendant shall 
determine the ultimate treatment and disposition of the remains and take appropriate 
steps to ensure that additional human interments are not disturbed. PRC Section 5097.94 
identifies the responsibilities for acting upon notification of a discovery of Native American 
human remains.  

Finding: The Board finds that implementation of the Oveja Ranch Solar Project could 
potentially impact undiscovered human remains. With implementation of Mitigation 
Measure 3.5-2, potential impacts would be reduced to a less-than-significant level. 
 

Geology, Soils, and Paleontological Resources 
 
Impact 3.7-5. Directly or indirectly destroy a unique paleontological resource or site? 
 
The project site and distribution line alignments are primarily underlain by the Riverbank 
Formation, with smaller areas of the Turlock Lake and Laguna Formations. While the Laguna 
Formation has low paleontological sensitivity, the Riverbank and Turlock Lake Formations are 
considered highly sensitive due to past fossil discoveries in the region. Construction activities, 
including excavation for solar arrays, foundations, and utility trenches, could disturb native 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 29 

 

 

sediments within these formations. As a result, there is potential for accidental damage to 
significant paleontological resources during earthmoving activities. This would be a potentially 
significant impact. 

Mitigation Measure 3.7-1: Avoid Impacts to Unique Paleontological Resources. 

To minimize the potential for destruction of or damage to previously unknown unique, 
scientifically important paleontological resources during earthmoving activities at the 
project site, SMUD shall do the following: 

• Prior to the start of earthmoving activities, retain either a qualified archaeologist or 
paleontologist to develop relevant materials related to paleontological resources for 
inclusion in the Project’s Worker Environmental Awareness Program (WEAP) 
program to inform all construction personnel involved with earthmoving activities 
regarding the possibility of encountering fossils, the appearance and types of fossils 
likely to be seen during construction, and proper notification procedures should fossils 
be encountered. 

• If paleontological resources are discovered during earthmoving activities, the 
construction crew shall immediately cease work in the vicinity of the find and notify 
SMUD. SMUD shall retain a qualified paleontologist to evaluate the resource and 
prepare a recovery plan. The recovery plan may include, but is not limited to, a field 
survey, construction monitoring, sampling and data recovery procedures, museum 
curation for any specimen recovered, and a report of findings. Recommendations in 
the recovery plan that are determined by SMUD to be necessary and feasible shall 
be implemented before construction activities can resume at the site where the 
paleontological resource or resources were discovered.  

Finding: The Board finds that implementation of the Oveja Ranch Solar Project could 
potentially impact unique paleontological resources. With implementation of Mitigation 
Measure 3.7-1, potential impacts would be reduced to a less-than-significant level. 

Greenhouse Gas Emissions 
 

Impact 3.8-1. Generate greenhouse gas emissions, either directly or indirectly, that 
may have a significant impact on the environment? 
 
Construction of the Project would generate greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from off-road 
equipment, on-site vehicles, and construction-related traffic, with emissions varying by 
construction phase intensity. Total construction-related GHG emissions are estimated to be 
approximately 11,745 MT CO2e. Based on the anticipated construction schedule and 
phasing, the most intensive activities and overlap of construction phases would occur in 
2027. During this year, approximately 48 percent of the total construction duration, including 
overlapping phases, is projected to take place and generate approximately 6,216 MT CO2e. 
Even with this conservative assumption, the maximum annual emissions would exceed 
SMAQMD’s mass emissions- Oveja Ranch Solar Project EIR MARCH 2025 Page 3.8-15 of 
3.8-18 based screening threshold of 1,100 MT CO2e per year. This would be a potentially 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 30 

 

 

significant impact. 

Mitigation Measure 3.8-1: Implement Construction GHG Emission Best Management 
Practices during Construction Activities 

Improve fuel efficiency from construction equipment by: 

• Minimizing idling time either by shutting equipment off when not in use or reducing 
the time of idling to no more than 3 minutes (5-minute limit is required by the state 
airborne toxics control measure [Title 13, sections 2449(d)(3) and 2485 of the 
CCR]). Provide clear signage that posts this requirement for workers at the 
entrances to the site. 

• Maintaining all construction equipment in proper working condition according to 
manufacturer’s specifications. The equipment must be checked by a certified 
mechanic and determined to be running in proper condition before it is operated. 

• Training equipment operators in proper use of equipment. 

• Using the proper size of equipment for the job. 

• Using equipment with new technologies (repowered engines, electric drive trains). 

• Perform on-site material hauling with trucks equipped with on-road engines (if 
determined to be less emissive than the off-road engines). 

• Use alternative fuels for generators at construction sites such as propane or solar 
or use electrical power. 

• Use CARB-approved low carbon fuel for construction equipment. 

• Encourage and provide carpools, shuttle vans, transit passes and/or secure 
bicycle parking for construction worker commutes. 

• Develop a plan to efficiently use water for adequate dust control. 

• Reduce electricity use in the construction office by using compact fluorescent 
bulbs or light emitting diodes, powering off computers every day, and replacing 
heating and cooling units with more efficient ones. 

• Recycle or salvage non-hazardous construction and demolition debris, when 
practicable (goal of at least 75% by weight). 

Finding: The Board finds that implementation of the Oveja Ranch Solar Project would 
outweigh the construction-related emissions within the first year of operations through the 
renewable electricity generated by the Project. With implementation of Mitigation Measure 3.8-
1, potential construction-related exhaust emissions impacts would be reduced to a less than 
cumulatively considerable level. 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 31 

 

 

Noise 
 

Impact 3.13-1. Temporary, Short-Term Exposure of Sensitive Receptors to Construction 
Noise 

 
Project construction activities would exceed the ambient levels and the County’s exterior 
nighttime noise standard. While the majority of construction activities would conform to the 
Sacramento County Noise Ordinance, if construction activities were to occur during more 
noise-sensitive hours outside of those prescribed by the Ordinance, construction source noise 
levels could result in annoyance and/or sleep disruption to occupants of existing noise-
sensitive land uses and create a substantial temporary increase in ambient noise levels. This 
would be a potentially significant impact. 

Mitigation Measure 3.13-1. For Construction Outside of Permitted Construction Hours 
((Section 6.68.090[e] of the County of Sacramento Code)), Implement Noise-Reducing 
Construction Practices and Monitor and Record Construction Noise near Sensitive 
Receptors. 

The project applicant(s) and their construction contractors shall employ noise-reducing 
construction practices to avoid and minimize construction noise effects on sensitive 
receptors outside permitted construction hours:  

• Pile driving shall be limited to the hours between 6 a.m. and 8 p.m. Monday through 
Friday and Sunday, and between 7 a.m. and 6 p.m. on Saturdays. 

• Construction equipment and equipment staging areas for equipment that generates 
noise levels of 70 dB or more at 50 feet shall be located as far as possible from nearby 
noise-sensitive land uses. 

• All construction equipment shall be properly maintained and equipped with noise-
reduction intake and exhaust mufflers and engine shrouds, in accordance with 
manufacturers’ recommendations. Equipment engine shrouds shall be closed during 
equipment operation. 

• All motorized construction equipment shall be shut down when not in use to prevent 
idling. 

• Individual operations and techniques shall be replaced with quieter procedures (e.g., 
using welding instead of riveting, mixing concrete off-site instead of on-site). 

• Noise-reducing enclosures shall be used around stationary noise-generating 
equipment (e.g., compressors and generators). 

• Written notification of construction activities shall be provided to all noise-sensitive 
receptors located within 500 feet of the project site. Notification shall include 
anticipated dates and hours during which construction activities are anticipated to 
occur and contact information, including a daytime telephone number, for the project 
representative to be contacted in the event that noise levels are deemed excessive. 
Recommendations to assist noise-sensitive land uses in reducing interior noise levels 
(e.g., closing windows and doors) shall also be included in the notification.  



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 32 

 

 

• Should nighttime construction (including very early morning) become necessary, the 
project applicant shall conduct a preliminary noise assessment to evaluate the 
potential for exceedances at the property boundaries of the nearest sensitive 
receptors. This assessment will determine if additional mitigation, such as real-time 
noise monitoring or other measures, is warranted. This ensures compliance with the 
County Noise Ordinance while maintaining flexibility and practicality in Project 
execution. 

Finding: The Board finds that implementation of the Oveja Ranch Solar Project could create 
a substantial temporary increase in ambient noise levels. With implementation of Mitigation 
Measure 3.13-1, potential impacts would be reduced to a less-than-significant level. 
 

 
Transportation 

Impact 3.17-3: Substantially increase hazards due to a geometric design feature 
(e.g., sharp curves or dangerous intersections) or incompatible uses (e.g., farm 
equipment). 

While project construction would introduce additional traffic movements and oversized 
haul vehicles to the local road network, construction traffic is common throughout 
Sacramento County and is not considered an “incompatible use.” However, given the 
scale of the Project and rural setting in which the Project would be constructed, the 
temporary addition of oversize vehicles, haul trucks and worker vehicles could increase 
traffic hazards. This would be a potentially significant impact. 

Mitigation Measure 3.17-1. Prepare and Implement a Traffic Control Plan. 

To address potential traffic hazards during construction, prior to the commencement of 
construction or demolition activities, SMUD or its construction contractor shall prepare a 
traffic control plan for review and approval by Sacramento County Department of 
Transportation. The measures to be included in the traffic control plan include signage, 
traffic cones, and flaggers to help ensure safe and efficient movement of traffic through 
the affected area, with a focus on safety on roadways adjacent to project site and project 
activities. In addition, the traffic control plan would provide for notification of emergency 
responders regarding the planned construction activities.  

Finding: The Board finds that implementation of the Oveja Ranch Solar Project could 
increase traffic hazards. With implementation of Mitigation Measure 3.17-1, potential 
impacts would be reduced to a less-than-significant level. 

 
Impact 3.17-4: Result in inadequate emergency access. 
Project construction activities for the proposed Project could reduce emergency access 
to roadways in the project in the vicinity. Slow-moving trucks entering and exiting the 
project sites along roadways in the vicinity of the project site could delay the movement 
of emergency vehicles. This would be a potentially significant impact. 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 33 

 

 

Implement Mitigation Measure 3.17-1. Prepare and Implement a Traffic Control Plan 
(discussed above) 

Finding: The Board finds that implementation of the Oveja Ranch Solar Project could 
potentially impact emergency access in the project vicinity. With implementation of 
Mitigation Measure 3.17-1, potential impacts would be reduced to a less-than-significant 
level. 

Tribal Cultural Resources 
 

Impact 3.18.1. Would the project cause a substantial adverse change in the 
significance of a tribal cultural resource, defined in Public Resources Code Section 
21074 as either a site, feature, place, cultural landscape that is geographically 
defined in terms of the size and scope of the landscape, sacred place, or object 
with cultural value to a California Native American Tribe, and that is:  
Listed or eligible for listing in the California Register of Historical Resources, or in 
a local register of historical resources as defined in Public Resources Code section 
5020.1(k), or A resource determined by the lead agency, in its discretion and 
supported by substantial evidence, to be significant pursuant to criteria set forth 
in subdivision (c) of Public Resources Code Section 5024.1. In applying the criteria 
set forth in subdivision (c) of Public Resources Code Section 5024.1, the lead 
agency shall consider the significance of the resource to a California Native 
American Tribe? 

 
No unique archaeological resources or TCRs have been identified on the project site and 
the NAHC Sacred Lands Database search was negative. However, these resources may 
be encountered during ground disturbing activities (i.e., grading and trenching). 
Therefore, TCRs may exist at the project site and could be affected by the Project. This 
would be a potentially significant impact. 

Mitigation Measure 3.18-1. Inadvertent/Unanticipated TCR Discoveries. 

Worker Environmental Awareness Program (WEAP): 

SMUD shall prepare a Worker Environmental Awareness Program (WEAP) that shall 
educate staff regarding archaeological sensitivity and the potential presence of tribal 
cultural resources. This WEAP shall include tribal cultural resources avoidance and 
minimization measures/mitigation measures from the Project’s CEQA Mitigation 
Monitoring and Reporting Program (MMRP). The WEAP shall provide specific details on 
the kinds of tribal cultural resources that may be identified during construction of the 
Project and explain the protocol for treatment in the event of an unanticipated discovery, 
including the legal implications of violating applicable laws and regulations. The WEAP 
can be provided in the form of a handout and/or video presentation. All staff working 
onsite shall attend the WEAP training prior to commencing onsite work. Staff that attend 
the training shall fill out a sign-in sheet indicating that they completed the training.  

Discovery Procedure: 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 34 

 

 

If any suspected TCRs or resources of cultural significance to UAIC, including but not 
limited to features, anthropogenic/cultural soils, cultural belongings or objects (artifacts), 
shell, bone, shaped stones or bone, or ash/charcoal deposits are discovered by any 
person during construction activities including ground disturbing activities, all work shall 
pause immediately within 100 feet of the find, or an agreed upon distance based on the 
project area and nature of the find. Work shall cease in and within the immediate vicinity 
of the find regardless of whether the construction is being actively monitored by a Tribal 
Monitor, cultural resources specialist, or professional archaeologist.  

A Tribal Representative and SMUD shall be immediately notified, and the Tribal 
Representative in coordination with the SMUD shall determine if the find is a TCR (PRC 
Section 21074) and the Tribal Representative shall make recommendations for further 
evaluation and treatment.  

 

Treatment and Documentation: 

The culturally affiliated Tribe shall consult with SMUD to (1) identify the boundaries of the 
new TCR and (2) if feasible, identify appropriate preservation in place and avoidance 
measures, including redesign or adjustments to the existing construction process, and 
long-term management, or 3) if avoidance is infeasible, a reburial location in proximity of 
the find where no future disturbance is anticipated. Permanent curation of TCRs shall not 
take place unless approved in writing by the culturally affiliated Tribe.  

The construction contractor(s) shall provide secure, on-site storage for culturally sensitive 
soils or objects that are components of TCRs that are found or recovered during 
construction. Only Tribal Representatives shall have access to the storage. Storage size 
shall be determined by the nature of the TCR and can range from a small lock box to a 
Conex box (shipping container). A secure (locked), fenced area can also provide 
adequate on-site storage if larger amounts of material must be stored.  

The construction contractor(s) and SMUD shall facilitate the respectful reburial of the 
culturally sensitive soils or objects. This includes providing a reburial location that is 
consistent with the Tribe’s preferences, excavation of the reburial location, and assisting 
with the reburial, upon request.  

Any discoveries shall be documented on a Department of Parks and Recreation  523 
form within 2 weeks of the discovery and submitted to the appropriate California Historical 
Resources Information System Information Center in a timely manner.  

Work at the TCR discovery location shall not resume until authorization is granted by 
SMUD in coordination with the culturally affiliated Tribe.  

If articulated or disarticulated human remains, or human remains in any state of 
decomposition or skeletal completeness are discovered during construction activities, the 
Sacramento County Coroner shall be contacted immediately. Upon determination by the 
Sacramento County Coroner that the find is Native American in origin, the NAHC shall 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 35 

 

 

assign the Most Likely Descendent who shall work with the Project proponent to define 
appropriate treatment and disposition of the burials. 

Finding: The Board finds that implementation of the Oveja Ranch Solar Project could 
impact undiscovered TCRs. With implementation of Mitigation Measure 3.5-2, impacts to 
TCRs would be reduced to a less-than-significant level. Therefore, the Project with 
mitigation would not cause significant impacts to TCRs. 

 
d. Alternatives 

 
In compliance with CEQA and the CEQA Guidelines, Chapter 6, “Alternatives” of the Draft 
EIR evaluated a reasonable range of alternatives to the Project, including the No Project 
Alternative, followed by identification of an environmentally superior alternative. For the 
Project, the consideration of alternatives that fulfill CEQA requirements is complicated by 
a simple factor: the Project would not result in any significant and unavoidable impacts. 
The significant impacts of the Project are highly limited and can be clearly mitigated. 
Significant impacts have been identified for agriculture and forestry resources, air quality, 
biological resources, cultural resources, geology and soils, greenhouse gas emissions, 
noise, transportation, and tribal cultural resources. 

 
Although there are no alternatives that could avoid or substantially reduce (unmitigated) 
significant effects of the Project (because none exist), the alternatives evaluated below 
are presented to satisfy CEQA’s requirement to identify a range of potentially feasible 
alternatives (State CEQA Guidelines Section 15126.6(a)). The EIR examined each 
alternative’s feasibility and ability to meet the following Project Objectives: 

 
• Contribute to a diversified energy portfolio that will aid in the continued improvement of 

air quality in the Sacramento Valley Air Basin by decreasing reliance on fossil fuel 
combustion for the generation of electricity. 

• Reduce SMUD’s exposure to price volatility associated with electricity and natural gas. 
• Provide a renewable power resource to support the SMUD Board of Directors’ 2030 

Zero Carbon Plan, approved in 2021, which establishes a flexible pathway for SMUD to 
eliminate carbon emissions from its power supply by 2030 by developing and procuring 
dependable renewable resources. 

• Develop a project that will deliver a reliable, long-term supply of up to 75 MW of 
economically feasible solar and battery storage that provides grid resiliency at a point of 
interconnection on the grid managed by SMUD.   

• Develop an agrivoltaics project that integrates agricultural irrigation production including 
sheep grazing.  

• Design a flexible PV solar energy and battery storage facility that is capable utilizing the 
best available, efficient, cost-effective, and proven PV solar and storage technology.  

• Construct the facility in a location that has ready access to existing electrical 
infrastructure with available capacity and roads. 
 

Four potential alternatives were found to be clearly infeasible (Offsite Alternatives, 
Evolution of the Proposed Project, Onsite Alternatives, and Alternative Technologies) and 
rejected because they would not achieve most of the basic project objectives, SMUD was 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 36 

 

 

unable to feasibly acquire the land, or they resulted in greater environmental impacts than 
the proposed Project as described in Section 6.2.3 of the Draft EIR. 

 
The No Project Alternative and Alternatives that might have been feasible and that would 
attain most of the Project Objectives to some extent (Alternative 1 - Reduced Footprint 
Alternative and Alternative 2 - Farmland of Statewide Importance Impact Reduction) were 
carried forward and analyzed with regard to whether they would reduce or avoid 
significant impacts of the Project. 

 
In connection with certification of the Final EIR for the Project, the Board certifies that it 
has independently reviewed and considered the information on alternatives provided in 
the Final EIR and the record of proceedings. The Board finds that no new alternatives 
have been identified and that the feasibility of the analyzed alternatives has not changed 
since the Draft EIR was circulated for public review. The Board certifies that it has 
independently reviewed and considered the information on alternatives provided in the 
Final EIR and the administrative record, and find, for the reasons set forth below, that 
each of the following alternatives cannot feasibly attain, either at all or to the same extent 
as the proposed Project, one or more of the Project Objectives, is otherwise infeasible or 
fails to avoid or substantially lessen the significant effects of the Oveja Ranch Solar 
Project. 

 
1. No Project 

 
Under the No Project Alternative, the project would not be constructed on the project site, 
and as a result, none of the associated impacts would occur and none of the permits or 
approvals that would be required by SMUD and various permitting agencies for the project 
would be needed. It is unknown for how long the project site would remain in its existing 
condition. It is assumed that the project site would remain in long-term agricultural use; 
although, another compatible use could co-locate and coexist with the existing agricultural 
practices. It is uncertain exactly what impacts would occur: therefore, no analysis by impact 
topic is provided, as this would be speculative.  
 
This alternative would not meet any of the objectives identified above for the Project. 
Because this alternative would not attain any project objectives and for the reasons set 
forth above, the No Project Alternative is rejected by the Board from further consideration. 
 

2. Alternative 1 (Reduced Footprint Alternative) 
 

Alternative 1, the Reduced Footprint Alternative, would include construction and operation 
of a project with a smaller footprint and higher density design, which would compress all 
the project facilities into the southern area of the project site. This alternative would not 
use the northern area and the connector line between the southern and northern areas 
would not be required. Thus, the total project would be occupy approximately 454 acres 
rather the 534 acres of the project site. Alternative 1 would construct a 75-MW solar facility 
with BESS, and would not result in any reduction in solar and/or battery storage compared 
to the proposed project. Because this alternative would eliminate the connector line, and 
would also eliminate the potential impacts on special-status species that utilize Laguna 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 37 

 

 

Creek and its associated habitat corridor (such as Sanford’s arrowhead, western pond 
turtle, giant garter snake, western red bat) potential impacts on these species in these 
locations would be eliminated. In addition, Alternative 1 would result in less loss of 
foraging habitat for Swainson’s hawk, burrowing owls and other raptors because there 
would be 80 acres less cropland that would be used to support solar fields.  
 
Alternative 1 would attain the project objectives, because it would involve construction and 
operation of a PV solar facility; avoid wetlands and other sensitive habitat areas; integrate 
compatible agriculture activities; locate the facility as near as possible to existing electrical 
infrastructure with anticipated capacity to minimize the geographical extent of impacts; utilize 
the best available, efficient, cost-effective, and proven PV solar technology and battery 
storage; and be readily accessible from existing roads. 

 
3. Alternative 2 (Farmland of Statewide Importance Impact Reduction) 

 
Under Alternative 2, Farmland of Statewide Importance Impact Reduction Alternative, the 
site layout would be identical to the proposed project, except the substation and BESS 
would be relocated approximately 400 feet to the south of where it is currently located for 
the proposed project to avoid approximately 3.8 acres of long-term impacts to Farmland 
of Statewide Importance. This relocation would move the substation and BESS off of 
Farmland of Statewide Importance and onto Farmland of Local Importance. Alternative 2 
would construct a 75-MW solar facility with BESS, and would not result in any reduction 
in solar and/or battery storage compared to the proposed project. 
 
Alternative 2 would attain the project objectives because it would involve construction and 
operation of a PV solar facility; avoid wetlands and other sensitive habitat areas; integrate 
compatible agriculture activities; locate the facility as near as possible to existing electrical 
infrastructure with anticipated capacity to minimize the geographical extent of impacts; 
utilize the best available, efficient, cost-effective, and proven PV solar technology and 
battery storage; and be readily accessible from existing roads. 

 
4. Environmentally Superior Alternative 

 
CCR Section 15126.6 suggests that an EIR should identify the “environmentally superior” 
alternative. “If the environmentally superior alternative is the ‘no project’ alternative, the 
EIR shall also identify an environmentally superior alternative among the other 
alternatives.” As stated above in Section 6.2.2, the consideration of alternatives that fulfill 
CEQA requirements, in the instance of the project, is complicated by a simple factor: the 
project would not result in any significant and unavoidable impacts. The significant 
impacts of the project - which would be to agriculture and forestry resources, air quality, 
biological resources, cultural resources, geology and soils, greenhouse gas emissions, 
noise, transportation, and tribal cultural resources - can be clearly mitigated. 

 
When considering objectives, the proposed project would best meet the project 
objectives, as stated in Chapter 2, “Project Description.” Alternative 1 is the 
environmentally superior alternative because overall impacts are slightly less than those 
of the proposed project (with the exception of agricultural impacts). All potentially 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 38 

 

 

significant impacts would be mitigated to less-than-significant and all project objectives 
would be met while also significantly reducing overall regional GHG emissions. The No 
Project Alternative would not meet any of the objectives identified in Section 6.2.1.  

 
e. Additional Findings 

 
1. These Findings incorporate by reference in their entirety the text of the Final EIR 

prepared for the Oveja Ranch Solar Project. Without limitation, this incorporation is 
intended to elaborate on the scope and nature of the Project, related mitigation 
measures, and the basis for determining the significance of such impacts. 

 
2. All of the environmental effects of the Oveja Ranch Solar Project have been 

adequately addressed in the Final EIR and have been mitigated or avoided, where 
feasible. 

 
3. Section 15093(b) of the CEQA Guidelines provides that when the decision of the 

public agency results in the occurrence of significant impacts that are not avoided or 
substantially lessened, the agency must state in writing the reasons to support its 
actions. The Findings adopted by the Board, in connection with its approval of the 
Oveja Ranch Solar Project and certification of the associated EIR, addressed all of the 
potentially significant impacts associated with implementation of the Oveja Ranch 
Solar Project. The EIR concluded that all potentially significant impacts would be 
adequately mitigated and that the Project would not result in any significant and 
unavoidable impacts even with the adoption of identified mitigation measures. As a 
result, the adoption of a Statement of Overriding Considerations for the Oveja Ranch 
Solar Project is not required. 

 

4. CEQA Guidelines section 15074 requires the Lead Agency approving a Project to 
adopt an MMRP for changes to the Project that it adopts or makes a condition of 
Project approval in order to ensure compliance during Project implementation. The 
Board adopts the MMRP for Oveja Ranch Solar Project and the specific mitigation 
measures will be monitored in conjunction with SMUD’s Final EIR MMRP and 
Reporting process. 

 
f. Record of Proceedings 

 
For purposes of CEQA and these Findings, the record of proceedings for the Project 
(Record of Proceedings) consists of the following documents and other evidence, at a 
minimum: 

 
• The Notice of Preparation (NOP) distributed on September 5, 2024 and comments 

received during its 30-day public review; 
 
• The EIR for the Project, including, without limitation, the Draft EIR, Final EIR, and all 

of its appendices; 
 
• All studies, EIRs, maps, rules, regulations, guidelines, permits and other documents 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 39 

 

 

and materials incorporated by reference in any portion of the EIR; 
 
• All presentation materials from every noticed public meeting and public hearing for the 

Project; 
 
• The MMRP for the proposed Project; 

• Matters of common knowledge, including but not limited to federal, state and local 
laws and regulations, including, without limitation, SMUD’s adopted CEQA 
Procedures and other adopted plans, policies and programs; 

 
• Any documents expressly cited in these Findings; and 

• All materials not otherwise identified which are expressly required to be in the Record 
of Proceedings by PRC section 21167.6(e). 

 
g. Custodian and Location of Records 

 
The documents and other materials which constitute the Record of Proceedings are 
located at SMUD Headquarters. Copies of those documents are and at all relevant times 
have been and will be available upon request at the Customer Service Center (6300 S 
Street, Sacramento, CA 95817). The custodian of the Record of Proceedings may be 
contacted as follows: 

 
Kim Crawford 
Sacramento Municipal Utility District 
6201 S Street, MS B209 
Sacramento, CA 95817-1899 
(916) 732-5063 
kim.crawford@smud.org 

 
This information is provided in compliance with PRC section 21081.6(a)(2) and CEQA 
Guidelines section 15091(e). 

 
III. Project Benefits 

 
The fundamental purpose of the Oveja Ranch Solar Project is to provide carbon free 
renewable energy in a manner that supports the community, protects the environment, 
and respects human rights. The Project would contribute to a diversified energy portfolio 
that will aid in the continued improvement of air quality in the Sacramento Valley Air Basin 
by decreasing reliance on fossil fuel combustion for the generation of electricity; reduce 
SMUD’s exposure to price volatility associated with electricity and natural gas; provide a 
renewable power resource to support the SMUD Board of Directors’ 2030 Zero Carbon 
Plan, approved in 2021, which establishes a flexible pathway for SMUD to eliminate 
carbon emissions from its power supply by 2030 by developing and procuring dependable 
renewable resources; develop a project that will deliver a reliable, long-term supply of up 
to 75 MW of economically feasible solar and battery storage that provides grid resiliency 
at a point of interconnection on the grid managed by SMUD; develop an agrivoltaics 

mailto:kim.crawford@smud.org


Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 40 

 

 

project that integrates agricultural irrigation production including sheep grazing; design a 
flexible PV solar energy and battery storage facility that is capable of utilizing the best 
available, efficient, cost-effective, and proven PV solar and storage technology; and, 
construct the facility in a location that has ready access to existing electrical infrastructure 
with available capacity and roads.  
 

a. Electrical Reliability 
 

Responsibility for maintaining safe, reliable, and dependable operation of the electric grid 
in California is divided among various “balancing authorities,” including SMUD. A 
balancing authority assumes responsibility for operational and system reliability for 
electric customers within a specific electrical and geographic area. The Oveja Ranch 
Solar Project is a necessary component of SMUD’s future plans for electrical reliability. 

 

b. Environmental Benefits 
 

As discussed in the EIR, the Project would result in potentially significant impacts related 
to agriculture and forestry resources, air quality, biological resources, cultural resources, 
geology and soils, greenhouse gas emissions, noise, transportation, and tribal cultural 
resources. However, as demonstrated in the EIR, each of these impacts would be 
reduced to a less-than-significant level with the adoption and implementation of mitigation 
measures. As a result of these mitigation measures, the Project would not result in any 
significant and unavoidable environmental impacts. 

 
Finding: The SMUD Board finds the approval of the proposed Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
will result in continuing and enhanced benefits to SMUD customers in form of an important 
and reliable carbon free renewable energy resource. 

 
IV. Statement of Overriding Considerations 

 
This section of the findings document addresses the requirement in CEQA Guidelines 
section 15093. It requires the approving agency to balance the benefits of a proposed 
project against its unavoidable significant impacts and to determine whether the impacts 
are acceptably overridden by the project benefits. As described previously, the Project 
would not result in any unavoidable significant impacts. Therefore, a Statement of 
Overriding Considerations is not required for the Project. 

 
V. Summary 

 
Based on the foregoing findings and the information contained in the record, it is hereby 
determined that: 

 
1. The Project would not result in any significant and unavoidable impacts. 
2. Alternative 1 is the environmentally superior alternative because overall impacts are 

slightly less than those of the proposed Project (with the exception of agricultural 
impacts). All potentially significant impacts would be mitigated to less-than-significant and 
all project objectives would be met while also significantly reducing overall regional GHG 



Oveja Ranch Solar Project 
CEQA Findings 

September 2025 

Page 41 

 

 

emissions. 
 
This determination reflects the Board’s independent judgment and analysis.



DRAFT 
RESOLUTION NO.  _____________ 

 
 
  WHEREAS, this Board has adopted policies stating this Board is 

committed to meeting customers’ electrical energy needs (SD-4); demonstrating energy 

reliability and environmental leadership (SD-7); and ensuring high levels of customer 

satisfaction (SD-5); and 

WHEREAS, SMUD’s primary purpose is to supply electrical energy to 

customers in the Sacramento area; and 

WHEREAS, the Oveja Ranch Solar Project (Project) was prepared as 

part of SMUD’s efforts to expand the amount of carbon-free, reliable energy in our 

portfolio by planning a solar and battery energy storage project connected to SMUD’s 

grid; and 

WHEREAS, the Project would include installation, operation, and 

maintenance of a photovoltaic (PV) solar power facility on up to 400 acres of land 

leased to SMUD within the 534-acre Project site in southeastern Sacramento County; 

and 

WHEREAS, the Project will generally comprise construction of PV solar 

panels, a battery energy storage system, a substation, and new and upgraded 

distribution lines to interconnect to SMUD’s existing distribution system; and 

WHEREAS, the Project layout has been sited to minimize and avoid 

natural resources and will integrate compatible agricultural activities such as grazing, 

agricultural production, and pollinator habitat into solar operations; and 

WHEREAS, the Project will additionally consist of amending Williamson 

Act contracts to make PV solar development a compatible use; and 



DRAFT 
WHEREAS, a Notice of Preparation (NOP) was made available for 

public review on September 5, 2024, notifying the public and agencies that an EIR 

would be prepared for the Project, with a scoping period lasting 30 days from 

September 5, 2024, through October 6, 2024, and a public scoping meeting was held 

on September 18, 2024; and 

WHEREAS, SMUD prepared the draft Environmental Impact Report 

(EIR), which provides the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) analysis for 

the Project, and the Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program incorporated 

environmental avoidance, mitigation and improvement measures; and  

WHEREAS, the EIR and Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

were made available for public review and comment for the 45-day period from March 

17, 2025, through May 2, 2025, and a public meeting was held on April 10, 2025; and 

WHEREAS, for both review processes, notices inviting public comment 

were sent to the State Clearinghouse, which then distributed the information to potential 

responsible and trustee agencies, posted on SMUD’s website, posted with the 

Sacramento County Clerk, made available at SMUD’s offices, distributed directly to 

interested parties including agencies and members of the public and property owners 

within 0.5 miles of the Project solar facility and 500 feet of the interconnection lines, 

interested Native American Tribes, the Sacramento Metropolitan Air Quality 

Management District (SMAQMD) (which has requested to be notified of SMUD’s 

projects), and published in the Sacramento Bee; and  

WHEREAS, during the NOP period, comments were received from East 

Bay Municipal Utility District (EBMUD), California Department of Conservation - 

Division of Land Resource Protection, California Department of Fish and Wildlife 

(CDFW), SMAQMD, Sacramento County - Department of Transportation 



DRAFT 
(Sac DOT), Defenders of Wildlife, Southgate Recreation & Park District, Central 

Valley Regional Water Quality Control Board, and a resident, and the comments 

were addressed in the EIR; and 

WHEREAS, the comments received on the EIR did not necessitate 

changing the conclusions presented in the EIR; and 

WHEREAS, the Final Environmental Impact Report (FEIR) included 

revisions to the air quality, biological resources, transportation and recreation chapters 

in response to the comments received as well as mitigation measures for most impacts 

(e.g., air quality, biological resources, and Tribal cultural resources) to reduce impacts 

to a less-than-significant level; and 

WHEREAS, all comments received during the public review period have 

been responded to as appropriate and incorporated into the FEIR and Mitigation 

Monitoring and Reporting Program, which were made available to commenters on 

September 8, 2025, and will require certification and approval, respectively, by the 

SMUD Board of Directors prior to approval of the Project; and 

WHEREAS, the FEIR and Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting 

Program are located in the records of SMUD under the custody of the Environmental 

Management Department; NOW THEREFORE, 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT: 

 
 Section 1. This Board has reviewed and considered information in the 

Oveja Ranch Solar Project (Project) Final Environmental Impact Report (FEIR) and 

Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program and (1) certifies that the Project FEIR 

complies with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA); (2) adopts the 

Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program, as set forth in Attachment ___; 



DRAFT 
(3) adopts the California Environmental Quality Act Findings in Connection with 

the Oveja Ranch Solar Project as set forth in Attachment ___; and (4) approves the 

Project. 

 Section 3. The Environmental Services Department is directed to file 

with the County Clerk of Sacramento County a Notice of Determination, which shall set 

forth the information required by CEQA. 

 


	Item 1 - Agenda
	Item 2 - Committee Chair Reports
	Item 3 - Board Compensation
	Item 4 - Draft Minutes - SMUD Board of Directors Meeting - August 21, 2025
	Item 5 - 2026 Kaiser Permanente Contract Change (2026 Medical Premium Rates and Extension)
	Draft 2026 Kaiser Permanente Medical Premium Rates
	Draft Resolution

	Item 6 - 2026 UnitedHealthcare Contract Change (2026 Medical Premium Rates)
	Draft 2026 UnitedHealthcare Medical Premium Rates
	Draft Resolution

	Item 7 - Sole Source Contract Award to SAP America, Inc. (Upgraded Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) Software)
	Draft Resolution

	Item 8 - Contract Award for Construction Management Services
	Draft Resolution

	Item 9 - Oveja Ranch Solar Project (CEQA)
	Draft Final Environmental Impact Report (FEIR) - Oveja Ranch Solar Project
	Draft CEQA Findings in Connection with Oveja Ranch Solar Project
	Draft Resolution




